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. THE TRIAL

On motion of the prosecution the names of thes acoused Aumeier and
Bayer were stricwen from tha charge sheet since neither had been served
oy was present.

_The accused liartin Gottfried Weiss, Friedrich Wilhelm Ruppert, Josef
darelin, Franz Xaver Trenkle, Engelbert Valentin Hledermeyer, Josef Seuss,
Leonhard Arigels Blehberger, Wilhelm Warmer. Johann Kick, Dr. Frits
iintormayer, Dr. Wilhelw Wltteler, Johann Baptist Eichelsdorfer, Otto
Foerschner, Dr, llans Kurt Eisele, Dr, Klaus Karl Schilling, Christof
Ludbiig Knoll, Dr. Pridolin Karl Pubr, Prans Boettger, Peter Betz, Antou
Bndres, Simon Kiern, lichael Redwits, Wilhelm Welter, Rudolf Heinrich
Subtrop, Wilhels Tempel, Hugo Alfred Brwin Lausterer, Fritz l.K. Bscher,

» Sylvester Fﬂ}lhm‘r, Vinmanz Sehosttl, Albin Cratooh,

or lrach, Enil Erwin lahl, Walter Adolf Langleist, Johann
o Bippmann, Frite Degelow, Otto Moll, Otto Schuls, Priedsich

- Jointly before & general military court at Dachau,
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Peter Betz, Anton Endres, Simon Klern, Michael Redwitz, Wilhelm Woltexr,
Rudolf Heinrieh Suttrop, Wilhelm Tempel, Hugo Alfred Erwin Lausterer,
Fritz £.K. Becner, Alfred Kramer, Sylvester Fillsboeck, Vinzens Schosttl, U
Albin Gretsch, Johann Viktor Kirsch, Hans Auneier, Bmil Brwin Kahl, Walte:
Adalf Lanpleist, Johann Schoepp, Arno Ii , Hans Bayer, Frits Degelow,
Otto Moll, Otto Schulz, and Friedrich Wetzel, Bcting in puranance of & :
common design to cammit the acts hereinafter alleged, and az membars of
the staff of Dachau Concentration Camp and camps subsidiary thereto, did,
4, or in the vicinity of DACHAU and TANDSBERG, Germany, betwesn aboutb
1 January 1542 and about 29 April 1945, willfully, deliberately and
wrengfnlly ancourapge, aid, abiet and participate in the aubimctlon af
civilian nationals of naticns then at war with the then Qerman Reich to
cruelties and mstreatment, including killings, beatlngs, tortures,
starvation, abuses and indignities, the exact names anid mambers of such
civilian nationals being unknown but aggregating many thoisands who were
then and there in the custody of the German Reich in asxercise of
balligarant contrsl.

SECOND CHARGEB: Violation of the Laws and Usages J.f War,

Particulars: In that Martin Gottfried Weiss, Friearich Wilhelm
Ruppert, Josef Jarolin, Franz Xaver Trenkle, Engelbert Valastin Hisdermeyer
Jooef Seuss, Leonhard Ancole EBlohbarger, Wilhalm Wagner, Joharm hdek,

Dr. Fritz Hintermayer, Dr., Wilhelm Witteler, Johaur Daptist Bichelsdorfer,
Otto Foerschnar, Dr. Hans Kurt Eisele, Dr, Klaus Karl Schilling, Uhristol
Tudwig ¥noll, Dr. Fridolin Karl Puhr, Franz Boettger, Peter Bets, anton
Endres, Simon Kiern, Michael Redwitz, Wilhelm Welter, Rudelf Helnrich
Suttrop, Wilhelm Tempel, Huge Alfred Erwin Lausterer, Frite L. K. Beclier,
Alfred Kramer, Sylvester Filleboeck, Vinzenz Schoettl, Albin Oretsch,
Johann Viktor Kirsch, Hans Aumeier, Emil Erwin Mahl, Walter Adolf
Langleist, Johann Schoepp, Arno Lippmann, Hans Bayer, Frits Degelaw,

Otto lloll, Otto Schulz and Friedrich Wetzel, acting in pursuance of &
common design to commit the acts hereinafter alleged, and as members

of the staff of Dachau Concentration Camp, did, at or in the vicinity of
DACHAU, Qermany, between about 1 January 1942 and about 29 April 19L5,
willfully, delibarataly and wrongfully encourage, aid, abet and partici-
pate in the subjection of members of the armed forces of nations chen
at war with the then German Relch, who were then and there surrendesred
and unarmed prisonsrs of war in the custody of the then Cerman Reioh,

to eruslties and mistreatment. ineluding killings, beatings, tortures,
starvation, abuses and indignities, the exact names and numbers of

‘such prisoners of war being unlmown but aggregating many hundreds.
IT. THE FINDINGS AND SENTENCES.

#anh rReornasd was found grilty of all charges and partioulars and
each acoused, with the excepltion of Johann Schoepp, Albin Gretsch, Pater
Betz and Hugo Alfred Erwin Lausterer, was sentenced to death Ly hanglng
at sucn times and placs as higher authority may direct, Peter [ets waa
sentenced to life imprisonment commencing forthwith at such place
as may be designated b competent military anthority. Johann Schoenp,
Albin Oretoch and Hugs Alfred Brwin Tausterer were sentensad tn impriscon.
ment for a term of ten years, commencing 13 December 1945, at such place
as may be designated by competent military autherity. )

III., EVIDENCE FOR THE COURT: J

Upon preliminary examination by the court sach accused stated thar
he was & German national, with the sxception of Johamn Schoepp Who wag :ﬁ”

Rumandan and Dr. Fridolin Karl Puhr, an Austrian, Bach accused also
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stated that he was a member of tie Cerman army sometime between January 1,
19L2 and April 29, 1945, with the e caption of Johamn Kick, Dr. Klaus
Karl Schilling, Christof Ludwis Knoll, and Emil Erwin lahl.

The court dild uobt Inberrugate any of the dccused on ths charges and
particulars.

V. EVIDENCE FOR FROSECUTICL:

A. The Common Desipn at Dachau.

on 29 April 194% the American forces entered the Dathau Concen-
tration Camp at Dachau, Germany (R 69). Adjoining the camp on a railroad
sidin: was a freight train consisting of about 38 cars (R 56, 60, 70).
One or two bodies were lying in.a few cars (R 56). About 30 of the box
aars had 10 to 20 corpses strewn zbout (R 56). The bodies were thinly
clad (H 56). Jome had thelr panta domn as 1O they had had dyaentery and
others appeared as if they had utilized some corpses as pillows (R 199).
The bodies were sxtremely emaciated (R 57). The muscles had wasted (R 57).
The fat had disappearad and the siin was leathery (R 57). The conditions
which existed may best be seen in the photographs which were taken at
the iime (Pros. Bx. 2, 3, L, 5, 6). It had been a Jewish transport which
had been attempting ror £~varal days to leave Dachau bul Lecause of
the rail tis-up due to air attacks had not been able to dsmart (R 161,
162, 750, 510). These people had coms tn Dachau a short time before (R 162).

Within the camp was a prison compound (R 73). It was surrounded
by & moat and a wire fence (Bros Ex 13, 1i). Within the compound ware
prison blecks (R Th). Each block was capable ol accomodating Irom 300 to
150 priseners (R 74, L13, 1L49)s In 1942 the blocks had been completely
filled (R 148). As time elapsed, more and more pecple were placed in the
blocks se that in 1943 and 19l ovar 1,000 prisonera were housed in each
block and in 1945 as many as 2,000 prisonsrs were housed in a single
block (R §12, 149). For example, 1200 to 1250 people were housed from
November 1942 untll January 1943 in block B85 so that 300 to 35U persons
had to share 120 bads in each room (R 389). One to five persons died
sach day in this olock but no doctor ever visited it (R 389). Bach block
consisted of four rooms with one latrine (R 148, 76), The latrine had
12 stools of which only 10 could be used by the prisoners (R 76, 149, Pros
Ex ). With the increass in the number of people, the conditions bescame
increasingly worse (R 149), Dachau coild accomodate about 0,000 persons |
(R 177, h12). In August 15Uk the camp's population was about 22,000 (R L12).
By the latter part of 194l and Spring of 1945 about 50,000 perscns had
been sent into it (R 177). On 22 April 19LS thers were 65,613 priscners
in Dachau and its sub-camps of whom 1l,053 were Poles, 12,363 Russians,
3327 Ttaliane, 1862 Ceache, GAEA Mavmans, 27,687h af othar nationalities
and 683 Russian prisoners of war (Pros Bx 58 and 59). In 1942 the blocks
had been kept rather olean, but in 1913 and 1944, as the emphasis on
work increased, there was Mno possibility te clean rooms" (R 1L9). The
Americans noticed that the prople in the camp were similar to corpses
excapt that they moved (R 57). Their physical condition was very poor
dus primarily to extreme starvation and malnutrition which they had endured
(R 57, 74). Although it was extremsly cold at the time, the priscnars
wers clad very scantily (R 75, 149)., Bach prisonsr wore an insignia indi-
cating his naticuality, Russian, Polish, etc. (R 78, 269, 509, Pros Ex-10).
Other insignia indicated the typs of prisoner, political, criminal, immd-
grant, anti-social, battle searchsr or homosexual (R 507, 508, Pros Bx 55).

~ Within the prison campound there was a bunker, a long marrow
building which was composed of & passageway with a series of cells on aach
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side (Pros Bx 15, 79). A typical cell is dapicted ir a photogruph (Pros
Bx 16). Adjeining the tunker was a bath room or shower room (R 79, Pros
Ex 17, 1%, Altaough in 1012 the prisoners were abla to take one bath
sar wogk, by the time of liberation the priscners were not able to have
ona bath per month (R 1L9).

Qutside tha priscn compoute. but vithin ine camp tha Americans dis-
covorad two crematoriuns (R A1, Pros Bx 19). The old crematorium had
only two furnaces (R 3, 12/, Pros W« 21). The new crematorium had been
a1t in 1944 Ly Polish prissts (R 129). It had two furnages with five
ovens (R 12 , Pros Ex 22, ¢3i). Llhera vwas a large hall for bodles,
pagsageway, & roem wiih the furnaces, a preparation reom, a gas chamber,
another hallumrs and the disinfectant chamber (R 129). The pas chamber
had 8 sipn over its entrance which read "Shower Bath", although In fact
thers were no bath facilities (R 129, Pros Ex 127). The Americans ls-
soverad a large pile of clotuing outside the grematorium (R 57, Pros BEx 20).
In thn twe halls were found large piles ol dead bodies, all of which were
smaciated and thin (R 72, Pros Bx 24, 25, 26, 27). The stench was so strong
that Colonel David Chavez, a war crimes investigator of the Seventh U.3.
Army, 6o 1d not view the bodies for any length of time (R £3),

liear tha crematoriins wara discoverad a kennel and a rifle range (R fly,
Prom Bx 27, 2H). The rifles range had a blood soaled area (i 0Ol, Pros Ex 23).

In Fay 1945, the Americans st up two hospitals in the camp, one of
which wazs the 110Gth Evacuation Hospital under the supervision of Colonel
Lawrence C. Ball (I 5k, 55. 58). Fram 2 liay 1945 to A Juns 1%L5 each
hospital treated about 2,00 patients (R 58)., Thers were two regular
hospitals at Dachau, an immer camp hospital, which in 1242 had consisted
of 7 or f) blocks, and an 55 hospital (R 53, 313-314). During Lhe same
period the S8 hospital had about 1,000 patients and the inner camp
hogpitul sbout LS00 (H 50). A1l these facilities were capable of handling
ahout half of theose individials who needed hospitalization (R 59). After
liberation the dedath rate averaged abouf 100 per day until the nlddls of
Yay (R 58). From 9 lay 1945 to % June 19LS, there were 1590 deaths in
the hospital (R 59)., Typhus accounted for apvroximately 340 deaths (R 63).
Lhe pringiple causes of death were typhis, dysentery, and malnutrition (R 59).
The bulk of the deaths were paused Wy factors which had been acquired
bafun? April, 1947 (R 60). Thers were not su. ‘iciant medical supplies
(m 6R).

The regular prisoners hpspital was extremely overcrowded (R 57, 61, {
B5). Tho wards had triple decker beds and beds had been placed togather
so that three people could sleep in the place of twe (R 5t 55_, Pros Bx
30, 31). A1 available space was utilized. The epidemic and tuherculosis
divisiane vere the mect ewewded (R 14,7). In 1941 anly ane parsen sl vk
in a bed (& 1LA), By 1943 the condition was overcrowded and by 19L); and y
19L%, the patients wers "totally placed tossther®, (R 148). Three mer. slept |
in one bed walch was only 00 centimeters wide (¥ 147). The Americans dis-
covered that few inmates had blankets although most had sheets (R 57).
The majority of the patlents suffered frem typhus, dysentery, phlegmen,
tuberculosis amd srysipelas (R 57, 61)s Thers had been a constant and
continuous epidemic of dysentery throughout the years (R 153, 155, 176) .
for which there had been no treatment (B 156)and @ typhold epidemic from
January, 1943, to April, 1943 which had been caused by the water (R 153, 176)
A typhus epidemic had started in December, 194l after the arrival of a
llungarian transport (R 62, 153, 191, L09). No control measures had been
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: "dnai.h rate was hntﬂﬂm nm! HO tut this grﬂ mﬂ.l it.
E!rhm_ 14 was estimated that 7000 died in Januury andebruary
410), Tha Americans found 2,000 to 3,000 typhus cases in all the
n‘i:amms (R 62). Tne orisonsrs wers rAnsTally louse infogted (I 62).
There ware 2 ough medical mmﬁhu in th lospital althogh various
supplies were ot available (R 65), This was particularly true vith
respect to vitamins wiich wape manufacturedi®hs Dachau (R 66=67). Although
the nedical suppliss had bnen poor continuously slase 1942, the con-
dition had heen alleylated somevhat &uring the yedrs by Hng (R 172,
173). After liberation medical supplies :are found in the % nital
and the so-called Duteh Hall and in 2 laboratery (it 209). Thﬂm mra
encizh supplies to care for all the patients for mors than 1l days (B 210),
Yone of those madicines had heon made available to the prison huarﬂ.m
prior to tm time (R 210),

In 1912 Dr. Zlaha, a Czach inmate, vas v enly physician charize
mﬁh the vesponsibility of cardnr for 1000 patients (R 171, 172). Later
thare jwerae two or thres doctors and twenty prisoner dectors iho hﬂﬂ to
talce care of the entire camp when it had a pupula‘bi::—n of abaut 30,000 peonle
(R 169)s “pen liberation forty=ni=ht physicians «ho had been prisoners
vorn discovared (B 211).

In tho hospital there vas o "Death Ghml Wﬁ PEES
natiologies viore made (1t 1.33.:' ﬂﬁl@ . Dot livi
rousht tmra {R__? 1} Fro

3 tn 'the sun an lﬁ%lﬁ}; 1mmtﬁwﬂﬂju ;;uu“:
litpers md il B 1 P » Tatoead skin
m.é.mﬁﬁ}ﬁg:-" able and many times the -nki!l had hean tatooed prior td

; . the demarny ren (2 17). The nrastics
ﬁrmﬁ.ngaﬁmmmmﬁin t&m;’wwlﬁ (R 1B, o fernans cu 1d
be used for tids purpese (R 1iS). Rissians vern especially wtilized (B 2h6).
Sone of the heads were tut off, hoiled, the 8oft part wamaved, hlensherd
in peroxide and put togather asain (& 161} Tha heads were then seab bo
ss sr:lmalu, or glven to S8 doctors or 58 men (R 161).

ﬂﬂrtain axperiments were conducted in the hospital rnz' tha
during the years 1942 and 1503 (R 132, uhamnls?i :
axperimants consiated in losking un twonty five of 1,11::'
ball-like asparatis and then ralsine and lou iardng the:
(® 3—32}- This pesulted in hemorrhages of thy ears, nose
uﬁ which aften yasulted & M p
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b a3 a labor division until 143 and which was headed by an =
~ man (R 103, 10h). He was vesponsihle to the Lagerkemmandant (% 10L). 4
The Kommandofushrer or arbeitsdisnstfushrer was the commander of the
working place and he was also an §S man (% 101, 102, S61). lHe vas
. responsible for compiling statistics which were sent to hipher head-
F, quarters, He also received orders te appoint work details for varicus
| firms in Dachau and surrounding areas (R 293-291). The Arbeitsdienstfushrer
had o carry oub the wrdeys widoh he reuslved, suul as selecting the ilmnmatas
Tor certein work details (R 29L). At first camp guards consisted m .
of tha S5 men, but in 1Sl seme army psrsonnel was nsed (R 202). Their
funttions were guard duty and execution of disciplinary measurvs (R 710). i
Rach work detail had a capo, a prisoner, whe acted as lialson betwsen the
prisoners and the quards (R 561, 570). The capos wers 5 lectad by the :
labor service lsader or labor leadars (R 573). There was a political |
department in the camp which was administratively responsible to the
caup counander (R 103, 573). It was hero that the liste for the invalid
trausports, deacribed infra, were prepared (R 222), The department
was cuinected with thqmpo in Junich and orders were received direetly
from uhere (R 573). The department wos net hooded g an 28 men, but an .
‘officer of the Gestapo (R 573). The political department had an office |
of vital statistics where records of death wems maintained, a raglstration
section where information cards on sach prisoner wara filsd, and a
secret section which warked on all secret cases (R 563). The medical
(departnent, was headed by the chiaf physician who was not only in charge
of the camp husplial, but 2150 sanitation and food in the camp (2 103).
Requests for immates to be used in experiments were channeled through
the camp physician to the commandant vho had the power to disaiprove the -
request (R 56l, 571). The reemast wan passed on to the labor sarvice leader
(R 6}, A copy went to the Schutrhaftlacerfushirar (R S6L). The adjutant
tandled the mail distribution of tha requests (% S65). The sdmini—
“irrtion lepaciment was concerned with the kitehen, food storage,
prisorars' clothaing, laundry, accounting, and persenal sfiscts rocm (R 560),
Tha orqiral tuildin: department wius responsible for the construction anmd
fulalshing of the casp (R 561). A chart of the orpanisational schene ot
Pachau vos admivted into evidenos (Bros Ex £6), i
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- ALl concentration camps wiere under the supsrvision of Oranienbers,
nsar Berlin (R 571). Thus the Reich Securlty 0ffice was interested in
he glatus ?; gﬂé?m‘_u.and wag primarily eomected vith the political













was beaten, but that T had to respect people wh~ weres professional crimi-
nals, and who had a better position in this dirty camp, only because they
were criminals and Germans..." (R L01).

B. The Comion Desipgn at the Kaufering Branch Camps of Dachaus

The Kaufering system which vas under Dachau consisted of 11
camps (R 349, 584). They had their own organization and death certificates
of people in those camps were recorded by them and do not appear in
Proosoution's Bxhibito L9 to 3L (R 3L9). PBeglnning in Jamuar: 19LE, enly
death notices of Germans vere recorded [R 350).

Captain Barnett, amember of War Crimes Investipation Team 6823,
Seventh US Army, investipated these campa on 30 Apri 11945 (R 579). Kauf-
ering No. li was located about two miles south of the village of Kaufering
(i 500). It wa2 a barbed wire enclosmre with puard towers at each
corner (R 500, Pros Bx 621 and ©ol). The fence had apparently been
electrified (R 500). There was one entrance in the front where a sign
stuted that the area was off limits bacause of typhus (R €80, Pros Bx 61).
The camp had been burned and 260 bodies were still lyins areund (R 580,
Pros Ex 81). The bodies were skin and bonas and had hmises and suts
(R 590). Ma-7 had been unrecognizably burned (R 5°0). The bodies were
collected in ons place and a pit dug for their internment (R 581,
Pros Bx 63, 6k, 65, 66 and ;). Local citizans were employed for this
work (R 582, Pros Exa 701, 79 and 67). Some bodies which had to be
tragzed out of burnad-out huts were frozen stiff (R 582, pros ax 69),

Two burial pits were found east of the camp (R 582). These were opened
and bodies stacked five high in lines of 30 were found (R 503, Pros Ex 70).
The bodies wers tied together and the legs and the arms intertwined to con-
seive spaca (R 503). The manner in which this was accomplished may best
be seen from the photographs made at the time (Pros Ex 71 and 72). Each
Pit had 2000 to 2500 dead bodies (R 5H3).

The huts in the camp were mersly a narrow channel dug into the

%ruund (R 58L, Pros Bx 68, 72). A set of stairs led down into the hut

R 584). There was a central trench with banks or shelves on each ¢
aidm whinh smarved as the sleepins places for the priuoncws (R SBL, ©BE,
590, Pros Ex 83). A wooden floor coversd with excelsior on the right

and left sides was below the level of the ground (R 588, 589, pros Ex 73)
The inmates slept on the level of the ground (R 569)., The roofs wers
covered with dirt (R 590)., There was a double window on each end and

one entry (R 590). The hut was about 17 meters lone (R 590), There was
1 meter and [uU centimeters on each sids of the central trench whare the
prisoners slept (R 590). The block eldest had 1/5 of the hut for himself
(R 590). As many as 62 prisoners occupied one hut (R 591). The car

had about 70 huts, 60 of which were occupisd by the prisoners (2 580).
Dr. Fried, a Czech inmate who had come to Kauferin= Mo, L in October 19kL
and wag there until liberation in April 19L5, stated that npon his arrdval
there were 500 men and 20 women priscners in the camp {R 588). Tha
number of male inmates increased to 3000 (R 588), All the inmates were
Jews (R 537). They came from Hungary, France, Greece, Tarmany and othep
natlons (R 593). Bach prisoner had one blanket but no linens or pillows
(R 592). Pursuant to orders the inmates slapt on their shoss., The
penalty for failurs 4o do so or for loss of Lhe snoes was death fR 59'3}.
There were only four latrines in the entire camp (R 592), Ons was reserved
for the officidls and one for the 20 women, o that the 300 inmates had
only two (R 592). The latrines overflowed with filth (R 592), Because

of soms disease, the prisoners visited the latrine & number of times at
nipht (R 592), Uhis nacesaitated putting on their shoes, walling in the
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The svacuation of the camp began orn 75 April 1945 (R 611). Thres
hundred who could walk 1sft at noon (R 612), A train in the evening
transported sight hundred (R 612). A second train left on April 27 with
eight hundred more and a third train with eight hundred departed about
2 a.m, on Aprd1 27, fanr henra hafore the arrival af the Amerdieana (R A17-

E*lBJ. On leaving an S8 man remarked, "Look thers——sess the fire--this
ie camp Number thres, and just the same way we will bilrn camp mmber

four®, fR 621)&

Captain Barnett found that Kaufering Number 1 looked similar te
Yumber I bwt it appeared to have beaon the main camp (R 50C)., Kaufering
Number 2 was ampty. KXaufering Number 3 was similar to Number 1. It used
the samm burial pits as Number ; (R 595). Kaufering lumber 7 was a labor
and recuperation camp for Jews (R 505, 722). Kaufering Numbar [ was
empty (R 565). WNumber 9 which was near the Landsberg airfield had been

occupiad by Russian priscners of war, It had been blown up with the
airfield (R S85). Camps 1, 3, L4, 7 and 11 were bhe permanent vrganizatdona

(R 585).

In July, 194k, Kaufering Camp Number 1 had not been completed (R 6560),
Ity oo, had earth huts which were trenches dug in the ground and covered
with a roof (R 669)., There were one window ad no beds (R 669). The
lomates slepl un Lbe surface of the ground (R 669),., The ditch in the
center was about 3/l of a meter desp (R 669). The huts were 10 to 12
meters longz and 3 1/2 meters wide (R 669). At times as many as 120
inmates slept in one hut (R 669). They each had ons blanket (R 670).
Some huts had heating facilities (K 671). The priscners had no under-
clothing, the prescribed priscners' cuter parments, and heavy uncomfor—
table wooden shoas (R 670, 734). Their underwear, large coats and Pather
shoes were taken from them upon arrival at the camp (R 670).

Kaufering Mhumber 1 was lmown as a work camp (R 670). lNost inmates,

about 1200 of various nationalities such as Lithuanian, Pole, and Hungarian,
worked at the Moll construction frvm whare they rixed, carried and stamped

cement, (R 670, 697). Work had started here in June 19ll,, A)1 labor
was supplied from Camp Number 1 until the camp was quarantined because of
typhoid (R 698). One work detail was at Ott Wied's where wood and iron
were unloaded (R 651). Others wers in Otts 1'illman's kitchen and the

prisoners' kitchen (R 651). The prisoners were awakened at 4130 a.m.

(R G70)« After receiving some baack water in the kitchen, they stood

on the formation ground for an hour or hour and a half no matter vhat

the weather (R 670), They did not have varm clothing and some had to go

to work in their pajamas (R 670). Tt took about an hour to reacn the

place of worle (R 671). They worked for about 12 hours during which

time they received some watery aoup (R A71, 703, 707). Uhen the prisenera
first cams to the Moll detail thay were physically quite well, but socon

they became very ill because of their poor clothing (R 690). Their

woodan shoes wers worn out and hey used cement bags around their feet (R 699)-
A civillan engineer, Stroh, who worked for the lioll firm, had written to

ils superior and protested about the conditions of the workers (R 709).

At work the 55 guards who performed guard duty maltreated them (R 6711, 70, _
699). On the average from 3 to & persons died each day on the job (R 671-672,
73L). The basic causes of dsathiere malnutrition, general weakness, |
phlegmonia aid erdsipelis (R 672, 73L). OFf tha 1800 prisoners in camp

in July 19LL, only 600 survived (R 734). Some sick prisoners continued

to come to work because thay feared otherwiss they would be sent to

another camp (R 705). At the Moll detail a first aid station was available
for them (R 7058). .
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accomodate 15 to 20 children
En prisorers,

¥

hut was S to 6 seters wide (2 7).
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later they wers sent to Dachau and then Auschwitz (R 790,
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camp physiclan is in addition to the circumstances which I could not
mastar and which I think few others could have mastered, based npon
ry inabllity to saxecute the office assigned to me,

"II. During my time of office the conventration camp of
Dachau econsisted of about 20,000 inmates, before the large transporta
came from tho other evacunted camps in middle and western Cermany. Tt
was built and furnished for 10,000 inmates at the most. I Faced this
overcroming perplexed and withouot baing able to do something about 1t,
and this more 3o, since every measure which might perhaps have been taken
would have been useless anyhow, since a new difficulty would have probably
befallen me before the successful tempination, As chisf camp physiclan
I was in command of all medical, sanitary, and hygienic installations in
the Concentration Camp Dachau. I was responnible for all sanitary,
nmedical, and hygienic questions which concemed the inmates and in general
I was in charge of the supervision of the immates in the medical, senitary
and nygplenic fisld. The sanitary installations in the ware impossible,
Each barrack was occupied by LOD to 1500 people, although. wore built
for not more than 300. In each barrack there wers & wash basgins and about
20 toilets according to my recollection. It is obwions that this number
was insufficisnt. Tn addition the tollets in some barracks could not be
flushed, since thers was no water and since the mater in the tollets

lamndry of the immates was changed officially onoe a month according to .
my knowledge, which made these bad sanitary conditions completely cata-
strophic. ﬂmrﬂulﬁu!ptmmﬂlrdondtnhhtamm that this

o, onted the conatruction
R e 1o Vs el iy Tl me o entit o 1%, ws
mwmmnmamwraamm
take anythiug more about the tollet conditians, TIn connection with this
proposal for the improvement of the sanitary installations I negotiated
with Hauptsturmfuehrer "Ca]:t] Wetzel, but T &id not find any special
help with him, although I presentsd the sariousnsss of the situation to

"III. Ti1l shortly bafore tha occupation of the ca=p hy
the Anerican troops the camp had entirely insufficient delousing apparatus,
Only during the last few weeks a short wave delousing station was estab-

"IV. Consequently there existed no prophylaxis against
epidemies which probatly would oocur a bocause of the crowded living
canditions, Wyen in December 194k or Jamuary 19LS a case of spotted
favar was ropnrtad ta ma I 4fd nat hallava it st Ffiret and sonaddcred

it as a case of abdominal typhus. Therefore I ordered the inmate doctor

0f course, I hoped without any reasen that this was shdominal byphus and
not spotted fever, since I realiszed the entire extent of the catastrophe
in the cnse of an osubthegal of spotied fovsr, Then when the typhur spread
lik» a raging fire on accomt of the bad sanitary measures, the lacking




delousing and the overcrowdsd liying conditions as well as additions of
sootted faver patients from other camps, we started to inject the entdrs
earp dncluding the 5§ groups with a vaccine. This vaccine was compara-
tively effective with the 89 troops that were not yet imposed to the
infestion, but with the inmates, on the average ineffective Lf not
directly harmful. Therefore after a short time we gave up Lhe lnocula-

tion, T was nub informed whether the station surgeon, $3 Standartenfuehrer
Dr. Rossmann, had Weil seram at his disposal, After I was convinced of the
uselessness of & reguest of this vaccine T 2id not requisition it from him
nor from any other office. Isreover T had the strict order from Dr.
Tolling to use “he vaseins which was in the camp, and no other.

"o T recognize the report signed by me "Exhibit Hi® on the
rirat pape concerning "Guarterly feport regarding the sanitary seTvices
if the Ooncentration Casy Dachau to the Onlef of the office D 3 in the
a8 Teonomics and Adninistration Head 0ffice, office Group D, Oranienburg,
dated Dachan, 27 Varch 19LE" as & report drafted and signed by me to my
sunerior office.

nyT, Thera were on the average 120 deaths a day for about
10 days during th orisis of the spotted fever epidemie, Tiring the rest
of tha time ti1l the conquest of the camp Dachau by the American troops
there were on the avernse S0 to A0 deaths with constant ups and downs in
the spotted faver epidemic. "ithout exapgeration it ean be said that the
chance of the spotted Pever natients in the camp to remain alive was con-
siderably smaller than the chance of the spotfed fever natients at
Tberty, The following circumstances contributed to thisg

_ 1. ‘The lack of spacs. At the time of the largest ooccu-
pation of the carmp I never had sore than 3 barracks at my disposal for
the reception of spotted fever ratients, At times the number of spotted
feyer patients reached asproximately 2000, Of course, the lack of space
‘arped me to dismise the conyalescents as soon as sossible, some too

unately sarned out later. Op the whole the 3 barracks
‘disposal should not have been qeccupied z{ more than 600
his naturally required in one barrack at. 3 laysrs of
some cases the ocoupation of 2 bads by 3 patients. The 7 to 9
_could leave there amidst the spotted fever patlents were
fent, Mevertheless 14 was impossible for me to divert
from thelr other meodical activity in the camp.

o % Diverse cropobals were nade to me by inmate doctors
y my 85 comrades in onder to control the spidemic, fowever,

T considersd these proposals as impracticable and thevefore T did nothing
4o e realized. For instance I was proposed to change Camp Allach
4into :d fever camp. Since this was impracticable, instead of thls
faF b Bredug 311 dinmatan already recuperated and therefore immune
4587 ver to Camp Allach at a later date.

-im. madmhmm prevailing here in comnection with
| faver existed in all pther departmenta too. So for instance
sals cases which were in the tuberculosis station mere
3/ hawrasla. Ti waa mhod ons that theas were no favor=-
es to heal tuberculosis, nor even to control it. The
es existed with the other infectuous diseases, as for
'Fun;;,' wsere the death rate, which I do no longer
- . -
. Dy, miaha, the disseetionist, can pive information:
5 connected with the death rate and cases of death
donger remesber. In my opinion he may be qualified to




give information regarding conditdons and happenings of special madieal
nature prevailing in the camp. I belleve that ha knows more about it
“han any cther person.

WIX. After sy Initisl attempts to get an enlarpoment of the
hosoital were uaeless and without results I gave up approachl  Dberstumm—
bannfuehrer Welter again for an enlarpement of the hospital.

vy, Our stock in medicine and drugs was insufficient and I
saw o means to increase the supply. At this point I would 1ike to polnt

bo my report in the above mentloned quarterly report.

"I. T no longer remember the debails of the rations, How-
ever, in my opinion these were Insuffiecient. I reject the complaints
directed to me by other doctors as well as the reproach thal many cases

of death by infectusus diseanses and of the dlysrse other linds of death
the camp which cccurred In the labor Vlook rro based on maTrrtrd S dnn.

wever, 1t is to be observad that this declaration does not refer to
persons in guarrantine who came iy a mitiful cendition from other camps
and at first had to be fed up dgain In Dechau. I cannot explain to nyseld
how 5o MAny dysentery cases and other digestive sases oceurred in the
other blooks,

WITY. T examined without order of “tartartenfvehrer Lolling
or of any other suparior the lroates selected by Dr. Schllling Jor
malaria experizants for thelr health condition on the latter's roquest
in onder to relisve Dr. Schilling for the sclentlfic smperimental work.
I do not belleve that I did so rors than ance, During my term of affice
po dealll ceses ccouwrred in the malaria experimontid.

TYTIT. T December 1944 or January 1945 the Reichsicher-
neltahauptant ordersd the hanglng of 2 pregnant Egpssian wonan. The
Carp comander Yersturmbannfuehrer felter, however, neinting o thelr
pitiful opnditdon, demanded that I should kill the women by an injection sash
insteads Thowt T J1d vob koow Lo sure whothlcr My raterabannMichier Toitar:
had the right to chanpe the mode of death me ordered in the death semtence
I injected the 2 women with evipanhatriun cut of humanity, the rore ao,
since T ¥new that 1% 15 the usual custen of clviliged natlons not to
execiite pre 4 women Before delivery. Obsrsturfishrer ‘appert and
Otto, nlap racharfushrar Bonparts were present at these 2 executions,
I cannot remember adal tlonal Lo vlduels wlo posallly olght bave paedled—
patefl, Oberaturmfushrer Otto gondincted thiz exscttion.

oIV, Mirthar T participated st 10 additionsl executions
betwean November 194k and April 1uk5. About 7 were hangings and con-
gerned Mussians in my opinion. The hanpings wers always conducted by
Opersturmruehrer Guspers and Otto, In addliton Mauplacherfushoes
Tichbarger, (Herscharfushrer Zangartz and Unterscharfushrsr 'entachan
tnok part in them. 3 executions were shootinge. 411 told, 7 people were
hanged. Some 5 Russians were shot ab, the 3 exscutions by shonting.
ﬁ.ﬁn Obersturmfuchrer Ruopert and Ctto as leaders and Hauptscharfushrer

ehberpor, Uborscharfuchrer Bongarts and Unterscharfuehrer dentschen

were present at the shooting, AT eagh of thess executlony sowe wbhisk
people participated whose names I can no longsr remember. I would 1ile
to emphagize that all thase exeoutions were accomplished on written
order of the Reichssicherheltahduptamt and on tha execution order of
Carp Commander Obersiurmbamnfushrer Weiter, I myself underiock the
inquest nesessary after the execution," (Pros Ex 914).

11. Dr. Tihelm W . The acoused Titteler was ohis: doe
the prison & in Dachau From Jamuary 1944 or Desember 1943 unt

. I N—



Beptasber 19kk (2 L02,123,139,179,393,308), Furing that neriod of time

he visited block 3, which had 350 cases, only once (2 192), THere was

no epldenic durin the m he was chief doctor amd thare were not very
many deaths dnting that period (R ho2,403), Hintersaynr was chief of

the = 2l department _at the time under Witteler (R ES.?}- Tiitteler

' . some of the executions which occurred at the crema (1 332,333).
Ilhlﬂlytl.gﬂd the death certifisate snd laoft (R 3L0,39). lists

far prospeciive victizs for the ralaris experiements were zent rm
Witteler's of fice to the labor office (X ZH"} Thila Dr. Titteler was
chis® dootor the slave maricet formitions continued to be held (R 133).

A pre-trisl affidavit executed by the accused Witteler on I November
19LE before Iieutenant %uth was sdmitted into evidence (R 795, Pros 2x 9L).
That statement reads in pertinent part and translation as follows:

nl, T was chief camp doctor of the Concentration Camp Dachau

from 1 January to 20 Auﬁuut 1944, In tkls capacity I was also in charge
of the hosnital. started my work there, ! found the so-called

malaria station alnm.‘v there., I was informed that this malaria station

had been instituted by order of the Raichafushrer of the 38 and that

srisoners srare %o be made availahle for the experiments conducted there,
=alsria station was conducted by Dr. Olaus ¥arl Schilling., From

time to tinme the comp co=mander cleared nrisoners for experimental pur-
soses and notified the labor office, which in turn would Inform me, On

my orders, one of my clerks then called up the block designated by the
labor affice, and the prisoners were then brought to the hosnital and
tumed over from the ’-rnsnit.u.'! to Dr, Schilling, T know that durinp the
months I was there deaths occured , due to prisoners dying of malaria
itself or of the drugs used to combat that disease. These prisonera were
then dissected in the pathalogical department wnder Ur. Flaha's direction,
and the diagnosis was reported to Dr. Schilling as well as to me, It i
true that no death certificate issued during my stay gave malaria as the
cause of death, On request of Dr. Schilling every pria:mr whose condi-

tion was hopeless was transferrad into our department for internmal disease,
and after hie dsath elreulation MM mlties or a heart defect were siven

as causes of death and written into the death certificate which was then
mwl‘o

T, During my time of serviece in Dachan I remember having

tal dotbor, T
wnginge = %..m“ S Lt b ..:,,n, w:,:fﬂ.?wm“.,,

9 part, in the other hanging camp commmnder Weiter,
fushrer th {ht sm, Oberscharfushrer Bongartz and my-
“enl; ‘mﬂ hese hangirigs cesured in the summer of 0Lk,

- st Temember whather m subjects wore civilisns or prisoners of war,
I sipned the death certificate after the hanging, Under the regulations
hanging could be performed except in presence of a doctor,

m m serit the dootars from the service.® (Pros Ex 9ld).

when it became a sick camp du 1945

m %o Leave and Pichelsdorfer hd nrt
re inmates conld take a short cut to the railway




A pre-trisl affidavit executed before 1st Lieutenant John &,
mw;dﬂur, wmmﬂnmwmmmmmmm
on 2 r 1945 nas admitted into evidence (R 832, Pros Ex }18). The
statement reads in translation and pertinent part as follows:

My name ls Johann Elehalsdawrfor, T served as a ssrgeant
first World War from 1914 to 1218 and was promoted later t.n the ranl
Meutenant. On 20 Jamuary 1945 I was 55 years old. Iy address is
Nurmnbery, Oemany, Suntershuhl Strasse S, Up to my 20th year of life I \
workced in the factory before I was inducted into the German Army. I
served during the war 1914-1915 with the Sth Bavariasn Reri=ent as a
private and laft the army as a Lisutenant in the year 102k,

5
RE

"In November 1940 I was ance nore drafted as a Liewtenant in
the Heavy Truck and Training “empany We. 13, 3d Co., Bamberg, and from
there I was sent on 19 Decesbier 1940 to 5t, Dermain in the vicinity of
Paris. ﬁprultookcharzeornm-qtmc column which belonged to the ,
Premt Gathering Point of the dwms Oreup A, p days later I laft for
Essen, Ruhr from there, to take care of the maintenance of vehicles, In
April 1941 I was louled on the train with ths wehicles and we went to
Erakau, Poland. There I remained until the ‘of the oparations
in the Eut. T led this column until August 1943. on I becamo sick
and was sent tc a hospital for 8 monthe, T had rheumatism, Then I went
to Pockondorf Oermany, and waa transferred from thers %o Orenleonburg ..
Wﬂumm.hﬂussunrﬂuwurthuﬂsmlﬁmttﬂim. -
From there I was sent to B.uhmbzlnﬂbeﬂuhnrrmhnr'hoF
there, his naze unknown to me. That was on 15 July 194, “hen I was |
ordered to leave Tachsu and to po to Augsburg to get acquainted am an
apprentice with the activities of the oriscner of war Camp Augsburg-
Pfersees. From there I mas oniervdtpgatnm&;ﬂnguhnhtdsr I
took charge of the Camp Yo, 7, shich orevionsly was occupled by the Todt
Orpantization. This haopsned in Septesber 10ll, At that tive no Lrmates
were presant it Camp Mo. 8. In October of the same year I was orered
to take charpe of Cawp Yo. T and in January 1945 I was transferred to
Camn ¥Yo. L. In Camp Vo. 4 there were about 1,500 inmates, until abont
thuee werks before the Acericon forses arslvesl, abt shich btime the pushes I
fnereased to 3,000 irmmates, I sould like to mention that I received the
order to leave Oranienburg and to report to Oberstursbannfushrer “eiter
at Dachau, and he in turn gave ne the order to report to Ubersturmfushrer
Yollmar at Augsturg. Upon orders of Obersturmbannfuehrer Weiter, I left
Augsburg on the Sth or 6th of Avgust 9Lk and had to report at Euurnring .
to Hauptoturmfushrer Forsber, 2% Sleet Job thers wap o lospsot the
guards at the bullding sites, I did this about vp to the miidle of

Septenher, when L was ordered to take charze of “amp No. B. However,

n.iﬁﬂnumwmmmhm1ﬁk*mm
l:hm ufcmﬁu. 7 where I remained as Camp leader wntil B Janmary 10LS,
mmatumgrufimm:tmh.?mhz,mmtw
charpe of 1t iy subordinates at ooy . [ were the follow
ing: Hm:pt.scharfmhrer Vetter in the eapacity of Tanportfuehrar, Uber-
scharfushrer Lauftas the Supply non-cormissioned officer for inrates'
clothing, and Obarscharfushrar Steinbuchel as non-cmmissioned officer
in charge of food. Otherwlise no aone elee wia subordinate to ne. During
the time T had charpe of Camp 7 = au'mrin':l weres Hauptsturmfochrer
Torster, Stumbanniuexrsr lanpisist and Storpbannfushrer Awieier, Under
me, Hauptscharfehrer Tziter in his capacity as Za mortfushrer ms in
charge of the work detatls of all Jevish irsates in S 7. At the
beginning of Uctober 19hh we had the first dsath, dus $n sushroon
ing; the rrisoners had been mworidng in the forost and di not know
danger fro Yhese mushrooms, That they had been oolsoned by mushroons
T ‘mow becaure they were brought into camy that evening unconscious, and
this fact was eonfirmed by the inmate doctor, shose nave I do not kmow.
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Ta, L, Tpe reason for this transfer was that

iriad about 40O to 500 meters distant from camp. The
was orderad by the Purgoneister of Erlefting. It was
- edpe of the woods, graves wers only “esipnated
without a eross and without desimnation., They were

and as far as 1 ‘mow none of them would be =arked with a
more= 1 would like to nention that there wre more death

T, the eanse of which wers detemined by inmate doctors,
mnnt stote,

lmaJm].?hSImtrm'ermggn Ca=p Mo, 7 to Camp
raturmfuchrer of the
88 Linomann wanted to ocoupy this camp and naturally the 38 had vriority

1

‘pver the Tehraacht in this matter. At about the end of January Sturmbann-

Jorachner arrived and took charge of all the by-cawps at Eaufering,
T4 sta®t consisted of Cherscharfuehrer Reidel as non-co~—issioned of ficer .
tn ieharae of food ard ‘int:ptae‘mmuhrﬁr Vatter as Rapportfushrer, who were
transferred mith me frox Caro YNo. 7 to Camp Ma. L. During tha time T had
char~o of Jawm Mo, L T received m orders fron Sturmbannfushrer Forschner,
wha I fum preceived Mis orders froc Ohersturmbarnfuehrer Welisr at
Dackan., Du~ing my stay at Cam Mo, L we %ad an average of three to four
Asnths per dav, and ainﬂ T commandad Carp Yo. 4 for three and a half
—mnths until the arrival of the American forces, the number of deaths
Eirine fhat e anamted La shout 3TN, Thasa f=mnt=n 211 Afad Feow
tV'ms and tphold "mr Amyr ~istreatuents or boatings of imates by
“=ttor, Aeidel or Tewsle are not kmomn to me.

"3 20 Asril 1945 D, Slanke came into Camp So. &4 and pave me
the ordéer ta help hin load P the sick on the train. I declined to help
iy and declared that so far he was responaible for this and T wanted 4%
ta stay that vay. Jhen Or. Tlanke rode on his bycycle to Hurlach and
tHaye ﬂu: @d up all horsedraw: carriages and took the sick in thﬂaa to
e railroad station, Al]l I 214 wma to Surnish the guaris because I did
not mnt any of the immates to escape. On the day when the Awerican
Arsopa rr’!.'red a't-f-hu:mntﬁsminthemmtugandmdnnn
Licyrele in the Mrection af Staffarshang, h"‘ J ontared tha ma&. T
sotdced gun“e arising from the camp. Taking a closer lmok, I could notice
thay £t was Dr. B‘iam“e who had set fire to the sar huts, After that time

: mever saw Or. Planke agaln.® (Pros Ex 1191)

13, %Eo Toerschnar, Foerschner was vrobably a Sturmbannte ror
{3

Mﬂ ﬂan n aring Carn Memker 1 Juring the last twa or throe =onths
ts existence in 1915 (2 £97,689), The scoused Toerschner mistrsated

t."-. 'xrlmrl who worked on a stone carrying detall (R 657,690). 'hen the
apcused Toerschner discovered that the capo for the women did not work, he
:mﬁ:h-! all the wonen on the dotall by not pemitting them %o recelve any
food for a day and forcing them to stand at attention from six until two
(2 £7-250) . “t‘!'mﬁbtoul_thamuﬂufmmihcﬂﬁm,
Mm have any strength left and began to carry fewer stones

659, ﬁlﬁ- Poersehner Hacovared that, he beat two of them, a

e Lan and a Yungarian (R £58),

m“ he kit a orisoner on the headwith a stone (RE90-691),

Lrp=sdm had bo be baken h tha boapital an! was never seoen again

91). Once at Nauf Foargchner m::i m(imrr;;;.u ﬂnt:: an iron
 preat foroe! so hl.dl;r that the man Aied. is ineclident

aroly w m Gfﬁ,ﬁﬁ;ﬁ??,ﬁﬂl}o

rial affidavit exscuted by the accused Foerschner in his om
ng on X Detober 1945 before 2nd Licutenant Yactahon, Investigza-
cor mas adnittel into evidence (R 83, Pros Bx 121). That

3ds in pertinent part in translation as follows:

-l’ll-




) s Sturcbannfyhrer Otte Forscher, 2n the lst of
Peb. 1945 T was ordered by Overgruppenfuehrer Pohl to tale over 7 camps
(aftorards 0 cwms) near Landgberg. As I arrived ab landsherg there
Sere about 10,000 prisoners, The health situation mas bad end the
asount 0f sick weraons was Wirh., In the time that I wan omp tomander
about 3,000 nrisgners Joined the eamp, In the time Irgm 1 Tulr, 22h5
#411 ths snd of the war, when I mms a camp commander there, sbout 2,000
arigoners ded, 1 am not guilty of these cases of death, After e firsb

insoection ° the canp Yo, 1, T immediately ascertained fhe bad gtate of
the hillets, Towediately T reccived the impresaion that a persof, after
some time. would ruln Wiz Health with this kind of billets. I reported
thle tmtresgion the next day to the camp commander, Ubersturmbannruenres
Welter, snd alss to Ubermmipnenfuehrer Pohl, vho wae present thare, I
raquested Oherprupnenfuchrer Pohl tn relleve me from this pesition, tut

ty Tequest was refused,

Wiz T oot over the camo there was tynhus fever among the nrison-
ors. The preater part of the canps were closed. Beside this, camp Ho. U
wan ocoupled wholly by sick priscmers. Snly the physician was allpwed to
entar this cap. Cosh of the deaths occurred in this camp Yo. hi The
phy=ician told re definitely thet it wasn't dangerous and the danger
would be sompletely eliminated. The typhus fever, after goun btime =
apparantly disninished in tha single camns, The cases of dedth diminished |
alsn, the mumher of sick sersons, however, continuad. '

"on ry opinien, the guilt is the fact that ell people were ac-
comodated im such bad billets., 'Wen the carns were built convenlent
harracks hiad to be requested from the 0.T. for the accompdation of the
innaten. Bathing and desinfection-rooms as well as shoentler's shopy,
tailor!s shop and dry cleaners for body linmen and working elothes at any
rate had to be in order before the arcival of the ireates. Tefore being
quartered the campg had to he drained, The shysician ought to have had
at his dienosal a mmber of sisk-hteds., Tn the camp 2 dentist!s station
aught to have heen installed when being quarterefl, The camps Installed
b ke 0,2, dm ke enwlivons of Landahary by no means wore to he Uﬂmﬂﬂ-ﬂa
iT the ahove-mentisned reguests wers net accomnlished before.

NThe camps were Hilleted rdthont these requests comsletely heing
acoomnlished, and thiz, on my opinion, is the reason for the hich #rount
af sieck persons and also of the following cases of death. After I had . "
talisw osvis the enme on the 1ot of Fehruary 'l'ﬂlf;, T tried to imorove what- ‘1
ever was nossibla,

"Tn ke Camp Ha. 1 the laundry, the tailer's shop as well ss the
shae-makgr's shop were lmoroved and enlarged during the time that T was
there, ‘he Hdtchen was lmprowad, lodgings improved as well as the
sbrects and Pact pathe. Inprovenents were nlen parformed in the other
camns, Only camp No. L (sick-camp) was stillbarred during =y tine.
Entratoe was forbidden, there so that I gammot state improvements thare.

nIn my written statensnt to the 0,T. T requested the improve-
=erta wWilch were nacesssry in the single camps. A eopy was sent to
Dachau and Berlin. In my later vensrt ts Dachan I nslesd for the doparture
of the srisoners wnatdle fo work.

"Standartenfuehrer Dolling, Thersturrbennfuehrer Pas, and the
camp comsander of Dachau arrived at Landsherz some deys later. Aftar
my report in which I ensrpetically acked for help the departure af all
stok inmates were sromised to me, T4 would tale only a short time, and
the alele inmates wonld be transferred to a good sick-canp, expscially
sicked for them, Ine contrary haspened, other sick inmates were sent %o
Tandsberg by order of the camp-chilef Obersturrbannfushrer Telter. -



'ﬂlhwnwtntth cams, wﬁ.thnut the
d ef of Dachau, however, the number of the sick persons
qﬁ‘iwlﬂllmmtﬂfﬂﬂmm

ing the high number of sick prisoners and,

rof dead is to be laid upon the chief who
into the camps. lthﬂmghimutimuf
= _;_j#mmm:mur
‘is the only and axclusive man to be made respon-

N : s was an S5 doctor who worked under the
f do m 3 1566), His post was in the surpical station
: . Hnlﬂlndldmﬂﬂmltﬂﬂdmmihmhihnﬁdﬂﬂ

death certificate and then laft (R 333,3L0,349).

A pre=trial affidavit of the accussed Tr. Elsele, executed on
:Iloetublr 1945 before lisutenant Outh was admitted intc evidence (2 31,

. Proa Ex 100). That statament reads in pertinent sart and translation as
follows:

wl, From Pebruary 1915 wntil the capture of the camp by the
Untted States fofices 1 acted as camp doctor and director of the surglecal
department of the Concentration Camp Dachau. As such I held the rank of
an S Hmmotstorsfaoshrear. .

n2, Am Camp Doctor and director of the surgical department my
superior was S9 Bturmbannfuehrer Pritz Hintermaler, my colleagues the
modical officer of the station complement Puhr and the director of the
hyglenic station Weber. Hintermaler was in charge of all sanitary
hypienie and athar sadiesl inctallations and all installationa that were
charged with the health of the inmates and was responsible for the entire
health service and all sanitary measures, According to Sturmbannfuehrer
Hintermaler's om statements, he did not hold the degree of Doctor of
Madicine, H1%hougl this was not unusual in wartime, it was extremely

wmsual in the case of a man of Dr. Hintermaier's age. In my opinion,
. ™. Hintarmsiar A{d nat nassass tha madieal, adsinistrative or mllitary

capacity which would have been necessary to fill hia position. He almo
lacked the necessary ahility to work, initiative, and good will

"3. When 1 started my duties in the camp in February 1945 and

Tr. Bintermaier took me on =& t.aur of tha ca=mp, he told me that a typhus
epidomic was godng on. Tn hie aninion the apldasie wan abhing althongh
w:ordinj o his omn statements about 30 to 80 cases of death oecumd
and new infections were reported continuously. For instance, two
'tmudinh gubordinates, an x-ray techniclan and another assistant
infscted of typhus after that time, although naturally the pgeneral
nmdi and the manitary arrangements of those who were employed
Jobs wars by far mars faworsbhle than thore ths sther inmatex
~ loreover T can say that it was swrprising that this typhus
broke out, Lack of space, sardtary facilities medicinals and

d made this epldemic unavoldable, The irmates, who were in a weakened
Hxh. anyway, wore crowlsd together in the barracks in an absolutely
d e fashion and were naturally mposed to all dangers of infec-
‘,_mmmmmmnumﬂamm '
nt prophylactic =easures befors contracting disease, i.nnﬂleimt
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desinfection and disinfection facilities naturally contributed thelir
snare. I should like to mention that a shortwave dilousing station
was installed after my arrival during the lash weslks. However, ay
succesa this disinfection mli ht have affectsd was destroyer, since
ehipmente which arrived frashly in ths camp were immediataly A strihu=
ted over all blocks of the camp and in a very negligent fashion without
going through the de-lonsing stabion first, so that naturally the
success of the previcus de-lousing of the camp was destroyed, Re
tions required that all new arrivals should go through the delmusing
atatim which, if my memory serves me right, was under the direction of
charfushrer Fuhemam. This thing was imsessible theupgh sinee amly
a mmall number of prisoners from sach shipment was taken to the de-
lousing station while the others wore slmily thromm into the camp after
the time was up. I dom't think that Dr. Hintermaier and Fuohrmann
tolerated this from any bad will btut simply becaunse they eould not

econtrol the larpe masses and could not pet along on the time, T myself
praposc nnvﬂral ware to sontral the epldemle or ovan to chesl= 1t ta Dn,

Hintermaier. Hor qutamet, T propose to quarantine all those who had
been infected in the camp Allach, which was partly ampty at that tinme.
“oreover L propose that the t}r;}‘tus infection should be decentralimed,
that their barracks should be separated and that they should be bedded
in two-layer bunks instead of three—layer bunks. Naturally this would
have decresded the dancer of infoctdon eonoiderably. Howowor Dr,
Hintermaler was p!ﬂﬁi'ﬂ'& towards all sroposals, just as in many other
npopanals which were aimed at improving conditions in camp, obwiously
he was only interested in potting rid of the unpleassnt reprimander as
soon as nossible. lothing ever haipened afterwards, although I attembted
to explain to him the seriousness of the situation, although this should
qob have Lesil nesesaary bo anothor docbore I ohould 1ike 4o add that Or.
termgisr gould have dong something if he had only had the desire o
toprave things, For instance, when I Inslsted on enlarging my department
I succeeded in securlnp a larpger ad mdre spacious ward and séveral single
bed-roons for my patlents. The only serum that was given was the so-called
Yeonvalsscent serum" which 1s only of healing and not prophylactic walue,
as fayv ds T louvw, thersfore I van say lo swwsariszing that the outbrake ef
epidanle gould have been avelded by a beticr, or even by a2 more intere-ted,
sanltary and hyplenle direction, and that after the outhralee of tha
epidemio it could have been checked by proper control if only the most
spimitive medical nesasures which were in Dr. lintersaler's powrr, or counld
have been in Or. Hntormalsr!s power had been taken,

. Aaather esise of desth was dysentery and uther rolated
Intestinal diseases, The @ain reason for these fiscases was insufficient
food, I+ was one of the duties of the camp doctors to insnect the l:itchen
and the food which was ssrved every day. ....ﬂ:ceﬁt for the. smnial dists,
which was very mod, the food was very usvally qualitively and always
quantitively insurilcient To keep even a sedentary man healthy. IL should
be noted that the inmates who received the food naturally were all, or at
leagt for the most part sngaged in a heavy work. Arter every one c_h_f my
Inspectiong T made note of the inaufficlent quantity in the ness=book,
Aecording to directives, the mes--heoly was read by the administrated
chiefs, Hauptatuwrmfushrer Tetzel and stumifushrer ™ 1lleboeck. *ore=
gver i Informed my superior, Tr. Hintermaier of” that state ol ariajrs,
esmepially in regard to an additional issue pf fab, and I always met with
the same lack of understanding and lack of interest. Zven the fopd that
was served to the sick who dld not get special diets was absolutely in-
sulficient to return & siok ran to health or oven to mmintain his state
of nutritisn, fed Cross packages caused this lack in the dist of the sick
w0 be at Jeast partially remedied,

. Onge T insnected the Ga,m;: *uhldorf by order of Dp. Hinter-
ﬂtﬁ:‘. 1 fmmd the mitnry ‘and medisal facilities insufficlient. &gaim
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1 submitted cervain j_:rn;pmd- to Dr. Hintermaler aod demanded the detall-

ing of a special camp doctor. The Tesult was the same as in the case of
my other demands. Howaver I was so excited sbout the conditions I had
found during my inspection that I inspected the camp unofficially a
pecond tlme and found the conditions the mame, with the exception of an
out-of-the~way woodsn Darracks a8 a po-called dispsasary. 1 g0 80 angry
about this conditions that I requested Obsrsturmbannfuechrer Martin Weise
to teke me along on an inspecticon and I pointed out the terrible conditions
and the even more dangerous potentialities. We did sctually have a con-
farence with Engineer General Techersilk after the two 0,7. Physioians whom
we met by mccident in the camp, explained thet hs was the only one who
could improve things. However nothing did in fgot happen.

56. I was compelled to participate ln thres exzecutlons during
my tour of duty in the Concemtration Camp Dacheu. The firet one, a shoot-
ing probably took pleace in Mpreh 1945. Then afterwards I was present at
another execution, alwo in March or poselbly in jpril 1945, and one hanging
wihich topk place iln April 1545. Those who were shot were two Husslans, I
don't know whather they were PW!'s or civilians, and one Freachman, T don'%
know whether he was PW or civilian. Those who were henged were two Poles
or Ruesiann, and egein I did not know whether they were PW'a or civilians.
In all cases the exscutiones were directed by Obersturmfuehrer Ruppert and
Otto and Hauptecharfuehrer Bongarts and EBiohbarger did the actual killing
. in the cese of the shootings. In the hanging the actual killing was dons
by an inmate, in my opinion. After the hanging I algned the certificatesof
exagurion with Obersturmfushrar Otto and Obersturmfushrer Ruppert.

"7, To complete my etatement T should like to add that many cases
of death wers recorded gs "weakness of cireulgtion" pince they had died of
infections which were in themselves minor, but to which they had no resie-
tance becanse of their state of malnutrition,” (Pros Ex 1004).

18, Dr, Klgue Karl Schilling. A special experimental station had been
get aelde in the hospital for the performance of malaria experiments under
the supervision of the acoused Dr. Schilline (R 191,157,482). Schilling
performed hias research for the purpose of determining immunisation for and
treatment of malaria (R 192). Regquests for prisoners were made by Schilling
(R 159,160). One such requast , which was adnitted into evidence, stated
that Polish prisgners were requested (E 180, Pros Ex 38), A list of inmetes
was prepared in the camp physician's office, the inmgtes being of all

. nationglities which were represented in the cmep., and wvas sent to the lsbor
office which made m copy of the liet (R 284, 285,287, Pros Ex 47,48,187).
Thers the 1ist was confimmed by the schutzhaftlagerfuehrer who sometimes
made a few changes ia the list (R 285). These lists appeared about once
every month since about 1943 (R 285), Nons of the 1200 selectess sver
consented or volunteered (R 160-161), Priests wsre often selected for thase
experiments (R 356,353). An inmate. a priest named Father Koch. related his
experience in that connection (R 356). He wae first z-rayed and then sent
to the malaria statlon (R 356-357,383,216). He was put into a 1ittle room
where he recelved a box with mosquitoes which he had to hold in his hands
for about hglf an hour (R 358). That occurred every day for one week
(R 358,363), Nvery afternoon another box of mosquitoes was put in between
bis legn while he was in bed (R 358.363). Tach morning a blood mmaar was
taken from his ear and his temparature vas measured each day and night
(R 358,364). He was given quinine (R 358,364). In gdout 17 days he left
the hospital (R 359,364). After being released from the hospitsl he had to
report back every Saturday (R 360,364). Pight months later he had an
attack of malaria, which recurred precisely every thres weeks for six
monthe (R 350, 363. 264. 366). The symptons ha falt wara high fawer, ahilla
and paine in the joints (R 359), Koch did not voluntesr for the experiments
nor did the other prisoners, who were mostly Poles and Russians, who under-
wont ths treatment with him (R 358, 362).
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The prisoners were infected with mslaris by the injections of
mosqui toes themselves or the injections of extracts of the mucous glands
of the mosquitoes (R 157), After having contracted malaria the prisoners
were treated in different ways (R 157), Some, as ¥ather Koch, weres given
quinine (R 3868). Others were givea nec-salvarsan, pyramidon, antipyria,
a drug numbered 92616 snd several combiumtions of these (B 157), Bome
pecple died as a result of these experiments (8 158). Schilling was
present when sutopsies were performed on some of those persons (R 158).
Whenever anyone died who had been injected with malaris, a report of that
death was made to the sccused Schilling and the chief doctor (R 158).
Some of the victims died from the intoxication of nec-salvarsan and
pyrasidon, Ior many 1ndividugls could not withutsnd large dows of these
drugs (R 150). Trom the autopsy it could be dstermined that a patient
dled of neo-selvarsan since the reacticms were similar to arsenic (R 193-194)
In the beginning of 1944 three deaths Tesulted from the use of pyranidon
(R 194). Tese paople were brought directly from the malaria ward to the

autopsy room (R 197). Two young Hussian boys who were transferred from the
Malaria ward to the gensral medlosl ward dled within a day sfter thels

arrivel because of overdoses of pyramidon (R 394-395, 406), They had been
sent to the genersl ward so that the officlal cause of death which would
be stated would not be malaria (B 405). Pyramidon has a toxic influece
on the blood corpuscles which causes them to disintegrate (R 195). Malaria
was the direct cause of 30 desthe and as a result of complications, 200 to
400 more died (E 195,197), People who had dled airscily Ifrom malaris had
come straight from the malaria ward while the 300 to 400 others had under-
gone the maleria experiment (R 204). These people who had been subjected
to malaria may later have died of tuberculosis, pneumonia or dynentery

(R 196), Some of the patients vhom Dr. Schilling used had had tubercu-
logie before undergoing the experimemts (E 11). Fever type dipeases bave
adverse affects on tuberculosie (R 211). An index of the malsria dlseased
people was kept in the hospital office (R 188).

Schilling received various visitors such as Dr. Eabblt, who was
a Reich SS physicisn at Oranienberg (B 192),

A pre-trisl affidavit of the accused Schilling eXecuted in Dig
own handwriting on %0 Ootober 1946 before 2nd Lieutenant Werner Conn was
admitted into evidence (B 627, Pros Ex 122). This statement reads in
pertinent part and in translation ae follows:

"My name i Prof. Dr., Claus Schilling. I have alTeady worked
on troplcal disesees for 45 years. I came to the experimental etation in
Dachau in February 1942, I Judge that I innoculated betwsez 900 and 1,000
prisoners, Thope were mostly innoculations for protection. These pecple,
however, were not volunteers, The inmates whom I gave protective innocula-
tione were not exmmined by me but by the pressnt camp doctor. Before the

innoculation there was usually an observation of geversl days. The last
camp doctor was Dr, Hintermsler. As well ms I can remember, 1n three
years there were 42 patients who dled outside the mslaris station. The
patients were always relemsed by me as cured only after one year,

49 remedy I ueed quinine, atabrine and neosalvarsan. I knmow

for sure of 6 cases where I used pyramidon tadlets to hold down the fever,
(Prox Ex 122),
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‘The accused Enoll was & prisomer in Dachau (R 526, 222, 2LL).
;y"fh-'gmm:- such was in charge of the work detall at ths grevel

2
w3 g
E

from the pansl company which was composed of those prisone 3
troken the camp rules (R 2L9. mmn'-ammmrmm

2k2). Knoll would remark, "Well, I accomplished that today® ﬂ.ﬁ
Hlmﬂdhrlg_lbuntmthn}uddnmmdinﬂuubuthumm
so many pecple (R 223). At a Christmas celebration in 1942 ¥noll ssid,
"Fe German political prisoners were decent. All others in the camp
should go to hall® (R 526). Knoll then added, "ir. Hauwptstursfushrar
(referring to r. Hisels) I finished 97 Jews, ) sore and them I shall
fetch my bread time® (R S26). lmﬂmﬂulbloﬂkﬂlhltlm
block 15 (R 528, 201, 146). mtw,wm:m
*ﬁlpmuhmtbmh(nlﬁ& 307). These beatiigs wore unofficial and
ware parformed unt‘h{a .
uumwwmmmmm&mmtm-ﬂnﬂu
hospital he often struck the patients [ 306). At
Ihnll-ntintohﬂmklﬁih-ﬂhihll
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i7. ODr. Pridolin Karl Pubr.

besen prepared in kis ovm hand writing snd evecutad hefars Captain
John A. Harnett, investigating officer, on 30 October 1545 was ad-
mitted into evidencer (R 846, pros ex 113). It reads in pertinent
part in translation as follows:

"¢y name is FRIDOLIN PIER. I am 3) years old and am by
Eirth en Austrian. I a= & doctor. I sntered the Allgessine 52 in June
1937. 1 reported voluntarily at the end of 1939 to the Air Forcs,
but was inducted on 15 July 1940 into the orgmmisation of ths Waffen
H.

*] came to the Dachau Concentration Ca=p on 15 December 1941
and beld the reok at that itiwe of Heuptetw=fuskrer and troop dostar
for the guarding units of the Concentration Camp. I was in charge
of a smull hospital unit with 21 beds, which was located outsidd of
the so-called Concentration Camp.

"I d4i4 not have amything to do with the treatasnt of the
ostitutes In the camp Deceuse Uwss werw for e Ceposs T adedt that
I was prosent at executions which were performed here at Dachau., I
can remmbar 5 or £ exec

tions where I had to be present, In two cases
the other cases thuy were shot. With the

werd al) immates. T can remssber

present, which was performed on




examiied the body and msda out ¢l daath cartivicate.

~1 vas present at two exscutlons in January, the Cirst af smdeh
took place at the beginning of Jameary 1545 where two inmates, thais
nationalities unkuown to me, ware hansed in the evetstarium. BOU0-
ARTZ was tha banghan and SUPPERT and OTTO were present; as in all
previous oasas. One of ths two inmates was avecuted as a spy and I '
don't know why the second one had to die. All hangings tuok plags
in the crematorium and the shootings in the yard of the cremstorium.
#8 ususl T asied for the sxeoutlon order which T alwsys had resd be=
fora ‘an axecution took place. #hen the deatl verdiet sppeared to u
too severa I would try to put in for an &ppeal to the Adjubant, whos
wan present. Tha gallows was located in the cremstorium right in
front of the ovens. BONGANTZ killed thiese two inmatss in & good
way. The corpsas were laft thare to ba burned,

nThe naxt execution T ramerbar geourred atb the and of January,
This was the shooting of a man ir the yard of the crometorius. I

can't remember why he was shot. The inmate was complately unirasssd,
had to imeel down in front of a pile of earth and then BONGAATZ naws
from behind with a pistol snd shot the man i the neck. The man was
dead immediately. At that time RUPPERT and OTTO werd again prassnts

n'he rnext exesution toak placs in the middle of Marel. T cous
too late, and when I arrived there ths execution had alraady tiken
placs. There were four naked bodies lying on the ground. Thay
ware all shot the same way as tho other ones, in the neck. ALl
the witnesses had already lsft at the time I arrived. I mads out
the death certificates. With certainty I assumed that the sroun nhich
usually included OTTO, RUPPERT, and BONGARTZ had perforued this ex-
ecution. I made out the death certificates for thes L victius.

#The next exscution took place in the middle of April. There
were B men shot. They were all naked and shot irn the sams way as
the previous onss. BONGARTZ and -another 88 man, his nams unknown to
me, performed this killing. 1 do remember that two of tham wers shot
for espionage. OTTO was there as Adjutant to tho [agar (ommandant,
WEITER. The Schutshaftlagerfushkrer RUPPERT was also pressnt. [Ihe
exscution took place in the same area where the othera had taksn plase.?
(Pros Ex No 1134)

lﬁl h‘m B‘“t -

Boettger was Happortfushrer and labor lsader (B 235, 251,
339), wWhen the work details would laave the camp be would stand at
the gata and check the 1ists (R 251). In 19Ll the accused Boettgsr
offiniatad st tha publie srseutiom nf o ypoong Bossdan (R332, TRY): ]
It was Boettger who kicked the stool out from under the young Russian's
legs (R 124, 578). His body remained hanging for about ome half to
three quarters of an bour whils the working details marched by during
the noon hours (R 12L=125). It was Boettger who brought the two
Russien women to the crematorium who were executed by Hintermayer (R 339).
Baattger had the regolar Job of leading thes poople te the eresatordum
to be shot or hanged (R 339). Thus, the 96 Pussian officers who were
exscuted in September 19LL were lad to the place of axsecution by hiw
(R 126, 1Bl). The acoused Ruppert and I[oettger were in dhnrp{ﬂ 125}
45 they went toward the crematorium he pushed them and told them to
‘quicken their pace (R 127). After they arrived at tha mtm.-im
single shots wore hoard ocomdig from that diroction and the 956 Ruseisn
officers were found shot in the neck and the gold in their testh
besn taken (R 128).

Bosttger often struch the prisoners with iie ists (R 235). #8

nﬂppad the priscners in the bath houso with & cat-of-g-tails (8 235,
L66). He boat thom on the parade prounds me sevorsly thal dnsy had
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*ﬂ‘ﬁrw,‘h the M-’&ma (R 235, 2.‘!5)-

m one of the individuals in charge of a tyransport
sft .on 26 April 1945 (R 236). During the march he snot a
1‘t|hn !l!ld who was lying in the ditch beside the road because
apsen Irom weaknsss (i 236, 240, 261).

o D e~trial affidavit of Boettger's, prepared in his own haad-
rit-ing which had beer executed before Lieutenant Conn on 29 fNetober

‘and & supplement which was also in his own hand writing and
muMEWGu Lisutenant, Conn on 30 October 1945 were admitted inte
avidence. mw&:; » #29). It reads in pertinent part and

,'"Indfmfma, I was called into Dachau a&s & reserve and I did
guard duty there and agsompanisd prisoners, and [ was relsased the
first of November 1940, At that tine PIORKOWSKI was Commandant of
the Concentration Camp of Jachau. I was then called back to Dachau as
lnterscharfushrer in liay 1941, and worked as supply sergeant in the
Second Compary. In September 1541, I came to the post censorship
uffice at the Cosmand Post. There I was until (ctober or lbvember
193, and I was promoted in 'ay 1942 to Scharfuehrer, snd in lay 1943,
to Oberscharfusiwar. Hauptsturnfusizer REIWITZ theu, (mt--mvt 1943) ,
gave me the officisl order thet I should work as Happortfushrer in
tite Schutehaftlapger. At that time WEISS was etill in command of
[achau., Jy official oifice was in Department g¢#3 in tha shoehouse.

The Hlock Leaders under mé had Blocks 2 to 30 and 15 to 29 under them.
The followlng Schutzhaftlagerfushirers vere at that fime my superiors:
1. Hauptsturmfuehrer REDWITZ; (L3-Uh)s 2. Uutersturmfushrer JUIG,
(Jan. Ll to middle of 194k); 3. Obersturmfuehrer HUPPERT, (middle 194k
to end); L. Obersturmfushrer GAVPE (Mo dates). In Wovembsr 1543,
WEITER became fommandant of Dachau, and in June 194k, I was promoted
to Hauptscharfuehrer. My work as Happortfuehrer consisted of the fol-
lowing things: 1. Control of work details; 2. Receive and turn

over transports:; 3. Hold roll call: L. Iead psople to the crematorium.
All ordars for that were given to me by Department lo. 3. (REDWITZ,
JUNG, RUFPERT.) Wwhen 1 led the people to the crematorium, the list
was always brought by EICHDEROER from the Political Uepartment

of the HQ. to the Schutzhaftlegerfuehrer. EICHRERGER alwave went along
to the crematorium because he nad to got the list signed. The list
was always signed by the Schutzhaftlaparfushrer prasent. the Adjutant.
Obersturmfushrer OTT0, and the doctor. 1 saw the following people

sign the list: HUPPERT, JUVG, Bturmbannfushrer HIRTEMEER, Dr. EISELE
(Haupteturmfushrer) and the Adjutant, Obersturmiuelrer GITO. When I
1ed these peopla to the ecreasterium, I knew what woold happen to thsm.
None of these people came oul of the orematorium alive.

n Besides the civil immates, there.were also Hussian prisonsrs in
the oamp. AL one time, on L Sspiember 19LL, about ninety Musslans
were shot. They were soldlers. Jhan I saw these soldisrs the
firat time, they wers zlready limad up and the following BS man wera
presentg Oommandant WEITER, SUFPERT, KUHW, EICHBENGER, and (presun-
ably) HINTERNEYER. The pesple wars thwn lad te the ewrematerdium. T
went &lopg with about the last 30 fussians and when I arrived at the
erematorium, I saw how thay were shot. The Hussians had to undress
naked, and I saw the following pecpla give them shots in the neck:

1. Oberscharfushrer BONGARTZ; 2. Hauptscharfuehrer KUHN, and Haupt-
s¢harfuahrer EICHEEROER. Present at the shootirg were RUPPERT, T,
and one of the doctors. There were also Uestapo agants from outside
there; Adjutant Otto was thers. Dr. HINTEGEYER or Dr. EISELE was
there, or PUHR. BONGARIZ was exscutor and killed most of them.

WEITER was also present.

"I took part in the umrtmmlmmmmafaru
Wolfartehauson. This transport started on 26 April 19LE and




following S8 men ware present: 1. I; 2.Mmmm
in command; 3. FHauptman BAYER; L. Untersturmfushrer BORNUNG.®
(Pros Bx No. 1054)

15. Peter m-

Bets was an 8S Hauptacharfushrer (R 290). From January to
March 1943 he was Rapportfushrer (R 290). '

A pro trial affidavit of the acoused Hets preparsd in his
own handwriting executed befors Lisutenant Bowser on 30 October 1905
was admitted into avidence (R 83k, pros sx 120). It reads in pertinent
part and translation as follows;

rn at

"y name is PETER HETZ; I am 32 years old and I
THEISENORT Hous=s No. & in the town of KRONACH in Bavar

November 1933, I voluntarily entered the Allgemaine 88
esployment. I resided at THEISENORT all the time and

every now and then and in 1ts surrounding localitlies. T he
performed was that of a carpenter on the railway line. In
1935, I reported voluntarily to the Death's Head S8 at Dachau.
There I was assigned as an S5 man and worked myself up to the rank
of Rottenfushrer until June 1935 and during the three years there,

I performad my dutiss as a guard. In 1938 T was transferred to the
Commandant's Office within the concentration Cs=p Dachau. Then I
was smployed in the office of Unit ¥o. 3. At the beginning of the
war, the Death's Head Orgamizations wers incorporated into the
Waffen 85 of which I was & member since 2 September 1939. At that
time I was Scharfushrer and worked myself uwo to Hauptacharfushrer. I
received this rank on 1 Fsbruary 19432,
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"y duties in ths office were to check the arrival and depart-
ur=s, as well as the death cases, and to report these to Oranienburg
in the vicinity of Berlin. I sent punishsent orders to Derlin for
mﬂl and T glsoc had to send cordust raports of irmatas to the
Gestapo office and forward them to the feighSwcurity

nﬂ‘im- My highsst superiors in thas offics from 1918 te 1943
were Obersturmbannfuehrer PIORKOWSKI and respectively following his
in short order, Hauptsturmfushrer CRURNEMALD, Hauptrturmfushrar SILL,
Hauptsturmfushrer HEDFTTZ, and Obersturmfushrer HOFFPIANN. I received
an ordar from HOPFUANN in Novambar 19L1 to halp piek up about 80
Russian partisans at the railway station in Dachau in order to
transport these to the rifle rangs. At that time I was assipgned for
guard duty. On the rifle range, I guarded the Russians shile I
witnessed the Russians being taken in groups of 5 and shot to death.
The second time I perforzed the same duties, and that time about
A0 ta 100 Puasisn partizane wara shot. A pariad af 1k days alapsed
between the first and second time. The execution squad, hot-htriu_l,
consisted of the following 85 men: Unterstumfushrer JAROLIN, Ober-
scharfushrer FROINAPFEL, Scharfushrer HIRKER, Oberscharfuehrer HIFP,
Hauptecharfushrer KIERN, Scharfushrer STAEFL, Oberscharfushrer m
Scharfushrer Max BOOCK, Unterscharfushrer STRASSER, Hauptscharfuenrar
WOLPOANG SRUSS, Haupteoharfushrer REDOCLE.

"I remssber administering face slappings three or four times
in the summer of 1942, because the inmates wers accused of theft
and they denied it. Several times, I accidentally had the opportunity
to enter the room where inustes were questioned and happenad to ses
that the inmmates were boater up by 85 men. The lrsiites wors reis
treated and received about 10 to 15 beats on the buttocks with & )
club. Several times a whip was being used wiich was called Yoxtailf.
I witnessaed this about ten times. mwmmwm
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20. Anton Endres.
.  Budres was a wegber of the SS who worked as & first aid
- m ths hospital (R 303, 317). 1here he assisted a capo namad
! Heiden who to kick and beat the prisopers who had reported to

- o ‘the hospital for treatment (R 30L). Although Bndras was the respon-
] sible f ‘afd man, he not only failad to provent Heiden from

onmitting those excesses, but assisted him (R 30L)s Thus, Hndres
‘assisted Helden in placing prisoners on the examination table where Endres
‘would fnject the antisceptic into the victim (R 30k, 305). At other
times when Hedden killed soue of the patients by injections Endres would
21d in the handling of the patient (R 305, 316, 320). Often Helden and
Bndres would put a patient in heavy wool blankets, and than subject

him to & cold shower from 2 to 3 hours, as & rasult of which Lle

patient would die from high fever and freesing (2 30L).

y A pre trial statement of the accused Endres prepared in his
onn handeriting on 30 October 1945 was admitted into evidence (R B29,
pros ex 123). It reads im pertinent part and translation -as follows:

.’ W% name is AUTON EMDAES, S8 Cberscharfushrer, S8 Totenkopf-
h division, Dachau.

Dachaug 7 Sept. 1939 - 28 lov. 1939
Dachaus Dec. 1940 =  1ay 19h2
Lubling vay 192 -  June 1543
Augsburg: June 1943 -  Fov. 1943

wiram 28 Novenber 193% wntil December 1940 T was undsr medigal
treatment because of an automobile accident and was in Oranienburg.

W ¥rom Hovember 1943 until September 190k I wes in custody pend-
ing Anauiry in Dachau and jjeimar because T had let immates out of the
. camp. In September 15l I came into the Penal Camp Dachau where I
was until 30 April 1945, I was in Dachau from Septamber 1939 until
flovenbar 1939 for basic training. From Dacanber 19h0 untdl May 1942
1 cavriad out the following duties in Dachauy
" Until June 1941 I was first aidman under the troop physician,

““Unt4l yay 1912 T was active in the camp quarters and also in
 quarters. [ was always under Dr. LOLLING. In the camp
“bhare were inmates who were sick.

s of 1942 Dr. IOLLING was transferred and Dr.
placa and the same responsibility. 1y tasks
e to get the mail, to get medicine
s and lavatories in order. I was

t aidman, About 5 to 10 inmates

. Sova of tham died of undsrnourishment,
sides the civilians, I also saw ussians

ef director (Dr. LOLLING and Dr
53 ﬁ%ﬁ»Mwwﬁtﬂ
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_ The acousad Kiern was s Huuptscharfushrsr who for a tiss
in the post censor office where le acted as & censor and wus later
k Leader (R 290, 259). At one time in 1942 a prisoner, sither
@ Husslan or a pole, who had just come to Dachau an & transport was
lying on the ground since he was very ill (R 283). Kiern killed ths
inmate by kicking him in the head (R 283).

z :

%

A pre trial affidavit of the accused Kiern which vas preparad
in his own hendwriting and exscuted befors Iisutenant Fowser on 30
Octobar 1945 was admitted into evidsnce (R B36, pros ex 119). It
reads in pertinent part ana in translation ws followss

"liy name is Simon Kiern. I am 32 years of age and resided untdl
my arrest on 30 April 1945 at Hebertshausen, Wurmuhle 3. T was inductad
inte the Cerman Army on 1 October 1932 and was discharged as a corporal
on L March 1936, Then I becams a civilian and remained one until 30
January 1937 and after that time I entered the organizatiosn of the
Waffen 8S. I firet cams to Dachau on 1 PFebruary 1937 and was employed
thers 28 a Signal Corps man. I remeined in Dachau from 1937 until 1939
to train 55 men as Bignal Corps men and was thereafter sent to
Czechoslavakia whers I remained until the ysar 19L1l. Then T roturnad
to Dachau and was sctive with the Signal Corps until July 1941, ‘Than
I was commanded to tha Concentration Camp where I was employed as
clerk in the office of Hauptsturmfushrer 2i1l. My rank at that time
was Unterscharfuehrer. My dutiss in the office consisted of £411ing
out the file cards of inmates, as well as writing N.8.V. post cards
to the families and relatives of inmates. Tn November 1541 T was
ordered for the first time to participate in the execution of Mussian
prisoners. I did not want to do that and told 2411 so. Thereupon
he shouted at wa and said that I had to execute his orders. Fifteen
Huselan Partisans were shot to death that month. These executions
took placs at the rifle range. The next shootings T was orderad to
participates in took placa in January 1942, Thara wera tan svasitians
that month, in each of which 25 or mors Russians were shot. I was
active in all three executlons, taking part in the shooting. Unter-
sturmfushrer Jarolin was in command of these executions. The follow-
ing named men have participated in one or more exeputions:

Hauptashmfuahrar Patar Batz
Scharfuahrer Herths
Scharfushrar Angersr
Hauptscharfuehrer Gaisbarger
Oberscharfushrer Mullsr
Hauptscharfushrer Welfgang Seuse
finttan foabhrer Philipp
Scharfushrar Stasfl
Oberscharfushrer Karl EKipfer
Oberscharfushrer Endress
Scharfushrer Preiss
Scharfushrer Wax Boook
Beharfoshrar Jogsf Book
Scharfuahrer Schoppmeier

Furthermore I want to mention that at the time these executlons took
lace 5 parsons would be shot at onde and the corpsss would be ramoyed
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Mﬂl the actual shooting, but of the three I cannot say for surs.

A1 remained as an opffice clerk until December 1942, and was
transferred shortly thereafter to the Nail Censor Office here in
‘Dachau where 1 was sccused of stealing 10 cigarettes out of an al-
veady opsued suvelops. Thersupon | was sentenced to serve & months in
prison, After serving this punishment I was put on probation as soldier
by the Welrmacht. After that time I was never apain stationsd at Dachau.
At the conclusion of this statement I would like to mention that T did
a6t steal the 10 cigaretites and served the 6 months jail sentence

Amnocently." (Pros Ex No 1194).
22. Michael Redwitz.

Redwits, a Hauptstwmfushrer, was ths First Schutahaftlager-
fuehrer from the end of 1;]32 through 1943 (R 16L, 292, 385). FKe
succesaded 211l as First Schutzhaftlagerfushrer (R 170). Hedwits
instltuted the practice of having the prisoners administer the publie
beatings instsad of the SS men (R 229). In August 1943 during a
public beating of 1l prisoners on the parade prounds Redwite was the
genior officer present (R 383). One morming he addressed the entire
camp and insulted all the priests (R 293).

A pre-trial affidavit exscuted by the accused Hedwits before
Lieutenant Guth on 1 November 19L5 was admitted into evidence (R 795,
pros ex 95). Tt reads in pertinent part and in translation as follows:

"l) From 20 November 1942 until 6 March 154 I was Sscurity
GCamp Leader of the Camp of Dachsu. During the years of 1939 until
1942 I was working from time to time as a postal censor in the concen-
tration camp of Mauthausen. During my work at Dachau I held the
rank of a Hauptsturmfushrar,

2) In my position as a camp security leader T was in charge of
all affairs concerning the clothing. quartering and traatmant of tha
prisoners and of all the priscners' welfare. I was responsible for
discipline, good order and cleanliness of the camp as well as for
the health of the prisoners. My only superior was Obersturmbannfuahrer
Martin WELSS. On the same level with me were his adjutant SUTTROPP,
head of administration Heuptsturmfushrer KLADDENHOF (after April 1943
Sturmbamnfushrer OFHRTOH) and tha comwandar of the guard battalien
Hauptsturnfushrer MEIZER as well as LANGLEIST, and the head of the
political department, Untersturmfushrer and criminal secretary KICK,
the head of labor commitment Oberscharfushrer PFLAUM and the lirst
camp doctor Hauptsturmfushrer Dr. WOLTER. We all worked together and
owr respasctive spheres of work overlapped in such a way that it is
iEII'ﬂ.‘IIn ts make on exact limitatiom of all rights and responsi-
bilities, There is hardly one question arising out of or possibly
originating in connection with the leadership of the camp in which
not all leaders dirsctly subordinite to Obersturmbannfushrer WEISS
would have been interested. It is likewise difficult to make one
of the leaders particularly responsible for a certain condition
in the ecamp as this coudition, probably, was created by the cooper—
ation of all departments. My subordinates wers Obarsturmfushrer Ariio
Lippmarn as second security camp leader, and Untersturmfushrer Josel
JAROLIN @8 third security camp leader. In the early summer of 1943,
LiPPMATN was replaced by Sturmfushrer JUNG, and JAROLIN by Hauptschar-
fushrer TRENKLE, My first clerk up to March 1943 was Hauptscharfushrer
BETZ and theroafter lauptocharfushrer BICHBERGER. Everything I sald
about the responsibility of the staff of the camp commander of the
general camp cones glso trus with regard to the responsibility of '
my StAff in the camp. IWith the sxception of brutalities of individ-
wala we are all mitual and in the same way responsible for conditions
pravailing in the camp. [t is impossibla for me o hold anyone of




my subordinates, aspecially responsible for any particular condition.
So many various laaders and underleaders had a share in the axecu-
tion of every order that it is ‘spossible to mike responaible any-
one of thes in narticular for a certain condition.

3) I sannnt avantly racall my‘mrﬂnﬂﬁthﬂhﬂﬂb&r&fﬂﬁlm
in the camp, I examined, howsver, the document signed by me and
marked with the words "Exihibit RE® which Father Hofmann handed to
z8 this sorning and do rot find amy fault with this document. As
far as T can judge after the elapse of one year these figures are ]
gorrect. I should like to emphasize, however, that this list is refer-
ring enly to the ssourity eamp and that I am not able ta give any
information about deavhs occurring in other varts of the camp. These
are not included in thls list.

L) During my tize of duty the harracks were overcrowded.
Thers were always about 500 to 500 men in a barrack constructed for
200 te 00 mon, This naturally, greatly incyensed the danger of
infection in the camp. I pointed this out to Obersturmbannfusirer WEISS.
Ha, howaver, did nothing about it.

€) The following disciplinary punishments were used in the camp:
1. Witharawal of rations,
B. arroot,

3. beatings.

The tirashing of prisoners has always teen directed by ==, or Cber-
sturpbannfushrer WEISS, or Obsrsturmfuoshrer LIPPUMANN. Though the order
of the Economic and Administration Hadn Office always prescribed
beatings with a stick the so-called Ochsensiemer (ox-tail), that is

a long whip, bas besn used on order of Obersturmbannfuskrer WIISS.

On some days a considerable nusber of prisoners were altogether [logged.
1 can remember one day when about 50 prisonere were beaten.

6) I carmot remesber to have been present at more than about
4o executlons. All the dsath sentengws were lessusd Ly the Redch

Security Main Office. The political department in chargs of criminal
secretary KICK then sant the death sentence of the Reich Security
Hain Office %o the security camp and Cbersturmbannfushrer WEISS

order of exscution. This execution-order was signed by Cherstursbarme

fuehrer WEISS and fixed the time and the place of execution. Without
this order of executlon, only on ihe death sentencs of Lhe Tfelch
Security lain 0ffice, I would not have carried out an execution.

A11 axscutions which I can recclleot have been carried out by hanging.

I cannot remember that more than one person at & time was hanged in

one day. I have sesn the following persons present at the executions
at which I took part: Obersturmbannfushrer WEISS, the Obarsturmfushrer
LIPPMANN, SUTTROPF, Dr. KAHR, BAMDOR, HAUFISTURMNUSHIER §ULTER,
Untersturmfushrar JAROLIN, Sturmbannfushrer GE{4ICH, Hauptscharfuehrer
BETZ and after his replacement, Hauptscharfuehrer EICHBERGER, Haupt-
soharfushrer THENKLE, Oberscharfushrer BOETTCHER, the then Unterschar-
fushrer BONGA™TZ, Untarscharfushrer HENSCHEN. Wren Oberstursbannfushrer
WEISS took part in anexscution he also directed it. ihen he was

not present, Sturmbarnfushrer GEERICH or somelimes I and Suuarmiuenrer
SUTTROFP or LIPFMANN, or I and Untersturmffushrer JAROLIN directed the
sxscution. I do not want to say that I have seen the above mentionsd
present at sach of the LO sxecutions. I bave seen, however, every-

ons out of these persons present &t one or sone exscutions, 1 can-

not reccllect the exact date of these executions. They wers, howsver,
ratimr regularly distribated in the time between November 1942 and
darch 19LL. It was our general principle to keep down as much as
possible the number of sersons admitted to the executions, and each
cne allowsd to be present at the execution had his assignment.

The minor ranks I * orders
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d Hmmmdt-h-p'rham. The doctors Dr.

and stated the death. The Scharfuehrer EICHBEAGER and BETZ were am-
ployed as recorders. The nationalitiss of the prisoners wers Hus-
sisns, Polss, Frenchmen, Delgians, Dutcimen, Serbians, and perhapes
-un others whioh slipped [Tom =y mamOTT .

7) About in the year of 15L3, Obersturmbannfushrsr WEISS ordered
ms to be hie representative at an execution of two saboteurs in

§

8) A number of prisonars ware held ready for the malaria and
phlegmons experiments and for the experiments of Dr. RASCHER's. Ober-
stursbarmfuehrer WEISS ordsred we to turn over the prisoners to these
doctors for the sxperiments and then also fixed the numbar of pris-
oners to be tumed over for each expariment. The general order to
turn over prisoners was given to me by Obersturmbannfushrer WEISS
perscoally, immedistely after sy arrival at Dachau. The orders to
release cartain numbers of prisonsrs in the certain cass then ar-
rived from time to time from Obersturmbarnfushrer WEISS. I beliesve
that ha gave me the gensral order parsonally on my start of duty, and
then gtill several times told == when we had a conversation about
the clesrance of prisonars for the axperimenis, that this was an
order of the Reichsfuelrsr. I mysslf was always against these ex-
periments and in soms cases aven refused at all to turnover of pris-
oners or reduced the mnumber of those to be turned over. The selec-
tion of the personalities of prisoners ]I left to the block oleris.
The general order given to me by Cberstursbannfuehrer WEISS oo my
start of duty said that the prisoners had to be piciked wp out of the
group of those security camp prisonsrs who worked in the Hﬂunqo-
ments. Since the emprisoned clargyman were working in the plantage
which was a 55 management, also clergymen had to be claimed by the
block clerks for these experiments.” (Pros Bx No. 95A)

23. Filhels Welter.

Walter, a membar of the 85, was the labor leadsr and Arbeite-
disnstfuehrer (R 526, 295, 232, 253, L7L). He was in ¢ of the slave
market formations for several sonths toward the end of 1 and the
begiming of 1945 (R 320, 150, 153, 200, 201). The priscners feared
:;.{;um;mu sinfa it was eonsidared a danserons mattar to ba an

The prisoners were forced to undress no matter what time of the
year it was (R 312). Manoy of the peoplas who stood on these formations
died (R 152). Welter grouped and lined the people up (R 201). Welter
bast, hit, pushad and kdicked tham (R 182).

In August 1942 Welter selsoted 12 inmates who wers Balgians,
Russians, Polas, Csechs and GQermans for the cold water sxperiment
(R k70, k71, L72). At the formation the immates were placod in two
groups, thosa of 3O ywars of age and those under 30 (R L73). Only
thosa whe were under 0 yeaars of sge were selasectad (R L7L). MNins of these
disd a8 & result of these experiments (R L71). Each day Welter would
bring a group of 10 or 12 prisonars Lo the hospital for the experiment
(B L7-u75).

Woltar not only selected the manpower for the slave markat for-
mations, but alded i the selostlion of the poopls for the transports
and work details (R 318, 312, 220, 253). Kick assisted him in drawing
up the lists for tha transports (R 253). The list would be read on the
mm-hlhrwmmddmm were put
ummmmmmmzﬁé In 15LL at

transport was of the invalid variety (a 255).

one such
Ons day a Fussisn who had stayed asny from a detail because
deaired to go %o the hospitsl and who had been reported missing

E‘é



Xahr, Drs Wolter and Barbor were present at the exscutions as doctors
and stated the death. The Scharfushrer EICHEEHGER and BEYZ were en-

ployed as recorders. The nationalitiss of the prisoners were fus-
sisns, Poles, frenchman, Belgians, Dutcimen, Serbians, and perhaus
still others which slipped from my mamory.

~_7) About in the year of 1943, Obersturmbannfushrer WEISS ordered
me to be his representative at an e xecution of two sabotewrs in

WM"

8) A number of prisoners were held ready for the malaria and
experiesnts and for the experiments of Dr. RASCHER's. (Ober-

sturmbannfushrer WEISS ordered me to turn over the prisoners to these
doctors for the experiments and then also fixed the number of pris-
opers to be tumed over for each expsriment. The general order to
turn over prisoners was given to me by Obersturmbannfushrer WEISS
porsonally, imsedistsly after =y arrival at Dachau. The ordsrs to
Treleass certaln numbars of prisoners in the certain case then ar-
rived from time to time from Obersturmbamnfushrer WEISS. I believe
that he gave me the general order personally on my start of duty, and
then still ssveral times told me whan we had a conversation about
the clearance of prisonsrs for the experiments, that this was an
erder of the Reichsfusirer. I myself was always against thess ex-
periments and in some casas aven refused at all to turnover of pris-
onara or reduced ths mumber of those to be turned over. The salec-
tion of the personalities of prisoners I left to the block clarks.
The general order given to me by Obersturmbannfushrer WEISS on my
start of duty said that the priscners had to be picked up out of the
group of those security camp prisoners who morked in the S8 manage-
ments. Since the emprisoned clergymen wers working in the plantage
which was & 85 management, also clergymen had to ve claimed by the
block clerks for thess experiments.® (Pros Bx No. 954)

23. Wilhelm Weltar.

Welter, a membar of the S5, was the labor leader and Arbeits-
disnstfushrer (R 526, 295, 232, 253, L7L). He was inc of the slave
mariet formations for several months toward the end of 1 and ¢
beglundng of 19L5 (R 320, 150, 153, 200, 201). The prisoners f
these m{om';d.nu since it was considered & dangerous matter to
thas .

Tha prisoners wers forced to undress no matter what time of the
yoar it was (R 312). Many of the people who stood on these formations
died (R 152). Welter grouped and lined the people up (R 201). Welter
beat, hit, pushed and kicked them (R 152).

In August 1942 Welter selected 12 inmates who were Belglans,
Russians, Poles, Csechs and Qermans for the cold wataer axpariment
(R k70, k71, L72). At the formation the inmstes were placod in two
groups, those of 30 years of age and those under 30 (R 473). Only
those who were under 30 years of age were selected (R L7L). MNine of these
died as a result of thess axperiments (R L71). Each day Welter would
bring a group of 10 or 12 prisoners to the hospital for the exveriment
(R L7L-UTS).

Welter not only selected the manpower for the slave markst for-
mations, but aided in the selection of the peopla for the trans
and work details (R 318, 312, 220, 253). EKick assisted him in drawing
up the lists for the transports (R 253). The list would be read on the
parade ground as Welter looked on and after the transports were put
together he would then confirm the action (R 25l, 256). In 19LL at
least one such transport was of the invalid variety (R 255).

Orie day a Russdan whe bad stayed sway fruom a Jeblail itecausw
hdm:utnmwthbqimwﬂuhdhmmm
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to Welter was, on Welter's orders, brought to him (R 232).

Welter beat him with his riding erop (R 232). As the Russian raised
his arms to protect his face, Welter beat him across Ils back { 232).
This incident cccurred toward the end of 1942 (R 237, 257). In ,
Fobruary 1942 Welter selscted four Jews to work on the crematory detail
(R 277, 278). It was common knowledge that each gruup worked in bbe
detail about two months, then were disposed of, and succesded by a new
group which was selected (R 279, 299). Welter often beat the prisonsrs,
who wers of all nationalities, with his fists and ldcked them with

his feet (R 527, 232).

A pre—trial affidavit of the accused Weller sxscuted before
Lieutenant Guth on 30 Octobar 1915 was admitted into svidencs (R 811,
pros ex 99). It reads in pertinant part and translation as follows:

"From 1 January 1938 until the end of 1939 I was a member of the
11th comp. lst bn. Inf. regiment "Deathhsad®, from 1 January 1940
untll about Mervh=April 1940 of uhe 10th comp. 2md bR. In. Ceglment
"Deathhead® and thereafier in the Dachau concentration camp until
about July 1943. I returned to the military service in August-
Septenmber 19L3 and served on the Easterniront until 17 January 19lk.
On 17 Jan. 19Ll I received a heavy head wound with grenade splinter
wornd on the left thigh. Then I was in various hospitals such as
Lullin, Bad Neusnahr, and RNe1nbacth.

"From 1 January 1944 until May 1945 I was ordered to the Reich
Youth Command in Birgsau, then returned to the front, was separated
from my wunit, returned home and surrendsred voluntarily to American
officers in the city hall of the town of Dachau.

"My duties in the camp were: temporarily (bmmandofushrer in
various labor details such as commardo Friedrichshafan, Haunstetten,
and in Dachau. My main duty was that of clerk in the department of
labour commitment. Head of the dapartment was Obersturnf. STUMPF
his representative Oberecharf. PFLAUM,

PT was for some time Commandofushrer of the garage construction
commando consisting of about LOO to 500 peopls at the time. It is
not true that on this oocasion T have thrown a prisoner into the
latrine pit. I never have thrown any Prisoner nor any other person
into any latrine pit.

®1% is known to ma that prisoners wers slapped when they had
stolen sometliing or did somsthing which was forbidden to them.
I have sesn that Oberscharf. BOTTCHER slapped a prisonar several times.
I also heard when Scharfushrer BACH slapped a prisoner and I saw the
Capo beat prisoners.

"I believe that it was in the summer of 1942 whan T was enter-
ing the camp that Sturmbannfushrer WEISS requested ma to get into
his car and to come with him. 'The destination was unknowm to me
and upon my question he replied; "You will see." In Augsburg we
stopped before a bullding whichSturmbanniushrer WEISS entsred.

After a while many peopls in civilian clothes and in uniform came out
and all got into cars. Sturmbannfushrer WEISS also got into his car
in which I was sitting and followed the column. They stopped out-
side the city about a hundred meters from a small hedge or patch

of wood. I stayed in the car while WEISS and the other people walked
into the wood pateh. T could not find ont what actually happanad
then but I believe that after about three quarters ol an hour WEISS
and several other people returned to the car and WEISS said to mes
"Jo over there and have a look"; I there saw hung people, T camot
say how many they were, but I belleve they were ] persons. I imume-
diately returned to the car with which we returnsd homs. WEISS did




-

"ot YAl 5 ms about this incident. I do not know why ha went to

to come along. I do not Lhink they were es-—
L of those were brought back to the camp.

Mrransports of invalids were composed upon selection of the doc-
wora Hoptstormfuakrar WOLTER and Untavsturmloshrer BABOR, I scannaet
give any exaot information ebout tha mumbsr of transports nor the
nﬂnhlr of persons in the transport., It is possible that there were

3 or L such transports, It is unknown to me where the transports
want to. It was said that thsy went to Linz.

Bl san smay the followlhg about oxpbriments of the dectors
RASCHER and SCHIMING. I do not know many details. The prisoner who
daily worksd in wy office told me that prisoners had volunteered
for ths air foros expsrimsnts of Dre. RASCHER. Nobody could take
part in these experiments and nothing axact was krown about tham,

The sama applisd to SCHILLING. I know that BCHILLING kept many
fiohes in a glass containor and aloo birds in gmaller and larger

cages. (ne of the prisonsrs told me when I asksd him that the
mosquitos did not bother him. 7hers were on guard and 2 or 3 pris-
oners Almost daily worldng in the vicinity of the camp for Prof.
SOHILLING. They had to cover all creeks or moors with a substance

to chase the mosquitos. As lar as [ know [r. SCHILLING and RASCHIR
salected the poople for ths experiments theomsalvess

NI was ordered to Frisdrichshafen for soie time in order to bring
about more cleanliness in thls commando and {o provide for washing
and tpilet facilities and alsp for & Kitghsn for this commando.
The commando-Fushrar repeatedly reported that the responsible head
of the Zeppelin-works, ECKENER, did not take care of the commando
in any way, did not provide billets nor for a kitchen. I found the
todlete in Friedrichshafen complataly overfilled and when alter
talking to director ECKENEH and despite his promise they wers not
smptied I reported this to Sturmbannfushrer WEISS in Dachau wio ordersd
not to let this commando work until sverything was brought into order.
I lostructed the works mansgement to obhtald wdditlonal potatoss and

fruits for the commando. I also got a kitechen for this commando.

"I know that Sturmbannfushrer PIORKOWSKI with approval from Berlin
had prisoners build a so-called weskend=house for him. When this was

finishad it was a complste house withzll furndture. T also know
Lnat he had marny shoes and LOOLS made in the camp. Whether he sold

them actually is not known to me, but it was sald about him.

Pgister PIA was very well known in the camp. She also had a
permanent detail in her Munich department. The priscners wers used
in her garden and house. Sister FIA was not very popular with the
largest part of tha 83, she was even feared. Sha had much influsnce
with the Barlin officials. When I say the largest part I do not mean
the leaders becausae she was on good terms with them. Sister PIA
had many things made for her in the camp in the various shops.

She simply orderéd this, but I do not think thet she ever paid for
it. She also had a car whan othed civiliang did not have it anymore.
8he changed her driver very often bscause they could not stand her.

mObersoharfushrer HESSKE once gave a written report about a priscrer
who had stolen in the supply room. 1 transmitted this report tw
Oberscharfushrer PFLAUM according to ordars.

01t is possible that during my stay in the concentration canmp I
have slapped prisoners. I cannot say it exactly because 1t must have

NI have never kicked nor killed prisoners nor have I requested
other parsons to do so."  Pros Ex Ho 994)




Eh.t Eﬁ!’ﬂlr Helnrich adtm?o

A pre-trial affidavit of the accused Suttrop, prepared in
his om hand writing and exsouted before Lisutenant Comn on 30 October
1945 was aduitted into evidence (R 826, pros ax 106). That stutement
Feads in tresslation and in pertinsnt part as follows;

"y name is BUTOLF SUTTROP, living at Dachau, Germany, AM
Jelstarwald (7) Ne. 11. I entered the Allgeneine 88 on 5 Septamber
1933, the Party in September 1937 and on the 2nd of November 1936,
the Waffen 58. On tre Fth of November 1943, T was promoted to
Oberstwmfusirer at the Commandanteur Staff () of the Concentration
Camp of Dachau.

'Im.nthnrallmin;nhnmnmomum::
(1) From September 191 to Hay 1542 in Gros—Rosen; (2) Prom
15 ey 1542 until 15 May 1 in Dachau; (3) From 15 May 194l until
6 March 195 in Gress-Rosen. As puard T was first in Sschsen-
bug—n.-wmmmmdwm. iy duties as adjutant
mmnhumw1ﬂ2mﬁ1w19hhmuﬂoum:

) mmazﬁmmmm-m
0r the Commandanteur Stafl (HQ).

(2) memrhﬂ-ummﬁ:ﬂnmmmu
various dspartsents for which I was responsible,

(3) To asaist the Commandsnt with hies papsr work.

"Orders and directives were lad on to the following departmants,
I to VI, that is secret crdars a: sash eccasion to the deparuesnt

lsader in charge against receaipt.

I — FPERSCNNEL DEPAPTMENT — fegistration - Teletype.
8 firer {UHERT
Obsracharfuehrer MACHER
Havptashar fusleer TNBITDER

Sub=DRepartuants
a urt Leadersg--
Untersturafushrer BATER
Dmltmw Ir. KOEPFES,
(k) XPZ Department (M tor Pool)

IO — POLI.ICAL DEPARTMENT
atar

IIT -~ PROTECTIVE CUSTODY CAMP
m__

Stumbannfusirer ZT1L
Obersturmfushrar ROFFMANN
Untersturafushrar JAROLTH
Hauptsturafuehrer ZEDIITZ
Oberatourulystrsy CAMFE




IV = ADMINISTRATION
al' KLARARNHOFF

Sturmbannfuehrer GEHRIC
Huuptsturmfushrer WETZEL

¥ = MEDYCAT, DEPARTMSIT

' Cam gtor: Hauptsturnfuahrsr Or. WOLTER
and of 19L2. _
Sturmbamfushrer Trs WITTELER
middls of 194L3.

(2) ‘Troop Doctor: Untersturmfuehrer Dr. BASOR, July
1glz until Descember 1343.
Sturmbannfuvehrer Dr. HINTERMETLR
Beptember (1) 1943 until May 19LL.

(3)  Dentists 1  Haupteturmfushrer Dr. TOEBER, May 1942
until beginning 1943 (7) Hauptsturmfuehrar
LECKERT 1943 (7)

EXPERIMENTAL STATTONS: (1) Malaria Station
Professor r. SCHILLING
(2) station of Dr. RASCHER

(Luftwaffe)

¥ — EDUCATICHAL DEPARTMENT
ntersturmfuehrar HIEH.

The above-mentioned adwinistration plan was a closed entity of the
83 in Dachau and could not have bean effective nor warked without
the aseigtance of the persconel of the six departments for the pur-
pose for which it was built, that is, as was ordersd by the superior
authorities.

M"Each single one of the above-meniioned coworkers wes a link in
the chain of entity, without his assistant which was ordered by
wransfers or pommands, the whole thing could not have existed.

AThe above-mantioned departments with the mentionasd personnsl
existed and were affective in the time from May 1942 until May 19LL.
Above thase departments was ths Camp Commander. The Camp Kommandants
ware PIORKOWSKI, May, Juns, J and August 1942; WEISS from Se
m 1.9112 uuhill]luvamharlﬁ mdm.fmnl Novenber 1943

tha ‘
muarhutnunw executions to be carried out, cam from the
liedchssicherheitshauptamt, (Main Beich Security Offica) Rarlin or
D; Oranienbu to me an entry was made in the
» BIER and later
ase to the First SBchutzhaft-

ta tha Raiohasicharhsitehaopa
execution two witnesses, the
setor, Sohutzhaftlageriue sputy had to bs present. BONOARTZ
was the sxecutionsr in the _Hm from May 1942 (?) untdl May 19Lk. His
adjutant was 88 Unterscharfudhrer HENSOHEN, in that sewe period of time.

"In my time T have sean two to three exeoution lists, which then
ﬁmmmwmﬁmm the mmsahlﬁurtotmmriad
out. To my | e about 20 to LO persons were involved, and that
séveral of them involved only Russians.

_ "The Camp Commandsr, s such, was in reality responsible for
wﬂmﬁﬂﬁhﬂwﬁlﬂthﬂow Without his permiscion or
wledge nothing ever happened. It might be, howsver, that




certain leamders or nor-comnissionsd leadsrs went sbove their juris-
digtion, The Fommandant WEISS gmme to me several tiisy into the of-
fice or callsd me up and said that he would zo fnto the cump for a
puaibire actlon. hoss were then penaltjes whichwers o deped by

the offieial Sroup Y. So that no ome would overstep his jupisdiotionm,
the Kommandant had to be prsssnt at these punitive aotions.

(Proa Lix No 1064)




~eamp (R 615) at Camp Mumber L Tempel
or sogregated thoss who could work from thosa who ecould

6)+ Somstimss thess formations lasted long periods because

]

Tempsl ordered thom who hHad shoes n and not abla to wark to give
then t6 the mes that were abls to work and did nct hawe shoas

(R _5!_&_,"]- Tempel callod that, "teaching you Oerman Scoialism!

Ll g

26. Hugo Alfred Erwin Lausterer.

L Lansterer had charge of administering the prisanerst
l_mfnr nine months from 1942 to 1943 (R LB7). Ome inmate

' that he nevnr saw Lausterer pistrest any of the prisonars
although he had threatsned them that unlass they gave him their foed
supplies, he would report them (R 407, L96)., And some priscmers did
m owyr food paskages to him which they had recaived from home

A pre~trial affidavit of the acoused lausterer, oxmouted
bafare First Lisutanant loheaislondon, investigating officer, on
31 Dctober 195, was aduitted into evidence (R 8D, pros ax 111).
That statemsnt reads in partinent pert and franslation as follows:

. "My om  is HUGO LAUSTERER. I was born 2 January 1890 4n Mats-
ingen, Kreis fsutlingoa, Oevmany, My address is Metzingen, Linden-
plata 1. T am a salssman by trede. I Joinsd the S5 an 10 Dscehber
19Ul. Befare that, I was a tslephons operator in the city hall, in
Metzingen. My first assimsent after I joined the 53 was in Dachau.
: ard thers m 10 December T9h1 until Wehrnary 19,2, At
Pebruary 1942, I was msent to Radolfsell as a guard on a
~The detall was made up of about 120 prismers from
Sergeant SEISS was the commnder of the datall. .
, @ for the 85 School at Radclfzell and complated
= 1942 and then returned to Dichau. S5S5-Master Sergeant
prisoners wary oftan whila they were at Radslfaell.
hanpds, with sticks, and alsu kicked them,
ok prisonar because this prisaner was too
SRISS kick prisomers down an embankment that
He did this after striking them. SEISS is
November 1942 I left Dachau as a guard
ch Zall, S8-Mester Sergeart X.
fiv Is also a prisoner in
when I returned from a day's
onars, SENZIS searched them.

r




Those who had food he beat sevarelv, There were aix or eight
prisoners whouw he beat at that time. I returned to Dachau again in
Decamber 1942 because I was sick. I remained there in the hospital
until Pebruary 1943. From February until Ostober 1943 I worked

in Dachau in the reom wiore the priscnara' proparty was kept. Them
I went to Allach, near Dachan, where I was placed in charge of the
prisoners and the S5 men's canteen. There were several thousand
prisanars there and about 150 guards. The Camp Cormander of Allach
was lst Lt. JAROLIN. He ia also a prisomer in Dachau now. I remained
in Allach until Merch 19k4. 53-Master Sergeant ERERIE was in Allach
whan T was there. T saw him strike an old man becawse this priascner
said he was sick. He hit the old man until the man fell down in

the snow. The old man lay in the snow for two or three mlouctes
after he was svrock. In Anril 1940 T returnad to Dachau and worked
there until May 15hl, as & guard in the camp and also as & guard in
charge of demolition details that warked in Mumich. This deta 1 dug
np amaypladad hamha. T heands thrt some priscnars wara killad whila
digging up these bombs, but I wever saw that happsn. In May, 194k,

I took a work detail of thirby prisoners and six guards to Minich to

5

clsan up the wreckage f the Lodenfrey Textila Factory. This work
lasted until October 15Lk. From November L9l to January 1945 I was
acting Kommandofushrer in the camp at Feldafing, where the prisonsrs
wore building an undergrovnd factary Par Messarachmitti. Tn Jamary
1945 I returned again to Dachau, where I worked as a guard until April
22, 1945, During that time I also tock out demolition details to
Mmich. About 22 April 1945, & transpory of abour L,/0u Jewish
prisoners arrived in Dachau. They came from several places. I

was assigned vo go along with this transport. The prisoners re-
mained in Dachan for aheut thres days and doring that time thay
stayed in the railrcad cars in which they had come. There were

about 100 of them in each car. During these threes days, they were
fed twice with bread; mergarine and sausage. This tramnsport left
Dachau about 25 April or 26 April. I do not know the names of the
transport leaders. They were two policemen from Munich. Thare were
about 100 §2 guards on the trundport. Among them were 88 Techniral
Sargeant RTCHATER and 89-Corporal SCHEPP. SCHEFPP is now a prisaner in
Dachau. He is in Barracks 26, 3rd Companv. The transport went by
railroad from Dachau tv Garmisch-Partenkirchan, and from there fo
Seefeld in Austris. We left on Thursday evening and arrived Satur-
day afterncon. During that time the prisoners received no water

and woares given a loaf of bread for fives mon and gome sausags snd
margarine. Some of the prisomers died while the transport mas in
Dachau and more died on the way o Seefeld, but I camnot say er es-
timate how many died. From Seefeld the transport proceeded oh foot
towaris Flethal. I was 1aft behind as the only juard in charge of
about 65 priscners who were too sick and too weak te proceed any
farthor. Twe 6f thosoe priscners died that night, and the Busrger—
meister of Seefeld disposed of their bodies. On Sunday night, the
remainder of the transport returned and the 63 prisoners who were
left with ms joined them the fallowing day. On Monday, the whole
transport got on traina agsin and sent towards Carmisch~Partenkirchen.
I did not go with tham. I went to the hospital at Beefeld becauss

I woe too Lived te go any furthar. That is 0ll T know dout the beane—
port. While I wad in Dachau after Jamuary 15945, I saw Technica
‘Serpsant TRENKEL snd BOETCER strike priscners as they were marched
out to wark, just for the sport. Thess men would scmetimes stick
their fest in Lront of prisomers, and if the prisoners tripped, they
would striks them." (Pros Ex No. 111A).
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27. Frits M. K. Becher.

- _ Becher, a political prisoner at Dachau, was a block elder
' zﬂ!,_q"!ﬁ ) mi ‘E;tl blnul: at one time contained the prissts
(R 163, 368), I 2 daily routine for Becher to mistreat them
(R 3B1). He % J-lnm (R 381). He kicked them (R 362).
‘Thus, r 152 he pioked Father Koch in the stomach (R 351). At

ather Soto, a Pola, and kicked him into un-

35 3) s Hﬂmtmtlﬂ Fathar Kowilinski, a

1ish priest who was va over 55 years of age, by hitting him

0 hard that the ﬂiiﬁta nose and th were bleeding and he had to
be carried to the hospital (R 153, 362). Three or four days later,

‘the priest died (R 35L). The cause of death was recorded as "stop-

ping of the heart and cir¢ulation through bowel catarrh" (R 355,

‘ex Sl-sntry §#1145). Becher was in charge of the exercise for-
mations which the priests had to undergo {R 361, 382). He forced
them to perform special exsrcises from 27 March 15L2 until 7 April
1742, that is, from Palm Sunday until Easter Sunday, from & a.m.
to 7 p.m. with some time out for dinner (R 360). He beat the pris-
oners during these drill periods (R 369), As a result of the stren-
uous axerciss and beatings, alght priests dled during that paried
(R 380). When the priests had to wilk punishment, he would push and
kick them with his Test 'n 143, 359). ‘Then Becher would beat the
priests, an 8§35 man who was block leader was wresent (R 362). Becher
often threatanad to ssnd the priests on invalid transports and it
wis 3 matter of commen knowledpe that such was a passport to death
(R 361). While Becher was in charge of the priesta’ block, about LOO
priests died (R 368). He was tranaferred from the priests! to the
Russian bleck (% 143). Once, there, he beat a younp Russian thoroughly
with a piece of wood (a 163), At ancther time he smashed a Russian in
the face with his fist (R 33k).

28. Kramer, Alfred.

The accused Kramer succeeded the accused Kirsch as command-
g officer of Kaufering Camp Number 1 (R 688, &85, 719, T4 ). One

thy Kramer beat up and klcked a prisoner who d:Lsd by the next day
(R 719, 720). At the time Kramer was commarding officer Russians,
Czechs and Albanians were confined in the camp (R 720). Kramer mal-
treatad the prisomers by beating and slapping them (R 674). nhen he
did beat a onar to the ground ha would then kick him 4n the abdomen
(R 674, 675). Many had to be brought to the hospital as a result of
these beatings and some died (R 475). His victims included [4ithuan-
ians, Poles and Hungarians (R 675, 579). At one time when Kramer found
that two 1nmates had some excelsior which they had plamed to use for
pillows, he knockad them down, kicked and beat them Eﬂ 688, 689). The
decused Kramer sent womn out on invalid trvansperts (R A5h). He
selected the sick and made them undress campletely (R 65L). If he
found that a prisoner had two shirts on he would beat them "terribly”
(R 65L). Once Kramer sent three pregnant women who were Lithuanians
out on an invalid transpart (R €54, gm Five inmates, four of whom
were Hungarians and one a Lithunia.n, were hanged because they had made
foot coverings frmm a blankst (R ASE). ¥ramar and ¥irech wera tha eanm
leaders at the time (R 656). A pre-trial statement of the accused
Eramer written in his own handwting am 1 November 1945 was admitted
into evidence (R 822, pros ex 102). It reads in pertinent part and in
translation as fellows:
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"y pams is KRAMED ALTAED. I am LS years of age and my home is
in Wldsnburg, Silesia. T joined the 338 woluntarily on 20 April
1733 0o 1 Seplember 1939 I was drafted to Buchenwald for my first
station. I was in Buchenwald until September 1941. In May 1540
I wes promoted TO Bergeant, and in sy 174l I was promoten to starl
Sargeaat. In 3artember 1941 I wus sent to Lublin and remainad
there until Augost 150, One day in July 194k, I was ardered to
take over a transport of 4,000 prisoners anl to take it from War-
paw to Dachau. During that time I was in clarge of & comany of
spproximately 250 55 men who escorted the transport from Warsaw
%0 Dachau. 1 Was authorized and responsible for tha doings of
these 250 men. Pefare I and my men departed for Dachau, I knew
that we would be transferred to Dachau. The transport casisted of
00 priscners and me and my men. The majority of the prisoners
wera Jagws, also there ware Frenchmen, Poles and Lithuanians asmong
tham. AS transport commander, I was responsible for the feading
and the well-being of the prisonerg. Tha Transport gtarted on
foot on 26 July 1944, Camp Commander WILLY RUPEERT gave me no
food and mater to feed the prisonsrs on the transport. The prisoners
wil ked Tor four days until they got to Kutne. The weather was ex-
epsdingly hot, and since the prisoners had no water, they wers wery
thirsty., I know myself that all were very thirsty, and many could
a0t continue with the maroh. THosd wWis ™S 20 Wilrsiy and Weak be-
cuuss of the lack of food aml water and could not continus wers forced
to walk on by the guards with fists, kicks am rifle butts. The day
march began at § otelock in the wornlng and ended approximately 6
ofclock in the evening. On the second day at noon-time we had a
lang rest, but for that they had to march until 8 o'clock in the
gyening. On the sacond day we passed a river and I allowed the
priscrers to get watar. The people were so happy to get water that
they ran into the river. 1 ealled to them not to go into tha water,
but they did net listen to my words, so that I reached for my pistol
and fired into the air three o four times. At the same time, Tech-
nical Ssrgeant STEINER (STEINDL) gawe one of the men of the guard
the ordar to fire at the priscmers with the machine gun. A large
number of prisonars were standing in the water, and the guard fired
» tmrst of approximataly five or six rounds, killing two or thres
prisoners. These prisoners were turied in a grave at the banks of the
river, because it was a custom of the 35 to buy all dead in ana
grave, On the third day, the prisoners received no water eithar, and
Tinally we reached the railr sta ion near Kutne. The large part
of the prisoners werse tired, thirsty and weak and had sore fest.
Fifty prisoners got so 111 on the way that they could not continue
o =1k and had to ba loaded on five horase carriages. I told the
guards not to beat the prisoners, but, nanfﬁm, they dm:imd
to do so. I 4id nothing agsinst that ex e a report. Apprax-
imataly thirty or thirtn;wfiﬁ men died ‘h:gt'un of unm—ncuruﬁn‘b,
nickness and beating on the march and all bodies were buried in ane
grave. On 1 August 1944, the prisoners were loaded in cattle cars,
asighty in sach var, to continue the trip to Dachau. The sericusly
111 prismers who were on the horse carriage were loaded in the same
cars with the other prisoners, in spite of the fact that an empty car
was available which was to have been used as a sick car, but that car
wiasa usad only for dead who died on the trip. Thers were no toilets for
tha prisoners in the cars to relisve themselves. In spite of that,
the traln stopped twice a day for ten minutes so that the priscners
sould relieve themselwes. The first stop was 7 o'clock in the morning,
ardd the second approximately 2 o'clock in the afterncon. On thoe trans-
part, thers were many seriously i1l which were not brought to the sick
car. We arrived at Dachau on & Aupust, approximately 3 o'elock in
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thinmim,andlhuam that the desd onos were brought to the
orematory. THe nrisopera who reached Dachau alive wers brought to
the prison camp. On the next day 1 wade a report to the Cemp
Commander, WEITER. WOITER accusad me that the prisoners had brought
with them conbtaglovs diseases. 1 remained hers [or duty for four
weaks, during which tims [ had nolhing bo de with the prisoners.

On 3 BSeptember 194L, I was transforred to Landsberg to Camp I. I

was opointed Camp leader of Iabor Camp I and remtined Camp Leader
wntil 12 November 174, The commander of the camp at that time was
58-iajor TANGIETIST. I was in charge of 1,800 prisoners, the majority
of whica were Jews. To be honkat, T do not. like Jews. Some of the
punishment, torturss and Drutalities imposed on the 1,000 prisusers
were as followsy 1. beating with whips, fists and aticks; of which
I suppose that soms of them resulted in deuth cages; 2. lmuprisonment
in the standing cell eight to tén Mours during the nignt, in several
CaNES WO L0 TNTwe ULENLS, every second Miguy; Je uadsl-pnowanment,
cantagiouns diseasss, bad living conditioss, and hard wark, which, in
pomé cases, lsd to dsatn. I remembar tnat in the end of Norember
19l thare was the exacution (hanging) of six Jewish prisonsrs; I

do not know for what they were hanmed. A wooden pole was erected
especially for the purposs of hanging these Jsws. On order of the
camp comnander of Dachau (WEISS) sll prisoners wers ordered to attend
the axscution. Commander WSISS and other persms came over from
Pachau just Lo sttend the exacution. A Sergeant or Technical Sergsaut
who accompanisd WEISS oarmried out the execution, There were many
othar 85 persons who attended ths execution whose names I do not know
any more. But I know for sure that 35-Major AUMEIER, then Camp
Commander of Cazp lardsbsrg, and 55-lst Lv. sc;mm'.irm. then Camp
Commander of Camp I, were present, Immediately after the execution,
WEISS left. I laft landsberg on 28 April 1945 on my bicycle in the
mi.qpotlmﬂ-{'rm) On 3 May 1915 T was taken priscmer by
the Americans btetwsen Giound ard Hausham," (Pros Ex No 1024).

29, Sylvestar ¥illabosck.

mmmm.awru ‘the S3, wWas the food
%ﬁhﬁw 5 such was responsibls for the tm:d supply room
and prisoness! kitchen (R 201, 22). He often gwe the priscners'
food to th ﬁm ﬂi I}Hb..h&?}, He requisitioned some of the
‘prise mﬂu r imeslf (R [83). Pillebosck participated in
" ‘the cmm of fiesrs in 1914 and his participation
‘the actual shooting (B L2e, U2y, 423, La3).

pared by the sccused Pilleboeck in his

hrmmummﬂm,maum} The

mrt in translation as follows:

e phrer SYIWESTER FILLEBOECF, fram 1933-1311 was 1in
l'!mll ane for food and from 1941-1545, end of April
wan inm of the kitehon sdwinistration.

__mlh w ma that thers was too 1ittle food during the
L LLE w

gt T J
o
Tt

ﬁﬂm aw sadd %o have died on account of

I 'll

-_ﬂr‘iﬂn aoncemtration camp prisoners were fixed by
dmind atration Main Offios of the Wffen-SS, office BI,
1 with & » Meish Food Administration. Cutting of rations
'_‘Wﬂmprrﬂ.m The scals of rations had to be

"Tha h!iiﬂ#m!lﬂniﬂuﬂm, WOTZEL, md T myself went to the
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Regional Food Administration Office Mundeh, County B, =nd asked for
g non-cutting of ratioma. This was denied on atcount of the severe
food situstion.

"Purchasing of food for additiemal consumption in deflancs of
orders, making myseli liable for punishment:

1. At the Bayma-Storehouse, Dachau, I purchased, without
ration cards, larger amounta of fisld-beans and seed-pesas, restrictad
for seeding purposes, and supplied them to the kitchen.

2. Firp Evers & Kornemann, LETPSIG, S000-7000 kg precooked
soups every moanth in defiance of prohibition by the Econowic Admine
istration Mair Office.

3. Purchase of hones of axen, calves and plgn, 3000-5000 kg
avery weeka.

lis» On order uf the Regional Food Administration Office (Ee-
onomic Asscciation for milk and fat) only cheese with a fat cen-
tent of 107 was permitted to be used in concentration camps. On
my own responsibility I purchased 3000-5000 kg ar cheese with a fat
contant of 30-L0%, and every month repsatad 3000-5000 k.

5. On order of the Regional food Administration Office lnnich
13000 cwt of carrots wers requisitioned and should have been deliversd
in February and March 1945. In comsequence of the very severs food
situation I had 10000 cwt of carrots cooked and delivered only ahout
3000 ewt.

"According to statemsnt o" Frod Inspector of the Waffan-83,
Prof Dr. SCHENK, the witchen mnn.gumnt and the food wors of &
model type tmtail the end of 1%4k. In my opinfon the Econamic Ad-
ministration Main Office and the Reich Food Administration which
ordarad these big ration euts may be responsible for the deaths of
these prismers who died of walmutritlion during the laat days of
Dachau.” (Pros Ex Mo 1074).

30. Vinzenz Schoatil.

Tn 19} Scheattl was in charge of details at Kaulering Camp
Wumber 3 (R 740). Once when Schoettl was in charge of o detail at the
water installation he askad those peopls who did mot work whal was
wrong (R 701). When they stated that they did not hawe amy =ore
strength, he replied "I'11 shaw you how to work" (R 7u2). iHe then
knocked them down and started %o kick and beat them (R 7ll). These
vintime wora talan tn the hrspital snd newar sean again (R 7hl). The
vietims were Poles (R 7ld).

In March 1945 the accused Schoettl shot a Polish prismmer who
had gotten out of line because he wanted to get some water (R 726-T27).
He shot him in the cheek and then in the heart(R 726).

A pre-trial std ement written by the accused Schostfl in his omn
handwriting on 1 November 1545 was admitted into evidence (B B22,
pros ex 103).- That statement reads in pertinent part and h‘mﬂlﬂm
as follows:

MI eame to Landsberg on the 3 Fobruary 1945. Whan the Commandant
was not present I was destined as second Commanda t. The name of the



camp m was Strumbannfushrar Forschner. A4s second Commandant,
whenever the Commandant was absent, I became the canp commandant.
Once I saw, it was on Sunday, the women of the Camp 1 standing the
whdle aay bafore the Camp. The reason for this punishment was a bold
answer glven by one of the women to the Commandant. The wire where
the woman had to stand was slecteifiod. At Iandsberg I heard that
prisonars were hanged. Mmy prismers died from hungsr, tecause the
food wes caplataly insulflecient and unfit to eat.

"hhen the Americans came I drove with Sturmbannfuehrer Ferschner
to Epfach and from this place we drove back to landabarg and lutended
te g4 baok to ‘thi camp & sosond timo,; bubt ws drove on 3 T-mines and
wares wounded. We asked another truck dviver to bring ue to Epfach
which he did. Put 3 kilomsters befors Epfach Sturmbsnnfushrer Forsch-
rer was unahle to go on because of his Injuriss. He romained sitting
at a msadow and asked me to get 1 =hicle. About 13 hours T wilked
until I cass to & village. T could not lemve this plaoe imzifliatsly
beoass the Fighteavs wers over us. When 1 gok a fasesi-—car 1 wont
off and when 1 came to Lne place whers I left Forsohmer, he was not
theres any mosa. 'When I asked one of tha workers he told me that man
of the 0.T. had talmn him with them. Then T went back to my com-
rades apd ws rode and the zame day w rods to my home. The next
morning at 3 o'clock we drove with the bicyclas into the mountains and
thore woe lost sach other besauwse there wors Pighting btreops. With
two comrades I went on, these comradsa then want home. I walked
around and then 1 went to the divieion Wiking near feilheim and
remained at Disgees. From this placse we canme to Bad Aibling and then
to Dachau as PN. (aneral incidents and livirg conditieons for the
priscners of landsberg-Lech were unhuman. The prisonsrs lived in
oarth huta the ventdilation ol which was completely insufficiont.
They also were muddy and lensy, so that were all possibilitisa to
get sick. All this, in addition teo the bad food and the unhuman
treating caused the death o many prisoners.

"Burdng I was Forschner's assistant I beat about 5 or 6 working
priocnera. I boat with e riding crop over the back of the priscnera.
I saw an order that prisonars who wars worldng badly should be beatan.
I heard from this order and did so. That is the reason why I beat
prisoners. Tha dead bediss wers put into one grave to several hun-
dreds and buried. As a second camp commandant I was encharged of
the other camps too." (Pros Hx No 103)

31l. Albin Gretsch.

A pre-trial affidavit of the accused (retsch prepared in his
own handwriting on 31 Ootobsr 1945 4nd exacuted befora ILieutenant

lawrence was admitted into evidence (R 838, pros ex 117). That stde-
went reads 1o prilueat part and in ramslatlon as follows:

"1, My name is Albin Oretsch. I was a Unterscharfushrer, 3Ld
Company, S5 Skull and Bones, Sturmbann, Dachau.

"2, From 18 August 15LL, I wes a guard at the Kaufburen Canp
wiilch wan & Ly-camp of Lhe Davlhiau Cuncenbretlun Gamp. From 5 March
1945, I was a guard at Dachau, #¥hile I was still belonging to Kauf-
beuren, I was a guard at Dachau from 11 November 15LJi until & Jamary
1945. On 26 April 1945, I marched with prisoners in the direction aof
Bad Tolz, nmear Waaskirchen, I was taken & prisoner on 2 May 1945.
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"3. Except st Ksufbeuren and Dachau, I have not served in any
other concentration cam.

"i. At Kaufbeuren, conditions were better than at Dachau. I
know that the prisonars' quarters in ihe camp were very narrow and that
they had bugs. The prisomers worked for twelve hours and were always
hungry, but l2ss than in Dachau. The by-camp leader was Untersturm-
fushrer Wilhelm Bacler; the Rapportfushi=ar was Unterscharfushrer
Schneider, Thers was only a prisoner dector tut an 53 medic in camp.
The camp contalned approximately W) to LSO priscners of German,
Italian, and Polish nationality. There were also Russians but no Jews.
Three Cerman pelitical prissners were ZJapen, but I Porget thieir namea.
Vost of the time, I wos a towsr puand. At the factory, I guarded the
night shift only onca, I never shot from the towsr, not even in August
when two men escapad. Four other priscners escaped in Sspiembar; nome
of all alx was ever caught again. I think that all were Ruamsians. I
do not recall any camp punishments, not even cases of death. (nce
invalido wors oent awey and newsomsra were brought. I remsmber onecs

twenty new men coame.

"S5« T know that at Christmas typhoid sxisted in camp Dachan
and ‘that there wora many victims., Of exscutions in camp, I par'sonally
do not loiow anything, I saw the hearse with sometimes up to eight
¢nffing drown by prissnsra. In March, the bodloa weré oot burmed, bub
buried. Once I asked a comrade of the burial detail how many corpses
they buried. He sald they had dug a mass grave for 100 bodies, how-
ever, I, myself, never took part in such a burial.

"6, We of the 3rd Company, marched away from Dachau, with three
maroling bleocko of 1U00 prismors cach, on Thursdsy, 86 April 17247
at 2100 hours. The priscners had food for two days. With interrup-
tions, we marched until the next ncon. We were Tive guard for 100
men, and up to 50 stayed back already before Starnberg. I, myself,
have not Pired a single shot, but I know that especially younger

guards made uses of their rifles. 1 cannot name any guard who shot a
prisoner. Dyring the noxt dosy, v could march only at night time on

account of the low flying phnes. We arrived at Wollratshausen on
Saturday, atid remadined there in camp until Monday. T beliave that of
1500 prisoners with whom we laft, approximataly 1200 arrived there.

In Camp Wolfratsnhausen, I have seen approximately 15 dead. They died
perhiaps from exhaustion. On the march, I saw Sturmbannfuehrer Degelow
as Dattalion Dommander and Hauptumon (Capteln) Bayor as Compamy

Commandar. The prisoners were still fed at Camp wum-m:m Hmkar
night we marched until near Tolz. From Told, we arrived near Weaski
m Tuesday afternoon. There we para talen ;n'i.ums ‘b.?tln m:'iqﬁnt m
Wedneaday morning.

7. On the march I was srmed with a 78 vifles. ‘there were alsc
guanrds with hand grenades and machine pistolsj also police dogs and
guards on bleyoles. The younger guards have abused the priscners who could
not march on very badly. Thay chased the dogs against therm and drove
thm to caitinue marching, I, my=elf, made account the guard who drove

a dog against a defenseless priscner 13ring & littls aside of thas rcad.
The nams of thls guard, who mas perhaps 10 yesrs 0ld, s unkoumwn bu ms,
but an Oberscharfustirer of the Dog Battalion protected nim. I do not
know whether the collapsed man got up onte more, nor whether the huge
German Shephard bit him in the throst, nor do I know the name of the Dog
Troops Obsrscharfuehrer. I also heard the man yelling. I left collapsed

prisoners lying right and leff of the rpad. When the civilian popu-
latlou offered tw plys Lhs prisoners bread anl water, ssveral guards

forbade that and told the civilians, "rhese are oriminals." Then they
chased the prisoners away with their gun bubts. The warst were the
regular 55 man from the concentration cam, mostly noncommissioned
fficers.
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"8, Before the departure from Dachau, we wers ordered, Mevery
attempt %o escape has to be prevented by arms; no prisoners stay back
unguariad®, but since many were too weak to walk the whole distance,
thay wera shot along the road by some guards. 1 could hear the
shooting, Tor instance, in the Wolfratshausen forest, but with my
own eyss, 1 have not seen how people were shot. There were alsg guards
who beat the prisoners with sticks. The prisoners had bad shees;
many had woodsn elogs, and sors feat so that they could hardly walk,
They limped badly., MNames of guards wha took part in the march were:

Kellar, Rettanfushrer 55, now in ¥ornwesthein
POT Camp #3.

Bogs, 'Stabsscharfuenrer 55, from Hadelfzell.

Knoche, Unteracharfuehrer 55, at presant at
POW Camp #3.

Hedne, Unterscharfushrer 5S.

Hauptmann Baizr wlth his mobor bike.

Hall of the priscners we hayve certdainly leost duripg tof march, partly
through escape, but most of ther muat hawve died. The responsibility
for this falls on Degelow, Bayer, and all officers presant.' (Pros
Ex No 117A).

32 Johann Viktor Kirach.

The accused Kirsch was the commanding officer of Hafering
Camp Number 1 in 19LL and 1945 (R 731). He placed 100 children in a
small wooden hut which had no floor, where normally no mors than 15
or 20 ghildren could be housed (X 731). He often beat prisoners
until they collapsed (R 732). He utilized pieces of wood and an iron
rod as his weapons (R 673, 65<),. One time he beit & man Lo daath
(R 716) . Ones he beat an old man of &0 who had to be taken to the
hospital (i €67). Xirsch especially selected the old and sick pris-
eners for his victims (R 673).

Eirach would stand by and watch while his assistants beat the
inmates with thick pieces of wood (R 733). He beat the children and
threatened to k411 their families if they tried to sscape (% 737).
fie selscted those who left on the "children's action" which was a
transport of children destined for-Auschwitz where they were lo be
killed (R 736'1 731, 733.1'

A pre=trial affidavit prepared in his own handeriting and executsd
befors Lisutenant London on 29 October 1945 was admitted into evidencs
(R 842, pros ex 109). That statement reads in pertinent part and
translation as follows:

¥l was drafted into the 35 in the summer of 19LkL. Before that
T was in the Landssschutzen. After T was drafted into thes S5 T
went to Auschwitz for training. I stayed in Auschwits 3 weeks and
then went with a transport of 500 prisoners to Kaufringen pear Lands-
berg to the laper No. 1. The Transporifushrer was Haupbsturmfushrer
FORSTER. T lmow of only 1 prisoner who died on this transport. ie
arrived at Kaufringen in August 194L. I was then en Oberacharfuehrer
and had tha task of constructing this camp. T was in charge of the
work detall. It took 1 1/2 to 2 months to construct this camp. I
had 99 prisoners in the work detail and about 20 to 25 puards. Among
them was Oberscharfushrer Johann ATI.

"My superior, while we were building Lager No. 1 at Kaufringen
et Hauptsturmfuehrer FORSTER who came rrnm Auschwitz with me.
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wae latsr replaced by Hauptscharfuehrer KRAMER, then later Oberaturmi-
fuehrer SCHMARZHUBER replaced KRAMER.

"hen Kaufringen Lager No. 1 was complsted we began work on Lapgar
No. 3. later these two mumbers were interchanped and lager Wo. 3 be-
came lager No. 1. The lager Wo. 3 was complated by the end of De-
cember 194}, About the end of November or in December 12lli five men
were brought into lager No. 1 where I was Arbeits-Einsatzfuehrer (in
charge of making up work details) and Rapportfushrer (taking roll
calls), and were hanged thera., They-were hanged bacause they cut
up blankets ta wrap around their faet - as T heard - sines they had
probably bad shaes. This was condemned as sabotage and they were
hanged for it. Obersturmbamnfushrer WEISS whose first name I do not
know, cama from Dachau to attand the execution. The hanging was
done by an 55 Hauptscharfushrer from Dachau whose name I do nol know.
I myself discovered some persons who cut up their blanksts. T did
not have these men hanged. T marely baat them acroas the back with
a stlck and I beat them with my hands.

"] myself administered the punishments in the camp and did not re-
port the prisoners to higher authorities. 1 administered punishment
when priseners did not comply with camp regulaticas such as when they
Aid not pa #n tha atrina, bt nrinatsd mtside their barracks. Tie
punishments] administered were beating with sticks aml with my .
hands. Another sort of punishment consisted of my giving the pris-
orars standing arrest. To do this I received orders. The prisoners
were in a cell that was not big enough for them to lie down. They
would have to remain in it all night, then on the next day they would
hawe to gn tn work again. Sometimas T mada the prismers stand for
several nights, but not consacutively. Another pundshment I pave was
to reduce the food ration, but tris did not help very well because
they stole from other prisoners so I would have to puaish them for
that.

MTha prdannars who warkad (n sy eork detail wers nostiy Jawas of
wvarious naticnalities - Lithuanians, Poles, Hungarians and Houmanians.

NSturmbannfuehrer AUMAYIR had the over all supervision of all camps
in the vicinity of Kauferingsn.

NTn the bagirming af Jamary 1845 T want to Mahldorf Canp Ma. 1. .

I was commander of work detail, that worked outside of that campi

My superiors when I was there were Sturmbamnfushrer LANOIEIST and S8
Hauptscharfuehrer EBERLES. I had between 180 to 250 prismers in the

work detail and about 12 puards working under me. Among them were
(herscharfushrer SCHATTER, whose first name was Hans, T beliave, -

and Rottenfushrer FRESCH. The gusrds wera changed feegmently. Thay

were glven to me by the 53 troop after they were trained.

"S5 Oberscharfushrer HUBER, who i1s now & prisoner here in Dachau,
was in charge of the guard at the main gate in Yuhldor{ in Cawp 1.
I took HUBER's place at the end of March or beginning of April 1945,
Por 2 woaltn boopuge he wag wounded im an air eraid. ATtar that T was
transferred to Dachau.
"I left Dachau 29 April 1945 with & transpart of several thoussnd I
prisoners. I camnot say how many there were because I was in the

rear, I do not know the names of the leaders or puards of that trans-
port eecapt Obargoharfuchrer PONN. The prisonere of the transport
walked on foot. The transport went in the direction of Bayrisch
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Zall. We were on the road l; or 5 days and finally left the prisoners
near Tegernsee. 1 was capinred near Wlesbach. T capnot say how many
prisonara were kiiled on that transport. I did not ses any killed,
but heard that many were supposed to have been killed." (Pros Ex No
1094) «

33, Emil Erwin Mahl.

¥ahl, a criminal prisoner, was a blockaslteste on the punish-
ment block and became the capo in charge of the warking detail at the
crematorium (R 325, 211, 224, 303). As capo at the crematorium he was
in charge of four inmates (R 325). Manl carried out the hangings of
the prisoners (R 325). In the summer of 1544 it was Mahl who put the
noose of the rope around a young Russian's neck (R 204, 225, 125-12}).
It was Beattger who kicled the stool out from under the victim's
leps (R 225, 161). Mahl then grabbed the Russian by the legs and
mullad downward (R 226). It was probable that lMshl had orders to
help hang khe Russian (R 204). Both the accused Beattger and Cber-—
scharfuehrer Dongarts, who was tha 85 man in charge of the crematory,
wers presert (% 20k, 261). In the spring of 1545 Mahl helped exacute
gama Franch officers who were forced to strip and kheel and were then
shot (R LE&). In 174k it was Mahl who led the cart detail which
parried the bedies from the tranaport described abowe in eorantjion with
the accused Ruppert to the crematory (R 576~577). When ¥ahl was in-
formed that one of the prisoners was sitting up in the cart he took a
wooden pols and killed the prisoner (R 576, 577). In Octobar 1%LL two
Russiana who had taksn stockings were hanged by Manl (R 577, 578).
Thare were a number of 35 men present at the hanging, including the
accused Boettger (R 578). The five prisoners who were hanged at
Raufering Canp Mumber 1 because they had made Fool cowverings from a
blanket werz hanged by Mahl (R 650~656). Heference is made to the
digscuasion of this incident undsr the paragraphs on the accused Kirsch
and Kramar.

A pre-trial afPidavit which had been exscuted by the accused Mail
before Lisutanant Guth on 3 November 1945 was admitted into evidence
(2 792, pros ex 93). It reads in pertinent part and in translatior
as followsy

"1, TIn the year 1940 T wis remanded to the Concentratiom Canp
Dachau as a professlonal criminal. Tn 1943 I apolisd for a position
in the crematory and received that positien through the good of-
Pices of a friend. In July 194y T was appointed capo.

"2, It was tne of my dutiss to &ssist in the burming of corpses
and to supervise the transport of corpses to the crematory, some-
times. In Juns 1544 a shipment waz mcgmd in Dachau from Francs.
THe Pipst thing I knew about it was that™  number of corpses
which wers brought to the erematary on trucks amounted to 500.

These corpses were lpokine just like people wiho have been suffccated
usually look. Their faces were dark blue ard they were a horribla
picture. Hauptscharfushrer TICHESRUER and Hauptscharfuehrer BOETTCHER
supervised my having the bodies brought from the trucks to the cre-
matorvs At that time EICHBEERGER waa first clerl of the Schutzhaft-
lager and BOETTCHER a Rapportfushrer. Eichberger and ROETTCUER

Rept rapeating that this was = shipment of French Marquis who should
have Yeen brought to Dachau btut who died on the train since the

train coprandant Hauptscharfuehrer Alfred KRAEMER ardered the doors
‘of tha already overcrowded cars closed all the time and refused to
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give water to these ,eople. Every time when shipments arrived in
Dachau & detail of Russians was sent to the place of arrival to lead
the bodies of those who had died on the shipment on trucks. Thab
delail of Russians wis atanding ready on hhnplamurmiwl whien-
ever a shi&unt. arrived {o load the bodies of the dead on frucks awd
to bring m into the crematory because it was considered quite
natural that soms people would die on each shipment. Members of

that Russian work detail told me that they aaw that Hauptacharfushrer
Alfred IPAEMER was commandant of that shipment. Hauptecharfushrer
{RAFMER was a commandant of shipments quite frequently and thers-

for the Russiana gaw him repsatedly and knew him.

"3. During my term of office I participated in about 800-1,000
hangingas. The peopla were executed apd were recruited from pm:—
tically all nations of Europn They were prisoners of war and civil-
ians and 1 am weebls L0 muke any precise siazement about their per-

son a2t this time. My participation comsisted of putting the noosa
around the necks of the prisoners. T did that to presserve my om
1ife. T saw the following persons prasent at those executions:

A+ The following were in charges of executions: The CUbersturm=
fushrer RUPFERT, SUTTROFP, OTTO and KAMPE, and the Untersturmfuahrer
JAROLIN, "JOSEF md. JUNG.

b. Hauptscharfuenrer LICHEERGE: was presenl &s sepurter.

€. Johann KICK brought those who had been sentenced bto dsath
quite freq ently from the camp to the exscutien and attended tha
execution afterwards. Once he read the death warrant.

d. The following NCO's participated in executions and di-
rected our work and continuously kept rushing us. Bash oms of those
I montioned had participated in soms executions, supervised my work
and kicked me a few timss to get me to wark faster; The Hauptachar-
fushrer TRENKLE, Wilhelm WAGHER, Fpans BOETTGER, and Alfred HRAVER,
the mmrrclmrmhrar Josef SEUSS, Johann KIRSCH and BONGARTZ, and
linter schar fuehrer HENSCHEL.

e. HEMSCHEYL always depressed the lever that ovenad tha trap
door through wrich the condemned fall when tha officer in charge
of the exscution gave the sign.

f. The following S8 physiclams participated in executions,
examined the hanged after the exscutions and sometimes pgave us
orders during the execution to hurry up, and simllar urgings:
Sturpbannfuehrer HIVIERIAYER, who participated in most axecutions,

Dr. Pridolin FIHR, and Dr. EISELR.

g+ All the above mentioned persona participated in one or nore
2xsoutions and car~ied cut the dutles and the acts I have accused
them of. Howevar, nol evervbody was present & every execution.

"is a. I can recall the sxscution of the Jawish wowsn Fritnd
Ih*IN especially well, She had been sentenced to death because
o. miscepanation with a Jerman inmata in the outcamp Kaufering and
wes =miscuted in Dachany. The following were present at this Exﬁﬂu‘hiﬂu
The Obersturmfushrer HA'TE, and OO, Hauptscharfushrer
EICHETROER and KUEN, and Oberscharfushrer BONGARTZ and Unter ar:l-ar-—
fuslive™ HOMSOUEL as well as Sturmbannfuehrar ‘g_érlm"_vaﬂ_, e accused
was ferced to undress completely in the gas chamber. She refused at
first to 7mlk Into the presence of so many men undressed, md Haupt-
scharfushrer KUHN and BOETTOER dragged her out of the gas chambar. She
attempted to cover her body with her hands. This brought on laughter
and rude Jokes by TGER, KWN, and others who participated in tha
pxecution, ammg them o Bturmbarnfushrer H_Tm_ﬁ‘;ﬁ Bhs wan
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then placed on the trap door and I pot the noose around her head.

b« I can recall the exscution of a Polish woman in March
1945, Obersturmfuehrer RUPFERT was in charge of it. doreover the
‘Hauptscharfushrer ETCHESROER and BOBTTOER and Sturmbannfuehrer HINTER-
MAYER participated in that exscution. The Polish woman was brought in
by the Gestapo and also executed by hanging. It was apgain my duty to
put the noose around her neck.

, ¢. Moreover I can recall that approximataly on 2L April
1945 Dr. HINTER'MAYER brought 18 young people who were obvlously
insane or in & highly nervous condition into the crematory and
killed them by injections. This was not counted as an execution,
and, therefors, Dr. HINIERMAYER was in charge of the whole procedure.
Oberscharfushrer FUHRMNY and BONGARTZ attended that killing, Two
women who had to be brought in on stretchers were among those killed.
‘I:r. EJ‘JEE%‘EIE{ killed the one by inserting the injection needle in

er breast.

d. 1 ean also recall the execution of two women by injeet-
ing them at the beginning of this year. Obersturmfuehrer RUPFERT
and OITO were in charge of that execution. Hauptacharfuehrer EICH-
EERGER was reporter. Both women were pregnant and killed by in-
Jections.

e, Towards the end of 194k Dr. HINTERVAYER killed L or 6
other women (Polish or Russian women) by injecting 1“iem. Oberschar-
fushrar BONGARTZ and FUHRMAMN wers present. Thils mas not aounted as
a regular execubtion since no one from the camp commandant or from
the Schutzhaftlager not even a reporter participated in it. These

women seemed quite healthy and I do not know why they were executed.

f. 1 should like to emphasize that Dr. HINTEEMAYER never
failed te attend the execution of a woman or any execution which was
considared especially interesting. I have seen all the events de-
scribed by me in parsgraph U with my own eyes.

"G, a. I can recall the mass exscubion of 95 Russian officers
and enlisted men in the late summer or early autwmn of 15LL. This
execution was directed by Cbersturmfuehrer RUPFERT and OTTO. In
addition the Hauptscharfuehrer EICHEERGER and BOETTGER, the Ober-
gscharfuehrer KIFPERSCHIID and BONGARTZ, and Unterscharfushrer HENSCHEL
attended it sas executioners. Sturmbannfuehrer HINTERMAYER again par-
ticipated as doctor. After this exscution I noticed that several Russians
had not been killed but only wounded on account of the sloppy shoot-
ing, and I reported this to Oberscharfuehrer BONGARTZ. BONGARTZ
shot them with his pistel afterwards.

b. In Jamary or Februgpry 1945 I attended the exscution of
2 French women and i English women., They were driven to the shooting
gallery and shot there by Hauptscharfuehrer EICHEERGER and BGETTGER
and Oberscharfuehrer BONGARTZ. These executions wers directed by
Obersturnfushrar RUPPERT and OIT0 and Untersturmfuehrer JUNG. Dre
HINTERMAYER attended it as physician." (Pros Ex No. 934).

3. Walter Adolf langleist.

Tangleist, a Hauptsturmfuehrer, was in charge of the guard
battalion at Dashan (R 291). At Kaufaring Camp Mumber L langleist
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mistrested prisomers by beating them and throwing them into the
pita Ea 633, 843, 535). These incidents occurred in the fall of
194) (R 636). Onee he beat a prisoner to death with a piece of wood
(R 6L3, 6ul, 63L).

35. Johann Schoepp.

A pre-trial affidavit prepared by the accused Schoepp in
nis own handwriting ard executed before Captain B. Selke, Jr., iawsti-
gatiug offic.i, ca 1 November 1545 was admitted into evidsmoe (R 652,
pmﬂnl 110). That statsment reads in pertinent part in tmanalation
as follows;

"Bacause of the agreement between Rumania and Cermany in the year
1943, all persons from seventesn (17) to thirty five (35) years
of age wore taken cut ~7 the Rusanian Army and wr mustered and
dralled for the German Armmy. On 29 July 1943, I leii Fersmonstadt,
arrived at Vianna, scroened onos more for thoss who were abls to go
to the front and for those who were unable to go to the fromt. 1
was not able to go to the front and was supposed to go work in the
factory at Reichshoffen. Befare wa started from Vienna, there cams
an order that we should go to Oranienburg. From there we, 100 men,

were sent to the gnud battalion at DACHAU, on 21 Augustv 1943, After
five (5) or six (5) daye we received our uniforms and wers trained

for the pericd of tan (10) days. Because I had ailing feet I went
to the hospitd . After this, I was granted a furlough, on 2 October
1943. At DACFAD T did not have any conmection with the prisoners.
When I returned from furlough on 1 November I was sent to the out-

car> FELDAFING, where I remained untdl 23 April 1545. I was a guard
of a detail of thirty-two (32) prisoners, they know me and can tes-
tify on my behalf.

5

"On 23 April 1745 we were brought from FELDAFING to DACHAU.
However, when we arrived there, we were told that the camp was
supposed to be cleared. We two, Muchen and Schopp, were made re-
sarve guards on the traraport which was to go to OTZTAL there where
eightean hundred (1,900) to nineteen hundred (1,%00) prisoners that
started for Garmisch, an the 25th. Up to thers I saw that the pris-
mers were rather crowmded in the passenger cars. Fron there I went
on with Menchen and an Unterscharfushrer, only at night, with the tmin
carryving cleothing amd part of the provisions. When we arrived, a
comrade had stolen my partfolio from the wagon in which I had gone
up to Garmisch. Everyone can remember how I quarreled with this
comrade when I arrived in Seefeld, whereupon I found it again. Thea
wa arrived the prisoners were put-on 2 meadow and in a barn, because
we could not continue to OTZTAY as the front had approached. later
they were brought back by train to SCHARMNITZ. I do not know the
name of ihs Transport Lesder but can describe him. He was a Haupt-
acharfushrer, his size was about ono hundred sixty-five (165) to ocne
hundred aswenty (170) centimeters, he was slender, had a white
mustachs and white hair. His age was about sixty-two (52) to seventy-
two (72) years; this was told to m by one of my comrades." (Pros

Ezl].l‘.'lg. q-7 !f'- .



3. Amo Livpuann.

_ Iippmainn was & repreasntative of the acoused Redwitsz and
was the second or third Verwaltungsfuhrer (R 166), Lippmenn wes
aleo the camp commender of Kaufering Camp Number 7 (R 722). There
ha miatrantsd the prisoners (R 722) . Onee &t A formatinn tha alele
and healthy were seperated (R 722 - 723). A son tried to remain
with his father and Lippmann pulled him loose and rendered him
unconsed ous by striking him with a stick (R 728). When Kaufering
Oamp Number 7 was being dissolved in April 1945, the people had been
gethered in & mass formAtien on the parade ground (R 723). When some
af the paspla want to & nearby garbage pit to find anmathing o meh,
lippmann shot into the zroup and everyone scattered (R 723, 724).

A pre-trial affidavit of the accused Lippmann which had
been written Yy him and axecuted Vefore Lisutensnt Bowser on 4
November 1945, was e¢dmitted into evidence (R 833, pros ex 108) .

That stetement reads in pertinant part in translation se
followat

"I was transferred back to Dachau in October 1942, and
eccepted as & traines tu become Schutshaftlagerfubrer under Schute-
. hafilngarfunrersr PRANE HOPFRANN . HOFPMANN was trenefarsed in Wovembar
and MICHAYL, FRDWITZ replaced him, remaining #11 the time I was at
Deslau canp, At the time I wes training &s Schutzhaftlagerfuhrer
JOBEF JAROLIN, JOSIF SHUBS AND XAVIER THENKIE Were training with me "

"MARTIN WEISS was the Camp Commander here at Dachau when I
won hars the secend tims, that is, from Octeber 1042, to July 1943 0

"I remember an incident I witnessed in March 1543, when
15 prisgnera were beaten in the shower room bty Cepos or Block Tldest
MARTIN WE15S wae with me and ordered this punitive beating., The
prisoners were glven from 6 to 26 stroles on the buttocks, "

#I remember & hanging I witnessed in Jamary or February
1943, ia the capacity of Semtshaftlagerfubrer at the Arrsst-Hompltal,
This man was a Folish priscner, Dr. BOLDER, a medic, & Germsn prisoner
and myself wers there, IR, BOLDER Proncunced thie map dead,®

. In Bepteoober 1043, I waso transferred #ec Laukenboch where
I remained for cne month. I then came back to Decheu where I wes
in thas hospital for three months, In Jamuary 1944, 1 was ageigned
a1 Oommander over the prisconers who worked in the Prasgifix factory.
In August 1944, I was transferred to the Kaufering camps, whers I
reporied to Hauptsturmfuhrer FORSTER and he nselzned me to Camp 2
as Qopp Jommander. During the tims I woo Ocmmapder of Qoap O 1
sorved under ths Qommander of the Kaufering Camps, who was & first
Eaupteturmfuhrer TORSITR, then came Sturnbannfuhrer LANGLEIST in
0o tober, who remained for a short time and was replmced ty Sturmbenn-
fahrer AUMEINR in Jemuary 1945, Sturmbannfuhrer FOAERSCHTER came and

took charge of the Kaufering cemps. In Jamary 1945, 1 was tranaferred
to et 7 in the Houfering srea, where I repliced Haupbmann WIGTHLE-
DUERFER, as Comoander of the camp. The first week I wao at Qamp 7 I
witnegeed the Oberscharfuhrer STRINPUICHEL beating some prisoners.

I prohibited to him any further beating of priscners, Then STEIN-
BURCHEL told me he had sdministered asome beatings under ths admini-
stration of Hauptmann EIQHRISDORRFER, In Camp 2 there wers on th
average about 1,200 priscuers, In Qamp 7 I had under me mbout 1,

to 1,500 priscners, and every month had from 20 to 25 deaths, which
regulted from Fleskiieber (Spotted fever or Typhus)."




"Yhan I was in charge at Camp 7 Stursbennfubrer AINEIER
‘nepected the casp twice, When 1 was at Qamp 7 Sturmbannfubrer
FOERSORTER inspected my casp twice, ons time he had the Dachau
Oommander, Obersturmbannfublrer WEITER, with him. I will further
state that mll of the time I wvas Commander of thess camps in the
Kaufering area the priscners were underfed and underclothed *
(Pros Ex No 1084).

37, Degelow, Fritw.

e sccused Deselow was & captain in the Wehrmacht (R 239,
240). He was the leader of an evacuation transport which left Dechsn
on 26 April 1945 (R 239-240). Degelow ordered the guards in the
following manner; "If theee swine - if they will oot move many faster,
Sunt hit them with the rifle butta" (R 238). Degelow ploked up pleces
of wood and beut the prisoners am they marched alomg (R 239), While
Degalow was sating in a tevera at Degsendor? he told a doctor thare
that there were 111 prisonsres in the transport although in fect
there were many (B 773), On 29 April 1945, when the transpoyt reached
Wolfratshausen, a resident of the town =aw about a thousand women i
the group who were iressed in rags snd were guarded by four 5§ men and
later saw & growp of men who were being mistreated by the 88 (R 760,
;:;f 7%2) . Degalow ues sesn to atriks a priscner with & bottle (R 783,

A pro—trial affidavit prepared by the mccused Degslow in
o owvn band writing, executed before Lieutenmant Outh on 4 November
1945, was ndmitted into evidence (R BOS, Pros Bx No 98),

That statemsant reads in pertinemt part {n translstion as
followm

Athe march of & part of the prisonsre of DACHAU (Russians,

Polas, Jews, Oermans) which was began on the evening of the 36th of
dpril, could be sonducted mecarding ts the ordara of tha Lassrknnsan-
dant, 583 Oberstursbanafubrer WEITER, for the first two lays only. He,

ted read as order Yy the ERICESFUNTINE S8 in Dmohau, sccord-
ing to which only the mentioned pationalities, Russians, FPoles, Germans,
and Jews, should be transported to m remote mountain wvalley in the
Tyrol. Present there benide me wors the chisfs of section (Abteil-
arssleiter) of the Handquartere (Tamsmndntur).

Section 1. Adfutant 58 Obersturzfuhrer OT10.

Gection 2. Politioml Section, _
Ssotion 3. Prison Compound §3 Obersturmfuhrer RUPPERT,
Bection 4. Administration 85 Bauptaturmfuhrer WETZEL,

Sectien §. Sandtantion RS fiturshannfubres DR HEYNTERMEYER.
Sectiss &, Welfare 55 Odersturmfubrer RIETH *

fThe transport consisted of mpproximately 11,000 prisoners,
who marched off on foot in columns of about 1,500 men neparated Ly
{ataryals of half an hour, Jefore marching off the prisoners wers
given provisions for twe days. In Teingadnr?, whish ahanld haws baan
reachad in twc daye, provisisss %o last 20 000 men for two days hal
Yoen deposited, Bach of these marching colums of 1,500 priscners
md a goard troop of about 100 who marched with them, The pdlice in
Munigh had provided five trucks, to pick up priscners who were unable
to march, The trucks went alonz the PASSING — BTERNEERG route twice
cu the BETth of April. On the 29th of dpril, howaver K only ona af tha
trucks sppesred without gas, And it too dissppearsd again.®

"On the first day of the march, they marched %o a camp in
the woods, about £ive km before STARNEERG length of merch nbout 23 lm.




0u the second dey of the mar h, to 4 km south of WOLFRATHSHAUSHY

fzain about 23 km, In the comp neer WOLFRATHSHAUSEN T had the marsh
ntopped on my own responsibility, atnoe the wenthsr had become much
Worgs——rain, rnow, and ccld-—and the physical condition of the nrisoners
wae such that thovsands would have remained 1yimg 1f the march wers
contimed. The primcners wers fed from the provisions carm in Eoinge-
dorf 4n thet I had my battalion truck (IKW) drive provisions to ths
gamp. Since the provisions had been nsed up, I wanted to turn all

the prenoners over to the American troopes, In Kolrgaflorf I recelved
the prder from en S8 Frigadefuhrer Pslice President of Munich - nome
unknown, %o immediately turn the Ruseians and Poles over to tha
Amsrican troope, tut to continus morghing the Germens and Jewish priscners
in the direction of Bayerisch-Zell, since more provinions wars smumposed
to be ready thers

On the 30th of April the German mnd Jewish prisoners(about
8,000) marched to m camp betwsen Konigedorf snd Bad Tolz, leneth of
mETCD 8DOUY 10 km, 8nd on the following day, 31 April, throush Bad
Tole again 10 km, Hawptmann Schwartz from the KL Flossenture reported
to me thet abent 50 prisoners had died from exhaustion and the eeld
wasthar ®

*I have mode the above stntenent withoiut commulsion, T heve
reAd 1t through and upderstrnd 1t Tully. T swear Before fod that 1
have told the pure truth. M

"1 add the Tellowing to 14;"

"The officers of the Hesdquarters (Kommandatur who hod to
care Ior the primsoners, for example the Lagerkommendent WEITER the
Afmindstrtiive Leader 58 Hruptsturmfuhrer WETZEL, the camp physiciane,
the Adfatent 85 Obermturmfuhrer OTTO, conserned themselves vith
nothing after the marahing away, in spite of the fect that itwas their
duty, snd drove their vehleles full of provisions, vine, ligquor, and
such to the Tyrol, If the of ficers of the Headousrters (Kommandstus)
hae concerned themsslves with the march, and the dozens of tmicke(IXW)
and cers (PKW) bad deen nvailable, no people would have had to laose
their 1iven." (Pros Tx No. 98A)

J8. (QOfte Mell,

The acoused Moll wrs in charme of the Keufering Camp lumber
1 detall vhich worked at the firm of Mahl (R 692, 695). Whenthree of
the privcners who wers working on the detall ghe dey in March 1945,
wvere preparing to cook mome potAtoes Moll took » etick rnd Teat two
of tha prisoners (R €93). He sald to the third "You, you young pig.
You ware cooking petatosn teo, 1'11 show you." (R 693). He than
beat the third prisoner sc severely that the broke the ntick, =s a
result of which the priconer epent two weska in the hospital (R 693,
694) . Wnen two pmuners-hy wtopped and saw how Moll hod been Teating
ths prisoner he ran out nnd said, "You should Yc ~1~d that the Jews
nre punighed ' (B 6935). 1In April 1945, on the tphl workins detetl
Holl pushed & Bitsslen with a board and then beat him over ths hasd
with & rock until he fell to the ground (R 694, £95, €96). The
fusslan wis then oarrisd awsy on m stretcher out into the woods (R £95),
At another time in Februnry 1945, on the deteil Moll struck ewoman with
& stick wany tines (R 702, 705, 706), Holl sccompanied a iransport
which left Eaufering Casp Number 2 at the end of April 1845 (R 765.788)
There were etout 160 prlieonars in the trensvort and Moll shet 28 nf
them who had oollapsed because of erhaustion (R 786). Several of thede
were Ruesiens sad Poles (R 766),

A pre-trisl affidavit of the accused Moll executed before
Onptalin Horece Hinmen, {nvestizating officer, on 3 November 1845, wns

‘aded (ted into evidence (R 851, Pros Iy 114).



mhat siatemsnt rapde in pertinent part Iin tranwlation

- b B |
.8 followe:

"In Janusry-February 1945, while on the retreat, I wos for
ghont Tour weeltn stotioned in the Boonomic Admimdatrotion Maln DTfice
in BTRLIN eqd npear EERLIN, Approrimately on 26 February 1046, 1 reccived
ariscs yom the chlef of the personnel gection of the Foonomic Admini-
gtrstion Hedn 0fTice, Sturmbannfulrer HAHREBAUM, to report to the com-
mander of the KAUFARING Concentration Camp for further dutiee. I
procesded by train to KAUFERING, where I arrived approximately on 29
Wetruary 1945, T immedintely reported to Sturmbennfuhrer FOERSOHNIE,
the respactive camp commbonder, For the follewing ten days I wan not
siven ony apecific duties, I e told, that as soon as prisonsrs would
rrrive from AUSSEURG I would be ‘ransferred to Camp KAUFERING 2 1n
LAYVDSESRG nm LECH."

Whurinz che nert davs I inspected the camp EAUFERING 2, and
found 1t unsultable for reception of priscners, due to lack of billets
for sick people and untidiness of the prisoners billets., The newly
agpointed Camp Commander Cbersturmfuhbrer SCHOETTL ordared ume to correct
the deficlencies prevailing in Camp 2 and ¢o improve camp conditions "

"ipon arrival of the prisoners, epproximotely on 12 Mapch 1945,
and 2fter the camp had storted its normal functions, 1 wea responsille
for the following fields of work in the camp:

1. PBilleting of Priscners,

2, TFeesding of Priscners.

Sanitery Conditions in the Qamp.

. Transfer of alck prisonera to the hospital in Camp &,
Clothing of prisonars.

Lator comm tment."

O -Cm o 03

WDuping SCHORTTL'S absence — s SCHOETTL often undertook
affintal trips — T was camp comsander M

"The administrative camp personnel further included & kitchen
non-gcomminsioned officer, 858 Oberscharfuhrer EICHHULLZER, administrative
officirls, 86 Oberscharfulwer JENSEN and an Oberscharfuhrer in the
medical ssction, whose name I forgot. The camp gurrd personnel wes
vndar Aaptain CASTHER #

"l wan authorized to make pmall improvemants in che camp on
wy own, Mt requived SOHOTTL!s permission for larger improvemsnts, such
as the constiustion of & hospital berracks, !

5 WTha hillata of the prisonsrs in Camp KAUFERING 2 wase,
socording to times, good., A1l priscners always slept under & roof,
Troh prinoner hed A mtrav seck and thres hlankets, The siraw sanks
were mounted on woodsn platforms, Food was goed."

"Phe hospital bearracks conteined thirty beds. The aversge
eiol stetun 4w thia darracks conslated of ten to twelve prlsacners,
tostly because of colds and furupoulesis. During my acstivity in Camp
KAUTERING 2, absut twenty prisoners were transferred to the hospital
in famp KAUFERING 4.9

"The cemp hid & capacity of abeut 1,200 prisoners, and during
my abay thena had 8 marimum cesupancy of 450 prisoners. The guard
persannel consiged of 5O men. "

"The prisccers work consinsted of umpmsicing and transperting
werine perts for the MESSERSCHMITT WORKS o
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wers no sdstreatnents of any prisonerdby any guard personnel. No

prisoner was beaten, nor kicked nor in any other way mistreated by
guard perapnnel "

E. ™n about 85 or 26 April 1948, T led 211 prisonsars of
Cemp KAUFERING 2 who were In marching condition, on foot to DADHAU,
A11 prisgners Aarrived at the destination, and there wers no shooting
nor mistreatments during the march. The guard personmel of this
transport conslated of S5 personnel, of which I cin only remenber one
B8 Hauptocharfubrar RIZNEEER, "

#ihe prisonsr trunsport left KAUFERING 2 with sufficlent
provisions for twe days. T personally obfained additional provieions
for bnlf 8 day from DACEAU., Tha priscnere arrivad at DAOHAU on 29 April.
I was fully responsitle for thls transport.”

f. M laft DASHAD an 30 April 1846, with a formatirm of 88
Fereonnel, marching in the directicn of Tyrol. The formation scon
dissolved, and I surrendersi to the Amsricans on 3 or 4 May 1945, near
EAD POLE. "

T. "o my knowledge 858 Clersturmbannfubrsr WEISS wae commander
of all sutcasms nndear the jurisdistisn of tha Qancentretion Oamp DACHAN.
. I have seen WEISS once during an official visit in EAUFERING 2, towards

the andl of March 1945, and, #t this occanion, exchanged a fov words with
him, = All orders chout the camp conflust came from Obersturmbannfubrer
WEISS. I have never heard the neme of WEITER, T know Sturmbamnnfuhrer
FOERSOMIER through my sotivities and hnve talked to him repesatedly.®
(Broa B Ha 1144)

39. Otto Sehuly.

Sobunlz, Bn 88 Untersturmfuhrer, was in charge of the DACHAD
fnmates who worked at the German irmament Works in the town of DACEHAU
(R 219} . Bechulz, = outck termered individusl, hit the prisconsr with
his fists, beat them with a stick, =nd kicked them (R 260, 218). 'The
prisoness who worlsd on his detaill were of varisus nationalities, such
88 Poles, Ogechs, ond Buselans (R 220). Although the prisoners on this
datail had been permitted to cook food while at the Armament Works, the
food having been nent to them from home, Sohulg onoe threw ths food

. whinh was conking on the atove ontn the eround (R 218, 258, 268, 283,

- P64, 459), e poured cold woter on pecple who were sitting in th& 1atrine
(R 456) . He worked the mambers of his detail long hours, at least 12,
and rafieed to relense the siek ones (R 455, 459, 458), His refusal to
relense 111 pecple resulted in some deaths (R 456) .

A pre-trial affidavit prepared by the mceused Schuls in his
own handyriting and executed before Captain Niles, investigating officer,
en &0 Dotober 1945, wan sdmitted tnte evidence (R BS54, Pros Ex Fo 115),

That statement rends 4n pertinent part in translation as

folluws:

© MIn Kay 1908, 1 Joinod the Allgemeine 58 in Wittenberge...,
I wan dvafted intg the Waffen S5 on 19 Jamuary 1942 0

"Prom 20 Februery 1043, until the end of the wer 1 worked for
lfhl German Arpament Works in DACYAU. I wae snsigned ms Batrietsledter,
"MWy work ronuinted of supnrvising the progreas of sur ordeara and of tha
technionl preparations. There were atout 600 priscners working in my
plant, They wers Poles, (Ozechs, Fremctmen and Germens. I ss-etimes

= i



loet my temper and beat prisoners whom I caught loafing, sieeping,
or stealing, or showing insubordination, This happened about 12 times,
I used my hand mostly, ut used & doard once *

"They frequently made thelr own smoldnz periods in the latrines,
which practice was not stopped in spite of repeated sdmonitions, During
an inspection tour I poured & tucket of raln water over them from a rouf
windew. T alss hit the obviously lagzy workers — thies happened about
4.5 times, and only with my hand, "

"he following S3 men worked as my foremen: Obersturmfuhrer
Joseph Deiner, Hauptscharfuhrer MAIER, Oberscharfuhrer KNGEL, Oherachar-
fuhrer LOTHAR STAUIFMATER, Unterscherfuhrer WALTER KOOH, Oberscharfuhrer
DRIPS, Rettenfuhrer HOK, Rottenfuhrer FRIEDRICH, Unterscharfuhrer FUTHS,
Oberscharfuhrer OTTO MERKIE Unterscharfuhrer ELIER OSEAR, Oberschar-
fuhrer KFLLTR, DEINCR dnd HERKIE complalned to me about some prisoners
and told me that they had beaten them "

"yhen I came to DACHAU, S8 Chersturmbannfuhrer WARTIN WEISS,
and later 85 Chargturmbannfuhrer WEITER, first nmme unknown, was camp
sommandsr. I had no occaslion to =nter the primen compound and therefore
45 not know anything mbout the tortures and murders which wers perpetrztsd
thers. The cams comiander wis responsible for the eyscutions, since he,
in my opinicn, caused the orders from Berlin tc be carriesd cut.”

Nphs superviscr of the cremetory was S8 0bersc harfuhrer
PORKEARDT, My superior was S8 Oversturmfuhrer HANS ULRICH, who was
Warkleiter and ns such was responsible for the entire plant.”

"trls declaration was written by me on J pages, ip my own
handwriting, in DACHAU, GERHANY, on 30 October 1945, at 2230 houvs,
volunarily and without compulsion." (Pros Ex No 115A)

40. Friedrich Wetgel,

Wetzel, & Heupteturmfuhrer, or “bersturmfuhrar, wae the
sdministrateor and later the Verwaltungsfuhrer and as such wes responsitle
for the food, clothing and lodging of the priscners (R 252, 421). BRe
had charge of the kitchen, lmundry snd mmply room (R 421, 485) . Wetzel
inaugurated the practice of not heving the potatoes pealed nnd of
“amding baet leaves which had usually been fed tc the cattle to the
srigsoners, (R 422). He mistrented soms of the prisoners by slapping
them =nd he often stole thair valunbles (R 485)

A pre-trial affidavit prepared by the zccused Wetezel in his
own handwriting and erecutsd before Lieutenant Conn was admitted into
avidanca (R 821, Pros IEx Ho 104) .

That statement reads in pertinent part in translation &as
followns

"Myname {s FRIEDRICH JULIUS WETZEL, Hauptsturmfuhrer,
Aammandanteur, DACHAY, GERMANY, I was in DACHAD as Administration
Leader “rom Angust 1, 1944 until 28-29 hpril 1945. Before that I
wes in the following Cencentration Camps, also as Administration
Lender:

NEUENGANME, HAMEURG — 19 April 1943, to 31 July 1944,
WIFTERHAGEYN, PADEREORN — 15 December 1942 to 18 April 1943,

1 was Tegpensible in DACHAU for the clothing, fool pnd
ghalter of the troeps ond inmates, I was directly under Obersturm-
vannfuhrer WEITZE, When T arrived at DACHAU, the clothing was slrealy



hlﬂﬂiﬁilﬁt and there wers not snosugh drawers, socks, shirts, shoes

and gloves, I requisitioned winter slothing 'but- I 41d not receive

erongh so that the clsthing for the inuates wae insufficient for the

winter., Tha ahoes hall wvooden soles and canwvas *ith lenther parte. " |

ROntil the end of 1944 er Jmmary 1945, the food was
sufficient to give the inmates the presoribed portions. Until about
Decenber 15944 or Janusry 1545, encugh food mrrived in DACFRD to give
the fpmnies eisugh to eat, Howsver, the food wite not enongh to get
those pecple back on their feet who alresdy arrived in DACHAT helf-
ctarved and plok. Untll atout Jusunry 1048 the fosd throngh the
general transportation sltuation and the newly established rations,
war ngt =mfficient any more. The troops only received very 1ittle
more than the inmates. Althongh I was in charze of the food and
after Janonry 1945 did r.ut got good food mysslf, I never put any-
thing aside for myself ate just like the trupu-nnly the portion
prascrlbsd for me, never l:nrthi_n.g s trm i

fFrom August 1944 until April 1545, I wes responsiltle
in DACHAL for the distritution of the foed, The peas and beans In
the camp could not be distrituted becsuss of the food regulations
and hed not been covered by reguisitions, I also wanted to keep
those 1n the scomes that thes recsrves wolld Wramnlk dawn samplately ar
that on epldemic would occur, The peas &pnd beans were sufficlent
for about eight days."

han & transport left the camp Fommandant WHITER told me
for how many days I should give them food, which I did, I was
responeible for 1t M

T mads the sbove stotement wlthout force, I read 1t and
corrected 1t snd undsrstend 4t fully. 1 swear solemnly that 1t is
the pure truth,® (Pros Ex No 1044)
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V. EVIDENCE FOR S DEISH:
1. Vartin Gottfried Walss: Delors lWelas bacame canp womnandar
of Dachau, there were many bratings, nothing to eul, and Iittle time off
from work for the irmates, but after he arrived, conditions improved (R 530).
Mailine of food parcels vias pormitted, room duty vas Wigoonbinued,
and beatinps stopped for a-while (B 530). It was preswied that this was
donr bpcause of Lhe increased noed for manpover in the Armament Industry
(. 630). The food becane battor in that a little fab was pub dinto
the soup and the portions of checse and sausage wers larger (R 531). Later,
hewever, the fond hacame worse.acain (R 531). Before Weiss was cormandoy,
the- prisoners wer required to stand at the gate as o punishment, but
he discontinued t'ds and instead introduced the stand-bunksr (2 531).
Under Weiss, the punistmant block remained in existence for a short
time and than vas discontinued, and the practice of standing the
prisoners in the square when ancther prisoner escapad was abolished (R 532,
RE1). Walecs abolizhed the prastise af the mmnishmant hair cut, widch
consisted in cutting a stripe fram the front to the back of ones™
head (R 532, BB1). He introduced motion pictures for the prisonars
and permitted them to sngage in sports, a privilepge which had not been
permitted heretofore (R 533). The sports included soccer, hoxing and
wrestling (R 533). Under Wolss, the convalascent Llocka wers intro-
ducad Lor new prisoners ana bearings were discuntinued (R 533, ook s

Yartin Weiss made thess improvements in ourder to carry on "a
total work servies® and he distributed the priscners to the virious
factories in the area of Davaria (R 535). He was responsible far
sendine prisoners to work in factaries which were not adequately pro-
+actad from air bombardment and was responsible for experiments and
sxecutions, and for the invalid transports that went on ia Dachau (R 535).
Conditions for the Gnrman priests changed for the better under lieiss,
but priests of other nationallities suffsred severaly under jum, although
he stopped the priests from performing heavy labor (R 93L, 935).

Welss alscted to testify and male the following unsworn atate-
sent: He was born J June 1905 at Kideoverveisen, Germany (R 58), His
civilian occupation was electrical engineer (R 53)., He was in the
Allgemeina S8 from 1932 to 1933 and in 1933 had 10 weeks basic infantry

training at Dachau (R BBS%. He was in ths German Army from 1933 until
his arrest on 9 May 195 (R U58). Trom 1933 to 193 he had basn in tne ()

‘administrative branch of the BEngineers gn 058, BB6), For a time in

1936 he was camp engineer in Dachau (R 88L). From 1930 to 11 A

1910 he was Adjutant at the concentration camp at Dachsu (R 859), His
comanding officer at this time vas Obersturmbannfuehrer Lorits Webend

von Plaskepno (R 759). Tn 1940 he was transParred from there to Hamburg
to the Neuen Gamme (R 559). In 1940 and 1941 he applisd for combat duby

(r 88l). ¥is requests were denied because of the Reich Fushrer's

ordar that no leadsr or officer could volunteer for the front (R 88l, d65).
on 1 September 19L2 on order of the Reich Leader, Himuler, he was trans-
ferved to Dachau as Camp Commander (R 859).

on 1 November 19 3, Weiss was transferred from Dachau and on
i Novamber 193 became comoandsr to the concentration camp of ILublin
(R B61), He remained thers unsil 25 April 29LL (R 861). On 1 May he
became chief of the of fice for spacial services (R 861), He was supposeu
to become chisf of the prisoner of war set-up at this time, but was
tuned down by the Reich Puchrer, and therofore had no offlclal duties
until 1 November 1915 (B 861, f62), On 1 Movember 194l Weius vas sent
as a special emissary to Muehldorf whers, together with the Todt organiszation
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he had the ‘issich of buildine new camps, later to be used in the armament
industry (R 062).

A was orusrad tp Dachau as casp comiandsr to alleviate bad
conditions thare (R §62, 8°2). When he arrived lds predecessor wvas on a
vacatlon, sowelus Nizmself wos loreed o bocoms acoustomed pgredually o
tho ‘canp (R %62), When he arrived, there wefe betuween 6,000 and 7,000
prisopars theve (E 059), He tool charpe of Dashat and all its camps (R 187).
iie lemrnnd that people wore helns bound to posts, that orivensrs had to
utand for daya et a4 %lme withont food, that for attempting to escape,
ardsoners had to stand o the formetion prounde for 25 or 30 hours,
that the order of thin Reloh Pushrer that priseners wera uot to be
beaten was not obeyed, amd thet poople were yunring around the canmp with
Mol riwagr adreuto® (R 8562), Thess haivcuts consisted of & wide lines,
the size of & paly of clippers frem the hack of the Head to tles front
of tlhe naad (R 163). In order to alleviate these conditlons, Welss
irmaediately relisvad Xopps and Severslsy wio vwere canp aldar md assistant
carm aldar (R G563)s Thay had large powers and Kopps was kngvm a8 a
Mhadter® (R 1563),

The SelwtehaltlaserNishrar assumad comand of the canp 7henaver
Weisy laft the camp (R N60). Durine olss! tour of duty as Lagarfunhrer,
Prins Hofiman, who had Seon Schutzhaftlaperfaliver at the stavt, was
Lyarisforrad updn Weisy' requast md replaced by Nadwita (B 260), Veiss
fransferrad Noffkan hacause Hofman boat prisoners, paid no attention
to ian evard of Veino, and bound prisoners Yo posts arainst the orders
of ueied (R 660). Wolss roported him to Berlin for punishment md
tiransfar (B B60), Welsa did fiot selsct Hoffman's suscesser, Jadmits (2 PAL).

 vihen Veiss assumod comand, he found thut fued was distwibuted
to prisoners accopding te thy orders of the food oriice in Jarlin (R 163).
Althoush Lelse hid o control over tha food distribited in the en

ho did avtenpt to frbrovs tho sating condiblona by pequisitioning food for

urlsoners § 4o 10 days 1a advance. Ths requisitions were prepared by
Yo biwad nf Y adelndstragon dspartnent, checked by the physician

for tun niimber of calories it cmtainad, and wignad by allthres of them
(R R63). Tha <ood w=s obtained from the officar dn charge of foods

1% Falsbure, and parchased on the basls of requisitions TR P6L). Vhen
Wnisa Tncane canp cammandar, he roceived orders from suparicr aubhorities
aet Lo concarn Mimaalf with the medical sxparimental station (R 86k).
Jogtor Wnlther was chief doctor; the malarla stabtlon was under the super-
vision of Doctar S5¢hllling; and the swperinental stationwas under
Joctor Naschar (R 965).

Hrrder visited the experimental station on 10 Hovenber 1912

':* N6L) . lisdod wee sallad By Mamlsr o cume bu Wiz experinental station
(4 065). i founl Afmidar very angry, and Himmlar told Weiss he was to
zive no orders to Doztor Dascher, begause Doctor Raschar was not under
bls erders, but undar the protection of the Heich Fushrer (B 855), Ho
rattor what Doctor Rascher wanted, Himmler sxplained to Weisu, Weiss

st rat for dm, aven 12 14 wan nopnae or seffen (R HUEE). Certain prico-
aers B2 e cacp were present dirlne tihis conversation, bub ileios dows
nob upit sthamm they are (R %65). A Doctor Cravits, Reich Physician of
34 dlrectly under tﬂ;n- Nelch Pudlirer, told Weiss in Aprtl 1943 in the
Jretsnes of Doctor Sohlllinz that in case Welss sabotaged the experiments
Hqctm: Scldl1in - wiould report him to the Pelch Pushver for puniskiment ’
(% 269, "67). This awporimental station was undsr orders of tho Redch
Fuelar unly, and deiss had no control over Doctor Schilliss wtiila ha
Wag conducting malaria snperinents at Camy Dackan (R 87y

—




Welss had to approve the raquisiticn of prisoners that ware to be used
by Doctar Schilling (R 891, 396, Pros Ex 30). The edjutant!s initials
also sppeared on tha reauisition (R 696, Pros Ex 34)., This was the
procedure during 4.1 of the time .siss was there (R 992). Requisitions
by Welss also had to be made for Docter Rascher's priscners who ware
subjected to his experizments (M 072, Fros BX 125).

Weiss hod no knowledre that Doptor Schilling's prisoners wers
‘being innoculated with melaria (R 892, fio3). He never saw a malaria
experiment (R 892).

Welss did not know that at lenst 50 men were iillad by ons of
Doctor Raschar's sxperimentz (% f93). he had witnessed a gold-water ex=
periment when Himmlsr was presant (n 023). I

From 1 Septenbsr 1942 until tlovesber 1943 thare were executions
at Camp Bachau, purouant &o ordsrs of the Reich Tnahrver (R B60). These
wers transmitted to the Relch Security cf77cc (R B867), and thence to the
legal officer through the adjutant (R 860). These executions did not
involve prisonsrs in the Dachay camp, but peoplo who were brought in
by the police from other places (R 050). The Gestapo sent the prisonars
to Dachau for execution (R £869), but only on the arder of the Heich
Leader (3t 570). AS Canp Communder, Welss had no authority sver those
sxeoutions, and ordsrad no executions himself, These executions wera
affactad by hangings (R 858). The exscution papers passed over Welss!
dosk, or in his abhsence, Hedwits, bacause every execution, upon orders,
had to bo reperted to Berlin (R 868, 099). He never gutended a single
avacuticn (B Qﬁﬁ). Tha I.'tﬂliﬂﬂﬂ mmt hﬂ ng to do with the
axacutions (R 801).

\hila Welss was ab Dachau, doaths resulted from gensral
oicknsgses, such ns tuberculosis, inflamation of the lunps, pleurisy, heart
waalmens, typhold of the otemach, md body weakpessec Which patien.s
camn to Dashau sdbh fuga sther compeo {tr fi71). llany priscnars siho arrived
ware dead upsn arrival (R B71). Weiss Jod ploiures taken of ‘sueh B
transpert, and sant such plotures togsther with & complete report &

Wia superior sutherities (R'C71). la also made a report 1o Barlin dth

rafarence to priscners sant thers 1n such bad conditien that theyr

wmd phed only 90, %0, or 100 pounds, and requested that other canp cormanders

sond only such rrlsoners who could outlast a tvanaport (R 071), While |
Woles was thare, | or 10 trasports cme in, with from 4O to 1,000 misc-

ners with sne), transport, the majority of whom were dead (B 872).

Weiss had no control in the direction or management of the

oAy (B 972)s Une or two invalid trapsporss lefl Dachsa ln October, 1742
(R 872, 873). s 1 arned this throush & physician, but as Commanding
Officer he had rothine 4o do with them (R 877, 773). Mo other invalid
tranaporto 1aft Dachau frén Coboler 1942 te  ovenber 1943 during the :
valanca of His administration (R273). Thi. was because Welss hiellsvad

as ho had stated te Dorlin that they should not send transperts of 111
peaple if ther Lind to raceive 111 people apain (R 073). 0O ders cams fron
Berlin that Welss sy Commanding 0fficer harl to wi'ch over officlal florginns
Lecousa firregularitiss wars occurring, such asa prisonsr rocelving L5 I
bealings when he was supposed to recelive only 15 beatings (R 073).

Walss specifically denied that he ever went fo Aupsburg to attend
an oxseution (R 07U)s He alsc apecificmlly derded that he inaururated the
"gtanding bunker® as a form of punishment, there boing roWstanding bunker®
undar s administration (B O74). o disclained k-owladze of any expariments



. ’
i E.. T The ‘e wus 20t ovar-arowded whex
o 1a?t (R 77h). Ho dld not lmock the hesdsear off rewly arrived
prisonsrs (R B75). It was a regulation, however, thab srinaers ware
to mareh wlthout hendgear if accompanied by Hia block leadsy, or whan
within 15 paces of an officer vhen ceming frem work (R I75).

! The statement in‘rodused by the prosecution that he was ceemanding
officer of ail outcacps after ha lert Dachau was not eorrect (& &75).

yoom in the Lospital,

Tpisa did not iseus & spnoial order that nobodr was o tall about
anything that occurred in Dachau (X £75). I waver, a standins ordar
cams down that there was to be no talkins sbout the DT and other
arsasent worka (P 875). He lnows nothing of officers =id puards being
-mhdgnnmtthMMdmtmmabuﬂﬁnmtm
. .

Welsn adnitted that he did take part in the beating of 15 griso-
nera referred to in the scoused Lippmann's statement (R 676). He
explained that the beutings “om a punitive measure ordered by Zerlin and
exarcised within the li=mits of from 5§ to 25 hite (R 875). Bach priscnmer
was interrozated (R £76). Reguesi for persission to inflict punishuent

: Was sent to porlin, aml punlsluent was mcted oot afbor porwi clen bad
. ‘been granted (R 899, 876). In case of an attempted sscape by n priscner,
- 25 hits with a stick was administered imnediately, snd tha formal per-

miosion was requested (R 576). Sticks md not ox-tails wers used (R 500).
Welss attended beatings and counted the strokes (R 900).

As _.mmmw:ﬁmsmﬂm-d:
‘work details (R 876). Orders came froc Berlin that the torking hours
‘were to be at least 11 (R 877). As compander of Dachau, he could not
change the length of the working day (R 877).

; a Ly sition went to Borlin and Welss
_ 3 7o to Berlin to cbtain the




After Weiss l?i't Dachau, he had no ﬂ:iﬂ;: nmﬂmmuf- argy —
kind with its outcamps (R « Heisa explain presence one
of the Ksufering camps in 1 by atating that he Ead an order W
put up naw camps in Kaufering md was prasont only in connestion with
thas Yusiness (R B7?). Ha had gone inte the sanp with the camp Tanriny
and saw five Buncarian Jews exscutsd (R 879). He learned after the
execution that thess people ware hung for sabotage, and that the exe-
oution detail was sent from Dachau (R 57%). Welss had nothine whatsosver
to do vAth tie hanging, eithar ofricially or unofficially (R A20),

A Siphoid spldemlc louke it ab the camp whils Welsa was
sormander (R 081, B82), Weiss took the following stepss He restricted
the carp imondiately (R 082). Yo priscner was allowed to leave and no
new transports were received (R 802). Suspects and the diseased vern
isclated in a separate bloock (R 882). Iatrine guards were placed to
sas that ~:ch prisonsr washed his hands in a disinfectant solution after
using the latrine (K 60¢). Kacn Stool was washed with a disinfectant
solution after use (P 882). It was forbidden to drink water (’RBSE). _
All latrine holea ware hurriedly emptied (R 882). The e
:hwaifhtmu,IIdIthﬁld,wtm&mh?Wm _
infagted (k 832). There were 9,000 people in the camp st this time (R 882),
Innoculation serum was requisitioned, but unobtainable (R 883).

With refarence to the testimony of the prosscution that Welss .
JTalled to build afr reid bunkers, Weiss explained that Berlin refused him
tae material and statad that a conceantration camp had never been attacked

Eiat gg;. Whils Weiss was comsandmnt no attscks were made on the camp

Telss astated that Filleboeck was not =t Dachau when the 30
Russian prisoners of war wers executed on September 1944 (R 885). It was
ks opinion that it would have besn impossible for Filleboeck to take
part without the approval of his superior Wetzel (R £85),

Weiss was told in April 1945 by Cbersturmlemfushrer Weiter,
hle successor as commandant, of the plan of the Relch Defense Commisal oner,
Sauleiter Crefano of lunich, to dastrey upon of tha anery tha
Dachau caxmp by sevorsl squadrons of bombers (2 , B86), Witnesses
to this convorastion vare (berfushrer Eistsr and Oberstursbannfehrer h
Jarolin (R 886). Welasa told woiter that such a thing vas terrible, and .
called his attention %o the consequsnces which would arise (R 686)., Finally,
Tleizs received a consultation with Gensral Eiberstein, who, according
%o the ordors of the Deich Fuehrer, had to take ovor the concentration
canps in case of an emergency (R £86). Weiss called his attention
ta the coansequancss which wasld arlse fram soch a hembing, sand Ganarsl
Tiberstein promised to circumvent the destruction of the casp (R BB86).
The borbardment of the camp wss net carried out (R B826).

Wnile Welss was at Dachan he was not aware, nor did he partici-
pave in & common dnni;n or conspiracy to murder, beat, maltreat, or other-
*lsa parfom: indipnities upen smr of the priscners in Concontration Oaup:
Dachaw or $ts subsidiaries (n 847).

Daily meatinge of ths departmert heads were held abt Dachau,
exoept ®in the last daya® ‘hen reports were made to Welss hgiﬂa#m
leaders (R 687). Priacners came to Dachau mmurmmam
ain Offica with an marest roport (B 608), The prisuner first wms Lo
the Political Department for identification, and a record was made in
the work office to the detalls at which he would be assigned (R :
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I ih deniss that he knew 2,191; mamm died while
R/ 3] ‘Manty to ’b".*.i.rb:r disd from hangings while he
mﬂrkm shooting (R B93). Four or five priscners died
whils twying s esenpe (R FOL). e pemdd sotosay hewr many
ﬁmﬂ ‘body weakness (R 095). Thase that did dis from body
ndmm arrived there in vary bad condition (R 095). Wel.s could not
: 1: Hya prisoners died from intestinul cstharr or that 685 prisoners
m : wd.a vmila he was theve,or that 37L prisoners dlod fron
m& - {g& He estimated those dying from typlus as between
0

When Weiss was camsandant, the avera-e prissner peceived thrwee-
fourths of a liter of cof“es when colfon 2y sarvaed, and at least cne
Idtar of soup for the noen day meal (R 896). For supper he received
goup and 500 grams of tread (R 097). After the middle of 1843 the
prisoners wers working 11 hours & day (R (97), but at no time while
Welss was camp commandant did the prisoners vork longer than 11 hours
& day (R 97).

Suttrop ad Fedwl b= fold Welsp that a transport had come in
k whars the hodtes of prisonars Had boan estan t'_l'! 20, and there wexe nlgns

N of cannibalisn (% 898). Velss was not present when this transport
| arrived (7 850). He did seo these prisiners after they were lined up
An front of the buth house for ohsamtmﬂ (R 901).

. Ovto Peasne aid Helnrich Ez;ﬁﬂr]‘-er, Garman eatholic prieste and

@ former lLiseies at Dugkau (R gob, 517), explsined that conditions at

- ﬂn camp yndar Welss ware mich batter than under the commandant Plorkowsld
90k, 917, 9h0). Hefore ielss, thet had to work as laborsrs, but, after

f.d.u arrived thas wern fatallad on lighter work (R 90L, 917). Befare

ﬂhiug treo-hangings and beatines wers o matter of sourde anong the priso-

I ‘pere and priests (A 905). Alter liniss hocane commandant, both the beatinss

‘and tree-h stopped, slthough laber on some heatings were given, but

r m the priestc (1L 90%), Weiss, in tha prosonce of Father Rupierper,

ﬂl Indipriities to stop (R 718). ' '

~ Before Wodse, the block porsounel wonld nets oub the vest

ek Par the ali-htesh *m[;ﬂ'lhrﬂtv ;-gu'u; ‘tha srdsesinrey {.'E 905).
Ahe'marsine of the covars ovor Sha biznkats wore nob
bhe same position o the oonbditobar 20 requirnd, barbaric
i was alksinistered (R 906).  Such exaggerctad punisinents for
Aop defacts smrn dlscontimad when Gelts besame comandant (0 906)

< ﬂm:bm of tho ipvaldd blesh: resslivad ors fuod uﬁﬁwm.a. .
m& Wedss pont sick | 4o the heapit
igol &i 905, 1593), \Waiter suoon:
‘worse (Rt 5‘.}93- .l



At Tirst only Nerean PPISHTE Wor TONTImmG=mwmwe o
blocks 28 and 30 wer: occupied by prissts of other nationalitins (B 2085),
Lator, all priests were confined in hlock 26 (R 700, 909). Under Welss,
services ware permitted end dying pricsts received the last rites (R YiY).

1r somebody escaped Irom the detalls wmch worsed ontside, uhe |
entire camp was not punished as.before (R 920). Under Weiss, homwnver,
if sorme prisconer through s own fault sormdtted sn offense such as
stealing, the prisoners would hava 4o stand in formation until one of the
prisonars admittad thae thaft (R 521).

Hew intermeas used to bo Sevoraely heaten by the 5% man upon
arrival {ff 919). '™his practico was dipenntirmed when Woiss hecans
comandant (R 910). An Anerican nationsl was once beaten bncause of
this custem (R 711), He protested (R 911). Since protestations were
alnost unknown, Lt wag sxpectad tHat hn would be liquidated (R 911). iisisy
told hi= that he would not be beaten azain =0 long &8s his bahavior was dacen
and Weiss chastised and arrestsd the S5 man who had adninistered the
beating (R 911). !

under Weizs, and prisonsrs could talk to him his office arl on the _ i
strest (R 912, 40, 9LL). When a big & of Jews arrived in .
the camp, of perhaps from 2,000 to 3,000 people ineluding children, Welss
pernitted them to stay with their parents despita objections by others

(R 512). He was criticised for wrony sestimentality (B 91).

o

With refersnce to the malaria expsriments conducted by Doctor
8chilling, the latter and not Welss would plck ovubt su may people for the .
ts (R 91)i). The list wac seant to the lahor service, and the
labor service would hand ft to Weiss for approval (R 91L). It was possible
for elthes Welss or the labor service to object to any perticular priso-
ner, but regardless of whether or not the commandant or the labor
service wanted to take one man off the list, another one weuld have to .
be supplisd to take his place (R 91%)

Waise was selected as inspectar of the Amfaring Casps (I 015),
Ticds was in 294k and 19L5 (BS15), Weiss went to Dachau to selsct par=noally
the Jewish inmates to be sent to thois carps (R 915),

_ Paul Schliebs amd Johann Caigar, both Germans md forwer mise-
ners at Dachax durin: Weiss' administration, declared that prics Lo
the tize that Weiss becass comwandant & Dachan, conditions unre vory
bad (R 927, 928, 9hk). Tha squalization of food for all bleels was batter
under Wedss, and ha purmittad extra rations to tim sick md new privileges
bw specisl prisoners Liketaliking to other naticnalities and usin- the
85 bath house (R 927, 10u2).

2. Friedrich Wilhels Bupmert: The accused Ruppert took the stasd ,
and mads the 4w .orn statementy He was ‘0 yraro of ape, marrisd

and had one child (R 1145, 116). lo .as a member of the 85 ami first
came o Dachau in April 1933 (R 1145, 1157) He served in Dachau as an
55 man of the cuard troops (B 1146). le was thers unti) Ssptenter 18
1547, He returned to Dachau on August 6, 194l as First Schutzhaftlagar-
fushrer and was there until 20 April 2945 (R 11L6, 1147).

s dutles werv to datarmina and repsrt the wourats status
ummmmmmmummmmmmwu
that order and discipline was malntained in the camp (R 1147). It was®
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M-urdmufw exncution from Lo AR
t thosa orvders wers carried out (% 113L). 'inachnthd‘hhtt-
that duty (B 11%1). Abowt Auwust or 194 he
: : o0 Russians were erecnutsd (R 1147, 11LE). Tho %0
B -5 s oxmcuted bacauss of conducti g the 11lepal Corunist Party
-m m of war (R 1159). They w=re aiso pullty of sovere

Lo Mngﬁdlm mnd one was gsuilty of murder and a sex orire
bﬁﬁ.ﬁu} A% officer fron the Oestapo in lunich read the names of the
Pussians who wers to be exacuted to the canp comander (R 1147). This
of ficial interrogated the Russians, handed the results to the= Reich
Vatn Seourity OrfMea md sanductad the awsection (R 11L8). Buppert was
not. at Dachau when the Husaian prisonsrs of war wore l.nhmramd (7 1155).
The Russians were lad in proups of 30 to the crematory (R 1142), Huppert
did not bring them down to the crematory but members of the guard did
fR 11’ ). He denied that ho rushed or pushad them on the W=y or that he

wes in charce of tha exesution (R 1152, 1157). The Gestape officizl
and Buppert precedsd the first grous of Pussim s 4o tha brematery (B 11482).
!h.m;mrt was not sure of the doctor who was present (R 11L9)., ¥Fe attended

83 a \itness the exmcution of the two Rssimm wooen in Jamuary: 1945 who
wara axocuted in accordance with the orderd of the Neich Main Security
Offica, havins bian sent thera b ths Gestano (2 1140), Thote women
wore insoculated by Doctor Hintermayar (R 1149, 1150). In Pobruary
19h5 thren Polish and tiree fussian woriors wers sent to Dachan for
exacution by the statapolico of Munich, 4notier Gestapo official from
Munich conductad the exscution (R 1150). BHetween Au-ust 19kl and April
lﬂﬁtblﬂm_;' alr U0 oxeoutivns in Dachan besides the

90 Russians (% 1150). Thess prisonsrs had been sont to Dachau eithar
: m'll!qrnhnfmorwt}u day of thelw sxsciition (n 2250},

utions he was a witness (2 1150). The function of the
 exacations was to dotarmine tho deaths (R 150)s The
wmmﬁm an, partidularly the last ones, had
wmw@&ﬁag the trip (R 1151).

-\..b =t

Puppert explained that 1ls pre-irial stetament la widcn he
Mw i WJ%:;: e lﬂﬂ"ﬁlb‘!ﬁlﬂm [wesant
‘based on om assumptions (R 1151), Dup
LR .mwmwﬁt&m mtmmﬂmf“'l
M hﬂml:lugaj, lis eduitted
: 3 ‘hﬁﬂllﬂ'lf-‘ll‘ﬂ'ﬂ trgring to Lrlns stolan army
m He did not romember kickins & colonel
Mitmimn[lﬂSﬂ. He derded that

tk on & August 19bl in connection with a transport
__:,'ﬁﬂﬂitmmﬂisnat claared up in an

oy, al _ & to go to the crematory® (R 1153). le naver

. OaM FI11 A% any executions (X 1153).

'?iuéﬁmhsw was undey ordsrs and he could
® to obey (R 1153).

_ r executions at Allach at which timm twn
Mﬂmmﬂ-ﬂwwm prasent (2 1154).
- en in Septenber (R 1155), It
8en iuntnﬁwpwﬁg arrived (R 1154).
n thess paople to tho various hlacks through=
i not admit taking the Hunrarian Jews who

P
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arrived in October or lovenber and distributing tham tHFGUEHOTE
blocks (R 1157). luppert stated that he put that transport in ons
and that they remained there for one wmsk (R115T}. 'fhﬁaehlm
an average of 12 or 1L hunired men (R 1157). Muppert statoed |
oxecutions he attendsd at Allach wers pursuant to erders (R 1159
waa the case with mespact tin the avecutien at ?&u{w (’ 115;)_
tere the orders of the camp commander (R 1159).

Az for prisonars in Dachau vho wore executed, one lootod after
an air raid and one comtdtted sabotgge in the armament industry (Nt 'ﬂ
Ruppert did not know who determined whether these people ware puilty (R
He stated that the intorrecating afficer had the suthority te i~t-rrpdne
who was muilty (R 1180). ‘he interrogating officer wculd then hand the
report to the camp comander ihio tranurerred it to the Raich Security
office (R 1161),

3. Josef Jarclini The accused Jarolin, his rights having been
explalned Lo Lln, book the stand and mads Whe followding unsworn statamenty
He is L2 years old, married and has no children (R 1205). He was a
profesaional soldier snd had been one since 1923 (R 1205). He joined
the 85 in 1235 (R 1205), I, was a puard in Berlin for ona yoar and then
wag iransferved to the Saxenhausen Concentration Camp where he vas a

block leader and detail leader (R 1206), He came to Dachau on 1 Sentember
1930 and was there until 1 March 19L3 at vwhich time he went to Allach y

as Camp Leadsr (W 1206).

Jarolin stated that in his stateuent he mentioned thn execution
on the rifls range of 1500 or 1700 individuals and he admitted that he
stood in frent ef the firing squad and gave the ordsrs (R 1206). Bofore

camlng to Daghau he had tiice reguested that he be relsased (R 1206),
bacause e did not enjey deing duty in o concentration camp (R 1207).
fle ultimately became an Obersturnfushrer in the reservess of the 53 (R 1207).
fle applied for duty with 2 combat unit under each cap commander (R 1207).
Wiile at Allach he was in charge of the en tire canmp and was specifically
charged VWith the supervision of the punishments that were given the
prisoners (R 1207). At Dachau he was compelled to sive out the purishe
ments such as beatings (R 1207). Ho was Raport Leader in 1910,
Interropation Loader in 1941 and Third Schutshaftlagerfushrer in 1012
En 1207). In 1942 lloffman and Redwitz were the First Schutshaftlarcrfus

R 1206) The second positien remained epen untll Stwrmushrar Lippinednn
arrived (R 1208), ie had been compellod pursuan! to orders to nete
out, the beatings themselves (R 2200),

ine tying of privoness to the pole was discontimued at Dachau
at the end of 1941 ~n orders from Berlin (R 1205)., He recalled two
instances vhon he raseived orders tu ssnd prefessional criminals Lo _
Doctor Rascher for ‘air corps crpariments (R 1208), That was in 1941 (% 1209),
The statoment in hiu affidavit that these individuals were furnished in
April 1942 vwas not correct (R 1209). He received order: fiom .olss
bo carry out official beatinga on th» basis of punishment ordars (&t 1209).
fn adnitted that es Schutzlaftlagsrfushrer he Woc:asionally bheat prisaiars.
Yarn my hand and Idcked them with my festh (R 1209). He denied that,
b over imowingly boat a clergyman (R 1210). He denled that he had
ever beatvy Father Stvorik (R 1210). He denied that he ever beat a 60
Jear old Cgeeh Jew (R 1210),

fie sta®~d that tho crematorium was construoted in 19L1 end

15L2, that is the new crematorium (R 1211)., Harevor, the old crematorium
¥Wes in existence during his whole stay at Dachau (R 1211), Ha edvittad
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Dachau (R 1211), He stated that thess baatings were wdar his .

suparvision (R 1212). There was a prison doctor at Allach but no cther
ho

: axacution
(R 1211), &t the time gave the orders w th respst to the
of the 35&0—1?(30 prigsoners ha was Rapport Leader and Interrosaticn Loader
(R 1212) and Septambor 1943, ho was Third Schulchaftlager-

Py &, B Anpust :
fuahyer @'1212;{3’11: 1’?&5&2 he was uot present at any sxecutions (R 1212),
The 1700 prisoners had been exscuted in July, Aumst and September
15941 (2 1212). Jarolin claimed thet he had made an errer in his pro-
tris) statsmant as to thes date (R 1213).

He adwittad that he had beaten priscovers at the hath house upon
ardars of Commandant Plorkowsiy and that t'm mumber was atout 150, alnost
all of whor were professional crirdnala (R 1213).

. Franz Xaver Trenides The accused Trenkle electad to testdfy and
smnde tive Tolloerdiny unstarn atatamanti He was a widower and hﬂd_ four children,
He joinsd the S5 in 1932 and eaxe to Dachau in 1733 (R 121);). He was not
at Dachau on 1 Jamuary 1042, but first arrived after that dats in June
1943 (R 121}, 1215), He was thers nntil Hovember 1953 at which time he

had an accident axd went to the hospltal wherohs stayed until March
154k (R 1215). Ha was trensferred to Bergen-Belsen and returned to

pachay on O January 1945 (B 121%). (lowas zept o an vubolde doball
ot Luuingen (R 1215). At the Leginning of aprll 1945 he was sent to
mm?ltaidn datail in Vunich and he was thore untll the 29th of April

S denied that he beat the witness Bolf in 19LL (2 1215).
If there had bosn public beatin<s ke had not done them hinselfl as he
read the pumisheent orders (R 1216). He did not ramonbor the instance
related by Father Stvarik in which a man visited hin and was kicked by
him (R 1216). He stated that he merely took people to the crematorium
but navar took part in the execution (R 1218), He stated that Colonel
Eveton's claim thet he hit mlednsss in 15L3 snd 15LL wes impossible
becausa Se was in the hospital (R 1215), In his pre-trial affidavit
his statements with respect to shootings that took place in lunich
should have bos: mmplified $o explain that h» had received orders from
the Gestapo (R 1217). At that tizme there sxisted 3 law that people who
plurdered after sir attacks were to be shot immadintaly and that at
firet he had refused to obey the cral order until he was told that he
would be given a written order 1f necessary (R 1217).

Iis pre-trial statemsnt that the sxecutions wors directed by

Meiss or Sutfrop with Redwitz was incorrect (R 1217, Pros Bx 72). Since
that time he had thought about 14 =l now wes sure mbt 1% was two other
persons; (bersturmfushrer Jung and Untersturmfushrer Premen (2 1217,
1216). Trenkls admitted that he had read over his pre-trial affidavit
and had mode several corrections (R 1211, Pros Bx 92), lHe admitted

gthmm&mcmdhttmmupmmm own handwrd ting

. Santa Trenxle who was the dauphter of the accused, often sax
priscners at her hoee (R 1219). She never saw her father mistreat any !
of them and she did sce himpive then something to eat (R 1219, 1220).

.

-'E A odasmayars The mmﬁnd HMTF eﬂﬁhﬂ-id

ade the followin~ unsworn statements wag 3l years of
#Age, sarried md had two childyen (R 1253), lla joined the SS in 1933 and
‘came to Dachau on 2L May 193L. fa Mt Dachay oa 1 February 1543 mnd went
to the front (gm%i 1,25311;;;- that,he had no connection whatever with




Froa January 1942 to May 1942, he was employed in the ot
and from Eay 1942 to Fabruary 1943 he wagblock leader (R 1253). MWhile he
was &t the crematorium, Bongartz was in charge (R 125L), He stated that
he was not smployed in the radio room or signal offices at any tdme
(é'?tzﬁh'). lla claimed that he was never the chief of ths crematorium and

during his service &t the Crematorium there Werc Never any cic—
cutims there or in the yard of the crematorium (R 125.). He admitted
thet he "slapped priscners in the face every now 3ad then® (R 125L).
He ceased beating prisoners after 1 Januar; 1942 (2 1259). He denied
that he evar took part in any exscutieons (R 1255). He admitted that
he had brought Russians to the rifle range in lovember, 15L1, but was
not prasent at the sxscution itself (R 1250).

|
d

Whils at the crematorium, liedeymeyor's duties consisted

in helping to burn the bodiss (R 1256). Four 5SS men and four prisoners
worked there (R 1255), They worked partly days and partly nights (R 1256).
Tha four priscers wers Jews and they were the same four during his esntire
stay at the crematorium (R 1257). liedermeyer did not know that the

detail was changed every eight weeks (R 1257). Hy dended that while
working in the crematorium he administered beatings (R 1259). He admitted
that in his pre-trial statement he had said that, as block lsader, while

in charga of buildinz a garage in 1939 and 1940, he had struck prisocners
aud that 29 & block lesder b had boen wrdered to participate in effisial .
flogrings. s pre-trial statemsnt had been executed bafors he hsd seen
the charges in the instmt case (R 1259, Pros Ex 101).

6. Josaf Ssussp The accused, Bsuss, elected to testify and made
the follawing unsworn statemont: He was married and had five children
(R 1161), Ye entered the Allgessine SS in 1932 and went to Dachau in
April 1933 (R 1161). He left Dachau Decesber 1, 1542 (R 1181). During
the time he was at Dachau he was the Rapportfushrer md before that, that
i(.-a unzei.';. Aupust 1942, he was the detail lsader in the Detail Radolfssell
R 1162).

Seuss stated that ha nover imew !ahl until they both became
priscners together (R 1162), In his pre-trial affidavit, the statement
that li{edermayer was present at the execution of 35 Russian priscners
of war was mersly an assumption on his part (R 1162, Pros Ex 116).
Furthermore, he hud errcnecusly placed the incident in 1612, whereass it .
actually cccurred in the Tall of 1542 (R 11563). He explained that he
was on a detail at the dungson from 193% umtdl May 1, 1541 (R 1163). iis
atatemant in that affdavit concerning an invalid transport which laft
in 1942 on which he was a member to the offect that Wagnsr was also a
guard was not based on his own Jmowledge (R 1163, Pros Ex 116). Seuss
adnitted that he had read over his pre-trial statament, buk that ha was
excited at the time (R 1165, Pros Bx, 116). He stated thst his statement
to Lieutenant Lawrence that the 35 Russian prisconers of war were executed
in August 1542 was not true and that he mersly belisved liedermoyer was
presant, but was not sure (R 1165, Fros ex 116). Nisdermeysr possibly
was in charge of the cremstorium in August 1542 (R 1165), It was an order
that soms of ths Blook Puskress and Rapporifushrers had to teke part
in the shootings (R 1166).

7T« Leonhard Ansslm Eichberger: The accused Eichberger elacted to
testify and made the following unsworn statement: He was born in 1915,
was married and had one child (R 1035, 1036). He joined the SS on 1 April
1235 and sarved in the regular army frcm 3 lovesber 1937 until 17 June 1042
whan he was relsased (R 1036). He was then drafied into the SS (R 1036).
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B. Wilhels Wazmer: — THF WESURETWHEE r o
made an unsworn mﬁﬁ. Ho 1s 41 years old (R 10568). THe had been
an electrical mechanic (# 1087). He joimed the 53 in 1933 and arrived
in Dachau in 18 September 1533 (R 1067). e laft Unohau August 1938
returpad 30 Bovember 1935 and left a sacond time in Jam 1544 |
Tn 1 1644, he want to Allach and was there until August 1044 (R
1074). He was at Eaufbeuren from Audgust to October, 1544 1067, 1074).
From January 1, 1542, on bs worked in Dachau as head of the laundry (R 1088).
In August 1943 upon his own rejuest hs was transferred to Section Number
3, hore he received in Uotober 1943, a detai] which went te Gor-dng
oach day (R 1088). From 3 January 1944 on he remained with the detail
in Garsaring (R 1088).

At the laundry it was his duty to see that the priscoer's clothes
wre brought to the cleaning room in time (2 1068). The laundry was for
the prisoners and the 53 troops (R 1068). Wagner admitted that it was
pogaible that he had kicked two _cung Hussians in 1942 (R 1069). Be-
pauss of the laud seizs at the laundry, Wagmer had to give orders in &
loud voles (B 1069). This lsd him to great severity, and the impression
might have been ¢ reated that he was brutal (K 1069). He admitted
slapping & worker named Dolohkowki who slipped on the smooth floor
in the lsundry and fell (X 1070).

He mewer refused s prisonsr anmy wish which hs could possibly Yy
fulfiil (4 1088). As & matter of fact, he gave the prisoners en mdditional g9
plece of soap which oven the 38 could not get (R 1065). He admitted
that it was possible that he had beaten the witness Hallow outsido the

lsundry (R 1068).

Wagnor denled ever taking Bussiana to tha shooting grounds
(R 1070). It was not his duty becsuse he belonged to the administra-
tion and not the Sohutahaftlegerfuehrer (£ 1070). Wagner always ob-
tained additional provisions for the prisoners as Kaufbeuren as well
&s at landsbsrg and Sarmering (5 1070).

In Germsring where prisoners wera building « cartain construction,
Tagner sew to it that they received an additiocnal liter of soup st noos
snd in cold weather, an sdditiomal liter of tea (R 1070, 1071). Es
obtained milk for the prisoners at Kaufbeuren and landaberg snd cheose
for those priscpers who had worked diligently end who had the nacessary
premium coupons (R 1071). In Germering particularly the primoners did
not have Lo guffer from husnger (B 1071).

Wagner sxplained that his pre~trial written statement was in- A
sorrect in that he was at Allach from arch 1844 to Mawenmber 1644 and notli4S
(R 1071, 1074). It was in the summer of 1544 that he sew two prisoners
hanged at Allach mot in the summer of 1543 (R 1071). At that time it [
wos “agner's duty teo gather the prisomers in the camp on the formation
grounds (R 1072). He did this on orders from Jarolin (R 1072). The
sxecution detall on the two prisonsrs who were to be executed came from
Dachau (R 1072). Durinz the execution he roped off about 10 meters
bohind the gallows with several guards (¥ 1072). TWagoer had to stand
in front of the priseners, that is the assesbled prigoners, and about
10 mobters swu: from the guards (4 1072). Ho could nokt otste that ths
roason that he was standing thers was to keep the other prisoners
wway from the gallows (* 1073).

Anna Earhart worked as a hosvess in & canteen from the latter
part of 1943 to the earl: part of 1544 (¥ 1074, 1076). 6he had had
conversations with reapect %o food far the prisonors ﬂﬁb‘wmk
he was Detail Leader of the work Camp at Germering (R 1076). She and
her employees cocked food for those prizomers on his detail (& 1076).
Every hard laborer received extra rations (5 1078). For breakfast
received bread, coffee or tea with milk; for dinper, soup, meat
vegetables and twice a weok baked cake; and for supper, soup, saul
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or margarine and perhaps s piece of bread (2 1078}, Furthermore,

in the winter, they alsc received an sdditicnal bit of tea (2 1075).
Har employees were 35 to 50 forelgners (% 1078). XKiss Barkart was

s eivilisn (R 1077), Yhe oantesn was operated by the Dornier World

(R 1077). The prisomers received a ration of 300 to 360 grams of
brend por deay (@ 107T). If the, performed beawvy work, they received
an additional 200 to 250 grama ‘(H 1078). In the morning they received
about 3/4 of one liter of coffer (R 1078). At dinner they rsceived
about 3/4 of cne liter of amoup (R 1078). They received 70 to 80

gramg of meat (R 1078). That included the heavy labor additien (R 1078).
They received 3/4 of ons liter of vegstables'(R 1078). At supper they
roceived 3/4 of ome liter of soup, T0 to 680 grams of swUsage, and
approxizately the seme amcunt of =margerine (& 1078). The canteen fed
betwesn three and four thousand peoples (X 1078). All wers priscners
of Dachau (# 1079).

Mra. Anna Viagner, wife, since divoroed, of Wilhelm Wagner,
stated her husbend wan oo furlough from &7 dugust 1548 Lo Ootober

1942 (R 1658).

8. Jobann Eick: The accused, Johamn Eick, elscted to testify
and made ollowing unsworn statement: BEe was married, had one
ohild and/3% vearm of sge (R 1065). He had been a police official

. since 1321 (R 2065)., ¥rom 1821 to 1820, ho hed been in the State

. Polioe; from 1925 to 1633, a traffic policesan in Hunich; from 1833
to 1945, o official Gestapo Agent in Munmich (£ 1085, 1099, 1112).
He oame to Hachau in ¥a, 1537 and rommined there until August T9d4
(R 1085, 1086). From Mey 1537 until! Yarch 1938, he was an investigator
in the Political Uspartment and at that tise was appointed chief of
the departaent (R 1088). He returned to Yachausmgain on U Jenuary
1945 and remained thers until 28 Agril 1945 (R 1085). While at Dachau,
he was undsr the (mmsdiate lnm-ﬂm of the camp cossandant (# 1088),
Then he returned to the carn the sscond time in 1945, he was not the
chief of ths Political Uepartment, but had the duty of registering
the priscners (< 1086).

As chief st the Political Departmant he did not recelve direct
orders from the Jtate Police at Hunich, but from the camp ¢ osmander
(B 1088, 1087). Ine stats police would make its reguest to the cxmp
commander who fn turn would order Kick to execute ths request (% 1087).
. 5o far as the state police office in lumich #as conceroed, dfsciplinary
and economic cases.were to bo nandled on ordsrs Irus the State Polioce
in Munich (R 1087). If Kick had violsted any such srders, he would
i have been punished by that office (H 1087). The chisf of the State
' Police did not give crders to the ommp commander but only made re-
quests sincs they both had ths ssms rank (3 1087).

As polltioal leadsr at fachau, Fick was =esponsible ror the
regintration of prisomers, maintenance of [iles, correspondence about
prisoners with obther autborities and their familisa, and for the
relosss of prisoners (# 1086). Ls hed nothing to do with the billet,

supplies, or peneral trestment of the priscners (H 1068).

Kick knew that oxecutions cocurred at Dacheu and that they had
baon ordered by ths Aeich =ain Security Uffice of the 3% Heich lLamder
himself (K 1088). Hont of the time the prisoners arrived with the

' exvoution ordor (i 1088), or the order arrived shortly before the
‘prisoner did (X 1088). These prisontrs were exeoutsd at the concen-
! traticn camp because of the order of the Yeioh Main Office or the
' Redch leader (¥ 1069). FKick prepared thw execution crder form fer
the gomsandant's signature (R 1069). Ths form gons!sted of an srder
‘to the Schutshaftlagerfushrer to perform the exeoution (R 1089).
After the exeoution, the form was returned to Flok us a roport that
the execution had scourred (4 1050). 3 in turn notified the Hetob




Muin Security Office or decartsent which had sent the prisoner there . |
R 1089). Thirty or forty ardsra of executicon passed over his desk
betwoen Jenuary 1942 and Avgust 1584 (R 1096). He admitted that a |
request for an exscution cmce =ade b5, the investization officer would

be tranmmitted to the camp commnder who would approve that request |
(R 088, 087T). Wiok adwitted that every srscution request that was

initiated by Dschau was countersizeed by him (E 1112). Eick adeitted
that thess sxocutions were not sentences of & court but administrative
determinations of the highest police agemcy of the Helch (B 1112).
Eick denind thet the camp commandar Welss would initial such requests
with a "W" (2 1007).

all his sctivition as politicsl chief, he waz mever present

at an execution (2 1090). Doctor Wittsler's statement that Kickwas at an
exscution must have besz = mistake. (R1090) Eick mever requested an
exseution (R 1090). In every case he tried to ohange the positiom of the
camn commendsr who agreed in two or three instances (R 1081). But if
the rofqumat was refussd, Tiek hed me swtharits ta shangs the request
himeslf (¥ 1081). Kick could mot prevent the exscutiocn of the Heich
Security Office orders (R 1052). There were no cowrt sentences but

these watters came through adsinistration chanmels (R 1082). Kick said,
"] had to assuse that they (ths orders) were correct, because they cams
frem the highest police suthority of the Reich, whichas far as I knew
was grastsd certain snthesity by the pevermment itzalf snd thase ardars .
were handed down beceuse of such grave offenses, as it was stated that
according to the laws of war they were punishable by the Mhr-lﬁ'
(% 1095). Kick never handlsd thoss matters under Weiss (% 1083). Be
stated that the regulation with respect to executions was changed snd that
his statement which he had previcasly =mde in his pretrial affidevit was
incorrect bacauss since he had written that, "Fe hed more £ims to think
about it" (& 1086). He alsc admitted that he had talked it over with
Weiss and Suttron sinee tho time he msde the statamsat (% 1098).

The exscution decrses of the Heish Main Security (ffice wers meade

on the basis of the request of the DJestupo branches and the concantratiom
camn (% 1101). The order of cmscutlion used in ths camp sml, startsd in
Februar: 1344 and Weiss was nect camp comrmnder any longer (1 1101). The
exscution decrve. of the Feich lain Security Office was directly tramsfarred
to the Schutshaftlagsrfushrer (R 1102). This particulsr form was designsd
by Kick after he had been given that job by Weiter (B 1102). Kick ed-
mitted that a procedurs 4id exist whereby the imvestigsting officer .
would reguget bhe camp conmmmudsrs o haws an emsewktlen perforsed, that

the commmnder approved that be initialling it (2 1103), However, Welse
did not do that and his statement was incorrect in that he had not
remembered all the dates (R 1102). Fick admitted that If be beliaved

a request was improper he eqiuld try to (aflusnoe the camp comsander by
talking to adm (% 1104), and he admitted that he did {nfluence the

camp. commands r £o changs his deslslion a mumber of ¥#imcs (¥ 1206). He
demied that he could have sent & protest to the Gestapo in Munich if
the commandsr had dissgreed with him with respact to ane zsoution

(& 1106, 1108). Howewer, Yick admitted making & contrary statement

in his writtsn pretrial statement (2 1104).

Kick comdusted the Loterrogations of fthe priscoers withouk
exarting an, force and thelir statessnte were sent without alteration
to the reduesting agency (R 1088).

The assertion that prisoners that Kick had inmterrogated had
thelir fingernails and toenails pulled sut caused Kick to remark,
- whe knows me st nll bae to laugh about this sccusation” (R 1093).
Eick categorically denied that he ever beat any persom, sspecially at
Uashau (B 1094). gpchi-dththnhndmr inflicted any punish-
ment during an interrogation and that all such imterrogations were dons
in the office of the Political Uspartment which was outsids of the cemp

—-fC - a




ogetion reports were sent to the requesting suthority
94). Kiok mdnftted that 1t was possible that
'wmm were kept apart As 1t was the custom
ots when there ia more than ons person
lﬂi’s}e  denled that he had ever seal anybody

’ mr’ nﬂ no A malter of fact while Le was ohief of
tical Dej ho never knew thet it existed (R 1006). vuring
IIH, ‘hs had interrogated many Ruseians (K 1099). He did not

iow of & commission which had been sent to Dachau to I'ind out how many
hl'wm dded (R 1098).

With rospevt to the luvalld treasport list, Hick merely aub-
dividad the list that had alresdy besn prepared by the physicians
(R 1081). He did not seleot them (K 1054). Hs denied that he had been
& mamber of a commigaiou which solected prigonsrs for invalid bransports
(R 1096). The pecpls on these transports did not a1l actunlly go out
becauss soms died in the memantime, some ware relseased, aud in some
canos, permleplon was grented to crves bthe powes of some indiv.iduhla

off the 1ist (B 1091). Kiok hed no authority to orces off anyone's
name (R 1062).

He mdmitted that in 18435 hs had been handad a list of 1000
names by Piorkowsky of peo 1a who were sick and who would be brought
tu mn lovalld hooe (R 1104 e pimted thal be ouly learsed late:
that they wers actually g-uad (% 1107). He denled stating to ldeutenant
Guth that ?1urkuﬂk1.- had teld Him that this list of slck peopls were to
be gassed (¥ 1109), He sdmitted that Piorkowsky had told him to selsct
100 to 120 names from the roster of 1000 so that thsse people would be
put on & shipment in the near Puturs (® 1109). ¥ick admitted that as
those people liad beon shipped out thslr papers indloated that they had
died in Dachau (R 1110). FEKilok stated that he ressived ancther list
from Camp Commander Welss with six or seven hundred names and that he
received that 1ist in 1942, although his statement to Lieutemant Uuth was
that he had recefved it in 194% (R 1110). He denied that Weiss ex-
plained to him that thess invalids would be brought to & camp or another
lpstallatlion tv Lo gapse=d (2 1110). Elok sdmltied thet he had pade s
statement to Lisutenant Guth that he had sucosedsd In saving scme men
of the six or seven hundred by telling Piorkowsky and Weiss that these
men were not satisfuctory (K 1111). Kick admitted that in feot he had
eaved some men (B 1112). FKick explained that his statemsnt of & November

was incorrect in that he had made certain errors with respeoct to the
dates (B 1110). Us ;onlized gow that the reyusst for sxscublons

oould only have been made in 1944 and furthermors that on the basis of
the death lists that second transports must have ccourred at or before
Ostober 1542 (R 1115).

Xiok knew nothing of & tranaport in Cetober 1943 (R 1116), Hs
Enld ThAt Nls BTALEMEDT WITh Iéspsct TO Heawiti Deing AT Uachau under
Piorkowsky is not correct (R 1116), le admitted that he had etated in
his written statement that if the commandant had not liscened to his
protests he would then protest to the Gestapo but that sucha protest
would have been useless (R 1116).

Blck was srrested on May 6, 1945 apnd was et Uaghau until 16
May (% 1116). During that time he waa beaton all during the day and
night and had to stand st sttention for hours, had to kneel down on
round or squars objects, had to stand under & lamp and look into it
for hours (R 1118). He was beaten with whips, rifle butts, plstol
butts, hands and fists (R 1120). Thus when Lisutenant Guth called
hm in bhe fearsd that il he refused to sign the statement he would be
subjected to similar treatment (B 1120). Xick admitted that Guth did
not boat or threaten him in any way at any time (X 1120). Kiok stated
that he had told Lisutenant Guth that the testimony did not sgree with
his own testimony (¥ 1121)., A pretrial statement executed by Kiok




in his own handwriting which had been sworn to before Captain 4l1fred
L. Gaut, Iovestigator-Examiner, WCIT 6828, on 3 Hovember 1945 was
admitted into evidemce (R1114 Def Ex 17). It reads in tramaslation
in pertinent part as follows:

“H}r nams 1o Jehann GbcrE HICK, bera 24 November 1001 in Waldaw.
Thin statemsnt is in addition to two statements which I made earlier.
I wish to clarify my position which I held in the C“oncentration Camp
Daghau. As chief of the political department of the Camp I was in
charge of the safekeeping of the records of the prisonsrs, with the
exception of the records of a few prominent prisonsrs which were kept
by & represonbablve of bthe Command Post, 53 Unboraturmfushror (2nd Lt)
S8TIELER. I madse a record of the personnel whichwas working for me
batween 1 January 1042 until August 1544 on another piece of paper,

" which was signed and marked exhibit & by me personally.

"T'nere were 3 different classes of prisoners in Dachau: 1) pensl
eompanios, 2) regular priscnors, Ly prominent prissners {se-sallsd
Sonderhaftlinge).

"About the end of 1542 the penal company was dissolved. 1 do not
remember the exact date on whioh that happensd., The priscners in'ths
pensl company were 1) political prisoners who had been arrested for
the socond time end £) prisoncrs who had beseoms liable %o puniohmant
in the cmmp. !

"At the same times there existed different camp punishmests, for
instance 5-26 licks with stick, withholding of supplementary rations for
1 to 3 weeks, standinog as punishment for sbout 2 or 8 hours, and pro-
Bibition From weltlog, Sluse about 1541 punltive beatings were per-
mitted only with the approval of the Gruppenfushrer (Brig.Gen.)

GLUCK or his representstive Obersturmbannfushrer (Lt.Col.) LIEEEHENSCHEL
later HUESS, later WEISS and wers performed only after investigetion

by the oamp doctor. Ths order which was signed by the above men-
tioned persons finelly had a note about the execution added and was
inoorporated in the files of the prisuvser scooeroseds I du uob wank

to imply that no corporal punishment took place without the approval

of the above mentionsd persons, although I am not familiar with any
such ca#e.

recelved apd kept. "hen m person was arrsated by bhe Sestapo aud

was to be sent to thes Concentration Camp, he stayed in the police
prison, until the imvestigation of his violation had been completed,
With every prisoner, a file was brought in containing the order
confining him in protective custody or, in case of criminal prisoners,
the Verbsugungshaftanordnung (ordsr for imprisomment to prevent

further crimes), and an eXtract of the crimimnnl invesblgablon ss well
as a form which was divided into 3 parts eech of which weuld be uged

as certificate of transfer for the Hoichsicherheitshauptamt (Heichs-
Ehief-Security-0Office) and for the state police office that did the
turning over. To this file we attached a sheet containing personal
information smbout the prisonar. Thase personal records were received
by priscners specially detailed for that job under the pupervislon

of 85 Hauptscharfushrer (lst Sgt.) THULKE or of Rottenfushrer (Corporal)
SCHMIDT. g’

"I should like to clarify how the records of the prisoners were ’

"ie kept three different files for the priscners. One was in
ny office as I have mentionsd before, the sscond in tha labor distribu-
tion office (Arbeitseinsats) &nd the third wes kept Dy The prisoners
themselves, so that we could find out in whioch blook the prisoner
was billeted snd on which labor detail he was working. The last two
files oontained only the name, mmber, birthdate and profession of
the prisonmer. '
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KICK, Jehamn Chief of the Department ) Members

HUTZIER Adam Criminal Secretary, Intsrrogation) of the
ERNST Wally Clerk Gestapo
GEIGENSCHEDER Nldolaus Hauptscharfushrer lat Sgt. Hecord's Office
HAPP Hauptsoharfushrer Lot Sgt.  Secord's Office
BEY Unlersvharfushrer Sgb. Revord's Office
URFEIS Klaus Interscharfushrar Sgt. Offioe
PHEISS Unterscharfuehrer Sgt. Office
BLUM Oberscharfuehrer T-Sgt. (ffioce
THULKE Hauptscharfushrer lst Sgt. Heoception Office
SOHMIDT Rottanfuehrer Corporal Reception Offioe
RAFPPL Earl Unterscharfushror dgb. lsuord's: Ufflice

The above 10 men were members of the C ommand Grnmph 5
(Daf Bx Wo. 17)

Max Kronfeldner, who was in Dachau from Cotober 1637 to June
1945 kmew the accused Kick who was & politionl offioer (E 1083, 1084).
Eronfeldnsr had been operated upon and requested Kick to have him re-
:(l.“.uad %H 1084). Because of Kick's motions hs was relemsed i{n 1942
K 1084).

Johann Kick was believed to be & 100 per cent Nazi, but "in
rormal Things, he was nov brutel to the priscners’ (R 936). Wnenever
the special prisoners had vinitors, they met them in Kick's room and
were permitted to stay about one hour and bring packages (R 1003, 1004).

fiick stated that his pretrial statemsnt had been dictated by
the interrogating officer, ldsutenant Guth (R 1117). He did admit that
he signed and swore to those stetemente as being the truth (B 1117).

10. Ugotor Fritz Hintermayers The ascoussd, Uootor Hinter-
mayer olected To testily mnd made the following unsworn statement:
He was 34 years old, married snd had four ohildren (R 1824). He
joined the 55 in 10980, and was with a combat unit until 1044 (R 1824).
He rocelved a concussion of tho brain on the Hussian Tront, was
afflioted with St. Vitus Danoce, and has suffered recurring attacks,
bhaving had one durlog the trial (R 1824, 1625, 1626, 1667). He had
been beaten after mpprehension by the American suthorities (R 1627,
%558). )Ha hap difficulties in thinking and constant headachas
R 1827).

Uootor Hintermaver ia mot m registersd dootor because he did
not finish his thesis (K 1627). He cmme to Dachsu in ¥arch 1944 under
Doctor Witteler (K 1628). He was troop doctor several weeks and then
beoame second dootor to Witteler (R 1628). Ho aucceedsd him as head
dootor in October 1944 (R 1629), When he arrived, the population cf
Dachau Bnd its by camps was 32,000 (R 1628). This increased so that
%n Aprii. 1846 there were 66,000 prisoners in Pachau and out-camps

R 1629).

Dootor Hintermayer did not believe he was qualified as a
doctor (R 1628). He reported this to his commander but there was
no substituts for him and he had to stay on (R 16%0). The camp
phyaician was responsible for sanitation, and supervision over the
doctors in the by camp (R 1830).

When he Pirst came, hygienio conditions at Dachau were im-
poasible and he complained to the commandant (R 1630, 1657). lNew
transports were arriving continuously (R 1651). Most new arrivals
were sick and many wers dead (R 1552{. The was overorowded and
on his complaint, he was told that Berlin had ordered the over-
orowding ( ;1“15. A typhoid epidemic broke out in November 1544
and lastad to December (R 1631 - 1632). He fought the epidemic by
quarantine, by disinfection and by immunization (R1832). The delousing




station was insufficient (R 1631). Typhold Killeg only Very ITew (& 109y
In December 1544 a typhus epidemic started (H 1633, 1645). All the in-
mates and S5 men had been vaccinsted in the fall of 1944 (R 1846). The
vaoolne had a narmful effect because imnoculation in the Inoubation
period increased the severity of the disease (R 1647). There were
20,000 to 30,000 cases of wilch 108 dled (R 1633). In January the
death rate was about 40 per day and about 4 5§ men died in ThAT month

(R 1844). The greatest numbsr of cases st ons time was approximately
1200 (R 1655). At first 3 slept in two beds, but later only ome
infectious patient slept in each bed (R 1656). The typhus had been
brought to the ocamp by new inmates on the transports {E 1633). Thare
was insufficient medicine and equipment and Doctor Hintermayer constantly
demanded drugs but did not get any (M 1684, 1638). The medical dumps aT.
Munioh and Dachau and at the 35 hospital were not avallable since use

of thess sources had been strictly prohibited (R 1634, 1645). Hintermayer
inoressed the nursery and disinfection personmel (R 1634). There were
about 120 deaths per day (R 1635). There was insufficient hospital
space and Hintermayer converted three to four barracks to alleviate the
situation (R 1635). He proposed the srection of a sick camp, but this
was rejectad because materials could not be obtained (R 1637, 1656).
A delousing station was brought to Dachau in January 1945 and was in
operation in January 1945 (R 1649). Hintermaysr denied that it was
under his zupervision (R 1648), although he signed requisitions for
nanagnary supplies (R 1851). The epidemic was stlll raging when the
Americans came (R 1835). Dr, Hintermayer denied that Dr. Hlaha had

suggested that the camp be quarantined and denied that he told Dr.
Blaha that to do so would be to sabotage the war effort (R 1643).

In April 1945, there were BB0 tuberculcsis patients (1 1637).
Houring conditions for themwere poor and mo additional space was
available (R 1637, 1838).

In Janusry 1945, the Reich Security Office ordered the execu-
tion of two pregnant fugeian women and Conmandant Weiter ordered
Hintermayer to kill them by injeotions which he did with evipanatrium
in the sem(R 1840). Tha affect wan they went to sleep in mbout ten
minutes without any pain, but the injection did not kill the women,
for he saw them later lying in the crematory with shots in their heads
(R 1639). He did not shoot them (R 1640) .

Doctor Hintermayer was not present at the exsoution of the
g0 Huspions in Baptambar 1844 butk a Toctor Sohmidt was {R lﬁ*ﬂ}-
In April 1845 Dootor Hintermayer transferred patients in the
peyohiatric ward to Allach (R 1841), fe did not kill these persons
or any other by injection (R 1641, 1642). He attended ten executions
as & physician only to take care of the inquest (R 1842).

In March 1045, hygienis supsrvision pamsad to a hyzienie
laboratory undsr the contrel of a Dr. Tieber (R 1680).

11. Dootor Wilhelm Witteler: The scoused, Doctor Witteler,
sledted to testify and made the following unsworn statement: Hs was

36 years old, married, and had two children. He joined the Waffen 33
in 1956 (R 1206). Ho served at the S5 hespital in Dachau in 1838 (R 1297).

He was transferred to a combat unit and served on the fromts wntil 1
Junuary 1944 when he came to Pachau as head physician (R 1289). Tie
held that position until 20 hugust 1944 (R 1289, 1304).

Usotor Wittsler was in charge of medical care, nygienic
conditions, food and disease prevention of tha priscners of Dachau
and its suboamps. He had 26 prison dootors and 200 male nurses and
assigtants (R 1250). BHe restrioted the use of prison doctors solely to
medical work (R 1290). There were 28,000 prisoners in Dachau and the
20 out-camps (R 1290, 1295). Later he estimated that thare were




81,000 to 34,000 prisonsrs (7 1307). There wera sufflcient latrines
at U for 16,000 ipmates, but there were 16,000 prisonsrs (R 1291, 1307).
imr. ﬂ:s water did not run beceuss of Imck of pressure (R 1291, 1808).
THI.I.I tlllrc wes & denzsr of epidemies (& 1281). Witteler told the
At (K 1281), A new installstion was set up which incressed

s pressure mad switeved tne aiffigulty (K 12¥l). WVittelar inoreaged
the disinfeotion detall from 15 to 40 priseners whose duty it waa to
alisck the hyglenic conditicns in the osmp (R 1291). There were no
aptﬂum.lu whila he was there (8 1291, 1292). There were 800 in a

block and 400 teds and 10 to 12 latrioe stools (R 1310). Witteler
protested about this condition (2 1510). The cemp was overcrowdad

(# 1311). = srranged To connsot Ghe hoSpitEl DArracks by peesAge-
ways and to install shownrs in the hoepital (R 1293). He cpened up

En eye clinle, installed heat and running water in the message station
and hrﬁt water in the oporation room (R 1283). UThore were 1500 to 1700
prisoper patisnts in the nuupit.l..l. and 60 to B0 deaths in the osmp
monthl, (H 15158, 1292, 1283). This number is exolusive of those who
died on Transports end from eir raids (i 1516). The deaths were uaused
by pneunonie, tuberoulosis, old mge and internal diseases (R 1313).
Each putlent had his own bed (R 1286). There were about 450 tubercular
cases (£ 1512), Many prisoners sulfersd from melnutrition, perticularly
now iomates, but the first capen of death dus to starvation noourrad
oY, Allach in the summer of 1544 (R 1513). There were 6 blocke in the
Dugheu hospital wnioh he visited cnce a week (# 15156). During hias tenure
et Unoheu five or siz transports arrived (R 1204). Those came in June
and July 1044, Oms wes s Frengh transvort whioch had 488 dead out of
2,000 prisonere (A 1204). The 49€ died of suffcomtion (R 1296). He
informed the commandant of this fact (B 1295). The conditions inthe
hospital were not orowded (X 1296). Witteler visited the outside canmps
avery tWo woeks.

Poetior Witteler had never worked withDootor Schilling (R 1300).
The maleria station was in cperstion when Witteler mrrived at Dachau
(R 1506). iis denied that he was informed that requests for inmates for
Ahe malaris experiments wore spproved (A 1305). He had nothing to do
With ths sxperiments (& 13086).

Joptor Wittoler dened that skin which had been taken from the
prisonsrs was used to make handbags (R 1511, 1312, 1324). Dootor
i’i’ﬁ’bﬂnr signed all death certificatse which stated the onuses ur death
.mﬁ.ﬁlﬂ ‘e donied that any deeths occurred nt the ital as
TEEUIT of pyramidon (K 1320). There were 12 insane paople in t:hu
huyi'hl IE mn.  boptor Witteler olsimsd they were mot killed and
thers when he left (X 1321).

Dootor Pitteler had o skull on his desk (R 1312). He obtatned
1% from the athological department in Dachau (B1323). Doctor Wittaler
sdmitted pil‘%iﬂl Wing in two exsgutions, in that hs had been ordered
by the oomme o state whother demth had ensued (R 1327).

r Wittsler was brought buck te Dmchau for this trial on 4
(,Ji" 1266). At that tims, he was taken to ldeutenant Guth

m R 1267). Dootor Witteler was dsprived of anvthing
_and wha intorrogated by Lisutenant Suth until 1:30

Z#t .

norming Jiiﬂ. During his interrogation, lisutenunt Guth turned
qhh, pnad nt him, would not lst him talk, omlled him a

mbn# n'.tnlml. ry murderer, and would not let him answer an

bﬂmm- (B 1268) . Ho was made to stand up and
hours. Doot u&rﬂith at first refused Lo sign the st

it was not written in frost of him (R 1289). Lievtenant
that he woul ﬁmuhthnmutﬁﬂﬂaw & by and spit &t him’
1 ant Guth dictated the statement (R 1500). Bsfore the i
he had been & patient in the hospital (R 1301, 1302).
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12. Johann Eichelsdorfer.

The accused, Eichelsdarfer elected to testify and zade the
following unsworn statement: He was 55 years old, had a wife and
three children. He was nover a member of the S8 or Nazi Party
(& 1354) . He Lecese a member of the Cerman army in Novamber 19ha
and cams to Dachau on 19 June 154l (R 1352, 1353). He was sent to
& work cazp at Augsberg (R 133). In August 1%L he went to Xaufer-
ing. He took over Kaufering MNumber § in Octobar, then Kaufering
‘tmber 7, and on 12 January 1945, Kaufering Number L (R 1353).

Camp Number L had 1429 inmatas at that time (R 15‘?;. This arew
to ower 2900 by the end of April 19LS (r 1227, 1368).

Kaufering Number L was guarantined at the time and
Zichelsdorfer was not permitted to enter the camp (R 135L) . However,
he did enter the camp twice (R 13567). His only duty at the camp was

to post the guard (R 1354). He was commander of the 33 guards only,
not of the casp (B 131). W™ien he tock over, he had been tald, #Y¥ou

have %o give no orders. The camp is under Hauptsturmfuehrer Doctor
Hanke." (R 1352, 1368). Dr. Blanks was responsible for the camp

(R 1355, 1357). Mo priscner was permitted to leave the camp (R 1355).
Food and fuel were brought to the gates (@ 1355). At a later dde a
few priscnars who were well were permitied to go oat to collect some
wood(R 1355, 1356). He never tock a detail out hizself (R 1357).
Eichelsdorfer made a report to Dachau in which he desoribed the con-
ditions which prevailed at Camp umber L (R 1358, 1362) . Eichdsdorfer
also made monthly reports sbout the camp (R 1365, 1369, Pros Ex 129).
In one repart he stated thers was sufficient food and tha the
quarters were light, well aired and clean (2 1356). Eichelsdorfer
explained that these plalements had besn mado to him by the prismer
physician (R 1365). Ficlielsdorfer denied that he ever beat a prisoner
and danied that a detail ever went in or out of Kaufe L
his orders (R 1356). He never carried a rifle but a pistol while at
Camp Number L (R 1356). He did not procure gasoline which was used to
burn the camp at the time of evacuation (R 1356).

Eldholsdarfer did not know the death rate at Kaufering at
any tize (R 1359). He never admitted to anyone he know the dsath
average, and he did not know Doctar Pried (R 1360). Eicheladarfer
did not know the ¢ vhysical conditicn of prisonera in Xaufering
Vumber b4 at any time (3 1369). The food became warse and Bichelsdaorfar
raparted it to Dachau (R 1362).

¥rs. Rose 2ufert stated she has known Eichelsdorfer since
154k when he was at Xaufering Casp Nusber 2, k, and 7 (R 1370). She
visited sach camp eight or ten times and never saw hir mistreat any-
Wody (R 1371). TWnen she asked questicns aboul hir, the prisoners
spora wall of nim (R 1370). OShe never saw Liw carry & rifle or &
stick (R 1371). BSichelsdorfer tried to improve the food for the
Jewish girls in his home (R 1372, 1373).

¥rs. Rufert never heard that Zichelsdorfer beal anyone to
dsath. She only saw Eichelsdarfer in his littla home where he also
had his office (R 1373). Eichelsdorfer was never reported to her aa
a bsater and once he bandaged a man who had tean wounded (R 1374).

13. OCtto Foerschneri

mhe accused Foerschner made tha following unsworn stabement:
He was Ll years old, married, and had three chilarean (R 1308). He had
besn a professional scldier since 1922 (2 1389). In 153 Foerschner
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joined the Waffen 55 (% 1380). He saw combat duty in the East until
Pecember 19Ul and was ssnt to the hospital from which he went to
Buchenwald where he remained from January 1742 to Sepvemer 1943

(R 1390). From there hs went to Nordhausen where he -t -ed until
January 17L5 when he went to Kaufering whers he remsdi® ‘wbil 27
Aprid 494o (R 1390, 1391). y

Foulgciusy vay @ camp .sader of wne Kaufering camps of whioh
there were 7 ¢t first, and later 9 (R 1391). Four of the camps
were closed becaise of typhus (R 1397). He received weekiy reports
from all zhe camps (R 1399). His hsadquarters were ai Camp Humber 1
(R 1391)+ Thers ha punished the wemen by letting thom stand a half

on the formation cround and by taking away their food for ome
day (R 1391). This was prescribed by Commandant Weiter of Dachau
and Fosrschner himself was not authorized GO0 LUPOSS PULLLSIULLWE
(i 1372). Ko executiocns wors performsd (R 1392), Foerschner knew
about Kaufering Number L as an isolation camp but he was not per-
pdtted to enter It (It 1792). He had ne aitherity whatscever over
the cam (R 1375). He knew the death rate was 100 to 150 weekly
(R 1l01) and it increased to over 200 (R 102). Foerschner infarmed
the camp commandant of the type of barracks the sick at Camp Humbexr
l; ware noused in and requested they be transferred (R 1393). The
commandant replied that it was purely a matter for the dector (R 1393).
Fosrsvhner seut & repwrt about the cemp's posr condition to Berlin.
AS a result a commission under Colonel Lollen of the Medical Depart-
ment was sent down (% 1393), The commission came to landsberg and
Foeraschnor showed the commission the bad living conditions at Camps
1 ard 2 and was promised that sick prisoners would bs transferrad
(R 1354, 1400). The opposite happened when more sick prisoners
?ﬁri;;ﬁ){ﬂ 1334, 1L02)« Welbe: wdered ewacuatden en 2l ex 27 April

Dr. Blanks was in charge of the evacuation at Kaufering Number
L (R 1395). At this time, Poerschner was insured by a mine and wis
hoepitalized (& 1395). He suffered & brain von-mssion and loss of his
right wyw (R 1395). Jeveral camps wers burned by the O.T." on the
night of 26-27 April (R 1%€). When Camp Number 1 wes evacuated hs
did not hear any shooting (R 1397).

Foarschnsr denied that he killed an inmite by baating him with
an iron plpa, that he ever beat any prisoners, and that he ever kKilled
an inmate by hitting him, Lu Lhe heed with a sbons (R 106). AL
camps ware sirrounded by barbed wire which were ot electrified (R
1397). PFosrschner knew Tempel who was Rappartfuehrer 4t Camp Number
1 (R 1397). The acoused Schosttl was at Kaufering Camp Udek, about 5
kilometars from Number 1, all of March 19L5 and he had special duty
training & company for front line duty (R 1399). TFoeerschner saw him
there every day (R 1397).

Foerschner did not go along with the commission everywhere they
went and they only visited Kaufering Mumber 1 and 2 (R 1400). Although
Foerschner knsw conditions were terribla, he did noit remedy them on
his own responsibility (R 1L01). The weekly death rate at Kaufering
Number L wes betwesn 100 and 150 and higher when he left (r 101},

This increase was on account of the typhus epidemic (R 1L02).

1. Doctor Eurt Eisele

The accused, Doctor Eisele, elected tp testify and made |
the following unsworn statement: He was 33 years old, married, and
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the fa her of three children. He was drafted into the Waffen 83 in
1940 (R 1483, 148h). Doctor Eisele was a troop physician and in
1943 went to Buchenwald. He had front line duty in 15Uk on the
2ussian front (R W8k, 1485). He first came to Dachau at the end
of February 1945 and stayed thers until the end, being in charge of
the Su~gical Department in the prisvoecs' hospltel where Doctor
Hintermayer was in chargs (R 14E5). His patients suffered from
undernourishmant and primarily chest infections (R 1186).

Bandages and medicine were scarce and none could ba gotten

(R 1485). Eisele's only efforts to obtain drugs were to go dally
to the prison drugglst and ask for the nevessary llems (R 1471, 1L72).

There was a typhus epidemic which Dr. Hintermayer told him was
evbing, but there were many deaths (R 1485, 1485). Peopla ware in
bed in two's and threa's. le presumed the sanitary conditions were
insufficient. Otherwise the typhus would not have spread (R 1L8T).
The samtary and hygienic conditions were not under his supsrivisioen.
The health of tne prisoners was Dr. Hlnlermyer's responslblldty

(= 1LE7).

Dr. Bisele inspected 3 camps at Muhldorf and informed Hinter-
mayer of the conditiona (R 1420, 1492). He went a second time to
see if any improvements had been made, Since nothing had been done
he complained to Lwe Orgenlssllion Tudl pliyslclans and then to Ocneral
Tscherasik who later said, "Well, the war will be over in four weeks."
(m 1488). Docter Eisele was ordered by the camp commandant to
attend exscutions to deterrine death (R 1489). He attendsd three
and had no awthority to stop them (R 1489).

Dr. Tisels danied the statemmnt of witness Seibold that he
attanded eight between October 15LL and January 1945 because he was
not even at Dachau at that time ER 1489). He never attended execu-
tions prior to 20 Februmry 1945 (R 1490).

At one of the “uhldorf camps, Ianglsist was the representatiwve
of Uomrandant Weiter (R 1473). Deoctor Sisels wenl on an luspeusllon
tour with Weiss because he had a car (R 1L94). He performed mastoid
operations from which noboedy disd (R 1494).

15. Doctor Kurt {laus Schilling.

The accusal Doctor Senlllilung wlscled Lo leslifly apl wads
the following unswarn statement: WHa was 7l years old, marrisd, had
one son, and was a physiciau. e had specialized in troplcal diseases,
particularly malaria, since 1898 (R 1490, 1500). Dr. Schilling stud-
ied under Professor Koch of Berlin, and graduated from Munich as a
thysician in 1824 (R 1498). He did research work in Africa an
ialaria, sleeping sickness, and tsetse [ly dlssases (R 1477, 1478).
Dr. Schilling worked for the Rockefeller Foundation in Berlin, re-
caiving 2 grant in 1911 for the study of various diseases and for a
trip to Rome (2 11,59, 1500, Def ex 19). In December 1941 in Italy
Dr. Schilling met Dr. Contl, the Reich physiclan leader, who invited
him to see Himmler (R 1500, 1501, 1508). Schilling went to Himnmler
Who ZaVe him the order for him t0 continue his.studles al Dachau
(7 1502). Sehilling had aelected Dachau because it was near his
birthplace (7 1568-1569). The guestion of using prisoners for exper-
iments was not discussed (R 1502). In January 1942 Schilling went to
Dachau (% 1502). Schilling only accepted this commission at Dachau
because the Ieague of Nations, of which he was a member, told him of
the importance of curing the seventesn million known cases of malaria.
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\was his duty to humanity (R 1540). He never becaus
| ﬁﬁﬂ!’ﬁw e 1oy s & trens
, research mn." (B 1568).

Dr. Schilting infected thousands of oriers with malaria
ngenign Tavtian! which is not fatal (R 1503). The purpose Ior this
was to find a vaccination asainst malaria snd today there is mo

 yaceination amingt mlsria sxcept the one discoversd by Schilling
{R 1503). ov. Schilling used mosguitoss and blood transfusions to
infect the patisnts =nd regeived patisnts slready infacted (R 1503,
190h), T4 patients were divided into groups dnd were constantly
jatched, ons group for the purposs of keeping up the strain and
another for immunization puvposes (R 1505, 1506). The latter were
injected repeatedly to step up thelr immnity (R 1506). B8chilling
ra-infectad about LOO to 500 patiants and used quinine, atabrine, and
noo-salvarsan, and a ¢ #2515 which made the patients immmej to
prove this ha 'ad to test by infecting them again (R 1%07).

Dr. Schillirs corld nat work with animals because they are not
recaptive Lo malaria and nen ars used throughout the world- (R 1507).
e assumed that Admiral Stipp and Mark Boyd, two malaria authorities,
used hummas in thelr experiments (R 1508). Infectsd mmlaria has
haan psed to cure paralvsis (R 1508).

Orily aboud four or five of the patients refused to be immunized,
tut they consanted after Sehilling explained the importance of the
work (R 1509). ‘fhe selections of the patients were made as follows:
Baprlin allowed him thirty patients a month and he would requisition
then throueh the camp thysician from the commandant who contacted the
1abar leader (% 1510). The latter selected healthy priscners and
Schilling's assistants choss the final names and sent them to Berlin,
whera the selection was spproved (R 1509, 1510). Thase patients
ware carafully inspscted and could not be refused by Schilling by order
of Himmisr (R 1511)

The doses of rmo~salvarsan ware L.5l grams and at no time railed
(2 1512). He used pyramidon to lower the body tempersture although the
drug has & bad effact on the blood corpuscles (R 1513, 151L). He used
this drug only in 13 cases and found thai two grams were not harmful.
This was important so ihe body could react without fever (R 1915).
HoBody Alad from oyrasidon (B 1515). Halaria has been used to cure
syphidlils and nso-salvarsan can destroy parasites in a faver (R 1515)»

Dr. Schilling never dealt with Dr. Hlaha on any autopsies involving
nen-sslvarsan polsening. Discharged patients were told to report back
if they Mmitsick (R 1516). Periodic checks were made of them and any
patiant was recsiwed tack if thers were siems of relapse (% 1517).

Tf Schillins were asked to resurs his work, he would do so only on
voluntoers (R 1518).

or. Senilling was withdrasn as a witness, at this point, tut
resumed the stand later and testifiad as follows: In death through
pon—galvsrgsn all ATEANA ATE affectad {H 1536}; Hliood cells m}' m’
bt nothing 11ke this happened in his cases (R 1536, 1537). It is
fmpossible to determine death by malaria by a mere autopsy without a
mleroscone, earegially where there may be other complications (R 1537) .
Pyramidon is rarely the cause of death (R1537).

Our of the 100 peopls infected by Dr. Sehilling with malaria, not
4 single one of them diad of uncomplicated malaria (R 1538).
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Weight af the patiants during sxperimenta incressed. Additional
food was given and peopls suffering from contagious disease would be
isolated (R 1539). Dr. Schilling nsver stated the wrong cause of
death (R 153).

Pr. Sahillinmp statad ko swuldn 'l sxporirsat on himpell Esecouso
he had had malaria ip 1933 and men 1ike him cannot e reinfected in
most cases although malaria is a recurring disease (R 15L1). If
thare i chronio malaria, the hear® musclas will suffer as in g1l
chronic diseasen (R 1543). !alsria will inorease the watery sub-
gtance in tha blood and the brain will suffer under chronitc malaria
(R 1gLl) . Chronis malariswlll wosksn the bedy to make 4t suesapiible
to other diseases and one may die of another disease whils nawving
maiaria (i loyo). Sehiliing had 55 cogvors heiping him and examined
all patbrits persomally and supervised the records (R 1546). Schilling
recognized Prosacubion's Dxhibit 131 which stated that 19 cases were
treated with pyramidon, three of whon died (R 15L7). He kc!,md
thooo poatisnts wors sufforing Deom fyphus and wore' rFomovs:
ward (n 1547, 15L6).

Although there wus & typhus spidemic in November 19Lk and he
knew that people were dying, he coptinued his experiments ga 15'5&};
Everyore who was innoculsted remained at the statisn (R 1550).
pationt wao injécted Hires Limso and later disd of typhus (R 1§§1’j.

He was given meo-salvarsan, atabrins, and guinine. Pyramidon doses
of three grams per day for Pive successive days were given. Dr.
Blaha did not infors Schilling of the deaths due to pyramidon poisom-
ing., If 8ehilling had been notiified he would have stopped the experi-
ment. An Italisn named Calveroni wes infected with blood and might
have gotten typhus (R 1556).

If & man'ds suffering from malnubtrition, & big dose of nao-
salyvarsan is ot advisable (2 1557). If it would save his 1ife,
Schilling would give it to him (R 1557). Tt depended on the physical
condition of the man and of what he wes suffering; yei, Schilling
gave the drug to FPather Wicki who only weighed 50 !—:.'l.lon lén 1553
tut Schilling saws that Wicki was not 3 severe case (R 1559). Schﬂl-
ing gave three grams of nec-salvarsan in five days, which was the
largest dose he ever gave over that period of tims. He does not
remember giving drugs to sufferers of dysentery (R 1562).

Sehill: dd not remeiber opocific casecn where He did nok. usa
caution (R fﬁgﬁ 1867). He recelled tia priest Stachowski who died,
but doesn't rementer he disd from neo-salvarsan (R 1567, 1568).

Dr. Jchilling was not under the control of the S5 (R 1568). He
heard rumurs asbout beatings, but did not concern himself with "things
that were nwb my business" (N 1758} . A1l his reccyda had been burned
(R 1570). Sehilling denied all accusations egainst him other than
what he admitted as part of his duty (R 1572, 1573). He declared
that his work was unfinished and that the court should do what it
could to help him finish his experiments for the benefit of science and
to rehabilitate himsslf (R 157L).

s, Hubner, who knew Professar Schilling for thirty years stated
the she often saw him in Italy and in Germany and has known him to be
of good reputation and of good veracity (R 1519, 1520, 1521). He told
her his only aim was to help cure malaria (R 1522). She believed his
intentions at Dechan wers good (R 1523).
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Frau Durck, the wife of a university professor of anatomical ]
pathology who was intarested in malaria research, knew Profeasor
Schilling since 192 (R 18529, 1526). Schilling was always regarded
in his field as a serions scientist (R 1527). Sha knaw what ha was
doing at Dachau but her hustand would not have done it (R 1527).

Dr. Eisenberger, a lawyer for 52 years, lmew Dr. Schilling for
30 years (R 1527). He considarsd Schilling highly respectable and
reliable, mnd said Schilling was seekin: to benefit science and would
never do anything wrong (R 1528).

Helnrlch Storc, & male purse al Dechau, lestliflied 1t wes Rnown
that Schilling worked on orders Prom Himmler (R 1508, 1609). The
camp physician's and Schdlling's assistants examined tha patients
prior to experimentation (R 1809). Dr. Brachtel, an SS doctor and
assistant to Schilling also performed atabrine experiments (R 1610).
If a patient had a relapse from milaria, he was treated by Dr.
Schlllipg (0 1611, 1412). Othera were given quinine by some of the
hospital staff {“ 1611, 1512).

Max Kronenfelder worked in the malaria station undsr Schilling
from February 1941 %o June 1943 (R 1614). He Jnew about a Dr. Brachtsl
who also made private experiments on malaria without the knowledge of
Dr. Schilling ]("' % 1617). Fronsnfelder took blood smears and perfonmed
minor details such as cleaning up (R 161£). Trachtal experimented
with patients who had Luberculesis, bsing helpsd by a man named
Adam (R 1417). Adam mas often in the morgue with Dr. Blaha (R 15618).

Father Rupdeper had bean subject to the malaria experiment in
August 1742 (R 221). Other priests who were also subjected were

Peter Power, Qustav Spitsicl, Amon Burkhardt, Fritz Keller and
hasimgher Gaalmer Tkelsky (7 521).

16, Christef Ludwig Knoll:

The accused, Knoll, =lected 10 testlly and made the follow-
ing unaworn statement: le was 50 jears old, divorced, and had two
children. He had been a political prisoner at Dachau from Saptember
1933 until the end of the war (R 1507). He had been arrestad for de-
livering a letter for a Jewlsh friend (R 1593). Knoll wea first used
a3 & tailor and became block eldest in 1941 (R 1L87).

Enoll admits slapping 2 few people and did so to save them from
being punished worse (R 1588). He slapped because rules were broken
as in the cdase of mme man who threw alep ab him or another who didn't
g2t out of bed, or some who would nob report to work (R 1588). He
was required to glap them (R 15808). He admitted using a rubber
noge "whnere it was needea" (R 1597).

Fnell remained block eldest until February 1241 (R 1589). He
never was capo in the grawel pit (R 1589). The story that he lmocked

dom & young Pole was invented because he was not even there (R 1590).

He was in the hospital then and during Christmas of 1942, as stated
a{ Kaltenvacher, ne did not Kill 27 Jews (2 15%L). He was head capo
at ths plantation whila it was befag budlt (1 1071). At that time
Knoll ramembered the incident in ch.tahuu 1940 when he was ordered
to collect mole skins so that an 55 could make a fur coat for his wife
(ﬁ 1%2) Jews hnl:dd him dig for moles and one day he was asked how
waa golng and he answered that he still needed thirtesn te kill,
WWWManmmam (B 15792) .
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Eneoll Dad chavge of & detail which was constructing the head-
quarters (R 1595). Because the work did not progress quickly enough
he was Deaten and kioked (R 1095). Iie mcfused to mct as capo and
worked under another capo and was sent to the punishment camp in
Nachtweilsr. He explained that a capo was a prisoner selected by
ths 83 who was glven a spselal Job and the courtdoes not realize
what & capo had to go through and the punishments he waild have o
undergo from the SS if he discbeyed orders, as, for instance,
lapping up spit, receiving beatings with ristsand kickings (R 1593,
1595, 1596).

Enoll explsined that Lle lomates were told &t their rirst
lecture: "You are in a concentration camp. A concentration camp
is no jall, is no penitentiary, and it certainly isn't a vacation
camp. Hers, there is martial law. The smallest SS man, no matter
how young and irresponsible he is, ias your supsrior. And every
order of such a man is to be obeyed." Hes 13 aurprised that 55 men
now lle about eating palouuers (M 1570). Enull duilss any beat-
ings by him sfter 1942 (R 1597). He had a thousand men in his block
among whom were only Uews and Oermans (R 1598). He never beat any-
body in the tailor shop and his custmers were all Germans (R 1599).

Weikof, & former irmate, stated that the acoused Knoll was
known 6s & hangean (R 1240). It was common knovledge that Rnoll
nad killed Jews in Dashiaw (R 1249).

Mr, Hirpsr was a member =7 the 55 polics at Dachau and kusw
Enoll (R 160L). In the summer of 1939 he came oul to the plantation
and saw the mole skins and Knoll told him Haupsturmfuehrer Zill
ordersd him o meke a Jacket for nam (R 1804) .

Mr. Keller, & political prisonsr in Dachau from 1535 to 1939,
and knew Knoll, not as a beater but one who is "nuts" and who caught
moles and got cigarettes fer them (R 1606). Kellar was in concentra-
tion camps for ten ysars and statsd if Lie capo at the crematory
wuuld lsve refused Lo hang somebody, hs would have bsen hanged him-
salf (7 1607).

17« Doster Fridolin Karl Fuhr.

The accusad Dr. Puhr elscted to testify and made the
folluwling unyworn statement: IS Was & 33 year old Austrian and un-
married. He had besn a member of the SA frem 1933 to 1937, and a
member of the 85 from 1537 to 1940 (R 1473). Puhr was a doctor and was
draf'ted into the Waffen 85 in June 1940 and went to a Deaths-head
vombat division (R 1473,147L). He was with combat troops until he
went to Dachauw in Decemeer 194h, and in betwsen times he was a patisnt
Lu e Lusplial for heart trouble Ior almost thirteen menths (1 LL7L) .
ia stayed in Dachau until 27 April 1545 where he acted as troop
physician and had nething to do with the prisoners (R 1479). His
hospital was separated and his work was restricted to 55 troops
(7 1L75). Several tizes Puhr acted as an assistant at operaticns
ol major operations of priscpers (R 1475). Yo person operated on by
hilm died and he often called in a prisoner's doctar to act as expert
in his owm cases (R 1476). M2 didn't lmow prisoners of war were at
Bachau (R 1478).

Puhr was ordsred to attend executions by the Camp Commandant
Weiter (R 14756). He attended prisoner executiona and two executions
of 55 men (R 1476, 1477). He could not refuse to attend, or he would
have been exscuted himself (R 1477). His duby was to determine the

< )of-




death and certily the form (R 1L77). He could not have saved any
of these lives (R 1LE2). Puhr uever ristreated prisoners since he
had nothing to do with them (R 1477).

He received the Hlood Order in 1%Lk for bodily harm (§ALT78).
In Dachau Ye gobt expericnce by workling on wperationa (R 147%)- He
used the XI-ray at the prisoners' hespitdl (R 1479). Omce in a
while he simad papers as a Tavorto other dottors who were out of
towm (R 11BO), The duty officer "had no duties at all. He just
received some papers which he had to sipgn® (R 1479). It was a 24-
hour duty (R 147%). He recognized Prosecution's Exhibit 130 as a
duty ruster Tur Apcil 1945 and woted s naows was on Lt (R 1LEL) .
He denied that he served as dity officer on the date specifisd
(R 1482). However, he was on constant duty at the trocp hospitd
and never at any other (R 1481).

18. Franz Boettiper:

The accused Boettger elected to testify and made the follow-
ing unsworn statement: He was 57 years old, married, and had no
children. He jolnsd the 7affen SS in 1540 (z 1157, u?h} At
Dachay he held the rank of riflemin and becams an unterhaupscharfushrer
(R 1167). fHe was in Dachau from My 1540 to Yeovember 1940 and then
from Jume 1541 untdl April 1545 (R 1167). He was present at the time
the 90 Russians were exscuted in the crematorium in Saptember 1944
(k Li66). The Russians were interrogated by Weiter and the Gestapo
afficial from Munich (R 1158). They were then brought to the crema-
tory in three groups by muards. Ssuss had been ordersd by Schuta-
haftlagerfushrer Ruppert to repart if everyons was present (R 1188),
Bnﬂ‘li‘bgﬂr did not take any of the group down to the crematorium
(R 1168). He merely went tiere, reported everyone was present, and
retyrned, because hs was on duty (R 1168). When Boetiger arrived
ltthaﬁmhr:atha Pirat two Russian groups had alveady been shot
(R 1169). A doctor was present but ha I:H.d not know which oue (R 1169).

Bosblger was oo e trapaport which lert foov on 26 April
1945 (R 1169). There were aboit 8000 pﬂsmbzs on this transport
159, 1170). He socompanied the transpert about 30 kilometers up
0 4 MP‘;‘ Wolfratshansen which is about 30 k{lometers from
Munich (R 1170), and was ssaimed to a seotion which had only German
prisoners (% 1170). "Dlﬁlm, the Battalion Corwmader, was in charge
;'if. = guard detall (R 1171). Boettger's pre-trial statement that

he acoused Langleist wus in command was not correct (R 1171, Pros
Ex 105). Bosttger denied that he shot a Russian prisonsr on that
transpart (R 1172). He deniad thabt he ever shot snyone anywhers
: u_m. th 1 march started in tha woods near Gotting at
1400, o'clock in the evening (R 1172). The first destination
Sturnbarg whnich was about five or six kilometers away (1 1172).
: ‘could not walk were driven in cars (B 1173). Boettgsr
sut 150 such peopls who were taken awey in cars (R 1173).
ted that he had an order not to leave any priscners
i tramport which was going tﬂ"{a!.,fn't.shaum (R 1179).
Em. Pﬁlﬂﬁﬂl ﬁ&uhd fest were to be collested at the edge of

The Toad and & guar to remain with them until the next saction
m:lméthﬁ.? » Thils process was continued until the prisoners were
¥ picked up and driven off (R 1175). GBoettger did not know the

mber 'ﬂf CATS M‘bm uped; he did not know where the gwisoners were
1175). He saw about 20 or 30 prisoners dead in Wolfrathaus-
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Boettger denied that he gawm any orders to kick a chalr oub
rom under a Bussian who was balmg hangad (R 173). “8hl uanally
ut the nocse arcund the prisoners' necks und Oberscharfushrer
Songarte rade the rope fast and kicked the chair over (1173}
That was the usual procedure (3 1173). "Hth respect to the exscu-
tion in which Dongarts kicked ihe stool, Desttger went fhere on .
ordar of the Piret Schutshaltlagerfuchrer in ordsr o sma that the
fayates Toll out and wore present during the execubion (R 1177).
:Era Car ?s doettger lnew this man had besn copvicted of sabolage
o o b g

Fosttger denied ever recsiving lood packages of the prisoneps
or foodl from the prisoners' kitehen (& 1I74). He adsitted that
4e slapped soms prisoners in the face but he never beat a priscner
or mistreated one (R 117L). Boettger slso stated, "I nover beat a
orisoner so that he needsd medical treatment or so0 fhat he was wounded
or bleeding® (7 1174).

Bostiger admitied that he had attended about 20 executions
(R 1177). 7is participation censisted of leading the person to the
cramitorium s Rap ort Leadsr in secordance with the commanding
officar's order (R 1177). SHosttger kmaw when tha people were brought
to the eremtorium that thay would be shot or hanged (1 1178).

Pranz Geiger, a catholic prisst, who had been & inmalts from
Decerber 1901 until liberation at Dachau, testified that he started
to wark in the package detail in Jamuary 1913 (R 1199, 1200).
Bosttper was in charge of that detail until December 1, 1943, when he
becane Rapport leader (2 1200). As long as Hosttger was in ctarge of
the paclage detail he treated the priscnsrs well (R 1200, 1203). He
was known as the "magl uncls® (R 1201). During the trensport of 26
.'li(.pril 1;*&5-, Bosttger told Geiger that he could leave the transport

2 1201).

Aftar Hoettger laft the rackage detail, ths inmate Gelger heard
that Boettger did not treat the priscmers well my more and that he

t=at them (R 120L).
19. TFeter Bets

The accused betz took the stand and male the fdllowing
unsworn statanent; He is married, has one child and joined the 35 .
in 1933 to got employment (2 143%). FHe was one of a family of seven
children, none of whom worksd (R 1433). He was at Dechau on 5 August
1935 to 7 Javmary 1944 (R 1L35).

At first, Betz was in the office of the Schutzhaftlagerfuehrer
then he worked on outside details and later as & sergeant-major, Anai
on 7 January 13Ll, he went to !Mttelbau and never returned to Dachan

(R 136).

Btz admits glving & statemsnt on 30 Ocfcber 1945, btefore he waa |
abrved with charges, to the effsct that he attended two execullons in
Noverber 1901 as a guard (% 1436). He also admitted slappings of
professional criminals who had stolen fpom other prisoners, but he never
slapped or mistreated anybody else (R 1L37). bHets never attended any I
executions other than the two menviomed (R 1437). He was a member of |
the Death's Head Unit until it became part of the Waffen 35S (R 1L37).

Batz's duties were to check, on behalf of the Schutshaftlagerfushrer,
conduct reports of prisoners in protective custody and the pundshment I‘
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reporta which had to go to Gestapo offices (R 1L38). There was &
regulsr Investigator in the office of the Schulshaftlager Tushrer
and he recommended punishiments and interrogators administered
beatings as punishrent up until 1941 (% 2439). Tets rarely saw any
bedtings after 1542 (R 1437, 1L40), but adwlts sending tha reports
forward to headguartsrs, although he never made any recommendations
persanally (R LLLO).

Otio Gehring was a German prisoner at Decheu from CGetober 1237
until April 1939 during which time he knew Betz (R 1L65). He never
knew Betz to beat anybody and saw him often throw cigareties and
btread to the prisopera (R 1LG5). Bets personally gave bread sad
clgarettes to him (R 1L65). Genring now works #ith Jormer pridswiess
of Dachau and has talked with many about Bets and everyone sgrs
that Betz was a [ine man (R 1465).

20. Anton Endres.

The accused Endres took the stand and made the follewing
unsworn statement: He is 36 years old, married, the father of three
children. He Joined the 38 7 Septexber 1939 as a draftee and
served at Dachau all the time until the liberation (R 1467, 2L48).

Endres was thrown out of the 33 20 May 174l when he was
arrested for letting priscners visit frienda (R 1L468). He was put
under arrest in Noverber 17243 ant stayed there until September 19LL.
Zndres was active in Dachau as a medic and worked in the Augsburg
detail up to that time (R 1459). He never helped anyone glve in-
Jections and never was present and never beat prisoners nor put them
under showers (& 1471). He attendsd two executions Prior to Jinua
1912 a3 a medic being part of the detall to help the doctor (R lh?;{-
lile was never in charge (W 14T1). Other executions took place on the
rifle range, each averaging thirty or forty men executed (R 1472).
He never attended these executions (R 1472).

2l. Simon Hiern.

The accused Kisvn vock the stand and made the following
wungworn: sbaterent: He was 32 years of apge, merried, and had two
ehildren (R 1233), !2 had been a saddle maker. In 1932 ho jolred the
rogular army atd remained until 1936 (R 1234). In 1937 he was draf ted
inte the 55 because heo was a radioman and had been in the army (R 1234},
That was unusual becausa at that time men were not drafted into the
53 (R 1234). Hs was sent to Dachau and was 3 radioman there until
1339 (R 1235). He was than transferred to Czechoslovalda and in 1341
he returned to Dachau (R 1235). There hs went to work at headquarters
as a clerk until 3 November 1942 (R 1235). AL that time he was trans-
ferred to the mail room for a short flme when he wes arrested for
allegadly stealing 10 cigarettes from a latter (R 1235). He was in
the concentration camp at Dachau for six weeks,; brought to the prison
at Mundeh, and then %o the Death Code Department (R 1235). After his
imprigonment at Dachau in December 1742, he never returned to Dachau
to work. (R 1235). Prom Munich he was sent to the punitive camp at
Danzlg July 1943, and on 12 February 1945, he went to the fronmt (R 1236).
Qn the war he escaped and returned to Dachau where he was arrested by
the 53 (R 1236). He was released after one day and tramped around
Ingolstait amd Kulmbeck until the Americans arrived (R 1237).

Kiern was a social democrat from 1529 to 1932 and while a msmber
ol the 55 had worked actively against it (R 1237). At Dachau he had
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attended three executions in the capacity of a clerk (R 1237, 1238).
Obersturmfushrer 2111 had deranded that he Le present (R 1230).

ALl three executions ocourred in 1901 (R 1238). His pre-trial
affidavit erronsously stated that the exeoutions occurred in January
1912, but he was sure that they occurred in 1311 becaise 2111 had
left at Christmas 1741 (R 1239, Pros Ex 119).

He admitted that he had given mercy shots once at one exscu-
tion (R 1239). Kiern denied that hs at any time ever kicked or beat
& prisoner at Dachau (R 1239). Kiorn stated that he hatl told the
inwstigating officer at the time the statemsnt wabs tlken that Zi11
Had ordered him to attend these executions (R 1240). Eiern admitted
that he had made the statements in his pre-trial affidavlt, had read
it and cerrected it (1 1240, Pros Ex 117). Hednied that he was
ever a block leader (I 12!+li.

Josaf Ureberg who had come to Dachau as a prisoner in December
1942 met Kiern there in 1943 (2 1243). Kiern checiked tha workir
details (I 12L5). Uneberg never saw Klern mistreat anyone (R lgﬁj').
Unsberg next saw Ylern in Bohemia in April 190} in & punitive company
whera they worked togetner (R 12L). Kiern escaped (T 12iL). Kiern
had told Uneberg repeatedly that Nie opposed the treatient of prisoners
in concentration camps (R 12LL). FKiern used dogs to guard the pris-
onars at Ddckhau in March or Aprdl 1743 (R 12L5). When Uneberg met
¥iern in 194k again he stated that he was glad that he was out of
the 35 (R 12L6).

Josef Weikef, an inmate ot Dachau from Yarch 1938 uatil 1ilera-
tion, Ymow Kisrn from Aprdl 1940 until *arch 1941 (R 12L7), Kiern
did not nistreat any of the prisoners dmri:.t___g tuat AR L2ET) A

Willy Herna who had served as a camp policeman and had been a
marber of the 55 at Diechau stated that he had participatad in exeou-
tiens with Kisrn twice in November 1941 (R 1250). Kism was good and
that was hls reputation with respect to the treatment of prisoners
(R 1251). Kiern acted under orders (R 1251, 1252).

22. lichasl Redwitz

The accused Redwitz elected to testily and made the [ollow-
ing ungworn statorent: He was L5 sears old, married and had four
ahildren (R 1178, 1179). Eis cccupation was that of & professional
scldier (R 1179) and he had been a soldier aince 1918 (R 11?_9;. In
1938 ke was transferred into the 33 from the Wehrmacht (R 1179). He came
to Dachsu in November 1942 and was there until 9 March'194k (R 1179).
Hiis job was that of First Schutzhaftlagerfushrer and as such he was
in charge of tha diseciplina,. order cleanliness of the eamp (R 1179).
He was also in charge of the roll call each morning and night (R 1179).
Accoraing to lne regulativns ne wWes at every exscution in the capacity
of a witness (x 1180). He also had to supervise the carrying out of
punigh=snts (R 1180). He read the punishment to the prisoner and saw
to it that the priscmers carried out the prescribed punishment (R 1180).

Most of the peopls who were executed in the camp had bean sent
thers for execution by the Oestapo (R 1180). Whils he was at Dachau
a sports arena was built for the prisoners (R 1161), ™Murthermore,
moving pictures were shomn to them (n 1181). These pictures were also
distributed to the by-campe of Dachau. (R 1181). Althopgh in his
statamant ha had said that tha acomand Beta was pressnt at tha
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executions, Ne now claimed that he was nat sure of that fact (R 1151).
ll= dendied that he had ever insulted priests as the witness~ Breiding
had teatified (2 1182). *e denied that he ever permitted Trenlkle

or Jarolin to beal irmates and that if they were present at the
carrylng out ol a punishme-t ey wers thare only in = supervisory
capacity (7 1O2). Pyrthermme, the vauwp cowsmundsr mss pressnb all
the tire, that &5, at the officia) beatings (R 1182). Howsver, Visiss
naver attended an sxscition (2 1185).

On 7 Jddy 19LL a number of A-prican airrsa had Ween shot dom
dirdng & rald on that day and had bsan captursd by Redwits (2 11823,
1384Y . e saw bo 4t bhat Whiels wolods peere batsn cees ol and Ll
they were wotected from the civilian populatien (R 1184). He finally
transferred the prisonsra to an air corns lisutenant (R 1184).

ihile al Dachau, adwits attampted te attain front line duty
three tizes (2 1185). Finally on % Ausust 194%, he was sent to the
Weotern Pront whare Yea wab wowrded {1 115‘_3: .

Ha stated that his pre-trial staterent made on Toverber L, 19LS,
had been dctated by Lisutanant Juth (R 1189, Pros Bx 95). He denied
that he divected the executions in the absences of Jeiss (3 1189). He
claimed that e had only been at the executions as a withess and that
thla rossrk had been ictated Ly Lisutepant Guth (T 110%). Medells
adritted that he had read over his statsrment before he sigied 1t, that
he sade corractions in tha staterant in his owm hamdwriting after he
had read it (0 1171), He stated that he was tureatansd by Lisutsnant
Guth while he was =making hia staterent (2 1171), Lisutenant Guth having
hwld an agh tray in his hand (7 1192). He acmitted that he had never
bian shruck by Lisutenant Suth bub. that he had besn thrsatened (R 1122).
‘Benausa of thoge threats and ingults and the mistreatimnts which he had
endurad alter his arrest, he had simed the stgezent (3 1192).

da admitted that he participated in about 4O executions at
Dachau (% 1172), and that he was the Schutzhaftlagerfushrer at that
time (0 11923) . Tle stebed that ao prlsvier could leuve ble canp unless
he was under guard (R 1193).

Drnest Spora who nad been an inmate of Dachau fram Sepfember 1942
until liberation had met Redwitz in January 19LL (R 1195). He worked
in a slaughter hou=m and once carried into camp some sausage =nd bacma
which waa found on him by Duppert, who tuok Whe food and sade Llp sbeaed
on iz knees out in the cold (R 1195, 1196). Redwitz came along and
askad hir what he was doirg and he explained that he was golng to the
ltospital to spe a friend and was brinzing *he sausage and bacom (R 1196).
About 20 minutes later Redwits retumed with the sausage and bacon
and gaw it to him (7 1176). Redwitz zald "Try never to do it again!
(R 117€). Jpora also helped uahe repuivs um Tedelle's house and
Redwita's wife would give thaa sovp, coffee and bread (1 1197).

Redwitz was not a salist 1ike his predecessors (3 936). ie
liked to yell and was lrequently drunk (R 936).

tle bécasn Pirsh Schutahaftlagor fucluer under TFelises (M 7ho). The
inmates ware permitied to put on their own theatrical performances
(R 741). Undsr Weiss the prisoners in the textile shop were permitted
to ecoal: Tood thare (R 9U2).
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23. Wilhels Weltar

The accused [felter alected to testify and made the Tollewing
unsworn: staterent: He was 32 years old, married and had thnree childron
(R 1010). He worked in civilian 114 a3 a locksmith (7 1010), In |
1730 hie Julued L 33 and vame Luv Dachau at the end of 1739 (R 1010).
He was there untll 1 September 1943 when as a result of his applica-
tion he way sent to the Zastern Fpont (R 1010, 1011), He had applied
ainge the beginning of the war about every two months to be placed in
a fighting unit (% 1211).

e wan Liw labor service leader at Dechau and, 83 such, was unpdsr
the labar leader (2 1011). His dutiss consisted in giving each detail
wiich was to work in the morning and aftsrnoon a slip whereon the
strangth of the detail and the name of the detail leader was noted
(' 1011). Bach day he made out a working report which fncluded infor-
mation about all the details which left the camp (R 1011). The report
ugually vonuslsted of 7 to 0 typewritten pages and was used by the labor
lsader to bill the firms vhere the prisoners worked (T 1011).

Although there had been testimpny that he had hit mrisoners a
the slave market formation at the start of 1943, Melter stated that at
that time he was not in Dachau but a scldier in Russia (R 1012). He
admibted that while at pEchau he had put togetner large and small .
details (R 1012). He only knew the strength of the detail when it
left the camp at the gate when the numler was called out (R 1012).
Hence at the time he would know if anyone was missing (R 1012).
Hundreds of details left in short succession and he could never atop
to look for sn individual man who was not preseat (R 1013). He denled
that hw ever nad any duties to perform together with Kick and denied
that he ever hit a prisoner with a whip or any other object (R 1013).
He admitted that he possibly did put together a detail of four Jews for
the crematorium in 1942 (R 1613).

Selectionas of prisoners “or the hospilals in ~omection with
experimsnty, Such as malaris, wers mads by the dootors (H 1013, TLULS) .
The lioor leader received thai list and checked it with the files of
the labor office;, but 7elter himself had nothing to do with this
golaction and had naver received any orders from the labor leadsr in
connection therewlth (R 101Y4). He denied that he had ever beaten any
rew inmates whick had bsen trought to the camp and specifMcally beating .
€3 naw arrivals, described by 4 progecution witmess (K LOLL). He de- -
nizd that he ever selscted prisonmers for Doclor Rascher's experirments
(21014 . A1l prisomers who wmere brought on 2 worldng detail were
introduced to s dootor so thal he could determins their worklng capacity
Tt Telier never brought pecpls there because that was not his duby
(N 1015) . Te admitted that he sometimes lticked people and hit them
With 7115 pand (R 1015, 10#)). DIt is possible that 1 slapped & rew
misomers in the face 4f they did somstling wromg" (R 1015).

Welber explained that in hia pre-trisl affidavit e had erred in
rriting that Weiss had accompanied him to Aupsburg inm 1942, but that it
wig Redwity who had done that (R 1015), However, he had never been
given the opportunity bo correct this statement (R 1015). Welter also
statad that he nias pever arrested and had returnad te Dachau voluntar- )
i1y (2 1018). He was in the hespital from 17 Jammry 194} until 28 ‘
April 124l (R 1014, Def Ex 18). In the labor office people were asked
for their qalifications and Welter or someone else would pick ocut
non-amployed people for special details (R 1018), He did not lmow
whether or nol these nomemployed prisoners were used in the doctor's
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experiments (R 1019). He did not know what had happored to the

Jews who had been picked out to work at the crematorium (R 1019).
The prisoners who worked in the labor office were under Weltar but
all te 4id was to transmit orders to tram (R 1017). He did nct take
any interesc in whether thay dld the work or not which they had been
ordered to do ‘R 1019, 1020).

Mrs. Welter testified that her husband reported volunbtarily
to the front in September 1943 (R 1021).

~ =

Joham Wolf, a eivilian employee at Dachau from 15942 to 1oLk,
worked with the accused Weltsr in vomnectlon allh priscoes dutica
(R 1008). He never saw jielter search or beat a priscner or report
cne (R 1009). The prisoners on Welter's detail always told idm
Welter was all right (R 1009).

2. Rudolf Henrich Suttrop.

The accused Suttrop elected to tastify and made the follow- 1
ing unsworn statement: He was 3l years old, married and had three
children. He joined the 35 on 5 September 1933 and came to Dachau on
15 May 1942. (R 1022). He left Dachau on 15 May 15LL (R 1022). He
gerved as Adjutant under Piorkowsky, Weiss and Welter (R 1022).

When Suttrop came to Dachau he was an Untersturmfuehrer and
when he laft he was an Obersturmfuehver (R 1023). His duties were to
gheck on the persommel of the antire staff, cumposed of 235 non-
commissimad officers and men (R 1023). He was in charge of lhe lele-
phone, sipnal office and motor pool (R 1023). ife had charge of the
mail distribution, secret orders and alded the commmllug cfflcer in
his mpar work. Ujon the absence of the commandant, the Firat Schute=
haftlagerfushrer becams the acting commanding officer (R SLS, 1023).
The commandant might request somecne else from his owm superior office
to take charge (R 102L). Suttrop never acted as commanding offieer

(R 102L).

Suttrop had nothing to do with the prisoners with the exception
of a few private matters when they would come into his office (R LS,
102L). It was not possible for him to issus any omisra for exscutdons
or punishments (R 102L). The camp commander had ne authority to
exscute ar bj:uniah people except for minor punishments (R 1025). How-
avar in 174, the remulation provided that the commanding of floer
?ou.lsl ;?quﬂat an execution and Weiss had left on 1 November 1043
R 1025).

It was not within his power or province to prevent anpy exscu-
tions (R 1025), He never attended any. He did supervise three execu-
tions of S5 members (R 1025, 1031, 103Z).

Prismer execubions were ordared by tsletype or secret mall by
the Gestapo (R 1026, 1027). In most cases the notice arrived before
the prisoners did and the orders specified whether or not the man
ahould be hanged or shot (R 1027). The camp's rule provided that the
First Schutshaftlagerfuehrer or his representative, the First Camp
Physieian, and two witnesses be present at the execuiion in addition
4o the individual who was actually to earry it out (R 1027). The
camp physician had the duty of determining death and could not stop "
the exmcution Af he desired (R 1027). '

Welss did not take part in or direct any executions and the
regulaions did not so provide (R 1028). fThe orders for execution
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Suttrop did nob know whether or not there were any Nusatan
Pis at the camp (2 1029, 1030). Tha Russian P¥s had been relsased
from an Army P enclosure and sent to work in Germeny (Rt 1030).
Upn leaving tisir place of wark these furmer prisonars were put
It.gt;na ;m-k detentlion camp and thon sent to a soncsntration camp
»

de was a ;2sher of the Deathns Head 33 and was szctiwe for two
years in the Skull Division at the front (R 1033): The accused
Trenkle wes a japport Leader or rapresaantative of the Schutshaft-
lagsrlusiirer. Suttrop denled that inwlid transports lalt Dachau
in 1943 and 1904 (P 103k).

25. Wilhelm Tempel.

The accused Tempol slsctad to tostify and made the
following uasworn statarent: He was 37 years old, married, and
the father of five cuildren. ii= jo:lmd the S5 $n 1932 and ll!l'i.‘l'ﬂ

at Dachsu on & Augmst 154l, going to Em Nasber L an 15
August whare he stayed until Jsnuary M%, Ilﬂl;b‘ .

wwhmgmnmk 15 Decerber

Teapel admitted the story related by Doctor Frisd of beating
ﬂthtﬂﬂ;ﬁgmﬂminhhhhandﬁardnrubhﬂum oft prigoners
at Faufering Mumber L (2 1112).

Tempel nevar beat Kussinscy's father so that he died later
(1 W13). He was not pressnt when Berger's brother's son was
beaten and diad, sinoe e was at Cemp Mywbar 1 wund not Eaufering
Busber L (R 141L). Tempel denied all other beatings described by
witnesa Sandowsky and stated he did not shoot anyme ay deacribed
by Doctor Kats (3 1ak). Tempel used his hands and oui{ beat
?ﬂa.ms where justice required it, 3o as to prewent

1L, 1a5). The stealing stopped (R 1415). Teapel declarsd .

hs did not introduce the so-called Msuperior system" which was re=-
sponsibil{t; from prisaer to block alder to capo Lo camp-aldest
(R 126, 1423). Under this aystes woren in Kaunfering Wusber L were
beaten (2 1415). Tempel mly carried a whip oocasionally but mever
used it (R 116). Tempel had & reputation of going arcund with a
stick but Kastner did not see this (R 1351). Johann Kastner did
?a;};pﬁsmmnyﬁn?mlmahdmaﬂhtmotm
b:4 .

Tezpel jained the 53 on 2L M3y 174L0. He went to Iublin concen-
tration camp in October 1042, then to Auschwitz until 27 July 194k
and then to Dachau (3 1418). He resesbered a transport of 150 to
szuhmnﬂrmmrmrhmrmuuuwlmrtm
(R Lla9, 1420). He recallsx the iransport ahich he ace
agnrﬂfmhrminmchmlyrwmtorh.ﬂmihnm Mﬂ,
1427). 9w of his dutiss was to make up the quotas for work |
(R 1417). It was also his m;tytomﬂmrnr:mﬂm
trwtlﬂfﬁlflrinsﬂmh!rl,ladhmmtﬂumhsﬂw
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in April 1945 (R 1421). Foerachner gave tha order to form the
transport which was divided into three parts, one sach for April
2L, 25 and 26 (R 1421). He employed capos and elders appointad
by the 35 to help him (R 1L422).

Martin Lechner, a (riscner at Dachau, went to Kaufering Number
1 in November or lecember 1oLy (R 1L2L). He stated that it was
imown that Terpel beat prisoners bub he.did not sea that himself
ER 1,2L). Tempel arranged for shows and music for the prisoners
(R 142L). The death rate decreased when Tempel arrived (R 142L).
He never heard that Tempel shot anvbody or beat anybedy to death
nor that Foerschner beat anybedy (R 1125). Iechner was a capo
who worked under Tempel and saw him daily on the detail Yoll
(R 125, 1426). o saw Tempel take the shoas of sick prisoners
and give them to others (M 1L27).

26. [ugo Alfred Bewin Lausterer.

The actused Tausterer elected to testify and mede the
Tollowing unswern atatersnt: He was married, had six children and
was Pifty five years of age (R 1122). As a civilian he represented
the Sinper Sewing llachine Company. He entered the S5 on 10 December
1%L (2 1122). He left Dackau on 2¢ April 1945.

He was a sentry and guarded the prisoners (R 1123). The
highest rank he achiaved was 3charfuehrer (2 1123). lHe denied ever
having threatened punishment to prisoners if they did not hand over
their food packages to him (R 1123). He denied ever mistreating
orisoners (R 1123). In his pre-trial statemant of 21 October 19115
he described a transport which left Dachau abeut 26 April 1945 and
which had remained at Dachan for two or three days (R 1123, 112l,
Pros Ex 311)-. His 4ot in connection with that transport was as
regerve sentry (R 112L). I-L. did not guard the priscners during
that transport (A 1124). trauagort laft Dachau in the evening
of 26 April 1545 and went bjr rail to unfech (2 112L). As a reserve
sentry he stayed in a separate car (R 112l)). The transport arrived
in Sesfeld on Saturday afternoon (R 1124). Eweryone got off and food
was distributed (R 1125)., Ordars were then given to march by foot
to the Ertz valley.

lausterer then laft the tramsport and went over to a group of
45 prisoners who were in a pasture (R 1125). The priscners stated
that they could not march and they wers i11 (R 1125). He told them
that they could not stay there because they would dis*in that terrible
weather (R 1125). He searched for coffee and tea for these priscners
and ssveral women in Seefeld helped him, They found an smpty barrack

whare. they pubt the mrisonsrs and tea wes diatributed ameng them
(R 1125). The next morming coffee and bread and at noon soup and

breaad were brought to them (R 1125),

He went to the Americans in srder to surrendar these priscners
but when he returned the barrack was empty (R 1126). [ discovered
that an Obersturmbsnnfushyer had come and led them toward the station
toward Carmisch (R 1128). During the previous night two »f the mris-
aars died (R 1126).

The accused Schoepp was also & resarve santry on the same trang-
port and he did as little as lausterer (R 1126). When the transport
had reached Lyon two S5 policeman stated that they were the transport
leaders and everyone including the guards were ordered to stay on the
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; + 'THere ware about ¥ to 39 reserve sentriss (R 1127)

Tausterer did ncv receive any orders with respect o shooting pris-

‘oners who! tried to get off the train but only the guards (» 1127)-
here were about 120 men in on2 car (R 13127). Thers were about
700 to 1800 people in the entire transport (2 1123;. any of the

Paop. ube from thirst amd hunger (% 1128). Isuslerer

admittse that in his pre-brial statemeat of 31 October 1515 he did

not state that he was a reserwe sentry (P 1126, 1129, Pros Ex i1).

Gustave Droste who had been a member of the German Army met,
ti0 @coused laustersr in July 19Ul (7 1131). At that time Iausterer
was & cammandsr of the workdng detail in 3 factory at Lodenfreye
(R 1132). The detail consisted of prisoners of Dachau. Droste's
House had besn damaged by bombs and-he requeated lmstersr to help
repair his house (R 1132), Lausterer agrscd on the condition that
his prisonerx be cared for and be given food and some liguar (R 1132)
On that basis the house was repaired (R 1132). Droste noticed that
Iausterer treated the prisoners very well (R LL¥). He never aspole
to them harshly (R 1132). Droste never saw Lausterer hit or mistreat
the prisoners (R 1133).

Jossphine Moser who lived in Seafeld recalled & Uransport whioh
arrived there in April 1918 (R 1133). Ghe attempted to distributa
bread to the individual prisoners &t the railrosd station Wwabl an 33
man prevented her frowm doing that and struck her (7 113k). B8k= re=- .
quested to speak to the transport commander and & Jew told her that
he was out in a pasture where some sick ones were (R 1135). &gha then
went there gnd mot Laustersr who requestsd that she bring something
hot for the priscners (7 1135). Sha arranged to haye coffes brought
4o them (B 1135, 113%). Laustersr requasted her to gel & ahelter for
these people since it wes anowing and raining and she suggested that
he go over to & farm and request that the barn be used (R 1136).
Howsver, the cwners would not permit him bo use the barn (r 1138).
She then suggested that lsusterer use a barrack wiich had besn built
for a kindergarten. This barrack was utilized by the pecple (7 1137).
She said, "I would say that hie was almost like a rather to them, 1
also saw that the peonle trusted him wery much " (R 1137). There
were Crom about 6 to 80 people in the group (R 1137). The pext
morning Miss Noser arranged that the people have coffes (R 1139). &he
did not know :iow they left. She did not know whether Lausterer went
away with them (R 1139). lausterer did not have & gun (R 11L0).
Tausterser also asked her for medicine (R 1140). .

Mrs. Yeager, a teacher, was living in Seefeld during April 1945
(r 1141). Durinc one afternoon she went to the station and saw 1660
Jaws who had arrived on a transport (R 11L2). TIn a meadow nearby
thare were Soms sick ones and Iausterer told ber that they had come
from Dachau (R 1142). He requested 1 barn or shed (% LLLZ). ohe
finally located shelter and Lausterer linad them up an! walked them to
tha barracks (R 1113). He hauled many of the sick ones in a cart and
made fowr trips (R 11L3). Women arrived who brought mars drinks to
the prisoners (R L1LL).

27. Frits M. K. Becher.

Tha aceused Becher elected to testify and made the Tollowing
unsworn statement: He was a N1 year old German, mayried, and had ane
ohild. He had been & prisomer at Dachau from 12 May 1930 untdl 2
Jume 1943 for political reasons (R 1575). Pecher became room sldest ,
‘and later block eldest and his duties were to see to 1t that everything 1
Zﬁ:

was clean and orderly, to distritute fool, and take prisoners to the
‘hospital if they wers sick (R 1576). He never beat anyone to death
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and only slapped & prisoner now and then, or he weuld have teen
punished himself (R 1575). He never kicked anybedy but it is
Ieuaaiblg that he caused nose bleads as witness Seibold testified
R 1578).

Bechos did neot have the peoweyr te tranafor anjbedy Wy branppeart
and never axceeded nis authority (R 1577). In the case of the pris-
oner irovalsky, the latter becare fresh and hs slapped him in the
fage. Later t':is men had dysentery and Decher took him to the
hospital whers he died (2 1577).

Beohow would punish prisenesrs Cor homeseosual oots and Por
stealing, and saw cbhers punished by the 85 for not obeying (R 1478).
Becher eould not undsratand how the 53 today deny the punishrents
and ndignities inflicted (R 1578). Almost every S5 man beat
prisoners who were of all nationalities (7 1579). Wagner and Seuss
beat the prisoners, including Sscher (R 1579). Ruppert beat cone
Pols very badly (R 1500). Pochar caid, "It was alwdys pretby kad
when you wers beaten by the 55" (R 1350).

Bechar did not choosa who would work and denies that tha block
a2 sst selected the workers (R 1561). Ee was present when prlsoners
wara seleacted for invalid trensports and only lad them out of the
bLlesk (Rt 1522). okior snoe tealk part 4in punitive moasurce agalnat
priests by order of Hoflfman when G700 was found on a prisonsr (R 1562).
‘There were young priests and old priests and they were made to fall
dowm cand many i‘ell but rm exhaustion (2 1583). Becher did not
kick any of tham bub helpsd aore to etand up and was himsslf beaten
for doing this Ep 13&1;; he admitted that he slapped ens older priest
named Kovalsly ‘Bechor stated that whon ho was in charge
!Eg %gi?maim block ho corrected them by beating with his hands -«

Bacher never saw Weisa beat anybody and Weiss was good to him;
hé dess ndt know Suttrop or Wetzel and only saw Kick when he came in
the Pirst 4ims (R 1584). -

Dechar concluded, "The greatezt shame on oulturs in Cermany
vere the concentration camrg and hell wis in Dachay (R 1878-1578).
"o gne can Imarine what it was like 1n a concentration camp except
Ha who was in a covcentration camp. e werecanpletely finlshed —— in
iwﬂ?.lf, 2nd In gvery rospoot! (R 1Z80).

Or. Julius Juthig, a Garman doctor and member of the 33 &t
Dachau from 8 February 1740, was familine with the e of actification
of death sent to the Statics Bursau (R 1600). The cause of death was
alwiys put down and 1 someons had been beatan by & capo, the latter
wauld Be brought Lalors the cotrt 1a Munlch wlhere ha woull Le sentepsed
Yo Jail (3 1601). He knows of no report where Becher was concarned
in such a case (R 1602). In 1940 only one man was repartad to have |
diad from beabings at Dachau in the summer, but he doss not know about
the records after Yareh 19L2 (R 1603).

28. ad Hranes.

Ihn accused Kramer elected to testify and made the lollowing
uAsworn statexents He entered the Wehrmacht ln 1916 and Joined the
33 in 1939, conming to Dachsu on 16 Auguat 194 (R 1265), Kramer never
entered the crematory at a-uhau (r 12‘1% on B Baptamhr 194k, ::n
came 4o Eaulsring lMusber 1 to Lmprove the billets amd
the shoea (R 1267, 1248), mﬁ never t-ﬁuk part 1n any exscutions (R 1268).
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r Kramer was relisved o 12 Novenber 191& and never had adytliing to "
: do with prisoners after that (2 1268).
Kramer was bedten by & CIC officer with sticks and rubber nosos |
(R 1259). 1 danfed particiration in exscutions (2 1270). The faod
‘ab Taulering Mumber 1 was dellivered by the TOr (R 1271). Thers was
a shartage of slices and clothing (2 1271). Kramer beat prisoners
with his hand on certaic of‘enses so that he would nob have to re-
part them to higher headmuartsrs (R 1272). Kramer took coe ‘trans-
part into Machau (R 12?3_;. e was in charge of the tmmisport in
which I[1fbty died (R 12T3).

27. Sylvester Pillaboack.

The accused Sylveaster Filleboeck elsgted to testify and
made the following unsworn statement: He was L years old, rarried,
and Yad two children (2 971). Ha was Zormerly foreman in chargy of
a fwubury (R 791), He hzd been in the German Army from 1714 to 1310
and fram 1943 to 1945 (R 992). He Joined the S5 in 1932 and went to
Dachau in 1933 where he hold the poaition of admir..‘,.ptntur aof the
food dump until 1941 (R 992, 956). From 194 to 1745, he was the
imaﬂgﬂ‘bﬂr for the food (R 992).

Opfice (R 992). The rations which twere permitted for prisoners wure
detarmined by the in Sconomic Office in connection vith the Zaleh
Tood Mintstry (R 992). He attenpted to supplement the regula: food
supply (2 9292). The office had reduced the amount of vegstables
from 3500 grams to 1000 grams per week (R 993). MHe brought Tive to
saven thousand Kllogrars of pre-cocked soups dssplite a prohilltlon
by the ain Office ?r 992) » Furthermors, he brought 2000 Eo 3000
Klograms of beef, veal, and big bones for soup and fa the ymars
1943 through 15*!.;5 20,000 kilograms of bean and pea sesds {7 9’*32
It was through his efforts that he obtained for the carp 30 and L0
per cent cheass rather than 10 per cent chesza (R 793, 7%4).

Fillsboeck went to the Food Officer in Dachdu and ordersd that
the rations be maintained (2 99k). He took this action on his own
because he "knew that something had to be dong" (R 27L). Tomard the
end of hostilities the lack of transportation made it wery difficult
to obtain food (R 994). The problam became more acute in view of
the fact thau the population of the camp had increased by “lfisun .
thousand (R 99L).

.'I.".I.lluhuuuk muc:.'nad. hiy orders from Wetzal and from the Jooooplo .

Pillsbosck denied that he had ever taken the p‘optrh:r of mny of
the priscners (R 99L). Has Lad always instructed fuos: abo worksd

Iur hir that they were not permitted to giwe sway anybhing thal
ed: to the prisoners (R 795). HEe deniled taking part in inhe

emu on of the 50 Rusaian prisoners of war (3 735). He Had been
at the erematory enly twics during lis stay at Dachau and that was
as officer of the day (R 996).

_ During Jamsry end February 1945, there were bebwesn 18000 and
20000 prisoners at Pachau wWno were fed tnres meals a cay, breakfasl,

Tunich and supper (2 994). During the same time the 35 received a
greater quantity and better mality food (R 997). He was not fasiliar -
ity the mnownt of clothas, shoes and food that were stored at Dachan |
{2 997). FPrisoners had reported to him that sone of the inmates were
dying of malnutrition in December 1945 tut he never recefved & report
through of ticial channels (& 998). However, he did see the physical
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condition of the prisopers whom he met each day (R'998). The entire
time that Filleboeck was at Dachau ho worked under Wetzel (R 98).
When Fillebosck received a report that prisoners wore dying of mal-
mitrition in Uscember 1244, he immediately increased the vegetable
r# ion and went to Dachaw and llunich 4 order to have the ration
cutting ordsr rescinded (A 953,954,777} .

Ulina Ritzler who owred a food business in Dachau had been
instructed 4n 1939 that in the event of war he was to furnish food
to Camp Dachau (R 908, 985). As he received requests from ths camp,

he did that (R 989). Fillebosck reguested that Rilzler elircumvant
a Ccheese order 5o that 1T wowld nave the Iull fat cenlenl of 20 pur

cent (R 987). This was done so that the camp received chesss with
a higher fat conteny than it would have otherwise received (R 990).

Richard Turber who was an employee of the Pavarian lMaterdal and
Agricultural Department received reguests from Filleboeck for po-
tavoes, vegetahles and straw (% 303, 784). Fillsboack requesled Luud
without requisitions and Turber did give hiwm beans and pea sseds for
sowing purposes (R 98L). Fillebceck requasted Turber to give him all
the vegetablss that he could gat in the distrdct of Dachau (R 98L),
and ha was furnished with that until an of%fcial from the gardening
administration stated that the Dachau Comcentration Casp had bean
given too mucn (X ¥05). In tne last whrae ysars, aboul 20,000
kilograma of seeds had been requisitioned and suppliad to Dachau,
and t(.hara;}wld have besp sont whether Filleboeck requested them or
not (R 205).

F'a!'-



- =n TG = & 2 o ———
JiF. WilEAnG S i/ aelEsd inshe | ! shad |
Y 1 sidont,
» ._..!. X I - N hoiinad ymtoe Lo n' LnhE .._'.'I; e | e
e i ! . R
Bl =T Eisvies vembe: TR BRE S TS el g dralis
N - U - rend e =t Aty S 2 covnsan 100
X R oL
Teepiass Y e B S0 Seedd 20l LT 1 B2, n
N : i 1 < Ly ) o e | o=
S i iin O =00 soengfbagman AR AR Srebsct saewad dn A
. : ) e A o e . A=, W
= uRer il alay 2o mepand -4 priconoes (2L00B=10a4)s  Ho the oy
Bg L steed =g oves eliapeen it Bin datr ol orewerting opfhaunss JTon
T v ) shy = T
asemlve Cyo e sooo o demfla (3 Zob3 ),

O 26 Aprdldy A0ks, M 1nft Dgchen with & tramsport as
and oo rivard ot Wolfrataicvven on 2 Aprid (GC 1602, 1063). ELs pnid o
the transpert abard~d w1th 1500 privensrs of e 1200 arrived at
at Holfratanausen T 166L). about 15 or 20 disd in iiclfratshausen
Srom aulpcdesion (R 106)), The cuards had beon mmed with rifles (R 2654).
Suards o bhs trdnoperd «fao had sems Lren dAllnell lad hand swarmdas alza
( R 1064). A dop sroun svas a prd of 40 suapd (R IS6L), Svelsch saw
one gaon home & dog e set on & prisoner and saw one 55 fuard Ywating
cn drmmote wibh ls i fio butd but Mo neithor se aor Bnord abontoangy
shootin: (B 16635, 1670). (Cretseh ssz ordarod o pravont sscapss (R 1664).
Degalod balng dn churge of thy transport (L 1666), Gentool lofy collnuned
neiponers lidng an the 2ids of the road ez e parch conddmued [ l'lfh[i'}. .
Minre yas an ordsy thad no riseasr vag b b left unsuarded (Tt 10468).

Grertsel fdontified ia nre=tpial statdnoan I3 e he staterd
thst many prisonars toe vods $o wall sora siot on the iy Ml 1500, Froy
B 7). Oretoch nloc csarriad slist e dld fiob soe 1% with his omn oyn
(R 1567, 1663, Proa B 117). o never fired & shiet [ron the tower and
no ane cvar esgamed (R 1670). COretsch ey Jorced to Ieave the 1) pdople

vihe foll out e whorn thoy foll and to koep mmreitng (& 1671).

e daglarad he never participated in 4 cormou dosi:m te murder
o ol shrant g pedeonera or ey parsane (D 14842)

32. Johmnn Viktor Firschs The acoused Kirsch electnd to testify
anil pads the followin: wisvorn statemants He was GL yeurs eld, had Hesn
spandled in the last war omd ro-sntered the armme in 1042 (R 1275). iie re-
contly had had a brein concussion (R 1275). Hirsch finally came to .
Keatapine [umber 1 in June 1944, serving under Foerschner (4 1275, 1276,
1271). e also servod ot laufering Tumber 3 (R 1276). In Janvary 1545
Firash weat fo the Luchldorf br—cump where he served under Langleist
(1277, 1270). Kirseh tock sharce of a dabadl (R 1278). Tharve were
about 150 prisoners &t j'ueilderf (0 127%). Thay lived in pasteboard
huts (2 1278). The kftehon was not elean (B 1270).  Mrack pave the
prisonars mors food and used up a ynar's potztes supply in thran nontlis
(R 127")e Hp had beilin- insialla‘iona provided in crder to combat the
lice (R 1278). !le provided a bath so th2 oriseners could wash once a
wealk (11 1270). Hirsch obialned mors food and medistne (0 1277).
Previously there had besn 1 dosths 4n one month and under Dirsch the
e p oonly Dad Uhemo duabls 1o bhres and o half menths (I8 1277« Kipsch
adedtted he slapped peopla in the fage or ldeked them but never hard
enough for then to zo to the hespital (I 1279, 128L).

 The #Childron's ActionM, sending awsy of children at Laufering
Carp Humbep 1, was ordersd b, Dechau and transmitted throuph Foerschner
to Wirsch who thought they were beins sent to Dachan to learn 2 trade
(R 1279, 1290), lirsch vas in churge of worl: detetls in Lauferlas lluwdber 1
{2 1272}, la counted the formations, moeda spot chacks, and sa-tines led
tien out the zste (R 1262), !, adnilted that shoss may hava baon Loken
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A O 7 T o AT oah b vork datatye (% 1273)
fean sick prisoners for hoaltay omes o) g‘:i.ll ot bhe viork LA8X
'i!ém‘rfns forted to cerr qut official beatines, five to thenty-flve lashos;
at Kawfering Cop Duwmpop 1 (2 1273), Krsch enly panisha prﬁﬂmra-

to 'i:r'umnt their settine mors gewrd punishmenter (T 1283-12C G

e

Gy Bagbdhire ‘Soew Brach as a gphod coldise oid mevop ot

of s mistroating orisoners (1t 1262),

33, Tl Bewdn Hahle The accosed Lahl alscvsw to tiestify el made
the fallovdn: unsrorn statomonty He vas a LS yuar old nedhante, divorced
and had one eiild (2 1001). From 1940 to the liberation ho had been a
Asrigvnar ab- Daghiauy wserdng & Sreen trdelisle aad worliles in sweorfowe
datal 15 Idka constraction, cleanin: up after alr avweis, and In the
erematory (R 2JA), Une day dnlfunich he found ogne wimn and dres: it
and ha was ponlshad with others brobeinr foretd to pith on voodnn 5oy
and to otand in the cold from 7130 a.m. to 5930 peme; axdt he himsolf s
then Jabnlled to bs sent ont for extercination to Buchepiald, autlausern,
or Hatm edller (i INIG),

liahl asked Tor a job in tho crematorium and Benparts, thn

administrator, took hin to halp burn the gorpaes (T 14L2). After

two months he and other prisonars wers forced to po inte cmnp vhenever
. un axecution toal place (B 3442). Ones B von comt 4s n eomp ot Taw Uls
1 whare ha was forced to lelp hang two priscners (R 2L3). Bonparts was

in charge (R 1443). Iater he had to cloar owey the bodies and atiand

at executions (R Lik)s Mehl had to put the .ooue wound thelr nesis

amd removs Lhe bodles and coild not refwne to do so (R 1M, Udis). When

the 90 Russian offfesrs vere ahiot, he helped remove the bodies on carts

bub never Had a gun in hls hand {® 14hlk) s Todmy was the firat day lie could

deseribe these titncs (R lh).

Boeiiger was present at the hanging of one flusakan in which
Bongartz pushed away the chair (R U45). Hezhl was not present hen
Doctor Hintermayer injected two pregnant vomen, but assuimd this from what
WA had heard; later he saw Dongartz shoot the women bacmuse they wors s$ill
alive (R 1LLG, 1l6). Yahl remesbers that ths 90 Sjusisns ssos undressed
vehind the cramavorium md ware shot 4n the neck, ut % navar shot
anybody (R LL7). s merely helped cart tlw bodies awy (R ALT) .

. Hal'll took part in the exeontion of fwe Russians Ln Dotnba= 1ol
by putting = repe around their meck with Sonparts pulline ey whe bex
(R 1LL9). Ho declared that when the corpsss wers brought in on transports
the confusl n was so great that 1t was possibile that & earpse mizht have
fallen dewn (B 1LL9). Yahl says thut everybody today olsims he did
not do anybhing after 1 Jamuary 1942 at Dashay (8 19) .

. Vahl remedbiersd 2 Russian detail Moutdated by the Dog Conpany
(R 150). e recalled that the Jewish details that worksd 4t th cromae
voriun were always hanged and replaced (R 150), M crematoriun detail
was ldlled becavse they lmisw oo much and he himyall wns saved basauses

the Americans cape bafor~ he yas finighed oif. A1 these tlhdnge: sasursd
between 1902 and 19L5 (2 1i51) .

Helter pab the trarvisports topether that went to bo axtarminated
(R 1152). As tc the transport that came in in Fabruary 1943, 50 or 60

Gorpses were raceived overy weol and from lovembar 10LL thsy 4
£0 100 to 150 a wasle (R 14EC). bl ity 3 paraason

1 mm fmaw most of the aceysed (R Ly5h). He recallad Docbor
er killing 10 young people with injections beomuze they had

e e 1&55%-- Trenkls shet ngakyd Vehl's tosth out B

56), Mahl was a capo from July 194k to th “end @id Had to work hardep

A ey g “"“"”"‘ﬁi’m 12§ %wﬁ)-wi s wee botier. ety
Weisa bocane comandan Jo 6 sav Wetss at fanlering o an




“thoss at the cramatoriwm (7 Lud?).

Mo living body was avor cramated since all bodies would 1ie
in tha crematorium for about eipht days bafare being burned the pile
bedng 8o high (R 161), Ie never san Kramer at an execution and only
saw Trenkle once (R Y. 1tahl remembers the French General Delestraini
who was killad by Songartz (B 1L62). Bwngariz alac ahat U, Rascher .
(R 1457). He recalled being ireated by Dr. Schilling for malaria (R 1463).
However, he refused to take injsctions for fear of beins killed (R 2L6k).

Ieonhard Bichbtergsr, an accused, stated he sax 1Tahl holding a
machine pistol but he knews Uahl carried out all executions as a direct
order from the adjutant (K Luli3).

alj. Walter Adolf Langleist: The accused Langleist almcted to testify
and made the following unsvorn stalement: He was the father of one

child, and he came to Dachau in August 193 and stayed until 30 May

19l as comnmandsr of & puard battalion (R 1330). ‘e had not been &

mesheyr of the staff and had hHeen & patient Ior three mwnble in 1%L i.n

the hospital (R 1331). lie did guard duty over details at Kaulering and
was tranaferred to luehldord wharn hm did the same duties in helping

to build new camps (R 1332). There were 2,000 prisoners in Muehldor! and
food was furnished Ly the OT (R 1333). Juehldorf was a good camp (R 133L).

Langlelst claimed he never touched a prisoner (R 133L). Hlrsch .
sarved under him and made improvements (R 1335, 1330). Lanpgleist knows f
Kramer who was @ very ahls pman and hs eanict say amrtiing bad about m
(R 1337). Lanledst at ons time was a colonal in the 38 and vas commander
at KauParing Humber i (R 1337), and wau in charge of luehlderf (R 1330).
He racalled the huts at Kauferingz Mmber 3 and haufering lurber || and stated
sach prisoner had (0-A% centimmters of space (R 1339). Either one or
no prisoners died at Kaufering Humber L while he was in commad (R 1339).
Langleist doss not know Doctor Pried, and nevar saw Kirsch ar lrmer
mistreat anybedy ( R 13L0).

Johoniri Kastner, o formar affiosr at Nanhau, lknaw T.nﬂglﬂiﬂ‘.!i'
from Esufering flumber L (R 1343). Langleist was a decent person and
ordsred all beatings stopped (R 13L3). Nastner naver hesand that Langleist
pushed prisoners into & pit (R 13LL). Langlsiat was transferred to
lushldorf becanss he complained of conditions at Kaufering Humber L
(R 1345). EKastnar never saw Tarpel or anyons slso beab anybody in .
Kaufardng lumbar L where hs was for eipht monthe (R 1306) . Kastnes fur
nished guards for the camp and held the rank of captain (R 13l5). Kastner
?;minjh:hr;?ud around January 1945 when dead bodies were hrousht to Dachau

ads 2o Sohann ScHooppy accusad Schospp elacted to testify and

: fn unsworn obtatsment: Ilo weo a 35 year old Rusnlan
citizen (R 1672), He came to Dechau in August 1913 and was assignad

to the 58 and staysd there until 2 October 1943 (R 1673). Y= was
hespdtalized at first and then went on furlough (R 1673). On 1 lovembar
1913 he was transferred to the br-camp at Teldafinz whera ha was put

on guard and was ordsred to see that nobody escmed (R 1573). He stayed
there until 23 April 1905 whan he returned to Dachmu and jeined & trans-
part going to the Tyrol (& 1673, 167L). Prisconers in the transport wers
in poor condition and he went along after them in a froight train being
tofether with the resorve rusrd Laustarar (0t 157L), i -

dchoapp wad u resarve : AL T

fe had nothin: to do with sroventing i sacape of arischers (3 1674}
i B L v‘.r.-‘ur.!_»-r: on that transport and as a 1*&.‘:1:1":.-1. Az 'N’"mt: Ehlﬂ.‘t': m

servs §f callad apen (R 1675). Thare wem about 100 of theus reserve
irds and thare wers plenty of actual gwards (R 1675), He vas tant &
“wr-‘ﬁﬁ (1 é:g * 5 m who was not an officer, and fha was aot

! (- G e s a A Y -~ . ' i A )
he neve thif‘. 'hhll'ﬂlﬁ“ msgﬁnr (Rﬂgg?g-{a. nt Garmdseh to aet tlora e msesdted)
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e — ASEDVY CIATAE WA N0 lormation 6T ELL nad 40 coriEmding
officnr ims visihle (B 1577). Ue &l not Mive & sua md &34 not reliewm
ares mards (& 1677). Schoeps &id ot volontedr for ths Serran Sy=y but
am salectad kb randen becausa ke tos in the agsezrour of 17 te 3% (R 1670).

Sine Peichtner was & political srisoner af Jsshau from 3 July
1942 untdl 1 Uovambar 1942 at which tise hn way trausler ed to an oute
side detail in Feldafing (2 1077). Wxiln o4 Feldafing, Feichtner lmow
Scionpn, ¥io was Jary mood to us prisoners® 3 1079). E= m‘mrr::m
M= dstreat or falie part in thn oxscntlion of wy prisomer (R 1350).
After 1iberation Felchtner invited Schosim to 'da haow (- 1070).
Salidepn wis a puard at Taldafi=- (1 102), and wnz armed r-it) a2 +ifls
(It 1071)s Schoapp's geasral ropntation siith rompact te the treatmont
of prisonors was sood (@ 1002).

35. Aro Lipmanny ™y somuaad Are Iismans sloetad S0 teatifly
and =xde tha follei=s- unamorn ntalecanis e vme 3 50 moar old shoa-
malosr and Lad sorvsd in the Juruas Accy Srow 1912 to 1712 R 102 e
Joinsd the 85 4n 1727 (R 1j10). s Hishest renit in the 85 vns Cher-
stirafushrar (P 1431). e had bees ot Dachau sinse 1935 and *ma staticned
at the fouferins by-cazps (R 1L08). ife denisd the story of separatins a
Sather and a son prisoner and of bontings thw son, end also of 2irine
.—- into & garbaye pit ab prisonors add Leating tiwe (2 1007, 1400), Lipsnana
. vas employed a3 & Sehutsiimftlaserfustrer and gave orders that no
prisonors ware to ba beatan (I 1LODY, e was present at only onn fMepiaz
but had not ordared 3t (i 1L00, 1h09). At this flogring, mriseners tere
beating other prisoners with a stick md Jipp ann reporied this to
Yetas (R 130),

Yaris Lipieann 45 the 62 year old wdfe of the accuund Arno
Lippaasy md thy nothar of his thres children (R 14%08). 3he saw cud
tulind to prisoners shout Moy imsband (10 U406). They spoke very wmll
af her lmsband and sald he never nlstreatsd awbody and mary imubed to

accompany iw vhen he 1aft (R 2407). Ivs, Lip rana gave food to tan
prison=ca (3 2aph,

_ Jather Poase imeu jrpold Iippmann durdng the tirv e wag in
Dachau (2 907). Tat'ior Paase savor heard of Idppmmnn nistronting any
of the prisoners, and on the averc-n, Lipprann held Lack and did nothing
. to then (R 208). Livomann waa canerally callad uGhrandfather® and uas
feared leas than tiie othars [ 930),

Anten Turcraier; an e waper in the towm of Sachau, am
Lippsasn for siz %o sipht veur. =g a pilat zad nineamn nan ‘r."t@’ﬂlayed
sards with him md ias sob eriel bo amrtedy (2 1h03). '

-

Jonann Forster, a b vimey m=n Uvins asep Dnchan, Imee Iipsrany
ten years as a qziet serson oud never heard or smr hin balns eruel 4o

anybody (R 1Lok),

)
-

] The acauscd Doselor alaabad ¢4 tostily .
6T Statemark? fo wan i yearc 014 204 hig ciﬁmi‘gzﬁm
SSe accowrtant (R 1223), i Gotober 1933 he

meine 3 (B.Izao} -# Az transiorred $o Dachou om 2)

s Wille there, br was ba:talien corrumidor of a quard

| Serned witl carrying eut cutaide sacu b A

d nothing to do vith tha prisonsrs 79 12419, i
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e puards wore nob alloved to sivry sticks in their hands and vero nob
alloind to beat the prisoners (2 1221).

Dopalow admibtod Wiel he wns in charge of all ths oubside 38
Luapds (B 1225)., This included haufeping whers he hdd o00 5*41::.;_&3 (& 1229}.
Thase pumrds wers aot permitied to go into uhe wuapound (1L 18257 Vevmives,
thay did man the towers wideh surrcunded the camp (R 1225), They did
hive the dite of ruarding and preventing the sriguners' escape tub
they worn not in chargs of then (7. 1225). Dezelow nevar too's part in nor
d3d any membor of his hattalion take part {0 exacutions (T 1221).

t1ith vespect Yo 4 trarvport wiich left Dachau oit 26 apral
1646 ha had the task of cbtalning rastlng places for the columns (n 12213,
Thig duty had been assizned to him Yy the canp covender Veiter (R 1221}
The mareh had Seen ordersd by Weiter (2 1222). The priscmers had Deon
Mwided inbe sactions b the Schutshaftlarerfuslirer asd the pnards nad
man detsiled B the Adjutamt, Obbo (1 1222, 1226). ia denled taat he
narghad with thn prismmars Because hn alweys drove ahead (f 1292) .
Me darded that he ewer hest any of the pmisoners with o stlck on that
march (B 1202), At that tine he was a major md the vitness Telf had
sailed Him a captaln so appapnntly Welf had been mistaken in idantl=

fyins hin as the individual wio had beaten a prisoner with a stick
(R 1222), Furthermore, tlern WS & captain Who nad esimilar physloal .

toup by the name of Daver, vho was on the transpert (R 1223).

gn 20 april 1945 bhe gave the ordsr that there weuld be no further
narcliine and ordered that food ba distributéd eventhoish the uriscneruy
wad alpeady pecsived their provisions for the day (R 1223). IHe denisd
thut he wvnr cob out ef a car and hit u man with o botile at lnolfratshrisen
bocause ha navar even stopped at Wolfratuhaugen (R 1223). il denind
that he hod ever lad & conference in any inn or tavern a2t \olfratshousan
(i 1223). ‘e depded that he had ever wbopped along the way to b
some boar or food (R 1221, lle turnad the prisoners over separately,
thet Lo, bhe TMuasiuns and Polea ab one tdme and the Gozmana and Jewa ab
angiiler Lime becauss of an order he Mad ysceived from hds superior
ol ficer in the 53, Zberstedn (R 122)). iy [

_The zuards wio accorpanied the prisonsys o the transport of 26
Ard) 10L5 viare not wnder e supervision and centrol (R 1228). At that .
time the guards wers all mixed up (& 1225). '

Deselow denied thist he vas the cormanding of Moer of the march
and stated thot e only issued tlho ordar taad the march would stop which
wag in ownopdanes iith the instrustions of the caup corsendey (R 1228),
<he ards wio aceumpaided the transport were not fron his battalion but
ran dlousenbery and the comand post (U 1226). Tul thess puards vere
ok subject to his directlon and supsevision (R 1224), The Ohersturn-
%h;ma“:aig:rrzbnl ﬂi";v::“ tﬂ.:’ﬂ:-:rh the transport but did rot stop (2 1227).

bersturnbanifushray had only stven tha r to start the 1
ol ey o only siven fhs prder to stert the march and

Dazeloy admilted thst hefas senior in crodes and that he had
ardapsd the ma-ch to stop on sis oim responsitility (B 1227). Ho admitted
';l:lﬂ't, slthaush the cormmandar had erdered the parch, he had done nething
siace, so that Degnlow had o bake chargs 44 order to pravant i layper
catastrophe (I 1227). e adridtted theo He arransed the surrendsy of ths |
I._rampﬂrt (it 12°8). Dauslew statad that if tlmfama.marstmd' Fe :u;-.t.:mf
vt Shausands of indlviduals would have disd Mecause there wars fiot snourh
vrovisions (L 1220). ks n nattor of Zust balove lsawin- Dasha: % had votad
4t & mpating that the entidre compounl Lo surrendered il sas ww—ﬂﬂ
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‘the inmates into the mountains and latblip thom dis there (R 10200, At
‘that meeting the division leaders aid Telss were present (R 122R), ieiss
concurred with Dezalow's opinien (R 1231). During the march lauptwans
Seimartz had informed him that the prisoners wera dying from exhaustion
anc ralnutrition (R 1228). Upon receipt of that informetion ha sald
Shat the prlseners wers Lo be swrrendered the TLrst ni bt (1 12ef)s
Dopelew stated that at Wolfratshausen he deided to stop the march (R 1230).
That was on 2 April. Degelow aduitted that the Jaws and Gemans cone
tlnued to march to 2 camp near Jad Tols ad did not arrive until 30

April 1 1230). Degelow explained that tha mareh continged because of

the apder of a police loader throush tia brigade leader Hlesch (2 1230).
Degelow 14 not ses Langlsist on the march (R 1231).

_ Pandte, who sarvad with the 88 ruard company at Dachau undsy
Degelow, was liaisoa on April 20 and 29 hetwesn the staff in samp and
Degelow (R 1231). The march - as endsped liy headquarters and Degelow proe
cesded to determine places e the prisoners were tnoypsat (1t 1232Y.
Degelos: had a conference vith the brdoade 1-ader ot Forrd sdopd in which

he propased that 600C prisonsrs wers to hn currendsvad (I 1232)s 'Phat
was the only time that he saw Depelow on tiv narel (T 1232Y, uhen the
prisoners laft Daohau they wara gn pposed to =0 o 3ad Tels vhere a
camp was to be operied (R 1232}, runits was an Uhorsturtfisiser i tho
88 (n 1233).

3% Obbo liolls The ascused, Oto Tell, elactad to testify md made
the folloving unsworn Statemenb: i -au o 30 zear pld Garpan, In
dvilian 1ife he had besn a pardener (2 220)." He jotned the S8 an
30 Vay 1935 (R 128, 1132), loll was ot first at Uranienburs and then
wenb to Auschmltz as A gardoner vhere e remained from 1941 until 1945
(R 1433). He navor had contact with prisoners at Auschwitz(R 1433).

Hle came to Saufering Wumber | o) 20 Fabrunr 1945 (R 1h20). 101l
served there for six weeks and was a casp lewdsr (R 128). The liell
conpany had nothing to do with his thowh the nane was ainilar to his
om (R 1429),

Holl checked buildingy sitss for the commandant at the ¢ -
and once noticed threa priscners Aegl=cting their work and boilins pota-
Yoes during yraricing hours (R 1429). He baceama angry and beat nach of them
With a stick over their buttoeks (R 1427, 1L33). The Mold © throus
Hans Stroh riads reports on priammens and requesbed thedy pruilatment {R‘,},ﬁ?ﬂ-}.,
~osrachner did not want to punish then himsalf add erdered 17011 to do it !
(2 1429). Foerschner was his ¢omiender in Enuloring Mumber ) (8 1433).

: Koll & .d had typhus and a frastured arm, had lost the sisht
0f His right sys and was very nervons md excitatle (R 1430), He
danied Eetalor's story sheot sheoting 26 peuple on an evacuatipn treans=
port fram Eauferine Canp Number | (R 1L30)s On that march he was loading

S611 vent ahead to davestipate 2id whon 1w oo back Lo ) not. fiad
any of the prisonery vio _id presumdbly boan survendered (1 2030, 1),31).
S W3 & trasp Eransp, -6 Lut Anpas thar Vorn oriconams Iroty Dachaw,

> few Gemans, one Pole, and tio Sanadtens voe had ten. olotind £
Geman untfors (B 131). ‘o one shot the Pala e oo err 24 2N
mlstreatod mmmg i i@ ¥ole or the Canadians op

bacauas IF his Rad Jows he woulsd heuve iiliad :ﬁ‘:ﬁ %;ﬁl;jh}, Ve
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39, COtte Sshulws The accused Schuls elacted to Yexftily and nmads
the Tfolloviar unoworn sbuterant: s was Li2 years of ape, marpiod and
had throe shilivon (R 1057). le wan a earpentar by trada (1 1007). i
1w opdered 'f5 t50 Oarsan Avmamend Jortis (D) at Daghmy o 20 Foalwiloes
1043 (R 108T7). He hied ael beoa in Dachau bofore thab time (R 1050), -_-.f;r-es;-ﬂ
foy soms military treinin- as a neder of the Walfen 85 in 1012 (B 1050).
fin denisd that he beat any priscners in Soptesibsy of Decgambor 19112 besause
he was not at Dashau then (B 2067). lie was not entirely responsilile
for tha worldss hours at the DAT but orders would be precelved from
Harlin frenm pacple, who had ng techmizal undsrstanding, requiring that
work be gons 1N & certoin langth of Sipe and not readlelay bhal 1L Could
not Ye done (R 1047, 1050, 1059). Thus they wers told thai a louss hod
to ha Yudlt for Himmlnr in & very siob time and 0000 ammurdtion cuuas
had to be constructed in a cortaln poried of #me (K 1059). The prisoners
yare dildgent (R 1060), In ordar to kesp within tha tine schedules allowed,
he had to work them over ti-e (R 1053, 1060). Further=ors, the normal work-
ing ﬂéz-s,}haﬂ not bnon datormined by Schuls but by Obergruppentushyar Foil
( R:1040).

Iv had besn stated thut the priscners were to work Ol hours a

woeks bul Behulz fied determined that 72 hours frere sufficisnt (R 1060).
They naver worked as Ol Hour week (R 1065). They did not work sxactly

T2 Woiirs Uscause thay pecelved an hour and = half at lunch and extra .
ratien tima (R 1068), Furthersore, in tha winter they would work o iibtls
lzter Izt the priscners worn satisfied with this because they did not have
to take part in the formations at 6130 (R 1066). When Pohl lsarned thak
the woricers did not vork on Sunday he became vary excited but wes satis-
fiad (7 1062} . Sehulr adedttod that ho thwewr esld wates on & prlsenasr
but that he had not intended to do so (R 1001). There had been long
smoldng rocesses in the toilets and S8hulz would go ofi the voof Lo ses 1l
sopecne vas hiding and then would pour a padl M1 of water, but He &id
nob pour the water on tlose sitting on Lha seats but enly on thoan vio
wave standlng in groups (U 1661). Schulz adrmittad that he threw food
faran e of the stoves into the dirt (A A06L, 1062}, PArtervards 1 waa
oshavied that I let myself zo lile thatn (R 1062). Schulz did not imow
that Weiss had become commandant at that time (B 1062).

Schulz joined the Walfen 83 in January 1912, and the Allprenstinn
86 in May 1913, He was promoted to Unterscharfushrer in the Allsepeins
S5 in 1937 (1 1053). He came to Dachau in April 1943 as en 88 rifleman
tut on the basis of his technical position he could not be loft as a
riflenan but was made an Unterscherfustiier (R 10633, E

The prisoners who worked at tlie TWY wara nob hungry in the
ordinayy senge (L 1065Y. The average was well nenrdshod oxesst thase
Wlo were naw arrivals or received no packages (R 1065). The averags
prisonor enjoyed warking at tho DAW (R 1066), :

_ Farl Steiner, an inmute who worksd at the DAY tas
Schile came to Dachau as the Works EanFur of tha GBE:']M mﬁti{i?xg ét:::n
ﬁﬂw:i“ the DAW in April 1943 (R 1047). Since the DAW worked until 7:00

| ck call at the canp was at 6100, those who were 111 had to get

W parmission from Schulz as work manager before they coild leave
4R 1007, 1052), Schulz would make spot checks (R 10L3). Obersturafuehrer
Mnar vas in charge at the DAN and was Schulz's superior and was present
at tie tine thess spot checks wers mads (R 1018, 10L49).

2060). g nistment veparts were nade to the wWorks mamager, Schuls (H 109
mhm had been known at least once to tess yp such a :epu:t-(ainﬂ'a I
ould have meant death with respect to the men cancernsd (R 1050),
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- Upon s requast for additional clericayl hmlrs, cortain prhests were
datailed to Belp (P 1050). A Barlin order staled thuf sriests “ould not
be used on Hils sort of work Li3 bohnls pus them into positions =3
serdstants and contimed to use then (H 1051).

TMas TIfrlde sllor vorkad a2t the DA front 22 S creh 1943 wntil .
20 April 19LT ond vas in clirps & Uhe cash rezisior and nay books (2 1{251.,.
She only sav Schulz beat one priscner (R 1055). [s zlaspoed hin in the Jace
(R 1055, 1057). Bxtra food was brought to theos prisousr-workers =ach
wine gnd afternoen (R 1057), The cemp cosandsr wiuo the wrk lsadar
lué in no ather renpect had anrihing te dosdth the Nei, that is, he
supplied the workers (R 1055).

L0, Priedrich Wetzel: The accused Friedrich letezsl rlssted to

testify and made the lollcvins unsworn statement? Tz vas 36 years

old and was borm in Wittentnrs (2 956). He came to Dacliau on 1 August

190l o arders of the narensmel sestion of the Booreds Adedrd sbration

Chlef Offfcs [ 957), At Dachaun he was the leader of the administration

and was concerned with the food sunily for the canmp (2 057). The Reich

food office throuzh reguletions determined the alletnsnt for the concen-

tration camps (R 257). Weisel hud to follow those rules (R 957),

de atlenpted to obtain food without requisitions xd in that manner procured

from 5 to 7 Hlogroms of pre—coobed asgupo per menth (1t 254). lie atbemptod
. to loase new land for the camp fogthe purpose of prowla; wopetables and

Ums supplessnting the canp food supply (R 958, 986, 787). In addition,

the extra rations wiich wers perditted for haavy workers under the

requlations were puffed so that this supplement was received for about

10 par cant of the inmatas of the ea w-wm%mﬂw

20 per cent were entitled to it (B , 900, Def Bx 2, 964). Furthermore,

the hospital prisonsrs received lpau-ki n&ﬁﬂml rations upon request

of ihl}_-nhlg)unm (2 955). This was actually accomplished (R 953, 959,

Def Bx | N

fe had nothing to do 1t} the prisciers! quarters although he
&d iseue the fwalturs for the barracks (R $61). He was responsible
for vepairs (B 961). He requested clothing at the Administration Main
Office 1n Berlin (1 961). Howevar, ils requests were not £illed and he
moeived only & very small percentags of what he sought (R 961)., He
sent telstypes and latters siating that he needed the very
badly and still the requests wore uot fi1led (2 951). He was in charpe
. ol 1lssuing rations for transports and did so in sccordance with the
mules of the Adninistration -&in Office (2 962), Ze was alsmo
with requisitioning food for the by-camps of Dachau (R 962). This
respansibility 4id not apply to the work caups of Kaufering (R 962), How-
ever, tho clotidng for these camfs was seoplied by Dachan (R 963).

Betzel instructed Pilleboech te 7o o the Food Office in Dachau
in order to forestall lawering of tie ration unit (- 26L). When Filleboack
returned and stated that thay would have to o to Tunich, Filleboeck and
Wetzel sent to Munich to the County Tood Office (R 965). The official

m:&dmmﬂwumtmzmw:!doahmuu
mﬂgﬂranmm&umaﬁuh?md:thutr;mnm, ma as
mmﬂdMWprﬂmnhﬂrardmmﬁﬂ.
official in Munich had stated that the orisoners in the concentra-
Hmcupﬂmmm“mnhuthnniﬁlmmﬁmmﬁﬁj.

Purthermore, at the very end, the prisoners received the same food
I ﬁ?ﬂﬁgﬂm (R 965). nwmrwtuthmm

: e : camp should be peled. However, this oxder
emanated from the Main AMdainistrative Office and applisd to All kitchens

(R 966, 967). The vegetables were cleaned and cleared of all bad spots,
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cut and washed and then put into tihe soup to he cocked (R 967, 976). 1lo
rotten vepetables ware used (% 967).

Wetzel never beat any prisoners (R 967, 9c8). llor did he aver
abeal anybling (R 067, 768). Ho derided that he wns over pressnt at tha
time new arrivals came to the supply room. He denied that he sver beat
prisoners (R 968)., He had received an order which stated that because of
the loss of large térritory in the east and particularly in the west where
the large textile supnlied were, that they could nc longsr count en
receiving large distributions of clothes (R 969)., Thers was a shoe repair
and tallor shup in the cenp which maintained old thingo in goed sendition
(R 959). Wetzel had shoes mads from old lsather parts wiich he had
found lying outeide the camp (R 569). All the priscners %o ¥ent to
woric had overcoats and sweaters and all the detalls sdthin the camp had
overcoats (R 969, 976). Even though an order had ceme from Herlin which
stated *hat prisonars who worked in closed rooms were not to be isusued
overcoats (% Yoy, YiU). Un the basis of this order, wetzel had the over-
coats turned in for e few days and then relssued them (R 970).

P 11leboecl: was Watzel's food expert worker, and he was under
his orders (R 970). Fillehoeok had to sizn out each time ha wanted
to ro anvwhers and. so fur as \etzel imew. Fillebosck had novor atiended
any exascutions (R 270).

Yith rosmact to the transport wiich laft Dachau at the end of .
April 1945 under the leadershin of Depelow, wWetzel stated that, when Degelow
sayt Filleboeck and him, he grested then by saying, "You are the first ones
whn arve ymying suy stiantian e dhie {eminpent snd to myrsedf, Ths momp
comiandant and the adjutant and the ordnance officers drove by this
morning and didn't ever show their faces® (R 971). Degelow stated that
the prisoners had sufficlent rations untdl they would be turned over
to the Americans (R 971). Zach transport widch left Dachau was equipped
with suf dcient rations for the surch (R 971). Yhe train transport, the
only ane of thab Lyww whlch did Isave Daghaa, had rations lor four or
flve days (1t 972).

The destination of the Dapelew trans was the Ertz Valley
which was atout L0 kilomaters @way in the vicigim:; of Inmsbruck (R 9272).
There vore two food varahow es nt Dachauj one was for the S5 and the othey
for Llm prisousrs (I 273). Tne warenouss in the 5SS camp was abot four
meters viide and elght to ten meters long (N 973). The prisoners! warehouse .
vus two or three times as larse (R 673), Thers wore also twp trarehoises
for clothing (Rti?h%. At the tinme the tranghorts laZt, these store
reoms vera pracyieally empty (B oo7l), Yetsel conld net ar the o
rooms of the S5 (1 975). pT!H oo iur the 53 c'amédf‘;zn "Egiﬂingeﬁigtm
vrrics (1 975). The food wlidch the ruards received durizr 19 5 wwas
betler, bul nat much better, than thit the prisoners recaived (R 975).

Jdoctor Friedarieh ¥ilian who was & government counsslor in
the Food Dopartment in unich, Sermany, was visited in 1047 kv 4re 88
o ficlals w o desirved to pet hicher watdens (R oM. Ia I.'.alr.l" them ;he.e.
he did uot hava the piwer to chansn the orders of tha Relsh Toed Minds
and thnt ils ovders iad to be Collowed (3 D75)e le idan $ng 2
33 o-flelals a5 uatsel cad Mllsleoes): {E‘: OnY. .

Ly
tifiad thay o

Vietzel's secretar: tos: Iattais

el he dief Sali R i
olotting and whitell wmsa slidsrssad ba flie 3 tabed concarnin

88 Tlali Advdnlcsrciion Cedce 1n
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Oramienburg (R 970, 901). In these letters were requests for clothing,
Joclis and sioas which were not satisfied (R 9M1).

Anton Teber who was in chsrge of the clothing supply room for
Arisoners &lse worked for Wetzel for sbout eight months (R 982). Ille
lnest h-% & ¥sletype had beea seul Lo Berlin lo widuh lerger quantlties
of cloviing had beon requested (R 982). The response stated that those
quangities of clothing had been requested (R 902), The response stated
thet bliose crantitlies could not be received becauss of the large amount
of territery wich had besn lost by the Carmans (R 902, 983). The
teletype vas sent either in 19l or in the beginning of 19LS (R 983).

3. OComon Dasitng

The circular of the Relch Ninlstry for Food for April 1945 indi-
catad a nomal adult German would be entitled to about 900 calories per

da;” and a heavy laborer 1300 calories (R 1530-1531, Def % 20 and 21).
flovgver, whess Iipures do not include vegetables, potatoes, cheese and
coffeas (R 1531-1532),

1. At Dachaus The Dachau Concentration Camp had inmates termed "special®
prisoners viao were completely separated from the rest of the camp (R 1000).
Each had Iis oum cell (R 1000). In July 1941 there were only three,
Proter lilemoeller, Doctor Masck and Father Neurhrusm (R 1000). Gradually
the nuzber of special prisoners increased,

2. AL foufering and luehldorfy Doctor Erica Flocken, a 33 year old Garman,

“ormerly chief physician of thn OT Field Hospital had been associated with

the OT for alwost 2 year and worked st the by-camps Muehldorf and Kaufaring
(# 1375, 1370). GShe stated that the OT was responsible for food, shelter,

bandages, nedicine, aid fixtures for these camps (R 1377). Ration Number

L was provided for the working priscnsrs and was dispensed by the OF

aiter vhey had received it from the Army (R 1377, 1378). The 88 had

Arey Ration Number 3 (R 1378), Ration MNumber i was considerably higher
than the givilian ration and the invaldd satian (R 1378). WHen theye

was a surplus in ration lumber i, it would go to the 0T (R 1379). Tha

88 had no Jurisdiction over the Off (P 1379). In February 1945 as the

Arerdeens drew near rations ware roduced, the last redudtion beingz in

April and at the time Ratién Humber L was not enouzn for laporers and

Was equal to the civilian ration (R 1390) .

A% Lushlderf there wers about 2,000 prisoners with whom she had
conbact (M 1331), She saw them occavlonally and watched things regarding
Wio sicl as 46 labor distribution (2 1362). Doctor Mlocken was relieved
becanse of too mmch work (R 1383). Tho O had no jurisdiction over the

Prisoners (1L 130L). Army Ration llumber 1 and 2 were never issuesd by
bhe OF and Rullon Mumber L contained between 2100 and 2200 calories—-this

being nrlor to the redusticn (1 1313, 138L). During the -
ories vere around 1500 (1 133%). ’ . .

She was not responsibls for the nedical care of the priscnars
wideh vas undar the Supervision of their own decter whe mrkudpuﬁndar '
Lhe supervision of the 78 doctor (R 1386). '™e 53 doctor at Kaufering was

Doctor Blanke (R 1386). e h L end, .
laborers 1a OF camps only (R %ﬁ) e sypervisien was confined to German



VI. PROSECUTION RUBUTTAL EVIDENCE.

Common Deaign.

Prinee huBgld. who was nn inmate at Dachan, viaited the
elothing werahouse in Uspember 1944 and there [ound bopha in the cellar
whichwere piled up te the ceiling (R 1768, 1770). The e were aiso

many cvercoats, massss of underwear, shoes and suita (5 1769-1770). The
warehvuuse was about two hundred to three hundred yerds long and aboub

30 to 40 meters wide (™ 1771). 4djoining this storeroom was & large

barracks which wasz alse filled with suits, overcoats and shoes (% 1771),

Tn April 1945, Frinoe Lecoppld again visited tlie warehouse and Lhere wers

still large amcunts of elothing there (X 1771), He saw several of the

58 men from the camp go there and obtain civilian c lothes ( 1772).

Frimee leopold elso sew &t that time thousands of sacks of pre-cocked

soupe and white flour st the eanteen(s 1772). Surthermore, there wers

two railway wagon oars filled with red orcss packages which had been

received from the international red oross but had not been distributsd

to the priscners (* 177%). &after liberation, large amounts of medicines,

beds and mattresses were found ir the stors room (& 1721). The

medicinal equipment alone was aufficient to last for two weeks (% 1721).

The medicines which had come t¢ the priscn hospital had been sent from
Uranienburg (i 1728). Dus to the insufficisncy, other druze were

smuggled into the camp (R 1728). .

There were no typhoid epidemics in the camp in November and
Decenber 1844 (R 1769). However, the first typhus chses were recorted
in November 1944 (R 1718). About 50 people died in the cemp that month
from typhus (& 1718). 4t that time wvarious possibilities for isclation
and extension of the hospitel inte the werking blosks existed (8 1719).
Blook Numbsr 3, which was used to houses 12 women of 11l repute could have
bean utillzed ag well as some store rooms snd the ninth block whichw ae
snpty (B 1719-1720). Eany of these facilitiss were used after libera-
tien (4 1720). Conditions had beooms very crowded at vachsu in 1945
0 that two tents had been erected for storage purposes and other tem-
porar: barrmcks had been built (% 1724). However, many roows which could
have been ussd were not (<4 1724), The typhus epidemic was cheched
fourteen days after liberation (# 1720)., Inths ear 1945 Ur, Blaha, &
prigsoner who worksd on autopsies, had disseoted mbout €6 55 men of whom
gix or seven had dled of typhus (X 1715). Dr. Blaha estimated that

if liberation had not come, not mere than one fifth of the 20,000 .
prisoners would have survived (& 1720).

Up until the end of 1542 autopsias were performed only in
Interesting casea upon crders from the 83 physlcian of the ward or the
ward oapo, Sruno, who had been & driver in civilian life (% 1711). and
until the bezinming of 1044 the cause of death had teen determined by
the male nursing persomnel of tho hospltal who were all laymeu( E 1711).
the uau;.l cause stuted was heart sickness and failure of clrculation
(% 1711).

Friok, Funk, Sauckel, Yosenberg, Kaltenbrumen UGauleiter
Jac'mer. Yauleiter Gilesslsr and dimmler visited Dachau (K 1708. 1708).

“r, Blahe estimated that he had performed autopsies on 2E to
80 peozle during the past three years in Lachsu who had dled as &
result of having been beaten (% 1715). This inoluded seversl high
Hugsian officers who had been brought to the hospital from the
Political Uapartment int he summer of 1644 (R 1718, 1730-1732).

_ Inmates for invalid transports were selected by commissions in
1941, 1542 and 1643 and there was no camp physician present at the
time (% 1717). The selootion was performed primarily by the bloek
leaders under the supervision of the S5 man from the work “Hatribution -




(ffice and in the hospital by the hospital capos (R 1717). It was only
after the entire 1ist had beon completely compiled that the 88 physician
signed 1t (¥ 1717). An invalid transport of 20 men left Dachau in August
or HBeptember 1943, at which time Welss wasz camp commander, (H 1749,
1760-1761).

The phlegmon experiments were purely a oamp matter and were ocon-
ducted from the beginning of 1942 until the end of 1943, a poriod during
which both Plorkowsky snd Weiss were the camp oommanders (& 1716-1717).

In the middle of November 194Z a transport arrived at Uachau from
Stutthof vpen whieh sannibalism had probably beon practiced (H 17168).

The corpses were brought to the hospitel and photographed by the 58 men
(u 1713. Commandant “eiss was present at the time the transport

Eaufering Camp Number 4 had an eleotrical fence as an inelosure
(B 1768). Tt apparently wao chargod slnoe a cet was found whiloh had

baen electrocuted by it (% 1762).
4t the end of 1945 no insane people were found at Allach (R 1718).

V1. PROSBECTUTION HEBUTTAL EVIDENCE,
8. Johann Kiok.

Lieutenant Outh, who had taken the accused Fick's pre-
trial stetement, of & November 1945, stated that he had mot used any
light whatsoever during Kick's interrecgetion which ocourred during the
daytime and that Kick's affidavit containsd his own lanpuage (R 1702,

1707, pros ex 96-87).

Colonel David Chaver testified that when he interrogated ¥ick
that he did not foree him to make any statement and that Xick appeared

to bs in good health and revealed no evidsnces of his having been
seaton (R 1870-1680, luel),

Llowellyn ~dwarda, & British Prisomer of Var who had been in-
terned in Yachau in October 1843 had en interrogated by Kick (2 1668)
After he had spoken to Kiek for about 20 minutes, Kick struck him with
his fists and open hand end knooked out his teeth (& 1668, 1870, 1674).

10. Dr. Frit: Hinterma.er,

The dieinfecting station was part of the hospital
(% 1721). A Belgian Lisutenant named Walraeve, who was an immate &b
Yachau, worked in the station from Januery 1944 wntil liberation
(R 1746-1749), HMis luwedlste GUPBTVLS0T Was S5 Fillmann, who in turn
received hip orders from Dr. Hintermayer (R 1749). In February 1948,
Hintermayer ordared Dr. Schneter to take charge of the disinfeoting
and delousing (# 1721). Inthe latter of 1944 a disinfeoting
station arrived mt Usonsu (R 1740, 1748). It had been ment framthe
Ausclwitz Concentration Camp (X 1740). After it arrived it was kept in
erates din froub of Lhe barrmcks for weeks (R ival). Ur, Hintemayur
claimed that a specinl tochnioian from the factory was the only ome who
oould set up the apparatus, even thought here wers technicians in the
cump (2 1741). The typhus epldemic was set'ing underwny at the time
(R 1741). & mggesation had been made ta Vr. Hintermayer to use the
house of 111 repute for isolatinn purposes, in view of the epidemin,
but he did nothing ahout it (R 1742).

Eviplaatrium wes frequently used as an ambiseptio in surgery
(R 1714), It must be injeoted slowly and it may be administerad in
doses of .6 grams over a long period of time (R 1714), If that amount

were injected fnto the human s stem at one time it would csuss a



paralysis of the resplratory system and posaibly result in death (R 1715).
If it I8 used in greatsr quantities than .6 grams the effect on the human
bod: 15 more {mmediate (X 1715).

111 '-h"t wilhﬂlﬂl witta 191'-

lieutenant Yuth denisd that he shined a spot lizht in +he
face of the aoccuged “itteler while interrogating him, denied that he
made Tittelar gtand on hie feet for seven and a bhalf hours during the
interrogation and denied that he Lhrestensad to use eny force or
viclence or that he abused Titteler in any mapner (2 1701-1702, 1704, 1707).
ine imuerrogation lasted Irom about seven o'clock tntil aléven o'clock
(i 1703-1704). Lieutepant Yuth admitted that he used the most effective
tone possible in condustinz the interrogation and that, naturally when
an odusated person was interrogatod, a different toms of volce was used
than when en unaducated rerson was guestioned (# 1704).

12+ Johann Dentliet Sichelsdoriers

Lisutenant Bowser who had obtained the pretrisl statement
of the mocused “lchelsdorfer testified that Eichelsdorfer had read,
studied anu porrected the statemsnt before siguing and that Sicheladorfer
had initialed all the chenges which he made in the statoment (4 1698-1700
pros ex 1168), TFurthermors, lieutenant Howser had inrormed Eiche lsdorfer
of the charges sgainst him (R 1701).

~igheladorfer was the camp commander of Faufering “amp Number
4 in the middle of January 1945 when Ur. Fried, an inmate, was the
clerk in the office of that camp (% 1784). ur. Fried preparsd the
reports 1or the signature of Uichelsdorfer as dauptmannlageriuehrer
(R 1784). Eicheladorfer had 1ittle contmot with the people inthe
camp and the daily desath reports were usually taken ocutside the camp
for him to sign (& 1780, 1764). Altheugh Xaufering Camp mumber 4
hed becoms & sgiock canp, work datasils, auch as burial, food and wood,
left every dey (# 1757). Toward ths end of Janunary an order was
isgued that no overcosts were to be worn in the camp (2 1768). The
prisonsrs were finally allosed to ¥eep 120 overcoats, bubt the rest
wore piled on the parade grounds where they stayed for weeks (# 1758).

vhen the camp was evenuated in April 1545, Eichelsdorfler
watched the antire ulfair (s 1782-1783).

At Kaufering Camp Husber 7, Efcheladorfer used to beat the
prisoners (& 1764).

1§. dr. Klaus Karl schilling.

Winga on® of Yr. Sohjlling's patients died thores were
orders to report thet fact to the malaris station even though the man
had died in ancther gecti-n of the hoscital (& 1712). Toward the end of 1542
Frofesscr ~chilling was personslly presont at the nutopsy of & munwho
died of neosalvarsan and he requested the brain, liver, kidnoys, gplean
and .a plece of the stomach (K 1712, 1731). In that case Dr.S3chilling
digtated part of the findiags with respect to the cause of death
(# 1712). Vhen ths first three patients died from pyramidon in
Februar; 1945, s member from the malaria station end Dr. Hintermaver
were present (R 1713, 1723, 1731). OUr, Blaha stated that in his
experience as a phsician the average patisnt could receive 5.3
pyramidon & day, and that the largest dose would be 2 grams per day,
but that of course assumed that the individual was healthy and strong
\R 1718). In Ur, Blaha's judgement, the prison inmates oould not be
given more than one and a hall to two grams for a few days (4 1714).
If those people wers to receive three grams var da; for three succsgsive
dave, signs of poisoning would be rovealed (& l-'?l&‘j.



Dr. Blaha stated that an autopsy; revealed that death from pj ramfdon
was the result of sudden suffocation which was not true in the case of
typhus (R 1726). Death from typhus could be datermimed by certain indiocia
without a mioroscope (R 17285).

Uy, Blaha explained that ths ordinary model tablet cemtained
.3 pyremidon and that it is sold over the open oounter (R 1722). If
taken in moderate doses it will not have an: 111 effects (R 1722).

A leaflet of I. G, Farbon, Indisns, whioh held the neocsalvarsan
contained the following instructions: "In between the individual
infesticna, spBcsa ef ddime should be anithud 1% all?ﬂb, from & hroe
to geven days. (Pros %x 124) Thess were instructions for syphillis
(R 1564). In paragraph five in the leaflet it read in part, "Such
caution in the use of neosalvarsan is recommended for under-nourished
anu severes anemic patients, tHbaruuloBis, diacasges of the lungs, heart,
¥idneys, liver and intestines (® 1684, 1565).

17. Dr. Fridolin Farl Puhr.

Puhr's name sppeared regularly in 1945 as the officer of
the day on the hospital bulletin board (R 1718, 1723). He was seen at

varicus times in the hospltal and sometimes was present at autopsiss
(R 1718, 1722).

20, Anton Endres.
Endres, a member of the 85, was a first aid man in 1942
at Uachau (H 1735). He kicked and beat prisoners of various nationalities
(% 1728). In the spring of 1542 Endres injectsd a Pelish clergyman
who was a tuberculosis patient, as a result of which he died (& 1736-1787).

22. Micheal Redwitr.

Lieutenant Guth, who obtained the pre-trial affidavit of the
sucursd Redw!lz, teslifled Lhat ho oover dirscbed m 1ight in Hedwitz's

face, that he did not use force or violence, and that he did not
threaten to strike Hedwitz with anything (B 1707, pros ex 95).

28. Hilhelm Welter.

Tu Soplepbur 1542 “ellor vobered Block 16 mpod pridsred Lhe

Lnnates to stand at attention (R 1742). One inmate, a Czeck diplomat
whowas an slderly man and did not have an erect posture, was somewhat
stooped (4 1743). Walter "elled at him and struck him in the face
twice with his fist (H 1743). The Czech fall down and hit his head on
the edge of a locker (E 1743). Welter then forced the people in the
block Lo llue up vubslds o Lhe sbreeb and do kose Leads for 40 wloubes
(R. 1743). 1If an older or 111 porson fell down, Welter would kick them

(4 1743). A few days later “elter had the eame blook lined up sgain
and segregated the Jews (K 1743). He then questioned sach Jew and
beat almost ever ons of them (& 1743, 1744, 1746).

&0 Wilhelm Tempel.

Tempel not only struck the prisoners in the face with his
hand, but he often knooked them down (R 1756).

51 & Albin urﬂtlﬂh-

The mocused Gratsoh never stated that anything in his
statemsnt was inmcorrect (R 1682, pros ex 117). The statement was pre-
pared and written by ldeutenant Lawrence (R 1683).




VII. SURREBUTTAL EVIDEWCE FOR THE DLHFEKSE.

1. Uartin Gottfried heligs.

The socused “eiss made the following unsworn ststement: During
the year 1943 no invelid tronsports whotscever left Decheu (R 1813).
Small and large travsports dld go to various by-cemps and other camps
(R 1813). People on sore of thess transports had arrived by invalid
transports in Uachau and had bsen sent out after they had been nursed
to health (R 181%). Thers was no group of twenty insane persons sent outon
an invalid transport in September 1943 (R 1814), If there had heen,
Weias would haye known about it (R 1814). Application for floggine
puniahments were made by the gamp sommender to higher muthority and
the ordsrs to execute the punishménts cems fram Oraniemburg (K 1814).
The beatings could only, be handed out if the order had been given by
Oranfenburg (2 1814). The exception to that ruls was when the prisoners
tried to escape and were recaptured (o 1814). In that event, permission
had to be obtained afterwards (i 1814). Vachau was a good camp (R 1815).

8. Johann Kigk.

The socused FKick made the following unsworn statement: He

did not atrike or beat Sergeant Ldwards. Yrs. Ernst, his secretary,
was present during the entire conversation. and he remsmbered the .
Edwards oase ospecially because he was the only British prisomer of

war who was ever in the camp (X 1804-1805). Kick explained that in the

fall of 1943 many prisomers came to Dachau fraom Italy who wero mostly
eivilians although some military personnel were mized in among them

(R 1805). The prisoners of wer were supposed to have been separated

from the civilians at & camp near Salzburg snd the civilians wers then
brought to Uachau (i 1805). Somehow Ldwards must have been mixed up
with the civilisns (i 1805)., When Sdwards, accompanied by a Polish
interpreter, came to Kick he showed Kick & photograph of himself with

his comrades in british uniform and Kick sent a lstter to Salzburg re-
questing that the prisoner be transferred to a PN camp (R 1808). Kick atated
that whan ha was inwtarragatad at Camp ZufPanhansan by Captaln Hallare of
the prosecution he mentioned Sergeant Ldwards' name in respomse to a
question as to whether or not there were any Amerioan PWs at Dachau

(R 1807). Kick denied that he interrogated four or six other Lnglish-
men in the same webk that he interrogated Sergeant Ldwards and that an
English sailor was transferred with Sergeant hdwards (i 1808). He .
admittad that 1f man English anflar had bean Eranefarrad ha, Kial,
would have known about it (B 1808). He did state that {t was possible

that an £pglish sailor was transferred with: dwards but not upon his

orders (H 1808-1809).

Kick did not know of any lavalid transports in the year 1543 and
if gunh a tranapart had Isft in Saptamber 1645 he wanld have hed ta
recelve the notification of such an order to fix up the records

(R 1808).

Mrs. Tialli Ernst testified that she worked for the accusad Kick
from 1€ October 1942 until he left Yachau whichwas & period of mbout
ene year (R 1702). Bhe gat inm Kick's room and wrote hies mail (It 1763).
Kick did very little interrogation (R 1783). when he did question
people she remained in the room (¥ 1793). Uhe recalled an Englishman
who was interrogated by Kick for mbout twenty minutes (R 1784). an
interpreter was also present (R 1794). The “nglishman regussted a
transfer to a prisomsr of war camp sinoe he was & priscner of war and
net & paliticsal prisonse (R 1795)., BShe did net see Kick strilke the
“nglishman at any time (R 1786). She stated that it was possible that
she left the room for a few minutes while Eick was {nterrogating the
Englishman (R 1798). Kick dictated u latter to her requesting that
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prisoner of war that she oovld remember in the camp (R 1797). WNrs. mst
was not able to identify the English prisonsr of war in the court roc *

although Sergeant Edwards, who was in a British army uniform, was in tne
second row (R 1799). Sne never ssw ¥ick mistreat any orisonmers (R 1796).

She stated L at some Hussians who were interrogated in the earl- summer
off 1944 were qm.‘tiamd in a room three Tooms Ay I:R 1'?5'?} e werd

popesns nd yel's coming from that room (8 1787-1788)., The intervogatiof
with tF Hussl s lasted about thres months, but Eick did not take any
part in them (R 1798).

10. Ur. Fritz dintermayer.

it the end of December 1944, Hudolf Lichy, who had been a
prisoner at Uachau since Janumry 1841, became the clerk for the chief
doctor, Hintermayer, and acted as such until liberation (& 1810, 1509).
Lichy wrote requisitions to Berlin for medical supplies (R 1B810).

A request for additional medicine was sent to Derlin Just about every
month {R 1013}. lowawer, Boerliu furnished un}.: about ome thlrd of the
request (R 1810). 4t Hintermayer's requsst he had written to Berlin
complaining about the orowded conditicns of the camp (B 1810). There
was difficulty in setting up the delousing station because only the
mechanic from the faotory was permitted to break the seal as tha
equipnent belonged to the faetory and was only loaned to the camp

(7 1611). Dlyed spevluwps were bakeu fyww Lyphus veases mud sent tu
Berlin becmuse typhus could not be diagnosed in a different way (& 1811).
The number of dead were reported exactly as the death register showed

(% 1812). However, the number of typhus cases reported was smaller
than ths actual mumber because one could only be positive after examina-
tion of & blood sample (R 1812). In “scember 1944 when Lichy first
went to the hospital the typhus wpldemic had mlready started (R 1813).

Up, Bruno Flalkowakl who had been in Dachau from September 1942
until liberation was placed in the hospital and worked there while
Dr. Hintermayer wes chief doctor (R 1800-1801). HE= stated that Hinter-
mayer made all sorts of efforts to obtain drugs (R 1801). A delousing
stetion wns set up at the camp three or four weeks alftor it had arrived
(R 1801). With respect to the typhus epidemic ons could mot deny the
good will of Ur, Hintermsyer, but he was "too weak" in the administrative
sense (R 1802). Hequisitions for druges were ssnt to Berlin (R 1802).
Dr. Bruno Fialkowski received Hintermaysr's permission to use herbs [rom
the plantation although thie was probably forbidden by Herlin (R 1802).

11, Dr, Wilhslm Wittelsr.

The accused Witteler made the following unsworn statement:
He testified that on 4 November 1945 he was interrogated by Lieutenant

Guth who siped & light in his eyes, that he was kept standing during
Lhe eallre inberrogatlion, that he wae called s purdervus smioe aad vbher

eplithets, and that the interrogation lasted from six or six thirty until
ore o'olock in the morning (R 1818).

12. Johann Baptist Eichelsdorfer.

The accussd bicheladorser mmde the following unsworn stabe=
ment: Ha denled that he sver recsived the death notices at Eeufering
Camp Number 4 and that he ever signed anything as Hauptmannlagerfushrer
because he was pever & lagerfushrer (R 1788). FEichelsdorfer admitted
that he signed some papers for the oamp such as records lssued for
materials E;:]‘.?BE}- He pever heard of the arder taking the overcoats
away from the prisoners of Camp Mumber 4 (R 1783). There was a pile af
clothing on tha parads grounds but that was of dead gria_n_mrn (R 1782).
This had been acoumulated per orders of Dr. Slanke (R 1783). Eichels-
dorfer was forbidden to emter the camp (R 1783). Camp Number & motually
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i %Enph who were healthy and he did frequent there about ten times

1784). He denjed that at the time he signed his pre-trial affidavit
that he had been advised of the charges agajnst him (E 17e4).

18. Frane Emtt;nr ¥

The accused Hoetiger made the following unsworn statements
Ha denied that he struck “ergeant “dwards while in the company of
Commandent Weiter (A 1819). He stated that at that time he was Second
Happortfushrer, had only had the job for about two weeks and it was
unbelievable that he would have acecmpanied the commandant on an
inspection of the camp (& 1H1E-1520). H& admitted that AT soms times
ne did strike some of the inmates (& 1820).

2%. Anton “pdres.

tndres made the following unsworn statewsut: Ue denied that
he injected any patients in Block Number 1 (& 1780). Us denisd that
he had ever beaten prisopers with his £ist or iicked them (R 1781).
He mdmitted that he had slapped prisoners in the face "im order to
correat them" (R 1781). Endres stated that he was e rumner in the
ho#pital and that he had no ward under his supervision (R 1782).

22. Michael Redwite. .

In January 1942 sedwite was Schubzhaftlagerfuehrer (R 1821).
Karl Horn, who had come to Uamchau ae & prisoner about the middle of
January 1942 end was there until liberation, never saw “edwitz mistreat
any prisoners (R 1821-1822). He hed known Redwits from 1882 until
1936 (R 1822).

The accused Redwitz made the following unsworn statement: He
was Schutzhaf'tlsgerfushrer in August end September 1943 (* 1828). He
did not see any inyalid transport leave the camp in August or September
1943 camposed of about twenty psople and if there had been such a
transport he would have known about it (& 1823).

£5. Wilhselm Wslter.

The socused Vielter made the f'ollowing unsworn dtatemsnt:
fie denied that he beat & Cgech in w block in the mapner in which the .
witness Sohnabel testified (R 1776). He admitted that he had been ip
that block, however (i 1777). That was in September 1844 (K 1777).
He denied thet he beat 200 or 300 pecple whom he had lined up inthe
hleok street (4 1777-1778). BHe also stated that his right hand had
been operated on and it would have been impossitls for him to hit so

many poople with his left hand (R 1778). He admitted that he had
slapped prisonsrs in the face (R 1778). He addsd, "However I never

used any cbject ¢ do that." (R 1779)

40, Friedrich lletzel.

e accused Wetzel made the follewing unsworn statement!
He ¥new of ne large warehouses where clothing was kept (R 1788). There
were gome rooms in which the personel effects of prisoners were Yept
but whioh could mot be givem out (X 1788). Of course, there was an
accumulation of items such as shoes to be repaired at the cobblera
shop, clothes st the tailor and at the laundry (R 1789). As for the
oantasn, thars was seme whest in A room which was about four by six
meters and about as high as a barracke (R 1789). Wetzel could not
give out ths clothes that belongzed to the prisonors becauss of an
order of the main office of administration and security (R 1780).
These clothes had to be distrituted %o the prisomers wgnn- they were
dismissed (R 1760). B85 men were omployed in this sdministration of
paraonal affecks (i 1750). at the and this alothing was loadad on
transports which went to Ctztal because the prisoners were supposed
to be there (R 1790).
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“WIIT. PROCEEDINGS.

The charges and particulars were referved for trial to the
General Military Cowrt appointed by paragraph 3, Special Orders
Number 30k, Headquarters Third United States Army and Eastern
Mlitary Distriot, dated 2 November 1945, pursuant to request in
letter, Depiuty Theater Judgs Advocate's Office, Wer Crimes Branch,
United States Army, European Theater, subject: "Dachau Concentra-
tion Camp and Subsidiary Camps," dated 30 October 1945. The
appointment of the court and the procesdings thereof were in com-
pliance with the provisions of letter, Headquarters United States
Farces, European Theatar. subject: "Trial of War Crimes and Re-
lated Cases," 15 July 1945, and pertinent Military Government
directives and instructions. The dccused were represented by a
lieutenant Colonel, JAGD, a Ma jor, and two Captains, all of whom
are experienced attorneys. The accused Knoll, Becher, and Mahl
were also representad by special CGerman counsel. A fair and in-
partial trial was had. Challenges for cause wers permitted. The
court advised the sccused of their rights including the right to
have the proceedings translated, and informed the accused that if
at any time any statemont is not clear, they wera to raise their
hands s0 as to call the court's attention to that fact.

IX. JURISDICYTION.

The law of nations, established Ly written agreements and
by customs and usages practiced among the civilized nations of the
world, recognizes that two or rore menmbers of the fwmlly of nations
may become embroilsd in miltitary confliet. Accordingly, 1t embodies
gertain rules or laws gowerning the conduct of land warfare. Thus,
it i3 a well gettled principle of land warfare that prisomers of
war must be treated with humaneness. This doctrine has been smun-
clated in Articles ) and 23, Chapter II of the Annex to the Hague
Convention Mo. IV of 12 Dotaber 1907 and in Articles 2 and 3 of the
Ganeva (Prisoners of War) Convention of 27 July 192%2. (The United
States and Cermany were signatories to both conventions .)

It is also well settled that the civilian population must be
"treated ileniently," "must not be injured In their lives or liberty,
except Tar cause and after due trial," and must not, as a rule, &
deprived of thelr private property. Far 9, Rules of Land Warfare,
mf 27-10. Thus Article 5 c© the Annsx’to the Hame Convention No.
IV, supra, provides: "Family honor and rights, the lives of persons,
and private property, as well as religious convictions and practice,
mist ba respscted.”

It should be noted that the umwritten rulas are binding upon
all elviltzsad natiens, although teachnieally the writtan rules ars
binding only between the powsrs that have satislied or adhered to
the particular treaty or conventlon, and are binding only to the
extent permitted by the reservabions, if any, that have accompanied
guch ratification or adherence on either side (Far 5, Rules of land
mrm; il 2?*1{5)0

The partieulars in the instant case allege that certain indi-
viduals, acting in pursuance of a common design, as members of the
Staff of Dachau Concentration Camp and subsidiary camps did, at or
in vhe wieciniuy of Dacfau ung Lanisosrg, Germany, between 1 Janua y
1942 and 29 April 1945 encourage, aid, abet, and participate in the
anhjection of eiyilian mationals of nations then at war with Cermany
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treatmants. It 4s clear that these acts alleged constitute
viclations of the laws of land warfare, hoth written and unwritian,
and ars properliy to be treated as war orimes.

4 United States tribunal has jurisdietion %o punish an
nffandar, even thaough the wietim wao not a member of ita Forcean

and the orime was committed in a place over which, at the time of
the act, the United States did not have control (United States v.
Versosa st al, G.0. 133, Div Phil, 1 Dec 1500, CM 20888; United
States v Braganza, G.0. 291, Div Phil, 26 Sep 1901, CM 30036,
0.0+ 3L6, Div Pnil, 10 Nov 1901; "Umiversality of Jurisdiction
Ovor War Crimes® by Willard B. Cowloo, 33 Oalifcrqda Law Review
pp 177-218 (1945)).

Further, a military court is a proper forum to try such vio-
lations (Bx Parte Quirin, 63 Sup Ct 2; Par 356, Rules of land War-
fare, FI! 21 -10; pp 831-8l1, Winthrop's Military law and Precedants).
Tha fort that the sourt wis orititled a Seneral H1itary Court
rather than a Military Commission appears to be merely a matter of
nama .  In letter, Headmuarters US Forces, Buropean Theater,

AC 000.5-2 GAF, 16 July 1945, subject: "Trial of War Crimes and
Belated Casea" it i3 provided that offenses “againat the laws and
usages of war or the laws of the occupied territary or any part
thereof semionly knewn ao war orimea" . . + . "comuibbed prive tu

? Yay 1545, shall be tried before the specially appointed courts
provided for in this directive." Accordingly, a specially appointed
military court, such as that in the instant case, has jurisdiction
ovar "War Grines" offenses camitted prior to ooccupation, and over
the affenders.

Further, it should be noted that, as war oriminals, the acecused
are not antitled to treatment as prisoners of war even though their
status would otherwiss have entitled them to such treatment (See
WD, FM, 27-10, par 351; Wheaton's International law, p 180). It is
settled that a persm who prior to being captured comits an act in
viclatien of the lawa of war ia not entitled to the privilegos aud

safeguards accorded to a prisoner of war (P 102, Law of Eand Warfare,
JAGS Text Ho 7; Colby, 23 Michigan IR LB2; of SRIGW 19is3/3029; p 675,
"International Law," Hyde; "Prisoners of War," Flory).
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X MERITS AND UEFENSES

The charge alleged that the accused "scting in pursuance of
a ocommon design to commit the acta hereinafter mlleged, and as
members of the staff of Dachau Concentration Camp and camps subsidiary
theroto, did, ab or im the wilclnity of Dachau and Landsberg, Scrmany,
between about 1 January 1942 and about 28 April 1545, willfully,
deliberately and wrongfully encourage, aid, abet end igipate in
the subjection of civilisn nationals (in Charge Wo. 1) and of
captured menmbers of the armed forces of nations then at war with the

then German Reich(in Charge No. II), to cruelties and mistreatment,
luoludlor kK11llugs, Leabtlugs, bLortures, starvabloo, sbuses and
indignities, the exact names and numbers of such victims being un-
known but aggregating many hundreds or thousands ...." The mcts
alleged clearly constituted a viclation of the laws of war and inter-
national luw.

IL 15 a well-pettled priociple of law that where two or more
persons pombins to perform a criminal mct, sach may be liable eriminally
for all of his acts and of his confedsrates, dons in furtherance of the
common design, and where the eriminal design is sctually carried out,
then the liability of each person who participated therein is deter-
mined by the nature and extent of his partioipation (Uriminal Law,
W1ller, page £25)s Furthormore, all who Jein in wuch common deslgn to
comndit an unlawful act must take responsibility ror all the consequences
of the exsoution of that act §f done in furtherance of the plan although
not specifieally contemplated by the parties, or even forbidden by the
defendant, or although the actual perpstrator is not identified (Jee

Corpus Juris, Sac 46, page 2073). Thus, the prosecution in the instant
case had to establish the rollowing:

a.) That there was present and in force such a common design
or purpose to commit the erime or orimss 1isted;

b.) That the acoused had knowledge of this common design; and

c.) That each accused committed acts to encourage, and, sbet
or participate in the common design of subjection.

That there was present and in full foroe st Dachau and ite by
camps from about 1 January 1942 to about 20 April 1945 & common design
TO commit Oertain acts unlawiul by all the legal and humans standards
of civilized nations was not seriously challenged by the dafense. It
would be absurd to say that it had its origin in Pachau or that it
was first conceived in January 1542, The Adjutant, Kudolf Heimriok
Suttrop, testifying on his own behalf, declared he had been an adjutant
in camps other than Dachav and that common orders governing the conduct
oI all concentration camps came from Berlin. Yhe accused Peter Yets
stated that he had been sssooisted with the Yacheu camp since 1933,
and ths witness Feter Muller teastified he had been m prisoner there
since the ssme year. Other mooussd had ssarved at Dachau long before
1842 and other witnesses had been prisoners there before that date
during which pericd certain atrocities had been committed. Captain
Von Langohott told of mistreatment of himselr at other similar types
of cumps, particularly, Natrweiler. Cthers described outrages against
humanity at the Ausohwits, Mauthausen, and Hossenburg Concentration
Campa. The oondition of the prisomers in the transports that oame
into Dechau gave further forcible evidence of the seemingly common
plan for the mistreatment and extermination of human beings at the
various osmps from which they stemmed. It may be added that in almost
all cagen the viotims were d&soribed ms one or more of s class that
the Nasi hierarohy had judged ve be opponent to its doectrines.
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_ However, restrioting ourselves to what Daohau itself was, the
best evidence of the common design existing within its confines are the
things that happensd there. It is, of oourss, obvious that the only
coourrences that would concern the mocused would be those that happensd
botween the dates mentioned in the charge sheet.

Between Decomber 1940 and 29 April 1945, a total of 161,839
prisoners had been processed at Dachau. Of these, there had been
25,000 recorded deaths and hundreds of cthers had perighed unrecorded,
When the Ameriomns took over on 20 April 1945, they found a freight

train of 36 cars on a aiding within the grounds each car containing
from ons to twenty dead bodies. These corpses wers wasted, emaciated,
and illy clad. The photographs of the soene express a silent condenna-
tion of anyone who helped bring about this particular situation, The
bodies were identified as a transport that had been about to depart from
Dachau but had been tied up for several days due to transportation diffi-
culties. During this interlude the already decrepit human beings that
mads up the transport had recelved 1ittle or nothing to eet, no warmth
or toklet facilities, and no ome seemed to have cared whether they

lived or disd.

The vile living conditions of the camp proper showed definite
signs of having existed for & long time prior to the American libera-

tion. The housing facilities were hopelessly oramped at Dachau for
the number of immates that were being detained and ths conditions in .

this respect at the by-camps, notably the Kaufering atring of camps,
wore even worse. The survivors that wers found or who furtively
gtole back from the wodds to greet the Americans were mostly skin and
bones, inadsquately clothed, and consisted of such Nazi viotinms as
Hussians, Poles, Jews, and so on. Emch oame eagzerly forward in his
own feebls way to tell his own unbelievable story.

The orematoriums were oonspicucus examples of Nazi efficiency
but even these, four furnaces and five ovens, were scon unable to cope
with the volumé of business. The witness |ehl stated bodies often
romained piled up very high for six to eight weeks at & time. "That'a
why," hs sald, "nons of these oould have been burned while still

lving." Colonel Chave:, the war orimes investizator, indesd found
such large piles of thin, emaciated corpses in the two roems adjoining
the orematoriums on May 1, 1945, when hs came to compile & report on

the Dachau oamps. .

dn execution area was conveniently looated near the crematoriums.
The evidence clsarly bears out the fact that the greater part of these
executions were not legal exoept in form. The accused, Martin Weiss,
& former commandant from September 1942 to November 1843, and othsrs,
notably Johann Kiok, former ohief of the Politioml Section, deolared
all exeoutions at Pachau were "ordered" from Barlin. Ths mentences
bhad been determined by administrative decrees. However, no claim was
ever made by any of the accused that a single viotim had had any sort
of a trial, let alone & fair, impartial one, which would relegate all
such executions tv the category of war erimes by all the settled tenets
of international law (Cf. FM 27-10, 356 and other citations).

The medical and hyglenio conditions at Dachau were abominable.
dpldemios were long rampant, and as many as 100 a day, until the
middle of May, continued to dle from "prior effscta” even after the
Iiberation and the introduction of better standards of cars. Froma
typhus espidemioc that began in [ecember 1§45, about 16,000 immates had |
disd. Medioal supplies had bean poor sinos 1942 yat emough were
found in the 55 hospltel by the Americans to have taken care of ail |
patients for more than fourteen days! Dr, Blaha, s prisoner-doctor
from August 1942 until the liberation, declared that 12,000 sutopsies
had been porformed under his direction. The victims had been ohiefly
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Russiane, Poles. Yugoslavs, Italians, French and Jewish and most of the
deaths had been caused by typhus, typhold, tubsrculosis, dysentery
and malnutrition.

Tha ewariad axparimanta at tha prison hoapital are furthar avidsnos
of the general pattern of subjection of the prisoners to crusltiea
and mistreatment. That the prisoners did not volunteer is undisputed,
Humans were subjected to the dendly malaria diseass in the same manner
as animals are utilized feor solentifio purposes. The work progressed

without regard to the individual rignts of the human beinge concerned
and 1t was of no aansequannas sheuld any of thasa human guinsa-pigs

porieh ocn ths way. Sehilling's authorization for his procedurs stemmsd
directly from the Relohfuehrer Heinrich Himmler. In addition to the
malarial sxperiments, there wers the air-pressure tests causing deaths
from hemhorrages of the stomach and lungs, the oold water experiments
where many perished after being immersed in ice=-cold water for from
four to thirty—sight hours sonptanmtly, ths liwvar pmatura axparimants,

the phlegmon experiments, and the salt-water experiments, all of whioh
had their resultant oases of death.

The aystematio beatings, tortures, killings, and heaping of
indignities on all prisonsrs at Dachsu aro most graphically stated
by the varieus witsesess who tesstifisd or whose writtan statamanta

. wore admitted before the court. In most cases, these were not
denied by the mcoused themsslves except in amsbler of degree or
becauss of obedisnce to an order of o superier.

The gensral method of mbuse used at Umohau was universal
sxpleitation of all imaates te the advantage of the Gorman war

effort or the aggrandizement of the Nas! principals. Of thosa who
did not dis by the wayside, the remaindsr would be forced to these
purposes in the form of long working houra or other uses until they
became recaloitrant or physiocally wwanted. At that time they would
be exeouted or brought to thelr untimely end in one of the ways
herotoforo déporibed. A scommon method in later days was the use of
the transports "to heaven" when it wes universally known in Dachau
that such transports heading for Auschwitz, Lublin, Lins, and other
places meant eventual extermination of the persons contained in them.

. It can be eeen, therefore, that very little could have been
hit-or-miss in such a Kaleldoscople patbarn of huwtan expleitatbion.
The design was commorn f'or everyone ooncerned with the running of

Dachau and since it was proved to have existed between 1 January
1842 and 20 April 1546, it definitely concerned each of the named
accused who, at one time or ancther Z\h'm those yoars, were part
of the staff of this notericua concentration emmp.

Enowlsdge of this design by each aooused may be inferred since
for many yeara prior to 1942 each had been part of the Nari world
and sonetime betwsen 1042 and 1946 had become an integral ohaln in
the furtherance of this design at Uachau. Not a single defendant con-
tendod he had been ignorant of all the things transpiring behind the
gray walls snd the eleotrified wire fences that surrounded the ommp.
8o, with the Plux of humanity and the gensral mistreatment and abuge
of 4t to be found Mterally in every nook of the camp, it would strain
human conscisnce to belisve anyone whe was, st least, & bystander
there was not sware of the general state of bhings. Gretsoh and
Schoepp, perhaps the lesst in rank and importance among the accused,
in thelr sole vapacity ws guards =dpit at lesst waring shooting,
witnessing beatings, and geeing corpses. It would seem that any of
the goings-on abt Duchau aleng with the prevalent propangandn-machine
of the Kasi government itsolf would have put all the aooused on notice
that wrongs were beins committed here.
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The camp WAS OTEEIIENO TO OAITY DUV DLISUELVELY AWE QUIpVeeEs ——
It was headed by the camp commandant who was sppoinmted by Berlin. ALl
mail and other business would usually proceed through the hands of the
Adjutant of the camp. The commandant was mssisted by one or more
Schutzhaftlagerfushrers or Compound Commanders. Next 4n line came

the Rapportfuehrera, the nead non-coms over the prisomer blocks, then
the blooklI'ushrers or inspectors. 4All these wore mmubwio wf the B0.

The so-onlled Block-seltestes and Room-leaders ware prisonars selected
to help with the details. Other subdivisions like the labor office,

ths political department, and the medical department, in largs, were
answerable to the camp commendsnt. Thus everyone from the camp oommander

down to ths oapo or room sldest had his niche in the administratioen of
Dachau and 1n & broad sense &ll wers members of Lhe staffs EBveryous

operated as a unit in the purposes of the camp, whother leowful or
unlawful. As the socused Suttrop stated in his pretrial affidavit:
"The above-mentionsd administration plan was a cloesd entity of the
85 in Dachau and eould not have been effective nor worked without the
assigtance of the personnal of the six departments for the purposs for
which it was built, That is, as was ordered by the superlur subhwritles.
Each single one of the sbove-mentiocned coworkers was a link in the
ohain of entity, without his mssistance which was ordered by transfers
or oommands, the whole thing could not have oxinted."” (Pros ex 1064).
It is in the light of this effective machine that the part each
played in the Paochau schoms must be considersd. .
As a general rule all persons concernsd in the mocomplishment
of an unlawful and oriminal purpose are principals (State vs. Soott,
80 Comn, 317). Furthermors, enyone who commits an offense, or does
gome mot forming & part or one of the steps thereof, or assista in the
sotusl commiassion, or any act forming a part thereof, becames R party
thereto. 5o, when one is engegsd in doing something in a chain of acts
leading to the consummtion of an offonss, though he is not sctually
present st the time of its commission, he is principal. (fee Bass va.
Stats, 56 Tex COr. iH; Sturgis vs. State, 2 Okl. 562; and Wharton's
Criminal Law, page 246 et geq.). However, merely witnessing & orime
without intervontion does not maks & person a party to its commission
unless his intsrference was a duty, or his non-iwterference was one of
the ponditions of the commission of the orime (Wharton's Criminal
law, page 2468). DlNevertheless, if he is present for the purpose of
assisting in the commission of a crims, if necessary, he 1s an alder .

and abettor, and under the remeval of the distinction between them,

is liable as a prinoipal. (Brinsgar ve. State, 8Z Neur. bbd)«. Whartven
further defines participation as follows: "Something must be shown in
the conduct of the bystander which indieates m design to encourags,
incite, or participate in & certain mct. It is not necessary to prove
that the party actually aidsd in the commission of the offense; if he
watohed for his companions .... or was in such a situation as to be
able readily to coms to their assistance, he was alding and abatting.”
(See Wharton's Orim Law, v.1, puge 383 & 334; of. State vs. Holder,

163 W.C. 806). In US vs. Ross, Fed Cases No. 16,196, the Court, in
dlotum, stated: "Where A and B go out for the purpose of robbing C, and
4, in pursusnce of the plan, kills C, B 1s guilty of murder. In such
oasps of confedsracy., &ll are responsible for the acta of each if donme
in pursuance of a oommon dosign.” (of. Wharton's Crim law, page 344). )

The nature and extemt of partioipation of each aeoused varied
and must be considered individually.

1. Martin Gottfried Weisa. The accused Martin Welss had been
the camp commander at Dechau from 1 September 1942 until 1 November
1943, It was undisputed that everyone in the camp was responsible to
him. While Welss undoubtedly affected numerous ohanges in Dachau, his x
motives were to inoresse ths labor output of the ecamp. Agoordir '
losn emphasis was placed on certain types of puniphment and
by the wriske wars disnontinund. Howevar. it is 1ikewise ol
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plmhhm;tn of various sorts iroluding Lestings, offioial and unofficinl,

continued, Mistreatment by any of the members of Vieiss' stall was
naturally his responsibility. That ths membsra of his staff enpared
themselves in mumercus and continucus {ndignitiss is clear. ZIxperiments,
such as oold water and malaria, continued while Welss was cammandant.
Tt s importact to noka that Weise' approval for the requisition af
prisoners tc be used in these experiments was necessary. Executions
of various individuals whose punishment had been adminlstratively
detormined by the Heich Seourity Uffice were sarried out with his
sanction. The orders for thess executions and the roports thet they
had been porformed paassed over his desk. Conditions in the camp un-
questionably bsoams mors orewdsd during Telss! ragims. Sanitary
fasilities, clothing, medical suppligs and food were inadequate. At
least ons invalid transport left while Welss was commander. As &
matter of fact, the whole orgy that was Dachau continued to run its
course under the leadership of Martin Weiss, and it was he who, for
more then one war, dominated the scens as & principal.

2. Priedrich Wilhelm Ruppart. Ruppert served at Dachau at
two different times, first from hApril 1833 until September 1942 as &
oamp guard and electrition, and from August 1944 untll 29 April 1945
as Schubzhaftlagerfushrer. Little evidence was presented with respeoct
to Buppert's activities during his first stay at the camp. During thia
poricd, tha assused Fisk sew Ruppart hast s Hussian unbil tha blood
flowed. Tt was when Ruppert returnsd as an 53 Ubersturmfushrer and held
the Schutzhaftlagerfushrer position that he carried on his work with
great enthusiasm. His beatings of prisoners wers performed &g cne
witness described it, much like a blackasmith striking with his iren.

Hs smw to it that the executions were performed, inoluding the murder
of over 90 Hussimn prisonsrs of war in Septembar 1844. Tt was Ruppert
who headed the reception committes for inocoming Uransports, among
which was the Hungarian unit which brought the typhus bearing lice.
As receptionist he saw to it that all the dead bodies or nearly dead
bodies were borne by the Mort express to the cremstory. It i

nt that Euppert who performed all the essential functions of
ths Pirut Sshotzhaft_agerfushrer sarrisad sut his dutisas with an

enthusiasm and vehemence that was characteristic of his L1lk.

3., Josef Jarolin. Jurolin was &t Pachau proper from September
1638 wntil Maroh 1945, From December 1841 until March 1943 he was
third Schutzhaftlsgerfushrer. Prior to that he had been a Happort-
Pushrer with the renk of 38 Unterscharfushrer. Ha ultimataly sttainad
ths rank of Obersturmfushrer. Jarolin oftencarried out his sadistic
instinots in the bathroom of the mdministration building where he
beat the irmates until they were unconscicus. [e attended numerous
exsoutions and was a principal participant in the execution of a large
nunber of Bussian priscnsrs of war. It is not clear with respect to
Ahils labter insideont whother 1€ cosurred im 1041 er 1042. Ruppart
spparently left Dachau in March 1943 and went to the by-camp Allach.
Here he saw to it that the varicus punishments including desth were
carried out and that thy gensral pattern of cruslties and mistreatment
concomitant with ths exploitation of the prisomers' services continued
to bs woven. The individual instances in which Jarclin heaped his
windictivensas upon the unfortunate limpheoe need ast ke rolated herse.
Suffice it to say he performed the functionms of his office, functions
which were an intregal part of the Dachau schems.

4., Pranz Xaver Trenkls. The accused Trenkle who had
received sems preliminary training as block lesder xt Dachau from
1983 uotil 1980 had retwrned to Dachau in Juns 1948 whore he held the
position of Deputy Sohutshaftlagerfushrer or Happortfushrer until
March 1844. After some further training at the Dergen Belsen con-
centration cmmp he returned to Dachau and tock charge of outside work
details. Trenkle not only performed the duties required of his office,
such an aiding in the executions, but he added his own individual
tuuch to the Dachau svene. 'l beat aiud Xloked the priscunsrs, particularly




the Hussians. Although he was not m physician, at times he would held sick
¢all, He admitted that in April 19456 he had shot and killed four Hussian
prisoners whem the Gauleiter of Wunich ordered executed. In view of all
the formgoing, it 1s apparent that Trenkle participated directly and
influsntially in the Dachau pioture.

5. Engelbert Valentin Wiedsrmeisr. Niedermeyer served at
Pechau as a member of the 55 from 1854 until 1 February 1943. From
January 1842 to May 1942 he worked at the crematorium. After that
he becams a block-leader and held that job until he left Dachau. At
the crematorium he helped to burn the bodles. He was supervised by

85 Oberscharfuehrer Bongarz. 4s a blook leadsr he performad tha dAutiss
incumbent upon that office to melntain order and cleanliness in the

blook. Apparently Niedermsysr did mot hesitate to use his hands and
fists upon the prisonsrs fresly while ourrying out his duties. It was
undisputed that Hiedermeyer was at Dachau and performed these duties
as atated above. Accordingly, it must be oonoluded that by virtue of
the nature of the work performed he. too, participated in the sshama.

{ 6, dJosef Seuss, Seuss who had joined the Allgemsine 8S in
1952 end had been at Dachau from 1933 &nbil 1942 returned to Dachau
in August 1842 where he was a Happort{ushrer. Seuss recalled the
execution of 30 Russimn prisoners of war in August 1942 {n which
he was one of the party. He admitted that he had hed ta trast +ha
prisoners perticularly hard, that he had seen varicus beatings, hangings .
antl tertures of all sorts at Dachau. Seuss stated that he had been
forced to sign a statement that he would mever talk about the happenings
in the camp, He believed this had been required becsuse "they did not
want that pecole came to know how bad things were at the Uschau ooncen-
tration DI.IITp"- deuss had epparently been caught in tha web which ha
had voluntarily entered. After having performed his role, Seuss wrote
"1 have always been sorry that I have been at the Dachau Concentration
Camp and that the people there had such a bad 1ife. I know that 20 or
25 banged themselves at the dungeon from despair. I slso kuow that

peopls comuitted sulcide in other ways, for instance by cutting their
veins. I also know that poopla disd frem wealneass and thet others

became ingane.” Im view of the duties he performed and his actions
outside the mcope of his job, it must be comoluded that he too par-
ticipated in the Dachau scheme,

7. [Leonhard Anselm Eiohberger. Eichberger who had joined the ’
S8 in 1835 aama *a DNaahau &n 15 January 1047 and rémalnsd thore 1

until April 1946. He held the rank of lst Sergeant and was the ohief
clerk ia the Schutzhaftlagerfushrer's office. As uhisef clerk he un-
questionably handled all the details in that office. TIn 1944 he was
given the additionsl duties of rifleman and reperter at executiocns.
He mdmitted that he had shot about § or 6 persons himself at these

aranutirme, and thse reasern that ks had not shot more sas beooauso ab

times he was delaysd by his work as & clerk. All tuld, he was present
%8 & recorder when & young Russian was hanged. (Certainly Eichberger's
work was necessary in order for the uffice of the Schutzhaftlagerfushrer
to function. Further his additicmal duties in conneotion with the
executione were sssential. In view of the uncontroverted evidsmce, it is
ahundently alser that Eishberger'a dutiss ecnobtitubod a furbherance

of the Uachau purposes.

8. Wilhelm Wagner. Wagner whowas an S5 Hauptscharfushrer
had served at Dachau from 1933 until 1836 and from 1989 until 1944,
At that time he went to the by-camp Allach. (n 1 January 1942 he
was ln charge of the laundry at Dachau., He apparently wes extremely
vicious with the prisoners, kicking them, striking them, and beating
them with sticks. Those who worked under him suffered almost daily.
When he was transferred to an outzide work detail et Germering his
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the meting out of the official lashings. 4t Allach he aided in the
execution of two prisomers pursuant to orders which he had received
from the sccused Jarolin. Tt is clear that Wagner not only per-
formed epsential duties, but that he added his own personal touch

to the sordid Dachau portrait.
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9, Johann Kick, Johann Kick, who was assocliated with the Gestapo,
wae chief of the political department at Dachsu from May 1937 untll August
1944, Fe returned to Dachau agailn in January 1945 and wae there until the
end of March 1945, During his second term of duty at Dachau he was not
tha chief of the politieal department but had the duty of regletering the
prisoners. As head of the department he was responsible for the compila-
tion and regiatration of prisoners, maintensnce of files, correspondence
concerning the prisoners' death certificates, and interrcgation of the
prisoners. In questioning inmates he apparently used severe methode lnclu-
ding the extraction of fingernaile and toenails. After the interviews the
prironars wars often sent to the standing bunker where they endured addi-
tional suffering, The execution orders passed through his department.
Kick recalled that approximately 300 such decrees and orders had been brought
to his sttention between January 1942 and Angust 1944. Kick also alded in
the selection of individuale who were to be shipped out on invelid trane-
ports. He realized full well that these people would be liquidated. It
was nat omiy eommon knowladga that snch would he their fate. but Kick also
murked the papers of these people s0 ae to indicate that they had died at
Dacheu, Kick's position as chief of a etaff was unquestionably one of the
most importeant in the performance of the Dachan plan, Els participation
wae shown bayond the shadow of a doubt,

10, Dy TFrite Hintermayar. fir. Hintarmayer, whn was not n regle-
tered doctor pince he had not finished his thesls, came to Dachsu in
February 1944, He worked as a medical officer in the prison hoepital .
until September or October 1944, when he succeeded Dr, Witteler as head
phyeicimn, a position which he held until April 1945, Eis rank during
this period of time was Sturmbennfuehrer. The conditions of the hospital,
the typhuc epidemic, whioch raged from the snd of 1544 wntdl May 1945, the
continued human guinea plg experiments, and the extremely inadeguate _
sanitary facilities were responsibilities of the head physiclan, Although
DIr. Hintermayer may not have originally caused any of the above conditions
to exist, he plagyed his part in hias capacity as heed physician., The re-
quests for immatee to be used in experimente passed through hie office.
The ingdeguate medical esare sxicted under his regima. Thae hoepitel
suffered from a lack of sufficient medical supplies, although many neces-
sary elements wers pressnt nearby., Hie efforts to control the typhus
epidemic were pitiful. Im addition to his duties ms medical officer and
head physiclan, Dr. Hintermayer was present at various executions for the
purpoge of signing a death certificate. Furthermore, he personally
injeetod fotal vensa late tye preguant Busclan wemen, It wae Hirtermaper
who pleyed a prominent role in the death-taking elave market formaticns. .
Hie role in the Dachau scheme of thinga is clear.

11. Dr, Wilhelm Witteler. Dr. Witteler was Dr. Eintermayer's
predecessor as head phyeiclan at Dachaun. Witteler, who had Joizned the
88 in 1920 and had scrved with o combat unlt on the Busolan fronmt,
arrived to take charge of the prieomers! hyglene, food, and digease
prevention on 1 January 1944. The conditions which exieted at Dachau,
with respect to these factors during this period of time, are set out in
detell in paragraph IVa, "The Common Design At Dachau', Witteler admitted
that prisoners to be used by Dr. Schilling were requisitioned on his order.
Dr, Witteler elso mduitted that every prisoncr whose condition wae con-
cidered hopeless by Dr, Schilling was transferred into another ward, and
that when such a prisoner died he would etate the cause of death to be a
heart defect, or circulation difficulties, Furthermore, Dr. Witteler
was present at several exscutions where he signed the degth certificate.
Thus, it may be seen that he, like Dr, Hintemmeyer, played an important
part in the Dachau scheme.
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12, Johsun Bsptist Tichelsdorfer, On 15 July 1944 Bichelsdorfer,
whe wae a captaln io the Velrmacht, was assigned to Dachau, At firet he
took charge as camp leade:r of Eaufering No, 8. In Cctober 1944 he bocame
cormander of Epufering caup ¥o. ¥, and 1n January 1945 he became camp

leader of camp No. 4, While he wan in charge of cemp Ho. 7, numerous
deaths occurred, bodies were merely burled in dirt mounds without any
deelgnation. When Elcheladorfer took charge of Camp No. 4, it vas & eick
camp. The living conditions and treatment accorded the immates of that
camp are get forth in detsil in paragraph IVb, "The Oommon Deslgn At
Esufering’. Eichelsdorfer, apparently,alded in the burning of Camp No, 4
shortly before the American forces arrived. DBecause of the various posi-
tiong which he held in these by~camps, & fact which was undisputed, it
necassarily followe that his functioneg were vital in the administration

of the Dachau concentration camp. Ascordingly, his participation ig clear.

15. Otto Fosrschner., Foerschner, a Sturmbannfubrer, took charge of
saTersl of the Haufertng by-camps on 1 Fabruary 1945. About 2.000
prisoners under hie pupervision died during his tenure. He placed the
guilt primarily on the "fact" that all people were accommodated in guch
bad billets. Foerschner in no way denies the horrific conditions which
extpted, He alpo exhibited his own individualiem by hitting prisoners
with stones, by killing one inmate, by beating another with an iron rod,
and hy pundahing women who eonld not physically perform their laborious
tasks., By virtue of hie positions and his individusl acts, Foerechner
aided in the Dachau performance.

14, Dr, Eone Kurt Bisele. Dr, Bloele, an SS Sturmbannfuehrer, was
in charge of the surgical department of the prisoners! hospital at Dachan
from Tebroary 1645 wmtil 1iberation. Apparently he reslized the serloue-
neso of the conditions which existed in the hospltal and the camp, for he
claime that he often reguested the head doctor, Doctor Hintermayer, to
make improvements. Az a matter of fact, he was able to enlarge his own
ward and have "peveral single bedroomes for my patients". As part of his
duties he inspected the kitchea snd the food which was served the
priconers every dey, snd recogni =al vhat the faod wae quelitatively and quenti-
tatively insufficient. Ee also inepected the by-camp Mubldorf and found that
panl tary and medicel facilities there vere extremoly insufficient. Further-
more, T, Hisele atiended at least three executions at Dmchau at which he
eigned the certificates of death. It is clear that Dr, Eieele alded in
the operation of the prison hospital, aseieted the heed doctor in connec-
tlon with hie *eumponplbility for the priconsre! fond and aanitary econditien,
end also performed a necessary function at exscutions., .ls activities
were of esuch a nature that they constituted participation in the adminie-
tratien of Dachau.

15, Dr. Klsue Karl Schilling. Dr, Schilling, at the call of Himmler,
besan & ndvoting hiec malaria experimentes at Daskan in Pebruary 1942, He
continued these experiments until liberation of the camp. It was undigputed
that the immates whom Dr. Schilling used in hies work were not volunteers.
Dr, Schilling'e research wae performed for the purpose of determining
im-unigetion for snd trestment of meleria. Elg requests for inmates wore
medé about wery menth, These liste were prepared in the camp phyeicien's
0iliier gnd bhen sent to tho ceanmp commonder and laber affice. Abouts 1000
selacteens were thup chosen for subjection., Many of them were priests.
The ousber of people who died from tho malsria or foom the drugs such as
pyTemidon or neo-galvarsan 1a not known. ( rtaicly some dled. It is
reasonable to infer that the deaths of man; of the inmates from tubercu-
lonts, Gysentery, typhus, and other disennes were caupsd id part by the
fact that thoee poople had been sibjesled to malarla. Although De,
Schilling's motive may have been slmply and pursly a solentific one, his
activities exemnlified the Nasz! scheme which existed at Dachau. The
W& slaved in that ccheme 1 clear.

- =g




21. Simon Kiern. Simon Kiern, who had been a Hauptscharfushrer in
the §S, came to Dachau ia July 1941, He was employed as a clerk in the
office of the Schutshaftlasgerfushrer until December 1942, when he was
transferrsd to the mall cemsor office, He served there until he was given
a oix month's sentenoe for having stolem 10 cigarettes, in the saue month,
and pever perved gt Dacbpu sgain., Whon he was en office clerie ho BEad bean
ordered to sttend thres executions, at least one of which occurred in 1941,
Once in 1942 Kiern kicked snd killed a newly arrived prisoner who was
lying on the ground, While he performed his duties at Dachau, Kiern wus
actively engaged in the administration of the camp. Hie killing an inmato
was oo added contribution.

22, Michasl Redwits, Redwits served as firet Schutshaftlagerfuehrsr

at Dachau from Novamber 1942 until March 1944, He held the rank of 58
Eauptesturmfuehrer. He was "in charge of all affairs conceraing the clothing,
quartering, and treatwent of the prisoners, and of all the prisoners' wel-
fare". He was mlso "responsible for good order, and the cleanliness of the
camp, as Well as Ior oo Dealth of wne prisvaers”, BRedwibs hae recogalzed
his responsibility for the acute conditions shiich existed at Dachau. He
wrote "it is impoesible for me to hold any one of my subordinates, especially
rosponsible for any particular condition. So many various leaders and
underlesders had a share in the execution of every order that it was impos-
stble to make responsible eny ome of them for a certala condition’.
Redwity divected the public Thrashings, cerried out tho oxecutlous snd

. confirmed the request for the experiments at the hospital. It wae Redwits
who instituted the practice of having the prisoners administer the public
beatings instead of the S5 men.

Redwits's position was an important one in the administration of
Dachau, snd Hlp pots clearly constituted assistance in the general schoue.

23. ¥ilhelm Welter. Wilhelm Welter was at Dachau from 1939 until
1 September 1943, Ee was the labor service leader. He arranged theork
details each day, and made out the required reports. He was in charge of
the slave market formations, where he beat, hit, kicked mnd pushed the
prisoners. He aided in the selection of pecple YOr the Itransports and work
details. He seleocted the four Jews who worked on the crematory deal and
who were then disposed of every eight weeks and succeeded By a nev group.
Welter chose inmates for the cold-water experiment, mnd checked the 1ist
of inmates requested by Dr. Sechilling Walter often beet and struck the
prisoners. He sald, "It is possible that I elapped a few priscners in
. the Tace if they did something wrong". It ie clear Irom the foregoing
that Welter not only by wirtus of the functions of his office but also by
his own individusl acts actively participated in the mistreatment of the
{nmptes at Dachau,

24, Rudolf Heinrich Suttrop. Hudolf Suttrop, an 55 Obersturmbann-
fuehrer, served ps adjutant at Dachau from 15 May 1942 untll 15 May 1944,
As such he was in charge of 235 non-commissioned officars and men of the
Commandant's staff, He was in charge of the tslephone, signal office,
and motor pool. He was responsible for the dietribution of the mall and
secret orders, and sselsted the Commendant in the paper work, All written
matter which was sent to the camp commander went over his degk, including
such items ae requeste for inmates for experiments at the hospital. With-
out the performsace of the duties which Suttrop and his staff performed,
Dachau oould not have operated. Vhen considered in thie 1ight, his
participaticn in the execution of the Dachan scheme becomes apparent.

25. Wilhelm Tempel. Wilhelm Tempel, K who joined the 53 in 1932, had
come % Dachau on & August 1944, He was lmnedlately sent to Kaufering
Yo, 4 where He served pe the Arbeltodienstfuehrar. It was his duty to
prranige the work details which left the camp. He shot the prisoners,




Yeat some to death with a stick and rubber cable, kicked them unmarcifully,
and abused the plek. In January 1945 he left Kaufering Camp No, 4 and went
to Kaufering Csmp No. 1, where he served as Rapportfushrer, It was known
that Tespel beat prisoners there. Ee acted as a guard on the traneport
which evacuated Kaufering No. 1, in April 1945, It is clear from the fore-
going that Tempel evinced & vigur in the pesfurmance of hle dutice wholly
consistent with the pattern of mistreatment, tortures, cruelties and axter-
minption of the Dachen lnmates,

26./ Hugo Alfred Erwin Lausterer. Lausterer was an S5 guard at Dachau
trom Decanber 1941 till February 1942, He was then sent ae a guard on a
work detall to Hadolfzell, where he stayed until October 1542, On this
detall the prisoners were often struck by onme of the other guards. In
Novembar 1942 he wae sent on another work detall to Bayerisch Zell. KHere
azain the other guards were extremely cruel to the prisoners. The next
month Leausterer returned to Dachai and wae hospltalised till February
1943, At that time he worked in the Prisoners' Fersonal Property room.
In October 194% he wWae sent %o Allach, where he ook charge of Lhe priscvaers'
canteen, Ke remained in Allach until March 1544, While at Allach he wit-
nessed the beating of an old man, He returned to Dachau in ppril 1944 and
worked as a camp guard and as a guard on detalls that went to Munich until
May 1944, He next was in charge of a detall which workced at a factory in
Munich until October 1944, From liovember 1944 till January 1945 he was
acting Commandofuehrer 1n a camp &b Yeldaling, end in January 1943 he
returned to Dachau where he worked as & guard until April 22, 1945, About .
that time he was asoigned to accompany a transport of sbout 1700 Jewlsh
prisoners who were placed in rallrosd cars at Dachau. The traneport left
on about 25 or 26 spril 1945. They rode to Seefeld in Austria in about a
day and & half, During that time the prisoners received no water and
were glven & little food. Some ol the prisoners Aled 0D The way. Ab
Seefeld TLausterer tock charge of about 75 inmates. He arranged some
temporary quarters and obtaioed some food, Lausterer undoubtedly had
played a part in the operation of the Dachau camp,

26, Alfred Eramer. The accused Kramer, who wae a sergeant in the
§S, which he had Joimed in 1939, arrived in Dachau in August 1944, alter

having led a transport of prisoners from Warsaw there. Many of the
prigoners on that transport had died, and when it reached Dachau, the

dead ones who wers still with the transport were taken to the crematory.

In September 1944, Kramer became the camp leader of Kaufering Camp No. L.

He retained that job until November 1944, There he was in charge of 1800
prisoners, moet of whom were Jews. Kramer explained, "I do not like Jews". .
Some of the punishment, tortures and brutalities which wers inflicted on
those 1800 prisonsrs conslsted of beating them with whipa and sticks, as

a result of which some died, imprisomment 4n a standing cell from & %o 10
hours a night, undernourishment , contagious dlseases, bad 1living conditions,
and hard work, which in some cases led to death, Kramer also attended the
hanging of six Jewlgh prisoners at the camp. Kramer admitted that he

struck prisoners vith his hands when they had committed certain offenses

80 that he would not have to report them to higher asuthorities. Kramer's
participation, both by virtue of the duty of hie office and his sadistic
initiative show that he assieted in the Dachau orgy.

29, Sylvester Filleboeck. Filleboeck, who was an §5 Untersturm-
fushrer and had come to Dachau in 1933, was in charge of the kitchen
admintstration with the prisoners' mess from 1941 until ppril 1945,
Fillebosck realized that the food which the prisoners received was inade-
quate and he made some attempte to supplement that supply. He often gave
the prissnsra’ food to other S35 men and reaulsitioned some of thelr
valusbles for himself, Filleboeck also participated in the shooting of
the 90 Russian prisoners of war in September 1944 by doing some of the
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actual shooting. bbviouiig. Flileboeck!s sctivities were necessary in
order for Dachau to function, and sccordingly he must be deemed to have
participated in the Dackau plan.

30, Yingenz Schoettl., In 1644 the accused Schoettl wne in charge
of the detgllf ab KRUIECing cCamp 5o, 5. GCaeoe, while lu clierge of & detall
at a-water imetallation when the people could no longer work, he knocked
tham down snd started to lelck and beat them, Thene victims had to De taken
to the hoepital. In Februsry 1945 he becsue second in command to sturmbann-
fuehrer Forschner. Whenever the camp confander was asbsent, he asewmed con-
trol, Many of the nrisoners under his Juriediction died from hunger because
oT Ingurficient Irood Schoettl nlso Deard that maay of Lhe prlscvueis were
henged at some of the Eauferisg csupe., VWhile aselctant commandant, he
admitted in his pre-trisl etntement thst he beet 5 or 6 prisoners with a
riding erop. In March 1946, Schoettl shot end killed a Polieh prisoner,
In view of the duties whick Scheettl performed, the savegery of his acts
and his fallure to testify, 4t ir epparent that he participated in the
genergl plad OF migtrestment which exisgted av Dechau aod 1ve Ly-caups,

31. Albin Gretpch. Gretech was an SS Unterscharfuehrer, and served
as a guard at Dachau or at Zxufering from August 1944 until 26 March 1945,
At Dachgn he served as & tower gnard, It was his functlon to prevent
prisowste from escaping. Moot of the tine while he wap at Kaufering he
afted ar s LOVEr guald, He Wat g SUATC O& THe UraANSROTY which lefv Dachaum
on 26 goril 1545, which went to Wolfretshsusen. EHe witnessced the younger
guards abuse the priscoers, He ooy one guard let his dog locee on a
prisonsr. Gretsch "left collapsed prisoners lying left and right of the
roadl, Gretechls activitiens az a gusrd at Dechau and at Kaufering con-
gleted nrinarily of security messures. Not only wae it his function to
prevent any of the igmates from escaping from tie horrors of Dachau, but
also to prevent any unauthorized pesrscns from entering Dachau. Further-
more, Gretech apsisted in the last part of the Dachau drama, the merciless
marehing of ill-clad, uudernourished prieoners through enow and wind and
cold, Accordirgly, it must be concluded that Gretsch, too, had played
his part at Techau,

32, Johsnn Viktor Kirsch, Xirsch, a member of the S8, arrived at
Kaufering cemp No, 3 iz Auguet 1944, He was an Oberscharfuehrer at the
time and was in cherge of the work detsil which was construoting the
‘camp, He had nbeut B0 priconers and about 20 to 25 guarde under hie
supervielon, When the carp wae completed, he then halped to construct
another cawp, cmnp No. 1, whileéh wan flnished ln December 1944, He was
the Rapportfushrer snd Arbeitsdienstfuehrer, At one time he witnessed
the execution of five lumstes who had used blankets around their feet
dus to the faot that they probably did not have shoes, Kirsch himgelf
aidmini gtered the punishments in the camp for violations of caump regulations.
These usually conelsted of beatings with sticke and with his hand, or ocen-
finement of the prisoner ip m standing bunker. While at Keuferiog Oamn
No.1l, Kirsch confined g large number of children in a amall wooden hut
for s pericd of two dpye. Thepe ¢children were then sent to Anechwitz
for externination. BSeventy-Lfive of the children were actuslly burnt to
death thera. In view of the lack of ghess, Xirsch would have the prisconers
at the morning formation who were going out on morning work details take
the shoes from those who were ungble to go out on the work detalls.
January 1945 he was the commander of a work detall at Mubldorf, He had
between 180 to 200 priecners on that detell and 18 guards, In view of
the positions which Eirsch held, and in view of hie oyn individual acte,
1t s clear that he participated in the subjection of the Dachau inmates.

34, Walter pdolf Langleist. Langleiet, who was an 55 Eauptabturm-
fuebrer, was the commander of the guard batfelion st Dachau from Auguet
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1943 until 30 May 1944, Langleist became commander of Eaufering No. 4.
Langlelst mistreated the prisoners by beatisg them and throwing them

into the gravel pits. Once he beat a prisoner %o death with s plece of
wood, He wae tramsferred then to Muhldorf where there were 2000 pi! soners.
It 48 clear in view of the functions of hie office and lis individus® acta
of mistrastment, that Langleiat sasiatad in the carrying aut of the Tmahan
plan. .

35. Johann Schoepp. Schoepp, who was & Rumanian eitiven and a member
of the Rumanian army, had been traneferred into the Germany Army. He was:
sent to the guard batallion at Dechan on @1 Anguet 1943, where he received
s umniform and wea trained for m paried of 10 days. He was hospitaliged
for a ahort period and then granted a furlough. Upon his return he was
sent to the sub-camp at Feldafing, where he remained until 23 spril 1946
There he guardsd a detall of 32 prisoners. He was assigned as & ressrve
gvard to the traneport which left Dachau on about 25 April 1945, As a
reserve gusrd he bad no duties on the transport, and he never did relisve
any of the ragular posrd. Tha fant that Sshospp helped to gusrd ths
prisoners on a detell, and the fact that he was present as a reserve guard
on one of the last Dachan transports, supports the comclusion that he aided
and assisted in the functioning of the Dachau plan.

36. Aprno Lippmsnn, Lippmann, who wae an 8§ Obersturmfuehrer, returned
to Twrhan on Ostahar 1042 whars he sorved in the offles of the Schubshalft .:
lngerfushrer. In September 1943 he left Dachau for 1 month and when he '
returned he was in the hoepltal for three monthe. In January 1944 he was
in charge of gome prisoners who worked in the Prasgifix factory. In
Avgust 1944 he was traneferred to the Kaufering cemp where he became ceamp
commender of camp No. 2. In January 1945 he was transferred to camp No.7,
wheras he becume commander of that cmmp. While at camp No. 3, he had about
1200 prieoners under him, and at camp No., 7 from 1300 to 1600. While at
camp No. 7 there were 20 to 25 denths monthly. ILippmann wrote "that all
of the time I was coumander of these campe in the Keufering aream, the
prigoners were underfed and underclothed," Lippmsnn often mistreated the
prisonera in these camps, and shot into a grow of them who had astempted
to find eomething to eat in o garbage pit, On ths basis of the pesiticns
which he held and the individusl acts of brutality which he comuitted, it
i clear thet Lippmann played s part in the Dachan pileture,

37. Frits Degelow. TFrits Degelow had joimed thes Allgemsins SS in
1933. Ee cane to Dachau as a Major on 23 June 1944 gnd he served there a
an eommandsr af s giard sompony. These guards performed guard duby
about the perimeter of the camp snd manned the towers. They were charged
vith the duty of guarding the camp end preventing the prisoners from
escsplng, AL a weeting of several of the leaders of the camp in the
latter part of spril 1845, at which Degelow was preseut, it was decided
to evacuate a large part of the inmates, On 26 gpril 1945, a transport
af ghaut 11,000 priscsners otertsd off on foob, Degelow had bema sszlgoed
the duty of golong shead and finding resting places for the columns, The
guards who mccompsnied the traneport bad been detailed by the Adjutant,

Al though Degelow was not the commanding officer of the march at the start,
he in effect took charge, since the commander did not accompany the trans-
port and since Degelow wae the senior officer present. Mmny of the
prisomers eollapeed on tho way and were beates and shot by the guard,

4 lerge number of the prisoners vere lost, some by escaping, but the
majority by dying. Degelow was ween beating some of the prisoners as

they marched along and striking a prisoner with a bottle, When the
columne reached Wolfratshausen on 26 April, Degelow decidsd to stop the
march, and eurrender the prisoners. He admitted that he had besn informed
tiat the prisonere were dying from exbaustion and maloutrition. However,
be continued %o march the German and Jewish prisoners for two more dayn
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to a camp near Bad Tolz, It was Degelow who arranged the surrender of the
traneport. In view of the fact that the duty which his guarde perfommed
at Dachau constituted participation in the Dachau scheme, it logically
follows that his functions as commending officar of those guards llkewisze
brings him within the orbit of alding and aseisting in the common deplzn,
Furtbermwore the evacuation transports mre wobt vnly iodicle bob g parbh of
the common design of subjection of the Dachsu inmates to mistreatment and
extermingtion, Accordingly, the part vhlch Degelow played cn the trane-
port of 26 April 1945 likewimse was participstion in that design.

38. Otto Moll. Moll had Jolned the 55 on 30 May 1935, and had come
tv Dachauw lo Felruary 1940, He werkeldl 5t Lhe Easuferlug cmupe. He wae
responeible for billeting, feeding, and the clothing of the priscners,

a# well as sanitary conditions, lgbor commitments, and tranefer of slck
prisoners, At one time he beat three of the prisoners with a atick, and
he remarked to a paseerby, "You should be glaed that the Jews are punighed”,
Once in April 1946 he beat g Huselan over the head with & board., At
anviber time he Blruck 4 Woman wiih & stick.,. Moll was 1E charge ol au
evacuation transport which left Keufering Camp ¥Wo. 2, for Dachan. On the
vay he ghot 26 prisoners who had collepsed from exhaustion, It is
spparent from Moll's duties and the brutality which he inflicted om the
iomatee that he furthered the ends of the common design which existed at
Dachau and its by-caups.

39, Otto Schuls. Schulsz, who had been s member of the Algemeine
85 gince 1933 and attained the rank of Untersturmfuehrer, came to Dachau
ag the worke manager of the Oerman Armament Works in February 1943. [he
prisoners who worked for Schuls had a regular 72 hour week, althoughet
times in order to keep wp with the schedule, Schuls worked them cvertime.
He was a quick temperad individual, and hitv, Deat, and kidced the prisoners,
At one time he threw some food which some of the priscners were cooking onto
the ground, He poured cold water on pecple who were in the latrine. Hs
refused to permit the sick prisoners to report to the hospital. Not only
did Schuls partiolpate in the Dachau scheme of things by worlring theace
prisoners extremely long hours, but bie conduct in hewping indignities
upon snem WaB alSd 10 aCCOTd with the pattern of human exploitation,

40, Friedrich Wetgel. Wetszel, a Hauptsturmfuehrer, wes the adminis-
tration lesder et Dachau from 1 Auguet 1944 till 29 spril 1945, As euch
be was responsible for the clothing, food, and shelter of the inmates,

He inaugurated the practice of not peeling the potatoes and of fesding
Déat leaves which Dad usually been Ted to the cattle to the priscners, Ea
miptreated some of the prisonsrs by slepping them and he often stole tholr
valuables. His attempts to obtain sufficlent clothing failed, glthough
thers was a warehouse at Dachaun which contained large guuntitiss of clo-
thing, The accused Filleboeck and he alwo made an attempt to obtain soma
additional food in 1945, In view of the dutiee incumbant upon his office
as gdminlgtration leader, it 1g clesr that his activities constituted a
necessary part of the Dachau machinery so that he muet be deemed to have
participated in the dealgn of subjeotion,

16. Christof Tudwig Knoll
27, TFrits Beahear

33, Emil

Coristof Ludwig Enoll had been a political prisoner at Dachau
from September 1935 until the liberation of the cmmp. Enoll admitted that
he betame a block eldest of the cemp in 1941, and that he maintained dis-
oipline by elspping some people because it uae necessary. Aa block elder
ke administered unofficial beatings, and once he beat & Pole with & leg of
a chalr o extensively that the Pole collapsed. He became a Capo and
headed a detail which worked at the gravel pits. The inmates who worked
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on this detall were Jews snd priscners fro= the peunal company which was

, eampossd of those who had trokon the camp Tulse. VWhan Enoll's detalls
returned from work, a cart upon which the desd bodies were piled accompanied
him, Fo would ramark, "Well, I mcocmplished that today". He once ntated
%0 Dr, Eisglew, "I finished 97 Jews, 3 mure pod then I shall febch uy bBread
time, ¥ 1% wae common kmowledge that Enoll, who was known as the hangman,
bhed killed many Jews at Dachau. One witness stated that Enoll was not a
Yoater but was "nute", and caunght moles for cizarettes.

Fritz M. E, Becher had besn a politicel prisoner at Dachau from May
1936 untll June 1945, He becgme g room eldest aod laber a Yleck eldest,

At one time he was in charge of the block which contained the priests, I%
wad a dally routine for Becher to mistreat and kick them. Hs used vile
lenguage. FHe beat up one priest so0 badly that 4t was necessary to hospitalize
bz, and be later died, Decher supervised strenuous exercise formationa for
the priests. During one period of time B prissts died as the result of the
gIrenuons eXercise and NS Deatings which Beacher administered durlng the
dril] period. About 400 priects dled while hs was in charge of thelr block.
¥hen he was transferrsd to a block containing Bussisns, he continued hie
mathode. There he beat a young Russian thoroughly with a plece of wood.

At another time he emashed a Rugelen in the fece with his fist. Becher
himself was also subjected to Deatings by the mccused Jarolim, Tremkel and

Wagnor. .
Buil Erwin Mahl came to the Dachau concentration cemp in 1940 as &

erisingl prisoner, In 1943 he opplied for a position in the crematory

wiich he received, mnd in July 1844 he became Capo of the crematory deiall.

He participated im mbout 800 to 1,000 hangings. He ustally put tha noose

around The viotims' neckg, In perTormlng thle TURCHEIOR De was Eent w0 whe

various Dachan by-cemps whesever necessary. Ounce in 1944, Mahl led a cart

detall that carried bodiss from the Fremch transport to the crematory.

Vhen he was informed that one of the prisonsers was moving, he took a woodsn

pole and pushed the prisomer into the cart.

Ihe ACLViOnE whlich have Desn exhidited Dy Encll, Hecher and Mahl in
the performance of thelr assigned duties would appear to be participation
in the 14ght of the activities of the other scoused, Certainly thase men
held positions on the Dachau staff since their functions were of a super-
visory nature, To concluds, however, that every prisoner who served in
any supervigory cmpacity at Dachau was guilty of a crimingl sct would be
a redustlo ad abpurdum. A distinctlon must De drews Detwesn The prisoner and
non-priponsr eatagories, for it wae the prisonsr class which was the odjest
of the mlavful design. Whers, however, the actions of a priscner who
had tecen a supervisory position were colored by intense malice, he i
thean to bn consldersd as having been transformed from the prisomer to the
non-priscnsr category. Thua an additional factor must be considered in
the cpsas of Knoll, Becher and Mahl. The viciousness, sa¥agery, and
Brutality exhibited by Enoll and Becher and Mahl, esach of whom individuslly
aceounted for numerouns doaths, must ba considered to be of sufficient scope
to bridge the gap. They acted in conoert with their masters against their
fellow inmates. They had Joined the plan at Dachan.
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The defonses affered by the mccused resclved themselves imto

two parts, general denials and the ples of supsrior orders. The former
was a question of fact for the determination of the court. &ince

&8s has been seen there waa substential svidonco presented to ths court
‘on all the essential elements which had to be proven, its deeision
with sespest to thege mattars wae Mully Justifisd. The citly serleus
igsue presented is the effect to be mocorded tha defense of superior
orders reissd by emch mcoused. This plea is a conglomsrative term
which embraces attendant corrollaries such as duresa.

It hapg besn gtated that the pléa of superior ordars iz & zood
defanes under ths German Army Manual. Paragesaph 17 of the Corman

Eilitary Penal Uode reads ms follows: "Complicity (1) If a pro-
vision of the oriminal law {s violated in course of the execution

of an official order, ths superior who iszsusrs such an ordsr alons bears
the responsitility for it. Eowewar, the subordinate who obeys shall
suffer the penalty of an accomplice:

"1. If he has gone beyond the limits of the given order, or

2. 1f he knew that the order of his superior involved an act
which would result in a general or military misdemeancr or orime.

"(2) Iz omse the sullt off the subyrdioate io telfllog his
punishmant may be omitted.

"Footnote: The conspquences shall be no object”

Thus it sppears that sven under the Uermun military ovde responsibility
for a orimimal act is not mvalded by a subordinate where the subordipate

knew that oompliance with an order would result in a crime. Furthermors,
under the German oivil service law it is provided in paragraph 7 that:
"the oivil servant is not permitted to carry out an order which to
him is cognizably in contravention of criminmal law." It can therefore
be contended that the accused were oriminally responsible sven under
Uorman lew, for they musl heve kunown Lhsl Lhe subjection of priponers
of war and ensmy nationals in the mannsr conducted at Dachau and its
sub camps was contrary to imberpational law. However it has been
indicated that it would be extracrdinarily difficult to conviet a
subordinate under the German interpretetion of {nternstisnal law be-
cause when the defense of obediense to superior ordsrs is ralsed, com=
plience with the vider lpvulved wighlt nol be vopsldered ap resulting
in a criminal act. This ias sald to result in a CGerman ruls little
better than ons which caompletely exempbs from responsibility all
subordinates acting upeon mn, orders of military supariors. (See

page 164, "War Criminals, Their Proseoution and Punishment”,

Sheldon Glusck, 1944; Llandovery Castle oase).

Ascordingly, it must be coneidered whether the defense of
superior orders {5 available in these procedings, if 1t is s@sumed
that under the German law in this case, it would be. The authorities
appear to bo gensrally in aocord with the ruls that motion in com-
pliance with a superior order is not a defense to & crime against
internetional law. (COUppanheim's “Intsroationsl Law", Volume L1, S5th
edition, 1940, pp 463, 454; Wheaton's Intermsticonal Law, PP 180)
Glusck, seeking to reconcile the dilemms in which a subordinate is
placed by an order manifestly unlewful, compliance with which may
later subject him to trial for & war orime, or refusal to somply |
with which may imusdlately subject him to discipline, perhaps death
which dilemma is receognized by other authoritles ss providing a basis
for mitigation, has suggested that the following ruls be sppliad:
"an unlawful act of & soldler or officer in obedience to an arder
of his govermment or his military superior is not justifiable if,
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when he committed it, he actunlly knew, ‘or, considsring the circume-
stances, he had reascnnble *rnund- for lroeits, thet the aot ordersd
is unlewful under (a) the lawn and customs of warfore, or (b) the

principles of oriminal law generally provedling in civilized nations,

or (o) the lew of his own ¢ ountry. In anpl ing this rule, vhensver
Lhie bluee lsgel syslwws vlesh, the lagl slimll bo aubicocdlnabel"

(pp 166 and 156, Gluecik, suara}

If Gluseck's suggestion is acgepted, it is guite clear that
in the present omse the plea of supericr ordears must te rejected

since the conduct of the aooused is unlewful under the lews ana
gusvoms of warlfare and eyumlly B0 undsrp :;rinulplua ul Grinlual law
prevailing in civillged nations. It has been statsd as a general
rula of law that: "The faot that s party eccused of & crime did the
aot complained of under the direction or muthorit  of ancther whose
inferior he wea cannot be set up as & defenss.” (See Wharton's
Criminal Law, page 376 .

Paragraph 3461of Hules of land Viarfars, Fil 27-10, provides
that "individusls and organizations who vidlate the accapted laws
and customs of war may be punished therefore. Ilowever, the fact
that the aots complmined of were done pursusnt te order of a

superior or govermment sanclion may be teken into sonsideratien
in determining culpabllity, wither by way ol dulfsnse uvr iu ¢u1b1&&tlﬂu

of punishment. The-person giving such orders ma; also be punished.”
This appears to be mnexpression of war dopartment poliocy rather
than lsw. Previous to the adoptiop of peragraph 345.1 1t was the
Amsrican policy to treat such a plsa withrespect to members of
the Armed forcos ms an absclute defemes. Tt i now obvious that the
plea, if feotually st@pum\ﬁ. 48 not necessaril:: ¢onolusive, but
that the sffect l.t will be given lies within the disoretion of the
tribunsl to which it is made, and depends upon the facta and glr-
cumstances of each case. lr. Justice “oclert I, Jackson, Chief of
Counsel for the United States in the prosscution of axis war orimes
in his report of 7 Jurs 1945 has stated the following view:

"With the dootrine of immunity of a hend of state usually is
aoupled snother that orders from an official superior protect one who
obeys them. Tt will be moticed that the cembination of these two
dootrinss means that nobody is responsible. Soelety &3 modernly
organizred gannot tolerate so broad an area of official irresponsi=
vility. There is doubtless a sphere inwhich the defense pf ghedlence
to superior orders should prevail. If a conscripted or enlisted
soldier is put on m firing squad, he should not be held responsible
for the validity of the sentence hs carries out, Dut tha case may
be greatly altered where one has discretion becsuse of rank or the
latitude of his orders. And of gourse, the delenss of duperior
orders oannot apply in the cuae of yoluntary participation in a
oriminal or conspiratorial organiszation, such as thu Gestapo or the
8. 4An sooused should be allewed to show the facts about surerior
orders. The Tribunal can then determine whether they censtitute a
defense or -mru-l_; extonuating ciroumstences, or perhaps carry no
weight at all,”

It has been stated that the ples of sumerior orders, if
accepted at all, should be accepted 'r:l.thh rent gaubion, considera=
tlon being glven to the nature of the offense, tho 1ntelligence
of the socoused, and The factors Indleeting the lezal malice in-
volved. (}Iamorn.ndmn on military cormisslons and provost courts
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r_é led by &, W, Green, Lt. Colonel, JAGD, Headquartsrs ETOUSA,
26 July 1644.)

Viewing the prinsiplsa which have just bsen atated, one must
acnolude that under the facts and circumstances of this oese the oourt
WES WArTANTEd 1N TSJECTING The plsa ms & defenss and a5 it did in the
cases of most of the sccused as a matter of mitigation. Purthermore,
the court apparently considsred bhe plea ss e mitigating factor with
respact to some of the mcoussd, suoh as Johann Schoepp, and such
actlion would nppear to be justifiod in view of the peculiar cir-
comstanses cencerning those acoussd,

X1 PUCOHLSTIGS

1. At the beglnaing of the proceedings, & Yerman lawyer, |

tarl von Passarn, was {ntroduced as special counsel for thres of the

aceussd. Lpe Bourt acnitisa aim BS SLoh. Lo such 4 omss, 1t would

have vgen prefersole tliat the court sstisly ltself, and so jndicste

in thw resord, that sush counsel aas not been pronlibited to prectice

law. A gtatement b cpuns,:l to the court to that effect would have

safficed. (TY for legal and Prisoa (fficers, 2nd ed., dules of

Procedure in i3 Courtis, page 3U, var 3, snd "(utlins of Frocsdure

. for Trial of Gertain .er Crininels”, Fags 7).

~ The defense's wotion for a severunce was predioated on
plﬂaﬂ.ph 1'1' {b) of the ianual for Courts cartial, 1926. The argu=
ments mdvanced were that biw dsfendants consisted of m lurze groun,
that many of the scoused imtunded to avall themselves of the tentimony
of sthers wmon: his ad-uﬂ.aerdﬂﬂﬁh, that & rlea would be-ugad that the
ascussd #ﬂ!l,df Srvoluntarily, wnf that in £hin respect, of necossity,
| antagonigtic defenses would have to be offered by the various defendants
to ‘the prejudice of a Broper. defenga for each and m;rg one of them,
The defunse cited the case of (nitwd Statuz vs. Anton (GCio
citetion) in which the eourt grasted the motion of ssverance on the
| Lround that tie Jdélenses h‘nu:td be entazomi atiio. '

The prosesubion reareondad to the efffect that & trial of the
40 moousad would not be rrejudicinl to an- of the defendamta, that
the essenca of the caus waz a triel of the Uschau Concentration Camp,
g ol that ghe esture o0 the offenses of each baing in pursuance of a
" gorcon csaiign was of suth charachker as to indicate that their defenses
whre not antajonistic.

wue Yo the interwssvis, =attern of the nffenses charged and

beonuge cf the inorachicallit of making forty separate triale
TECEAEAry ig-a dass of thle mature, tae disoretiion of the dourt
coale not ke maid bn hsve bezn shused in denying the motien. Fho
Zranting of a peversnoe, at all ovents, is largel « matter of
dlsorefion and unless the abuse of it is uh’vinul flagrant it should
not e questioned (of: winthrep, “Alitary lLaw, p £53). In the
case of nited states vs. sohesser, eited b tho aefense, the aourt
grented n govierance when the prosscutlion, unlive the trial judge
gﬁmm in the present t.-rinl, Gid not sericusly contsst the argument
on behslf of & severance bubt admitted that "ore or two of the mccused

“luy the entire blamo for the orime on the other, the third socused.”
surt, therefore, had little alternstive but to grant mm.u n
b the prssent court had vefdre 1t, the=refors, it ounne :

it meted drbitrarily in denying a gevarance Af the pr
ke farty tﬁ‘lrh




oxhibits where no objections were raised a.l where the court was satis-
fied they were what they were purported to be. However, it would have
besn preferabls to have had true and complete translations made and
introduced at the same time for the benefit of the reviewing and oon-
firming muthoritiss to facilitate the handling of the record.

4. A& claim of Immunity from testifying by an ex-German govern-
mont official as to mattera he had sworn mever to divulge was propsrly
overruled. The burden of proving that a communication is privileged
is upon the one asserting it. (Wharton's Crim. Ovidencs, p 2069).

The test is whether the disclosure would injure the relatiomship and
greater benafit would ba pgained by sustaining it than by furthering
justice. The oath in the present instance was to the German Heich, an
outlawed government, and the court exercised proper disoretion in
ordsring the answers without recognizing the immunity claimed.

6. The present case was brought on two similar charges reading,
Mislaticns of tha Laws and Negnpgaa of War-" T+ wenld have haan hatbar

practice to have brought the action under one recited charge with two
particulars thersunder. (See: US vs. Franz Strasser, GCMO).

6. The objeotions of the defense to the foroing of am accused
to answer & question, otherwise proper, once he electsd to take the
stand seem €5 have besn preperly overrulsd. Altheugh the Military
Government Manual ia not clear ms to whother or not an acoused oan
refuse to respond to m question on cross-sxamination during the
course of his voluntary unsworn statement on ths witnsss-stand, the
authorities appear to support the fact that his right against self
inerimination is waived. The Manual, unlike the procedurs in Courts-
Hartial, specifionlly parmite eresg—sxamination af tha unawarn gtata-
ment and the usual wide latitude should prevail. (See, VWharton's
Crim. bvidence, p 2200).

7. Closing arguments were permitted counsel for both sides
without limitation as to number with a ruling that the defense shall
alwayn retein the right to oless. The Military Gevernment Tankhnianl
Manual for Legal and Primon Ufficers, fules of Procedurs, par. 10 (1)
f, p 46 and the Outline for Procedure, p 15 justifies such a ruling.
Elsswhers it was suggested in this case by both the prosecution and the
defonse that these rules were merely guides and not mandatory upon the
court. However the "lUirective to Commanding Gensrals Military Vistriots,
Hg US Perces Eurcpaan Theatsr on the Administration of Military Govern-
memt", dated July 1945 states on page 31, "The jurisdiction, powers and
procedures of Wilitary Govermment Courts will be gmrn'_.ﬂ- by Military
Government Ordinance No 2, the Rules of Military Govermment Courts and
the Guide to Procedurs, as modified by this directive." The rule as to
closing argumants hag never been so modified.

8., When prosecution witness Kaltenbacher was put on the atand
to testify against Martin Weiss, the trial judge advocate objected to
cross-examination concerning conditions before Weiss came to Dachau
as pew matter not introduced on the direct exmmination. The defense

offersd to make the witness its own for that purpose and the court

did not rule ca this offer and permitted the witnsas to testify. Tha
evidenoe was properly admitted. It was relevant and was proper oross-
exnmination since the guestions concerned conditions at Dachau of which
Wieise actions were a part.

9. In ruling on defense's motion to Quash ths partioulars the
court, mmong vbher thiags, upheld the adeguasy of bthe partloulars in ite
recitation regarding the time of commission of the alleged crimes. Tt
would mppear that if the mocused had gommitted sots at any time between
1 Janugry 1942 to 29 April 1945 they would have been guilty as cherged.
Clearly this was uncertain ap to time unlesa the mooused were conaidered
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Gharged with a continuing offense mgainst each for the
full period of time ‘which the prossoution did not olaim or prove.
Although 1t would have been better practice to mmend the partioulars
to aooord with the time that sach mocused was at Dachau, it oannot be
sald that the mcoused were substantially prejudiced thersby.

10, Althoush the particulars should perhaps have set forth the
natiopalities of the mccused, at the time the defense cbjected to this
phagse of the partioulars each mcoused had stated in open court his
nationality, each one of which was an enemy national. The faot that the
particulars did not set forth this detail in ny way affected the pre-
paration of the dofense,

11, Denial of the defonse's contention that the partioulars should
have pamed the viotima and their nationalities was proper. In view of
the large number of victims, it would have been a practical impossibdlity
to list all their names and naticnalities, 4 known. The defense was
not hamparsd in its preparation of the case becsuss of this Panter.

12, The defense's motion to quash the charges and particulars
was alpo based on the assertion that the scoused were charged with a
aumber of orimes. Each partioular set forth one offense, subjection
to oruelties and mistreatment. The forms that the subjeotion took
were varied and a partial desoription of thoma forms was expressed.

13 TFinally, consldering the cortention of 4ns deferse as %o
the war status with the then German Reich of the nations invelved, it
is suffielent to say that the acoused were not prejudiced by these
allagations in that the sole result was that the prosecution was left
to its preof. That the dafinitien ns to "war oriminals" aguirist sash
aooused was mdequately met by the form of the partioulars canrot be
sontradioted.

14. In view of the vigorous defenss which defonse counsel
exhibitsd, and coxmendably so, on the {ssuss of the case, it cannct
be said that they were miaslad. Annerdingly, 4he sighta of the ssoused
cannot be deemsd to have been mdversely affected.

6. The prosesution, on rebuttel, offored new evidense not
directed to the svidenos offered by the defenss. The admission of suoh
testimony 18 largel; dlscretionary with the oourt. At any rate, where
not prejudieial te the anousad, and materin]l te the ademinigtpatisn of
Justioce, and not objected to, this disoretion cannct be said to have
besn abused.

16. The orcsa~sxemination of the mcoused, Johann Schoepp, who
hed merely testified to his nams and mtiumlﬁg on direct went far
berond the scope of the dirant tastimeny. e shjeetion waa raised by
the defense. Tn view of the feilure of the moocused to olaim his
right against self inorimination and the faot that  unsel made no
objection, it cmnnot be sald that prejudicial error resulted or that
the rights of the mooused were substantially prejudiced,

17. Tha Carman apasinl dsfewss seunssl, inm the midob of the
evidencs for the defense, and after s motion for a finding of not
Bullty by the defense had been ruled on 4n its proper place after the
';hmnnutiun had rested, offared ancther motion of similar substance.

e gourt correotly denfed the motion, the substanse of which would

MOT® properly nave been presented in the motiona for findings of not
guilty or in the clowing arpuments.

- 18, After the prossoution Tested 1tn oese, the defenss made
ssveral motions fora fiading of net guilty on behalf of a), all the
defendunts, jointly and severally, teosuse the prosec.tion had failed
o prove & conspiracy or oomnon Gesign; b,) Mahl, Becher and Knoll,
‘specifionlly, since the prosscuticn had Patlsd o show that they wore
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nembers of ‘the staf® whAdwohsu; and &1} on behalf of Bets, Latiterer,

Suttrop, Puhr; kieele, Hittcler; and Behtepp beosuse the evidance .
Talled to show tho': were gul lty of the offenses charged: Thage '~ -

motd otie were denled <in the

dordal of the firat mgtlon

entiretys A prima facis case of the eriths
charged was .guffielte 46l mde cut b, the provecution towmirrant tha |

wllh refsrence To The common design. lahl,

Sechery And ¥nollwersHreved to have hsld positfons of a'supervd BOrY
naturs dn She: ddn nistfution of laohayv and thsrefore 'wera correstly
deemed by theocourt to Yo henbdry of 'thy stEFE, Thevefore, the motTon’
il rogard o timn wdssriorer); denied. 'Regarding the remmininy named
defond. v, there Waw dubmtantial evidence which together with a1l
reapenable laferciows Lhmrefrom and all spplicavle presumptions fairly "
tended to establish every e¢lament of the offense charged.

el L Lr¥

Hoone wrelis ey aftd  Fads i

to W) During the procesdingy, the question of voluntari s wis'

v raiskd wgad ngt thy #dnisston ivito evidencs of rertain pretrial state-
ments of several bf 48 ‘acoused. In each onss the 1, 5, Army office
wha bouk Uik purlivular suatement testilfied that nb coeroien, Lhrsats

or promisés of reward were

made to obtain the statements and that they

hath beer woluntarily exbcuted. There wae competant evidence of ths

velunbAry rature of the ‘statemonts nnd their edmission was propef,
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A patition for review on behalf of all the defendants has
been subtmitted by the regularly appointed defense counsel. The
special Oerman counsel filed an application for the 3 accused whaom
he repressnted, Knoll, Recher and Mahl. Although this application
is not .in the fam pragoribed for petitions for review, 1t 1in
affect is such A petition and will be treated accordingly. MNumerous
letters from various individuala seeking clemency for individual
defendanta have also been received, and attached as a part of the

case record.

The petition for review filed by the regularly appointed de-
fense counsel alleges that because of certain erroneocus legal rul-
ings of the court, and because of the evidence, certain findings
be set aside, and that other sentances be modified.

Jurisdiction over the accused, the refusal to grant a
severance, and apprisal of the accused of the specific offense
with which they were charges are issues which have been discussed
above under the paragraphs on Jurisdiction and Procedurs. The con-
tention that the great weight of the evidence did not poove a coumon
. design and that the prosecution "failed to prove a prima facie case

of common design as between any of the two accused" cannot be con-
curred in, since, as has been pointed out, the court had no alterna-

tive, on the basis of the evidence presentad, but to infer that a
gerieral pattsrn in which allied civilisn nationals and prisoners of
war had been subjected to various cruelties and mistreatments existed.
Reference is made to the discussion in the paragraph in the section
on "eerits and Defenses" concerming common design. The defanse in
setting forth this contention apparently is of 'aa opinion that there
had to be a meeting of the minds, as in the case of a conspiracy,
betwee the accused. It is submitted that the acoused were not
charged with conspiring or entering into any agreement to commit

the acts alleged, but that they participated in a plan which was
already in affect.

Tha contention that the accused Bechaer, Knoll and Mahl were

not en the "gtaff" at Dachau has been discussed previously in the

section on "Merits md Defenses". Furthermore, the fact that these
. accused had been prisoners at Dachau dees not affect the walidity

of the charge against them. In view of the fact that thelr acts

were of such a nature, as has been discussed in the paragraph devoted

to them under the section on "Merits and Defenses", they are

deemed to have acted in concert with those who operabed Dachau.

The contention that the court erred in denying the motlon for
a finding of not guilty with respect to all of the accused has been
discussed in the paragraph on procedure. In this comnection it may

be noted that the defense alter the denial of the motions presented
its case with respect to each of these 11 defendants, all of whom
took the stand. Accordingly, even if there had been error, such
error would have been deemed walved.

The petition for review contended that the findings of guilty
were contrary to the welight of the evidence and that the sentances
imposed were too severe. The petition then sete forth a brief
resume of the svidence with respect to each accused. Factars which
have YLeen raised with respect to the sentences will Lo copsidered
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lafse Ll the stction on sentences. [V 1s believed that there was
suffisient evidence in the record, as previously discusaed, to
warrant the findings of guilty. The defense apparsntly is of the
opinlen that the prosecution hod the burden uf canvinging the .
court of the 41t of sach avcusal beyond & reasanable doubt.

This principis of American jurisprudence is net binding in casas of

this sort. (See Review of the Deputy Theater Judge idvocate in the

cass of the lnited States versus Hartgen et al, 27 September 1345).

Furties ole, under the cvidonce adduced with respect to many of the

accused, it is clear that their guilt was established beyond a

reaaonable doubt.,

Particular atiention waa devoted in the petition to Profeassor .
Schilling. It is errmeously stated that under interpational law,
the death penalty may be inflleted only in the event of murder,
and, theralora, since the accused Schilling had not committied any
premeditated killing with malice aforsthought, te ¢ould not he
sentenced to death. It should ba noted that the accused was not
charged with murder but with the subjection of wvarious persons to
cruelties and mistrealments which included "killings™., The facts
thai the malaria statlen was a separate section in Dachau and that
Ur. Schilling confined his activitiss there, were nonetheless con-
clusively shomm to be a part of Dachau, for it is undisputed that
not only were the experiments conducted at Dachau, but that tha l—
Dachau Inmates wers the ones who were subjected to his experiments. :

The requisitions lor inmates passed through the head physlcian's
affice to the camp commander and the labor service leader. The
evidence presantsd in the case was convincing that soms patients
died because of the breatments administered by Dr. 3chilling. Fur-
tiermore it camot be denied that the subjection of inmiies toc these
experiments undoubtedly had an effect,in view of their living con-
ditions and the insufficient amount of food available, on their lives,
which in many instances were leost. The third and fourth considera-
tions suggested with respect to Dr. Schilling concerned his eminence
as a scientist and his personal beliefls with reapsct to the Hazils,
These factors will be considersd infra under the section on sentencas.

The petition presented by the special counsel is founded primarily
on the fact that the accused Knoll, Becher and lahl Had besn prisonsrs
at Dachau, and that all their acts had besn committed pursuant to

orders from their superiors. DBoth these factors have been considered
above. Furthar consideration is devoted to their status in the dis-

cusgion concerning ther under the sectlon on Sentences.
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X1II. SUFITICIENCYs
he : i n i . There are no
Tha ‘Pindinns of midlty are sustained by the evidence 3

m?ﬁ ur 'Iiﬁ'ﬂfﬁgiihﬁtiaa affeetine the fairness or impartiality of the
ﬁﬁﬁ..ﬂ!‘.-ﬂiﬁﬁiflpﬂ:‘u projudiéial te the sunatankial rights of the accused
in -pré&e‘édjhga' such as thesa, Two-thirds af the mambars of the court col-
curred in the findings and the sentence.

A genaral mililary court nay impodso Any gentence up to and inoluding
death., The punishment o. war crimes must be detarrent. Tho punishment
of war criminals has uot been undertaken in the spirit of vengeance nor
solely for the purpose of punishing tie individuals concernad, Its
primary purport 1s to establish an international standard of conduct
and to provide punishment for departures therefrom, so .hat those who
may in the future once mére be inclined to engage 1ii vhe horrors su
recently ended may be deterred by the k owledge of inevitable retribution.

- Tn caryving this purpose into eflect, it may e thet there will be thard
cases" in which some individuals, just as in war itself, will suffer.
Thus, it has always baen recognized that a spy is not punished because he
ig n wap eyiminal, bub in order to make espionace as danperous, diffioult,
and ineffectual as possible for the ememy, This policy demands that in

. a case such as this, partlcularly whers the acts were so cold-bloodedly,

efficiently and expeditiously done, the maximum penalty be assessed and
executed, For these reasons there a)pears to be no busis upon which
any clemency can be extended in the cases of lartin Welss, Friedrich Muppert,
Josef Jarslin, Frans Tronkls, Enge Falentin odermeyor, Jogof
Souss, Leonhard Anselm EBichberger, Wilhelm Wasner, Johdnn Iick, Dr.

| Frits lintermayer, Dr. Wilhelm Witteler, Johamn Uaptist Eichelsdorfer,

. Otto Foerschner, Dr. Klaus Karl Sshilling, Frans Jpetiger, Anton Bndres,
lMichael Redwitz, Wilhelm Welter, Ridolf Heinrich Sutitrop, #lhelm Terpel,
Fritz M. K, Becher, Alfred Kraner, Sylvesteor Fillebeeck, Vinzens Schoettl,
Johann Viktor kirsch, Walver adolr Langleist, Arno Lippmann, Iritg
Degelow, Otto lioll, Otto Schulz, Friedrich Wetzel, Christof ILudwig Knoll.

Dr. Hans hurt Eisele, who had been drafted into the Waffen S5 in
1940, was at Dachau for only & few months beginaing in Pabruary 1945. e
was in charge of the surpgical seection of the hospital and it appears that

. he did effectuate seme improvements thers, The evidence also indicates
that he made soms attempts to obtain medical supplies, and that he
reported the conditions which existed both at Dachau and at saversl of
the by-camps to his superlors, Dr. Hintermayer and the camp comander,
Purthermore, the record is develd of any individual acts of atrocity on
his part. Accordingly, it 4is bolieved that a senbence of 1ifs irprison-
ment would be sufficient in his case.

Dr. Fridolin Karl Puhr's participation at Dachau was comparitively
:ﬁg}rt.. Other than attending & few executions at which he merely deterrdnad
t the vietims were dead and signed the death cartificate, actins as
a.n_&-:.ut_»mt in several wperallons of prisonars, and acting as officer of
tl;; g at the Hpr:l:%a:plm, he took no other part in the functioning
_Of the camp. No ¢ @ was presented wnich revealed that he lad commit
any particular atroeity. However, he had bean a member of en illacal e
Austrian organization and had joined the 3& in 1934, It is believed
that cmﬁa?ngr the daaﬁi;daantmnu and a sentence of confinement at.
hard 1, or years wo not condene the offsnse and would sufficl
‘serve the purpose of the trial of war criminals such as he. g
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Pail Srwin Uahl had been a prisoner at Dachau since 1940, Althongh
s duties sa Cepo involved the srecutions of various individudls by
hongiag and the burning of bodies in the crematory, it must not be for-
robten thut in dolng these wvarious acts he was fulfilling the functions
of His position, The evidence indicated that he had acted beyond the

seope of his duties with yespect to Lhe CAruing of v riouy L:ﬂllv!.dum e

wiho had arrived dead or nearly dead &t Dachan in thot he paid hio attention

4o whather or not they showed signs of 1ife md in that he struck at
least one such victin who had definitely siown signs of life. At another
time he had pulled the laps of o Dussian who was hanging. This act

vas performed in the pressnce of his superior Dongartz and may have beea

an et of mercy since the ‘ssian may huve been slowly dying by strangu-

laticn. In determining a just sentence, conslderation must be givem 1o
tho fact that individuals 1ile Iichl had thamselves been subjected for

years to the indignities, tortures, cruelties, and inhuman living
cond’ tions thich exlsted at Dachau. Ungeséionably life at Dachau had a
Ao ntating of'vant om the morals ad behavior of the prisoners. As v\
Iisutenant lloulot expressed 14, "I thinl: for a nomal peracn it 13 much

harder to ldve in the cap than amy other place, not only because of

tha beatings, tut from a moral standpoint." It would sppear that an ]
punpopriate sentence in the cuse of lahl, in view of these circumstances,

sould be confinement at hard labor for 10 years, Although Decher and

Erell had aloc been lumotes at Dashauw, the byutsllty and prespmesa off

their Individual acts of atrocity were so great thet the death sentence .
appears warranted, . - |

Johann Schoepp, whe was a Humanian, had been placed in iha German
army pursuant to an agreement betieen Germiry and Rumania, The evidence
indicated that for a time he 2cted as & puard of & dstall of 32 prisoners
of tha sub-camp Faldafing, and that he acted as a reserve guard on a
transport which lef't Dachau on 25 April 1945. It may be noted with re-
spect to the latter that he did not serve as a regular guard at any time
on the transpert. In view of the fact thaet no individual strocities were
attributed te Bchospp, in view of the naturs of his duties, and in
view of the fact that he had bzen drafted into the dmy, it 1s belleved
that reduction of lids sentence from 10 years to confinemant ab hard |
labor for 5 years would be sufficiant.

It is believed that the sentence of life imprisoment of Peler Bets |
. the cantencs af AT Oraterh o cafinasmont at hoed Loy foar 10 |
years are apgropriate in the light of the functions which these men ,3,
performed at Duchau and the individual sets for wiich they were reaponsible,

It many respects the accused Schilling was the mest reprehensible,
He voluntarily came to Dachau fully copnizant of the pature of the work
he inbendsd to mmrforms Belng the educated and leaied peison that he was,
Sehilling undeubitedly must have realived the mammer dn which hils werke
sulted the neods of the NHazis., Althoush !ds personal motives may have
stemmed from lis desire to aild humanity, he permitied himself to utilige
Ragi motinds in contrast to other eminent Oerman artists md scientists
who aither flad or refused to make themselves a part of the Hasl system, i
it is believed that the sgntence of the epurt,; wWie was aware ol Schilling's
position in the scientdfic world, shculd he approved.

The accused Lausterar was sentenced to confinement at hard labor for
10 years. Lausterer voluntarily joined the S8 in 1941, He served at
Dachau or its by-sanps for over three years. At first he was a guard
at Deohou and then on worlk details., Although no evidence was introduced
which indicated that he comitted indlvidusl acts of atrocities, he did
vitoess beatings by other ruards, The record does not indicate that he
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pe potw. Later he was corvandlusirertat
th of time Laustersr served at Dachau apd
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camps ane | snortanca of the pusitions na hold, & iare severs
penalty Wouis sees warranted. Iatlds connection 1t should be nebed
that tie reviewing authoriiy, Whero spetition for review has boen filed,
=ay incresse the sentance impossd. The court undowbiedly consideren

Lausterer's attenpte and services to help 2 group of prisoners on &

evacuation transpart, the fact that he did not comnit any individual
‘attrocities, and tho fact that he 15 55 years of amm in determining the
sentence. In wiew of all the circumstaices, it is believed that the
sentenne sl Tl nek he di stnrhed.

I recoamend thaty

a, The findings and the sentence in the case of cach actuwed
bo dpme oved.

b, The death sentencs of lens Xort Eisele be commutesd and he
be sentenced to confinement ab hard laber for lifa,

6. The death zentanco of Dr. Fridolin Karl Puhr be comuted and
he be: sentenced to confinement at hard labor for 20 years.

~d, Tha death sertence of Emil BErwin Mahl bs commted and he be

seritongad to cenfinemant gt Hurd laber fep 10 ymawc,

ey Plve years of the confinsment at hard lsbor jmposed upon the

acoused Jokarn Schoepp be remditted and, as thus modified, the sentence
D The lellowing plags of confinemen) be designated for the

accused Eisels, Pulw end Mahly; Zuchthaus and Halsheln,

ge The soritances in the cases 'of Peter Debsz, Albin CGretsch,
and Hugo Alfred Lausterer be duly etacuted.

he The findings and sentense in the case of Telss, Duppart,
darolin, Trenkle, lHederneyer, Suess, Eichberger, VWamer, Kick, Hinter-

‘mayer, Witteler, Elehelsdorfer, Joersthner, Schilling, inell, De tiger,

Erdress, Kiemn, Redwits, Welter, Sultrop, Tempel, Bechor, Krmer, Fllle-
boeclk, Schoettl, Kirsch, Langleist, Lippmann, Degelow, -oll, Schuls,
ll‘a::u_l be approved and that the record of trial be forvardad for confir-
mation.

XVI. ACTIONS:

A form of action designed to carry the feregoing recomendatlons
into effect, should they meet with your approval, is submitted herewith.

CHARLES E. CHEEVER,
ﬁﬂlﬂh_ﬂl, J*m’
Staff Judge Advocate, J
;‘___ ,
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